
 

PARK CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
SUMMIT COUNTY, UTAH 
December 14, 2023 

The Council of Park City, Utah, will hold its regular meeting in person at the Marsac Municipal Building, 
City Council Chambers, at 445 Marsac Avenue, Park City, Utah 84060. Meetings will also be available 
online with options to listen, watch, or participate virtually.  
  

 CLOSED SESSION - 3:15 p.m. 
 The Council may consider a motion to enter into a closed session for specific purposes allowed 

under the Open and Public Meetings Act (Utah Code § 52-4-205), including to discuss the 
purchase, exchange, lease, or sale of real property; litigation; the character, competence, or 
fitness of an individual; for attorney-client communications (Utah Code section 78B-1-137); or 
any other lawful purpose. 

 PARK CITY WATER SERVICE DISTRICT MEETING - 4:15 p.m. 

 ROLL CALL 

 PUBLIC INPUT (ANY MATTER OF CITY BUSINESS NOT SCHEDULED ON THE AGENDA) 

 CONSENT AGENDA 

 1. Request to Authorize the Mayor to Execute a Memorandum of Agreement, in a Form 
Approved by the City Attorney, to Continue Leasing Surplus Water to Weber Basin 
Concurrent with the Western Summit County Project Master Agreement 

 ADJOURNMENT 

 WORK SESSION 

  4:30 p.m. - Housing Resolution Biennial Review 

  5:15 p.m. - Break 

 REGULAR MEETING - 5:30 p.m. 

I. ROLL CALL 

II. COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCLOSURES FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF  
 Council Questions and Comments  

 
Staff Communications Report 

 1. Temporary Winter Balcony Enclosure Pilot Program Extension 

III. PUBLIC INPUT (ANY MATTER OF CITY BUSINESS NOT SCHEDULED ON THE AGENDA) 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA 
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 1. Request to Approve and Accept the Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report (ACFR) 
  

 2. Request to Amend a Contract with Granite Construction Company in a Form Approved by 
the City Attorney, Not to Exceed $181,351.04, to Fund Project Closeout Activities on SR-
248 

 3. Request to Approve Special Event Temporary Alcoholic Beverage Licenses during the 
2024 Sundance Film Festival 
(Attachment to Follow) 

 4. Request to Approve Type 2 Convention Sales Licenses for Operation during the 2024 
Sundance Film Festival 
(Attachment to Follow) 

 5. Request to Change the Dates for the 2024 Park Silly Sunday Market 

V. OLD BUSINESS 

 1. Deer Valley Development Company, Inc. Petition to Vacate Public Right-Of-Way – Deer 
Valley Drive West and South Sections – The City Council Will Conduct a Public Hearing 
on the Vacation of City Right-of-Way (ROW) as it Pertains to Deer Valley’s Snow Park 
Base Redevelopment (2250 Deer Valley Drive South). This Meeting is a Continuation of 
the City Council’s Public Hearing on March 16, 2023, Work Session on June 1, 2023, 
Public Input on June 15, 2023, and Public Hearings on July 6, 2023, August 29, 2023, 
September 28, 2023, November 2, 2023, November 16, 2023, November 30, 2023, and 
December 5, 2023. The Proposed Vacation is Approximately 114,337 Square Feet or 2.62 
Acres of City ROW 
 
Staff report, exhibits, and ordinance documents to follow. 
  
To submit written comment, please email planning@parkcity.org.   
  
(A) Public Hearing (B) Action 

 2. Dining Deck Program Update 

 3. Consideration to Approve Ordinance No. 2023-54, an Ordinance Approving the North 
Norfolk Plat Amendment Amending the Knudson Subdivision Parcel C and Parcel SA-200, 
and Re-Subdividing the Vacant Lots into Four Lots to Allow Four Single-Family Dwellings. 
Public Comment Will Be Limited to Those Unable to Provide Online Comment at the Prior 
Hearing on November 16, 2023. 
(A) Public Hearing (B) Action 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 

 1. Consideration to Approve 2024 Insurance Premiums or Alternative in a Form Approved by 
the City Attorney - Staff Report to Follow 
(A) Public Input (B) Action 

 2. Consideration to Approve a Level Five Special Event Permit for the 2024 Sundance Film 
Festival in a Form Approved by the City Attorney 
(A) Public Hearing (B) Action 

 3. Consideration to Authorize the City Manager to Execute a Professional Services 
Agreement, in a Form Approved by the City Attorney, with Bowen Collins and Associates 
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Inc., to Provide Engineering Services for the Water and Storm General Engineering 
Service Project, in an Amount Not to Exceed $200,000 
(A) Public Input (B) Action 

 4. Consideration to Continue an Ordinance to Amend Land Management Code Section 15-
2.13-2 to Prohibit Nightly Rentals, Accessory Apartments, and Internal Accessory Dwelling 
Units in The Bald Eagle Club at Deer Valley Subdivision in the Residential Development 
Zoning District PL-23-05770 
(A) Public Hearing (B) Continue to February 1, 2024 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 
 
A majority of City Council members may meet socially after the meeting. If so, the location will be 
announced by the Mayor. City business will not be conducted. Pursuant to the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, individuals needing special accommodations during the meeting should notify the City 
Recorder at 435-615-5007 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. 
 
*Parking is available at no charge for Council meeting attendees who park in the China Bridge 
parking structure. 
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Park City Water Service District Staff Report 
 

 
 
Subject: Western Summit County Project  
Author:  Clint McAffee 
Department:  Public Utilities 
Date:  December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Administrative 
 
Recommendation  
Review and consider authorizing Nann Worel, Member, Board of Trustees, to execute a 
Memorandum of Agreement (Exhibit A), in a form approved by the City Attorney’s 
Office, to continue leasing surplus water to Weber Basin concurrent with the Western 
Summit County Project Master Agreement.  
 
This lease perpetuates a large and predictable revenue source that offsets about 25% 
of the cost of water service, delays construction of a large water importation project, and 
continues our partnership and collaboration as a member of the Western Summit 
County Project which provides a meaningful redundant water source in the event of a 
long-term water shortage or emergency.  
 
This request follows City Council’s approval of the Highway 224 Water Interconnect 
Agreement at the November 30, 2023, City Council meeting.  
 
Executive Summary 
Park City and the Park City Water Service District (collectively Park City) are parties to 
the Western Summit County Project Master Agreement (MA), which was developed and 
executed in 2013 to, in part, ensure a reliable water supply to the Snyderville Basin and 
Park City by regionalizing water supply and infrastructure between parties, and 
engaging Weber Basin to provide wholesale water.  The MA provides for the 
wholesaling of water by Weber Basin, through water sales contracts, to parties to the 
MA that report a need for additional water.  The MA also provides for the temporary 
lease of surplus water to Weber Basin from parties to the MA that report a surplus water 
supply.  Continuing our partnership and collaboration as a member of the Western 
Summit County Project, which provides water supply redundancy, is an important 
measure of continuity and community protection in the event of a long-term water 
shortage or emergency.  Links to the MA are provided below in Exhibit B. 
 
The Board initially approved a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) in 2019 to lease 
surplus water to Weber Basin through provisions in the MA.  Each subsequent year, the 
MOA has been approved by the Board and amended to update the price of surplus 
water and extend the term by one year.  Weber Basin has met its wholesale obligations 
to other MA parties using surplus water leased from Park City.   
 
Each year, Park City can extend the surplus lease contract for an additional year. Park 
City will continue to lease surplus water until such time that either Park City determines 
it does not have surplus water or earlier if Weber Basin determines that it must fulfill 
obligations to its wholesale customers in the Snyderville Basin by building a new water 
importation project.  Importantly, the revenue generated by leasing surplus Park City 
water offsets about 25% of Park City water customer’s expenses.   
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The maximum water delivery flow rates in Exhibit A exceed the capacity of the existing 
Highway 40 system interconnect.  At the November 30, 2023, City Council meeting, 
Council approved an agreement for the Highway 224 Interconnect, which will be the 
fourth interconnection under the MA and is designed to increase the capacity to wheel 
water between local water providers and provide additional redundancy between 
disparate water systems.   
 
Analysis 
Water Supply and Treatment 
Park City has a diverse and robust water source portfolio that includes local sources and 
two imported sources, each from separate watersheds.  The table below is a summary of 
Park City’s dry-year water source capacity, which is the amount of water that can be 
expected from each source in a drought year. 
 

Dry Year Water Supply 
(Gallons per Minute) 

Source Dry Year Source Capacity Percent of total water capacity 
Divide Well 950 8% 
Park Meadows Well 1,000 8% 
Middle School Well 1,000 8% 
Ontario Drain Tunnel 1,000 8% 
Judge Tunnel 662 6% 
Spiro Tunnel 3,670 31% 
Rockport 3,596 30% 
Thiriot Spring 0 0% 
Total 11,878 100% 

 
After the completion and start-up of the new 3Kings Water Treatment Plant in 2024, the 
City will have enough treatment capacity to treat all the water available to Park City to 
drinking water standards.  Additionally, 3Kings WTP significantly increases the capacity, 
efficiency, reliability, resiliency, and redundancy of the City’s water treatment 
infrastructure portfolio. 
 
Water Demand 
Park City’s robust water conservation program resulted in year-over-year reductions in 
peak day water demand for 4 of the past 5 years.  Additionally, there has been a 
decreasing trend in peak day water demand over the past 20 years.  The table below 
summarizes historical and projected peak day water demand and available surplus 
water capacity.   
 
Park City is in a strong position to lease surplus water to Weber Basin through 2028 and 
likely several years beyond.  
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Historical Peak Day Water Demand 
(Gallons per Minute) 

Year 
Treated Drinking 

Water 

Untreated Water 
(golf course, 

streamflow, irrigation 

Surplus Water 
Lease Maximum 

Delivery Rate 
Total 

Demand Surplus 
2018 5,734 3,100 0 8,834 3,044 
2019 5,435 3,100 0 8,535 3,343 
2020 5,129 3,100 62 8,291 3,587 
2021 4,816 3,100 62 7,978 3,900 
2022 4,816 3,100 558 8,474 3,404 
2023 5,352 3,100 558 9,010 2,869 
2024 5,578 3,100 682 9,360 2,518 
2025 5,675 3,100 1,054 9,829 2,049 
2026 5,773 3,100 1,922 10,795 1,083 
2027 5,870 3,100 1,922 10,892 986 
2028 5,962 3,100 2,100 11,162 716 

 
Surplus Water Lease Revenue  
As shown in Figure 1 below, leasing Park City’s surplus water to Weber Basin provides 
a meaningful source of revenue to offset around 25% of the cost of water services to 
our own customers. To maintain the current funding level, if Park City stops leasing 
surplus water, an approximate 25% water rate increase would be required in addition to 
the normal rate increases due to inflation and other infrastructure needs.   
 
The current value of the 5-year lease contract is over $17M, and if extended another 5 
years, the value would be an additional $36M.  The price set for surplus water reflects 
the delivery cost and ensures the cost is similar to Park City’s water consumption fees. 
For 2023, the surplus water charge is $9.67 per 1,000 gallons, similar to Park City’s 
commercial consumption rate. The surplus water charge increases 3% in 2024, 2025, 
and 2026.  For 2027, the surplus water rate increased 12%, and for 2028 it increases 
5%.    
 
Leasing surplus water is often legitimately questioned as a growth-inducing tool or 
counterproductive to water conservation goals.  Though we understand the growth-
inducing and/or water conservation arguments, we disagree. Since Weber Basin has an 
obligation to provide wholesale water to those parties of the MA that declare a need, 
Park City is not providing water in addition to water already committed to the Snyderville 
Basin. In other words, if Park City declines to lease its surplus water, Weber Basin is 
required to build a large water importation project to meet its wholesale obligations. A 
project of this magnitude would add considerably more water capacity to the Basin, and 
likely divert the same water that Park City would no longer use to provide the surplus 
water.  
 
In addition, while Park City is using water that is surplus because of our own customers 
conservation efforts, the lease is temporary and used for municipal purposes by entities 
with conservation programs.  Unlike agricultural water uses, municipal water use in Park 
City and the Snyderville Basin is mostly non-consumptive, meaning that about 80% of 
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the water we provide is used indoors and treated at SBWRD’s treatment plant. In turn, it 
is returned to local Creeks and downstream users, and eventually the Great Salt Lake. 
Simply declining to lease surplus water does not slow future growth in the Basin, nor 
does it relieve the water from municipal use or ensure its arrival at the Great Salt Lake. 
 
Funding  
Revenue generated by the sale of surplus water will be used to fund water system 
improvements and offset future water rate increases. 
 
Exhibits 
A 2024 Memorandum of Agreement 
B Links to Western Summit County Project Master Agreement 

1 master agreement executed 
2 master agreement exhibits a-d 
3 master agreement exhibits e-j & exhibits (3) 
exhibit list 
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2024 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

 
 

This Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) is made and entered into this ______ day of 
_______________, 2024, by and between Park City Water Service District, a special service 
district organized and existing pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Annotated §17A-2-1301 
et seq., 1953, as amended, (the “District”), and Weber Basin Water Conservancy District, a 
water conservancy district organized and existing pursuant to the provisions of §17B-2a-1001 et 
seq., Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended (“Weber Basin”).  The District and Weber Basin 
each is a “Party” and collectively they are referred to as the “Parties.” 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, The District and Weber Basin, along with other parties, entered into the 
Western Summit County Project Master Agreement dated June 26, 2013 (“Master 
Agreement”). This Master Agreement provides Weber Basin with the right to use, wheel and 
comingle all Surplus Water of the District, Mountain Regional, and Summit Water. [See Master 
Agreement ¶2.4].   

 
WHEREAS, the Master Agreement provides Weber Basin with the right to determine, in 

its sole discretion, which Parties to which it will deliver and sell that Surplus Water.  The Master 
Agreement allows each entity, at its sole discretion, to set the price per acre-foot for which its 
Surplus Water may be sold.  Weber Basin then is authorized to sell that Surplus Water to any 
Party of the Master Agreement, as determined by Weber Basin in its discretion, for the price 
established by the Party supplying the Surplus Water. [See Master Agreement ¶2.4].   

 
WHEREAS, Weber Basin is then directed to credit the Party whose Surplus Water is 

delivered at the rate applicable to that water so delivered.   
 
WHEREAS, as outlined in Paragraph 2.4 of the Master Agreement, this process was 

established in order to allow Weber Basin “to operate the Western Summit County Project in 
such manner as Weber Basin deems necessary and proper.” [See Master Agreement ¶2.4]. 

 
WHEREAS, under the Master Agreement, Weber Basin was required to construct an 

interconnect vault and associated facilities in the Quinns Junction area, which was funded one-
third each by Mountain Regional, Summit Water Distribution Company, and Park City 
Municipal Corporation (“Interconnect Facilities”). 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Master Agreement, the District agrees to provide surplus 

water to Weber Basin through the Interconnect Facilities (“Surplus Water”). 
 
WHEREAS, on or about April 2023, the Parties entered into a Memorandum of 

Agreement pertaining to the Surplus Water (the “2023 Agreement”).   
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WHEREAS, by executing this 2024 Agreement, the Parties desire to amend and restate 
the terms of their agreement relating to the Surplus Water, and to supersede the 2023 Agreement, 
and to replace that 2023 Agreement with this 2024 Agreement. 

 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set forth 

herein, and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

 
1. Water Lease.   

 
A. Surplus Water.  The District agrees to deliver to Weber Basin the Surplus Water 

identified in Figure 1 through the Interconnect Facilities in accordance with the 
Master Agreement.  Pursuant to the terms of the Master Agreement, Weber Basin 
agrees to make the Surplus Water available for sale and delivery to another party 
to the Master Agreement (either Mountain Regional or Summit Water) (a 
“Purchasing Party”), as selected in Weber Basin’s sole discretion; such water to 
be marketed and sold at a price equal to the total annual take or pay amount in 
Figure 1 below.  The cost per acre foot shall be adjusted annually based, in part, 
upon Operation and Maintenance costs, per the Master Agreement [See Master 
Agreement ¶2.4].   

 

 
 

B. Terms of Delivery.  The total annualized cost for which the Surplus water shall 
be marketed, sold, and delivered, by Weber Basin to a Purchasing Party, and the 
total annualized cost to be paid by the Purchasing Party (and credited by Weber 
Basin to the District) shall be take-or-pay for the full annual water volume in 
Figure 1.   

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Annual Volume (acre feet) 550 850 1550 1550 1550
Peaking Factor (see note below) 2 2 2 2 2
Max Flow Rate (gallons/minute) (see note below 682 1054 1922 1922 1922
Delivery Location
Surplus Water Cost per Acre Foot $3,244.66 $3,342.00 $3,442.26 $3,855.33 $4,048.09

Total Annual Take or Pay Amount $1,784,561.20 $2,840,696.96 $5,335,497.29 $5,975,756.97 $6,274,544.82

Note: Peaking Factor and Maximum Flow Rate are subject to, and limited by, the capacity of 
existing and/or future interconnects and/or the capacity of the Purchasing Party's water system.  
Park City is not required to increase capacity of the existing or future interconnections or the 
Purchasing Party's water system to achieve the Peaking Factor or Maximum Flow Rate shown 
above.  As a result, the actual Peaking Factor and Maximum Flow Rate of water delivered by Park 

Figure 1
Annual Surplus Water Take or Pay Volumes and Pricing Schedule

Quinns Interconnect
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C. District Water Supply Shortage.  In the event of shortage of water supply, of 
either short or long term duration, caused by problems such as drought or other 
natural or man-caused disasters, including unplanned failure of physical 
infrastructure, Surplus Water deliveries may be temporarily reduced by the 
District in proportion to reductions in overall District water demands anticipated 
from either a declared Water Emergency under Park City Municipal Code 13-1-
22 or implementation of Drought Restrictions under Park City Municipal Code 
13-1-26.   
 

2. Term.  The term of this MOA shall commence on January 1, 2024 and continue for a 
term of five (5) years, ending December 31, 2028 (“Term”). This MOA supersedes 
the previously signed MOA that was dated March 2023. 
 

3. Binding Effect.  The provisions of this MOA shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.   

 
4. Assignment Limited.  No assignment or other transfer of this MOA or any part 

thereof or interest therein shall be valid unless and until approved by all Parties 
hereto. 

 
5. Attorney’s Fees.  In the event that this MOA or any provision hereof shall be 

enforced by an attorney retained by a Party hereto, whether by suit or otherwise, the 
fees and costs of such attorney shall be paid by the Party who breaches or defaults 
hereunder, including fees and costs incurred upon appeal or in bankruptcy court. 

 
6. Severability.  If any term or provision of this MOA shall, to any extent, be determined 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be void, voidable, or unenforceable, such void, 
voidable or unenforceable term or provision shall not affect the enforceability of any 
other term or provision of this MOA. 

 
7. Captions.  The section and paragraph headings contained in this MOA are for the 

purposes of reference only and shall not limit, expand or otherwise affect the 
construction of any provisions hereof. 

 
8. Construction.  As used herein, all words in any gender shall be deemed to include the 

masculine, feminine, or neuter gender, all singular words shall include the plural, and 
all plural words shall include the singular, as the context may require. 

 
9. Further Action.  The Parties hereby agree to execute and deliver such additional 

documents and to take further action as may become necessary or desirable to fully 
carry out the provisions and intent of this MOA. 

 
10. Inducement.  The making and execution of this MOA has not been induced by any 

representation, statement, warranty or agreement other than those herein expressed. 
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11. Force Majeure.  Performance by any Party hereunder shall not be deemed to be in 
default where delays or defaults are due to war, insurrections, strikes, lock-outs, 
floods, earthquakes, fires, casualties, acts of God, epidemics, quarantine, restrictions, 
inability (when the responsible Party is faultless) to secure necessary labor, materials, 
tools, acts or failure to act of any public or governmental agency or entity, or by any 
other reason not the fault of the Party delayed in performing work or doing acts 
required under the terms of this MOA, and in such event, the performance of such 
work or the doing of such act shall be excused for the period of the delay and the 
period of performance for any such work or the doing of any such act shall be 
extended for a period equivalent to the period of such delay. 

 
12. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  This MOA shall not be deemed to create any right in 

any person who is not a Party (other than the permitted successors and assigns of a 
Party) and shall not be construed in any respect to be a contract, in whole or in part, 
for the benefit of any third party (other than permitted successors and assigns of a 
Party hereto). 

 
13. Warranty of Authority.  The individuals executing this MOA on behalf of the Parties 

hereby warrant that they have the requisite authority to execute this MOA on behalf 
of the respective Parties and that the respective Parties have agreed to be and are 
bound hereby. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this MOA as of the day and year 

first above written. 
 
PARK CITY WATER SERVICE DISTRICT 
 
 
By:        
 Nann Worel, Member, Board of Trustees 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
        
Attorney for Park City Water Service District  
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WEBER BASIN WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT 
 
 
By: __________________________ 
 Dee Alan Waldron, Chairman, Board of Trustees  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
 Scott Paxman, General Manager 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Weber Basin Attorney 
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City Council Staff Report  
 
Subject: Housing Resolution Biennial Review 
Author:  Browne Sebright 
Department:  Housing Team 
Date:  December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Work Session 
  
Recommendation  
Receive a presentation from the Housing team and the Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute, 
the consultant reviewing Park City’s Housing Resolution1, and consider 
recommendations to adopt a new affordable housing policy.  
 
Executive Summary 
Park City’s Resolution 05-2021 Affordable Housing Guidelines (the “Housing 
Resolution”) was last amended and adopted in 2021. Section 4 of the Resolution 
requires that it be reviewed by the City Council every 2 years to ensure that its 
standards meet the Community’s current housing goals and objectives. Fluctuations in 
the housing market, particularly of late, can be extreme and happen fast. Council’s 
policy of returning every two years to assess existing community conditions helps 
provide better outcomes for Park City. 
 
To prepare for this biennial review, the City hired the Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute to 
review the current Housing Resolution, update demographic and workforce wage data, 
and provide recommendations to update key formulas, including employee trip 
generation and fee-in-lieu calculations. 
 
Background 
Since 1991, Park City has facilitated the creation of new affordable housing units using 
many of the aspects and strategies within the Housing Resolution. These types of 
resolutions aimed at protecting the livability and viability of the community by ensuring 
that new developments expand the availability of a sufficient amount of housing 
affordable to the workforce and residents and mitigate the impact of new projects on the 
community. Past resolutions include: 
 

• Resolution 37-91  
• Resolution 8-93 
• Resolution 6-94 
• Resolution 7-95 
• Resolution 17-99 
• Resolution 10-06 
• Resolution 20-07 

• Resolution 25-12 
• Resolution 02-15 Housing Resolution 
• Resolution 13-15 Affordable Housing Guidelines 
• Resolution 03-2017 Affordable Housing 
• Resolution 25-2020 Affordable Housing Guidelines 
• Resolution 05-2021 Affordable Housing Guidelines 

 
The current Housing Resolution provides guidelines and standards for developing 
affordable housing in Park City and was based on the 2019 Regional Housing Needs 
Assessment.  This assessment included findings and criteria for reviewing Master 
Planned Development (MPD) applications, housing plans required by Development 

 
1 Resolution 05-2021 Affordable Housing Guidelines 
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Agreements, and annexation petitions where affordable housing is necessary to 
mitigate the project's impact on the community.  
 
The Housing Resolution specifies essential parts of Park City’s housing policy, including 
defining housing costs as no more than 30% of a household’s income, calculating 
minimum affordable housing requirements for MPDs and annexations, methods to fulfill 
housing obligations, minimum unit dimensions, and occupancy requirements. Approval 
of individual housing development plans is required separately from most planning 
regulatory requirements. Housing plans, sometimes referred to as Housing Mitigation 
Plans, are required for certain development projects such as annexation of new land for 
development into the City, MPD applications or modifications, and AMPD projects.  
 
In Park City, housing plans are reviewed and approved by the Park City Housing 
Authority to ensure compliance with the Housing Resolution. Approved plans dictate 
when the affordable units need to be built relative to the delivery of market rate units 
and the terms of the deed restrictions that ensure and maintain their affordability. 
 
In 2022, the City received an updated Housing Needs Assessment from James Wood 
which found that more than half of the affordable housing units in Park City (293) are a 
result of Housing Resolution obligations. The next largest source of affordable units was 
from Low-Income Housing Tax Credits (196). The Needs Assessment also indicated 
that while the City was progressing towards its goal of creating 800 new affordable 
housing units by 2026, the projected supply will still fall well short of demand.  
 
At the same time and strategically, the City moved forward with two affordable housing 
public policies that have transformed how affordable housing is developed and 
delivered in Park City:  
 

1. The first was the adoption of Ordinance 2021-10, enacting Chapter 15-6.1 
Affordable Master Planned Developments (AMPD) in the Land Management 
Code (LMC). This section of the code provides incentives through increased 
density and the ability for parking reductions for projects that provide at least fifty 
percent (50%) of the Residential Unit Equivalents as Affordable Units, as defined 
in the Housing Resolution in effect at the time of a complete application. 

 
2. The second was the Council’s prioritization of Public-Private Partnerships as the 

preferred method to develop new affordable housing units.2 The Homestake 
RFP, for example, sought proposals for a public-private partnership, which led to 
the development of EngineHouse, the first project to utilize the new AMPD 
section of the LMC.  

 
Together, these tools have reoriented the community’s approach to creating affordable 
housing. Because their implementation followed the adoption of the Housing Resolution, 
we have an opportunity to evaluate how to best align the Resolution with other parts of 
the City’s housing policy.  
 

 
2 February 11, 2021, City Council Affordable Housing Discussion – Public/Private Partnerships (Staff 
Report, Meeting Minutes) 37 
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2023 Park City Affordable Housing Analysis 
The 2023 Park City Affordable Housing Analysis (the “Analysis”) by the Kem C. Gardner 
Policy Institute covers four areas of analysis: 
 

1. Demographic and Workforce Highlights 
2. Review of Resolution 05-2021 Affordable Housing Guidelines 
3. Review of the Fee-In-Lieu and the Development Process 
4. Review of Employee Generation Formulas  

 
(1) Demographic and Workforce Highlights 

 
The Analysis found that Park City has 10,200 jobs within City limits and currently 
accommodates 12.1% of its workers within its boundaries. 55.8% of workers live in 
Wasatch Back counties, and 37.2% live in Wasatch Front counties. Including those 
living in Park City, 37.5% of the workforce lives within Summit County, 26.0% live in Salt 
Lake County, 17.5% in Wasatch County, and 6.3% in Utah County. Another 7.1% of the 
workforce lives in other Utah counties.  
 
The Analysis found that Summit County’s mean household income ($176,064) is 
substantially higher than the State of Utah ($101,412). However, a majority of Park City 
workers work in industries whose average annual income is substantially below the 
mean household income.  
 
The economy in Park City is led by Accommodation and Food Services (1,897 
employees), Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation (1,636 employees), and Retail Trade 
(927 employees). The average annual income of employees in these industries is 
$42,405, $44,763, and $41,729, respectively. These three industries comprise over half 
of Park City’s workforce (5,460 employees).  
 
The difference between Park City’s Area Median Income (AMI) and the Workforce 
Wage (WFW) is also evident in housing tenure. Park City has approximately 8,585 
housing units, of which 2,827 (32.9%) are occupied and 5,758 (67.0%) are vacant. 44% 
of all housing units are listed as short-term rentals, which is nearly twice that of Summit 
County.  
 
Park City’s housing stock for residents is overwhelmingly used by owner-occupied 
households, comprising 71.8% of occupied units. Only 28.1% of occupied housing units 
are used by renter-occupied households.  
 
Among owner-occupied units, the median household income is $140,147. Conversely, 
for renter-occupied housing units, the median household income is $79,295. The 
average owner-occupied household has 2.55 individuals, while the average renter-
occupied household has 3.85 individuals. This is different from Summit County as a 
whole, where the average household size for owner-occupied units and renter-occupied 
units are more similar, at 3.06 individuals and 3.31 individuals, respectively. 
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 Occupied Units Average HH Size Median HH Income 
Owner-Occupied 
Households 2,032 2.55 $140,147 

Renter-Occupied 
Households 795 3.85 $79,295 

Figure 1. Table comparing Owner-Occupied and Renter-Occupied Households. 
 

(2) Review of Resolution 05-2021 Affordable Housing Guidelines 
 
Section 3 of the Housing Resolution states that its purpose is “to ensure that new 
development does not adversely affect the supply of affordable housing in the City…” 
and that the requirements of the resolution are “…roughly proportionate and reasonably 
related to the impacts of the Development.”  
 
The Housing Resolution defined affordable housing as units affordable to households 
with incomes at or below 80% of AMI. The Analysis found that based on the prevailing 
workforce wage of those likely to be employed in new commercial development, most 
employees of the new development would be unlikely to afford a rental unit priced to be 
affordable to households with incomes at 80% of AMI. The Analysis found that “the 
commercial development will employ low-wage workers… but provide relatively 
expensive rental housing.”  
 
The Analysis found that the City’s General Plan goal of meeting 15% of workforce 
housing needs within City limits is a challenge and may require refinement of the 
Housing Resolution. It found that of all homes sold in Park City since January 2022, 
only 5.21% of homes sold (72 homes) were affordable to households, making 80% of 
AMI. Sadly, the Analysis also found that the average wage of teachers and local 
government employees (including police) means that less than 2% of homes sold would 
be affordable to these important components of our community.  
 
One of the primary outcomes of developments that are subject to the Housing 
Resolution is that developers are required to mitigate the impact by providing affordable 
housing units in an amount equal to 20% of the Residential Unit Equivalents (RUEs) in 
the project and if commercial development is proposed, providing affordable housing 
units in an amount equal to 20% of the workers generated by the project. This 
requirement is sometimes referred to as a housing obligation.  
 
Today, an RUE is 2,000 square feet of Multi-Family Dwelling floor area or one single-
family lot. By comparison, an AUE is 900 square feet.  Formulas approved by Council 
define employee generation for different types of use, discussed further in the last 
section of the Analysis. 
 
Two recommendations from this section include evaluating why 2,000 square feet is 
used as one Residential Unit Equivalent and why 20% is used as the standard for 
housing obligations.  
 

(3) Review of the Fee-In-Lieu and the Development Process 
 

Page 16 of 377



Section 9 of the Housing Resolution establishes a list of methods developers can 
propose to fulfill housing obligations, listed in order of priority.  
 

1. Construction of unit(s) on the site on which the development is proposed.  
2. Construction of the unit(s) within the Park City corporate limits provided such 

land, site, or structure had not been previously deed-restricted for affordability. 
3. Dedication of existing units within Park City corporate limits provided such units 

have not been previously deed-restricted for affordability. 
4. Construction of units outside Park City, but within the Park City School District 

boundary as it stands on January 1, 2015. 
5. Conveyance of land within the Park City School District boundary as it stands on 

January 1, 2015, provided such land has not been previously deed-restricted for 
affordability. 

6. Payment of Fees in Lieu of Development. 
 
The fee-in-lieu option can be used if the Park City Housing Authority determines that (1) 
no other alternative is feasible, or (2) such a payment would result in more immediate 
development of housing, or (3) such a payment would leverage additional resources, 
then a Payment of Fees in Lieu of Development may be accepted. The collected funds 
may only be expended for projects located within the corporate limits of Park City or 
within the Park City School District boundary as it stands on January 1, 2015. The In 
Lieu Fee shall be based on the actual cost of construction in the prior year and 
published annually in June on the City’s affordable housing webpage. Updates may 
occur more frequently at the request of the City Council to reflect changing real estate 
conditions. Any Fees in Lieu collected and any interest accrued shall be used only for 
the purpose of planning for, subsidizing, or developing affordable housing. 
 
As of 2021, the current payment In Lieu of Development fee is $389,700 per Affordable 
Unit Equivalent (AUE). Each AUE is equal to 900 square feet of Net Livable Space. This 
assumes a per-square-foot cost of approximately $433. The Analysis found that the cost 
per square foot in Park City is estimated at $445, similar to the assumed value.  
 

(4) Review of Employee Generation Formulas 
 
For developments with commercial components, the Housing Resolution requires that 
the Developer mitigate 20% of the employees generated. The housing requirements are 
determined by a table of employee generation ratios (Table 1). 
 

Type of Use Full Time Equivalents (2080 hours) 
per 1,000 Net Leasable Square Feet 

Restaurant/Bar 6.5 
Education 2.3 
Finance/Banking 3.3 
Medical Professional 2.9 
Other Professional Services 3.7 
Personal Services 1.3 
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Real Estate/Property Management 5.9 
Commercial/Retail 3.3 
Recreation/Amusements  5.3 
Utilities 2.9 
Lodging/Hotel .06/room 

Condominium Hotel Greater of lodging/hotel calculation or 
residential mitigation rate  

Overall/General 4.4 
Figure 2. Existing Employee Generation Table from the Housing Resolution (Table 1). 

 
These formulas have been used in every Housing Resolution since 2006,3 and have 
remained unchanged since their initial calculation. The exact methodology used for 
these ratios is uncertain, but they appear to have been uniquely calculated for Park City 
and use non-standard commercial use categories. 
 
As a result of Planning Commission and Council discussion, the new Analysis evaluated 
current employee generation ratios based on industry data from the Utah Department of 
Workforce Services, Park City business licenses, and the Summit County Assessor. 
These use categories used for these calculations are based on the North American 
Industry Classification System (NAICS), a Federal statistical standard used by states 
and based on data updated every five years.  
 

    # of Employees 
NAICS Industry per 1k Sq. Ft. 

31 Manufacturing 1.7 
42 Wholesale Trade 2.1 
44 Retail Trade 6.7 
48 Transportation and Warehousing 0.5 
51 Information 1.7 
52 Finance and Insurance 1.6 
53 Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 6.8 
54 Professional and Technical Services 3.1 
55 Management of Companies and Enterprises 3.1 
56 Admin., Support, Waste Mgmt, Remediation 1.9 
61 Education Services 2.2 
62 Health Care and Social Assistance 5.1 
71 Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation* 2.6 

722 Food Services and Drinking Places 8.8 
Figure 3. Proposed Employee Generation Table from the 2023 Analysis. 

 
The recommended employee generation formula table included in the Study (Table 20) 
five new categories not included in the current Housing Resolution. For the similar uses 
in both tables, six categories now show more employees per 1,000 SF, and three 
categories show fewer employees per 1,000 SF.  
 

 
3 Resolution 0-06 
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The Analysis also evaluated some industry categories specific to Park City’s resort 
economy. It looked at the “high-end” hotel category to assess whether Park City’s 
disproportionate concentration of luxury accommodations would translate to a higher 
proportion of workers per room. It found that the “average” hotel employs 0.7 workers 
per room. Conversely, “high-end” hotels employed on average 3.7 employees per room.  
 
The Analysis also looked at the number of employees generated by short-term rentals. 
It found that each short-term rental listing, on average, accounts for approximately 0.4 
full-time jobs.  Finally, the Analysis looked at the employee generation of ski resorts, as 
measured by skiable acreage. It found that on a per-acre basis, there are approximately 
0.44 employees. However, per-ski lift, the figure is 63 employees.  
 
State Legislation 
On March 24, 2022, the Governor signed H.B. 303, Local Land Use Amendments, 
which modified the authority of a municipality or a county to require the development of 
moderate-income housing as a condition of approval of a land use regulation.  
 
Effective May 4, 2022, Utah Code 10-9a-535 set new regulations for how municipalities 
may require the development of a certain number of moderate-income housing units as 
a condition of approval of a land use application. The new standard says that “If an 
applicant does not agree to participate in the development of moderate income housing 
units under Subsection (1)(a) or (b), a municipality may not take into consideration the 
applicant's decision in the municipality's determination of whether to approve or deny a 
land use application”. These sections allow a requirement of moderate-income housing 
units only by mutual agreement with developers, or incentives, such as our AMPD 
process. 
 
However, subsection (3) of Section 535 clarifies that specific regulations that pre-date 
the state code, including Park City’s Land Management Code MPD and Annexation 
sections, are effectively exempted if left unmodified. A considerable amount of effort 
was spent obtaining this clarification provision to help protect Park City’s housing 
efforts: 
 

“(3) Notwithstanding Subsections (1) and (2), a municipality that imposes a resort 
community sales and use tax as described in Section 59-12-401, may require the 
development of a certain number of moderate income housing units as a 
condition of approval of a land use application if the requirement is in accordance 
with an ordinance enacted by the municipality before January 1, 2022”. 

 
Concurrent Analyses 
In addition to the Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute Analysis, the Housing team is also 
reviewing other sources of information to understand the current conditions that could 
impact the efficacy of Park City’s Housing Resolution. These sources include: 

• 2023 Workforce Housing Report, Northwest Colorado Council of Governments 
• 2022-2024 State of the State’s Housing Market, Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute 
• 2021 Park City Housing Needs Assessment, James Wood 
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The Housing team is also conducting a series of semi-structured 30-minute to 1-hour 
interviews with residents, businesses, stakeholders, developers, and other interested 
entities who have dealt with the Housing Resolution in the past, are contemplating 
projects that would be subject to the Resolution in the future or have worked with similar 
inclusionary zoning-style regulations in other mountain or resort communities.  
 
The interviews are being evaluated to highlight common themes among the 
conversations and identify areas of focus within the Housing Resolution and its 
associated processes.  
 
Recommendation  
Given the scope and importance of the Housing Resolution to Park City’s overall 
housing policy, the Housing team recommends that Council review the findings of the 
Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute review of Park City’s Housing Resolution and consider 
areas of the housing policy for potential changes or updates.  
 
Following the Council’s initial review and discussion, the Housing team will prepare a 
working draft for a new Housing Resolution or other housing policy to address the 
Council’s identified priorities and return at a future meeting for potential adoption. 
 
Exhibits 
Exhibit A: Draft Park City Affordable Housing Analysis 
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Community Overview 
Over the past decade, Park City's population has undergone notable changes that reflect both the 
city's evolving dynamics and its enduring appeal. Park City has experienced steady population growth 
over the past decade, increase by 10.8% between 2010 and 2021. This increase can be attributed to 
factors such as the city's reputation as a scenic destination, its recreational opportunities, and its 
robust economy. The combination of growth and recreation has put major pressure on local and 
regional residential development.  

Within the city, approximately 1,300 new residential units were permitted between 2010 and 2022 with 
close to 56.5% of the unit approval occurring between 2020 and 2022. The construction of new 
residential units is led by single-family homes, accounting for 64.3% of all units built over the 12-year 
period. The growth in housing has played a significant role in attracting new residents to Park City.  

Park City's status as a renowned tourist destination, particularly for its ski resorts and outdoor 
activities, has contributed to seasonal economic and population fluctuations. The influx of tourists 
during peak seasons can influence the local population temporarily as well as stress local housing 
options for the workforce. Because of its tourism success, Summit County is home to the largest share 
of short-term rentals in the state. In 2022, there were approximately 5,810 short-term rentals in the 
county. This represents approximately 22.0% of all housing units in the county. Park City’s share of 
short-term rentals is nearly twice that of the county with 44.0% of existing housing units listed. 

The local thriving economy has shown a strong recovery since the pandemic. Additionally, the city's 
growth in sectors like real estate, technology, and professional services has drawn individuals seeking 
employment and career opportunities. This economic diversification has enhanced Park City's 
attractiveness as a place to settle. Cultural and Lifestyle Appeal: The city's vibrant arts and cultural 
scene, coupled with its focus on sustainability and quality of life, has resonated with individuals 
looking for a unique and enriching place to live. 
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Demographic Highlights 
Between 2010 and 2020, Summit County grew by 6,033 residents. Driven by net migration, this 
resulted in a 2020 Census population of 42,357, the tenth largest in Utah. 

Summit County is home to a total population of 42,357 residents. The county demonstrates a 
balanced gender distribution. Park City accounts for 19.8% of the county population, housing 8,396 
residents. When considering age, Summit County's median age stands at 40.8 years, Park City has a 
slightly higher median age of 43.7 years, both areas have a higher median age than the state average 
of 31.3 years. 

Table 1: Demographic Highlights, 2020 

 
Summit 
County 

Park 
City  

TOTAL POPULATION 42,357 8,396 
Male 21,578 4,320 
Female 20,779 4,076 
MEDIAN AGE 40.8 43.7 
RACE     
Total population 42,357 8,396 
One Race 39,461 7,675 
White 35,927 6,379 
Black or African American 173 57 
American Indian and Alaska Native 133 28 
Asian 728 241 
Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific 
Islander 44 9 
Some Other Race 2,456 961 
Two or More Races 2,896 721 
HISPANIC OR LATINO    
Hispanic or Latino (of any race) 4,737 1,623 
Not Hispanic or Latino 37,620 6,773 

Source: US Decennial census 
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Summit County’s population is projected to grow from 42,394 on July 1, 2020, to 59,603 in 2060. 
Summit County’s overall population ranking is projected to decrease from tenth largest in 2020 to 
eleventh largest in 2060. Park City’s population is expected to increase by approximately 1,300 people 
during the same time.  

Net migration is projected to be the primary driver of growth from the mid-2020s throughout the 
projection period. Natural decrease (more deaths than births) is projected for Summit County 
beginning in the 2030s. 

Figure 1: Projected Population Growth, 2020 -2060 

 

Source: Kem C Gardner Policy Institute, UDOT Travel Demand Model 

Within Summit County, there are 13,475 occupied housing units, with the majority, accounting for 
10,708 units, classified as owner-occupied, and the remaining 2,767 units designated as renter 
occupied. This distinction in tenure translates into distinct average household sizes: owner-occupied 
households in Summit County have an average size of 3.06 individuals, while renter-occupied 
households maintain an average size of 3.31 individuals. Similarly, in the unique enclave of Park City, 
2,827 housing units are occupied. Of these, 2,032 units are owner-occupied, and 795 units are renter-
occupied. This tenure demarcation manifests in differing average household sizes: owner-occupied 
households in Park City exhibit an average size of 2.55 individuals, whereas renter-occupied 
households exhibit a notably larger average size of 3.85 individuals. 

Table 2: Occupied Housing Units by Tenure and Average Household Size, 2021 

Housing Tenure 
Summit 
County 

Park 
City  

Occupied housing units 13,475 2,827 
Owner-occupied 10,708 2,032 
Renter-occupied 2,767 795 

Average HH size of owner 3.06 2.55 
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Average HH size of renter 3.31 3.85 
Source: US Census ACS 2021 5-year average  
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The distribution of households by workforce participation reveals insightful patterns across the State 
of Utah, Summit County, and Park City. In Utah, among 1,033,651 households, 18.8% do not have 
workers, 35.1% have one worker, 33.8% have two workers, and 12.3% have three or more workers. In 
Summit County, out of 13,475 households, 19.9% lack workers, 35.9% have one worker, 34.5% have 
two workers, and 9.7% have three or more workers. Similarly, Park City's 2,827 households 
demonstrate that 20.9% have no workers, 38.5% have one worker, 28.3% have two workers, and 
12.4% have three or more workers. 

Table 2: Number of Workers per Household and Share, 2021 

  
State of 
Utah 

Summit 
Co. 

Park 
City 

Households 1,033,651 13,475 2,827 
    No workers: 194,630 2,675 590 
    1 worker: 362,659 4,837 1,087 
    2 workers: 349,053 4,655 800 
    3 or more workers: 127,309 1,308 350 
        
    No workers: 18.8% 19.9% 20.9% 
    1 worker: 35.1% 35.9% 38.5% 
    2 workers: 33.8% 34.5% 28.3% 
    3 or more workers: 12.3% 9.7% 12.4% 

Source: US Census ACS 2021 5-year average 

Approximately 37.5% of those working in Park City reside within Summit County itself, while 62.5% live 
outside of the county. Meanwhile, Park City accommodates 12.1% of its workers within its own 
boundaries., a notable portion of workers commute from Salt Lake County, contributing 26.0%, while 
Wasatch County hosts 17.5% of Park City workers. Smaller shares are represented by Utah at 6.3%, 
Davis at 2.6%, and Weber at 1.6%. 

Table 3: Where Park City Worker Live, 2020 
County Share 
Summit 37.5% 

Park City 12.1% 
Other Summit 25.4% 

Salt Lake 26.0% 
Wasatch 17.5% 
Utah 6.3% 
Davis 2.6% 
Weber 1.6% 
Cache 0.9% 
Morgan 0.8% 
Tooele 0.7% 
Washington 0.5% 
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All Other Locations 5.7% 
Source:  US Census Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics 

For most households, earnings from wages represent the majority of the household income. Because 
nearly two-thirds of those working in Park City live outside of Summit County, it is important to 
understand the source of income since those living in Summit County have a higher share of income 
originating from sources other than wages. 

For the State of Utah, the mean household income stands at $101,412, while the mean earnings 
constitute $99,934, accounting for 98.5% of the income. An additional 1.5% of the income derives 
from other sources. On the other hand, Summit County manifests a notably higher mean household 
income at $176,064, where mean earnings make up $170,672, forming 96.9% of the total income, with 
3.1% arising from alternative sources. 

Table 4: Earnings as a Share of Mean Household Income, 2021 

Area 
Mean HH 

Income 
Mean 

Earnings 

Earnings 
Share of 
Income 

Other 
Income 

Share 
State of Utah $101,412 $99,934 98.5% 1.5% 
Summit County $176,064 $170,672 96.9% 3.1% 

Source: US Census ACS 2021 5-year average 

 

Combining earning share from other sources with where Park City workers live shows that for the 
average Park City worker, 2.1% of household income originates from sources other than wages.  

Table 5: Other Income as a Share of Mean Household Income by Where Park City Workers 
Live, 2021 

  
Source of 
Workers 

Other Income 
Share 

Summit County 37.50% 3.1% 
Rest of State 62.50% 1.5% 
Blended share   2.1% 

Source:  US Census Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics  
and ACS 2021 5-year average 
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In 2022, Park City had a total of 10,200. The economy is led by Accommodation and Food Services 
sector, boasting an average annual employment of 2,897. Second is the Arts, Entertainment, and 
Recreation sector with 1,636 employees.  Retail Trade has the third highest share with 927 employees. 
The Health Care and Social Assistance sector secures the fourth spot with 777 employees, while the 
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing sector follows with an average of 670 employees.  

In terms of annual income, the Finance and Insurance sector takes the lead with an average of 
$198,304, followed closely by the Information sector at $151,464 and Management of Companies and 
Enterprises at $157,756. Conversely, sectors such as Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting, Retail 
Trade, and Educational Services exhibit lower average annual incomes at $41,411, $41,729, and 
$39,548, respectively. A discernible pattern emerges wherein sectors with higher annual incomes tend 
to have fewer employees, while those with lower annual incomes have higher employment figures. 

Table 6: Industry Average Employment, Monthly Wages, and Annual Income, Park City, 2022 

Sector 
Avg. Annual 
Employment 

Avg. 
Monthly 
Wage 

Earnings 
+ Other 
Income 

Annual 
Income 

Total 10,200 $5,117 $5,224 $62,694 
Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting 7 $3,380 $3,451 $41,411 
Utilities 8 $10,928 $11,158 $133,893 
Construction 286 $5,196 $5,305 $63,656 
Manufacturing 94 $6,533 $6,670 $80,039 
Wholesale Trade 110 $9,801 $10,006 $120,078 
Retail Trade 927 $3,406 $3,477 $41,729 
Transportation and Warehousing 132 $4,582 $4,678 $56,135 
Information 281 $12,362 $12,622 $151,464 
Finance and Insurance 278 $16,185 $16,525 $198,304 
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 670 $6,177 $6,307 $75,680 
Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services 623 $10,418 $10,637 $127,644 
Management of Companies and Enterprises 52 $12,876 $13,146 $157,756 
Admin., Support, Waste Mgmt, Remediation 262 $5,300 $5,411 $64,933 
Educational Services 571 $3,228 $3,296 $39,548 
Health Care and Social Assistance 777 $5,186 $5,294 $63,533 
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 1,636 $3,654 $3,730 $44,763 
Accommodation and Food Services 2,897 $3,461 $3,534 $42,405 
Other Services (excluding Public 
Administration) 349 $4,313 $4,403 $52,840 
Public Administration 242 $4,596 $4,693 $56,316 

Source: Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute extrapolation of Utah Department of Workforce Services Data. 
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Housing Overview 
The region accommodates a total of 25,827 housing units, with 13,475 units currently occupied, and 
an additional 12,352 units standing vacant. Within the confines of Park City, a notable 8,585 of which 
2,827 units that are actively occupied, and 5,758 units currently vacant. 

In Summit County, 12,352 units are vacant, with a significant number, 10,129, are reserved for 
seasonal, recreational, or occasional use. Conversely, Park City showcases 5,758 vacant. A notable 
portion, 4,438 units, are designated for seasonal or recreational purposes. As of Spring 2023, there 
approximately 6,150 short-term rentals in the county. This represents approximately 23.4% of all 
housing units in the county. Park City’s share of short-term rentals is nearly twice that of the county 
with 44.0% of existing housing units listed. 

Table 7: Housing Unit Occupancy and Vacancy Characteristics, 2021 

  Summit County 
Park 
City  

Total housing Units 25827 8585 
    Occupied 13475 2827 
    Vacant 12352 5758 
      
Total Vacant 12352 5758 
    For rent 1604 1043 
    Rented, not occupied 48 41 
    For sale only 242 100 
    Sold, not occupied 50 34 
    For seasonal, recreational, or occasional 
use 10129 4438 
    For migrant workers 0 0 
    Other vacant 279 102 

Source: US Census ACS 2021 5-year average 

The distribution of unit types shows majority are 1-unit, detached houses, with 16,196 units in Summit 
County and 3,455 units in Park City. Additionally, there are 1,779 attached 1-unit units in Summit 
County and 818 in Park City. Notably, structures containing 20 or more units make up a significant 
portion of housing, totaling 3,844 in Summit County and 2,170 in Park City. 

Table 8: Existing Housing Unit Type, 2021 

Unit Type Summit County 
Park 
City  

Total housing units 25,827 8,585 
1-unit, detached 16,196 3,455 
1-unit, attached 1,779 818 
2 units 613 401 
3 or 4 units 859 551 

Page 31 of 377



11 
 

5 to 9 units 1,354 708 
10 to 19 units 809 448 
20 or more units 3,844 2,170 
Mobile home 373 34 

Source: US Census ACS 2021 5-year average  
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For owner-occupied housing units, the median income stands at $127,465 in Summit County and 
notably higher at $140,147 in Park City. Conversely, for renter-occupied housing units, the median 
income reflects a figure of $77,884 in Summit County and slightly elevated at $79,295 in Park City. 
Considering the entirety of housing tenure scenarios, the median income emerges as $116,351 for 
Summit County and advances to $121,701 for Park City. 

Table 9:  Median Household Income by Tenure, 2021 

Median Income by Housing Tenure 
Summit 
County Park City 

Owner Occupied $127,465 $140,147 
Renter Occupied $77,884 $79,295 
Total $116,351 $121,701 

Source: US Census ACS 2021 5-year average 

 

Review of Resolution to Adopt Affordable Housing Guidelines (Resolution 05-
2021) 
Affordable Housing Guidelines (05-2021) standards apply to all new Housing and Commercial 
Development created under 15-6 Master Planned Developments and 15-8 Annexation under the Park 
City Land Management Code.  

The Master Planned Development (MPD) process is required in all zoning districts except the 
following: 

• Historic Residential- Low Density (HRL) 
• Historic Residential (HR-1) 
• Historic Residential 2 (HR-2) 
• Historic Residential Commercial (HRC) and 
• Historic Commercial Business (HCB)  

For all the following projects: 

• Any Residential project with ten (10) or more Lots. 
• Any Residential project with ten (10) or more Residential Unit Equivalents (20,000 square feet). 
• Any Hotel or lodging project with ten (10) or more Residential Unit Equivalents (20,000 square 

feet). 
• Any new Commercial, Retail, Office, Public, Quasi-public, mixed-use, or industrial project with 

10,000 square feet or more of Gross Floor Area. 
• All projects utilizing Transfer of Development Rights Development Credits  
• All Affordable Housing Master Planned Developments consistent with Section 15-6-7.  

Affordable Housing Master Planned Developments are allowed in the following zoning districts and 
may only contain allowed or conditional uses of that district.  
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Table 10: Affordable Housing Master Planned Developments Allowable Zoning Districts: 

Zoning District  Allowed Use** Conditional Use**  
Administrative 

Conditional Use  
Residential Dev. (RD)  Duplex  Multi-Unit N/A 
Residential Dev. Medium Density 
(RDM) Triplex Multi-Unit N/A 
Residential Medium Density (RM) Triplex Multi-Unit N/A 
Recreation Commercial (RC) Triplex Multi-Unit N/A 

General Commercial (GC) 
No primary 
Residential Multi-Unit N/A 

Light Industrial (LI) 
No primary 
Residential Multi-Unit N/A 

Community Transition (CT)  
No primary 
Residential 

Multi-Unit with Approved 
MPD  

No Residential 
Uses 

Historic Commercial Business (HCB) Multi-Unit  Group Care  N/A 
Historic Recreation Commercial* 
(HRC) Duplex  Multi-Unit N/A  

*HCB is the only zoning district with multi-unit development as an allowed use but is exempt from 
requiring Master Planned Developments. All Master Planned Developments are required to fulfill 
Affordable Housing guidelines, making HCB zoning districts exempt from affordable housing 
guidelines.   
** highest density allowed/conditional uses  
 

The only zoning district that allows multi-unit development (a Building containing four (4) or more 
Dwelling Units as a by-right, allowed use is the Historic Commercial Business District (HCB). HCB is 
exempt from requiring a Master Planned Development process. It is unclear if HCB zones alone would 
be allowed. 

The Master Planned Development process is allowed but is not required in the Historic Residential 
(HR-1) and Historic Residential 2 (HR-2) Zoning Districts only when the HR-1 or HR-2 zoned Properties 
are combined with adjacent HRC or HCB zoned Properties. Height exceptions will not be granted for 
Master Planned Developments within the HR-1, HR-2, HRC and HCB Zoning Districts. See Section 15-
6-5(F) Building Height. Without a required Master Planned Development process, it is unclear where 
Affordable Housing Guidelines apply. Realigning zoning districts allowed uses to support the 
affordable housing goals of Park City while incentivizing developers to take on these projects should 
be considered.  

After a review of the resolution Gardner Policy Institute makes the following recommendations: 

Goal 7 in Park City's General Plan addresses the need to create a diversity of primary housing 
opportunities. By creating a mix of housing stock at varying price ranges, sizes, and designs, residents 
will have local options, whether they are seasonal workers, young professionals, families, empty 
nesters or retirees.  
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Workforce housing is often defined as housing affordable to households that earn too much to 
qualify for traditional housing subsidies. Although the term is imprecise it refers to programs targeted 
for households at 80% to 120% of AMI. Workforce housing is a subset of the broader concept of 
affordable housing. The General Plan goal of meeting 15% of workforce housing needs is a challenge 
and requires some refinement of the resolution. 
 
The challenge of meeting the workforce housing goal is depicted in Table 1. Using the most recent 
HUD income data for Summit County, Table 11 shows the maximum affordable housing price by 
household size. For example, a four-person household at 80% AMI could afford a home priced up to 
$359,250.  However, only 72 of the 1,382 homes sold in Park City since January 2022 were affordable 
to this household.  The 72 homes represent only 5.21% of homes sold in Park City for the period.  See 
Table 12 for HUD 2023 Summit County income estimates. 
 
The table also shows the threshold of affordability for a teacher (average wage) and local government 
employee (average wage) in administration including public safety. In both cases, the average wage is 
sufficient to afford only a tiny fraction of homes sold, less than 2%. 
 
Resolution revisions that could help address the workforce housing issue are: 

 
(1) Earmark some fee in lieu dollars for workforce housing units. 

 (2) Methods to fulfill developer’s housing obligation. 
Construction on site, off site, or dedication of existing non-deed restricted for 
affordable workforce housing. Incentives through some type of development bonus. 
 

Table 11: Housing Affordability for Workforce Housing 

Household Size 
Price of Maximum 
Affordable Home 

Homes Sold in Park 
City ≤ Maximum Price 
(01/01/2022 to 
08/01/2023) 

% of Total 
Home Sold 

Household Income at 80% of AMI 
One person $251,600 32 2.32% 
Two persons $287,450 43 3.11% 
Three persons $323,425 56 4.05% 
Four persons $359,250 72 5.21% 
Household Income at 100% of AMI (median income) 
One person $314,550 53 3.84% 
Two persons $359,250 65 4.70% 
Three persons $404,275 99 7.16% 
Four persons $449,000 125 9.04% 
Household Income at 120% AMI 
One person $377,500 82 5.93% 
Two persons $431,000 115 8.32% 
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Three persons $485,134 142 10.27% 
Four persons $538,725 173 12.52% 
School Teachers (average wage) 
NA $188,750 20 1.45% 
Local Government Employees Incl. Police (average wage) 
NA $225,125 27 1.95% 

Source: Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute  

 

 

Figure 2: Number of Homes Sold by Unit Size, Park City, (01/01/2022 to 08/01/2023) 

 

Source: Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute  

 
Table 12: HUD AMI Income Estimates for Summit County, 2023 

Household Size 
30% 
AMI 

50% 
AM 

80% 
 AMI 

100% 
AMI 

120% 
AMI 

One person $29,760 $49,600 $79,360 $99,200 $119,040 
Two persons $33,990 $56,650 $90,640 $113,300 $135,960 
Three persons $38,250 $63,750 $102,000 $127,500 $153,000 
Four persons $42,480 $70,800 $113,280 $141,600 $169,920 
Five persons $45,900 $76,500 $122,400 $153,000 $183,600 
Six persons $49,290 $82,150 $131,440 $164,300 $197,160 
Seven persons $52,680 $87,800 $140,480 $175,600 $210,720 
Eight persons $56,100 $93,500 $149,600 $187,000 $224,400 
Source: HUD 

 
The resolution provides a methodology for estimating employee generation for commercial 
development.  Based on the employees generated by the commercial space the developer is 
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obligated to satisfy a mitigation rate.  The mitigation rate specifies the number of AUEs (affordable 
unit equivalent = 900 sf) required due to the commercial development.  Rental units priced at 80% 
AMI satisfies the mitigation requirement. two-bedroom units at 80% AMI carries a rental rate of 
$2,549 in Summit County, Table 14.  

 
Table 13: Rental Rates at AMI Levels for Summit County, 2023 

Unit  
Type 

30% 
AMI 

50% 
AMI 

80% 
AMI 

100% 
AMI 

120% 
AMI 

studio $744 $1,240 $1,984 $2,480 $2,976 
One bedroom $796 $1,328 $2,125 $2,656 $3,187 
Two bedrooms $956 $1,593 $2,549 $3,186 $3,823 
Three bedrooms $1,104 $1,841 $2,946 $3,682 $4,418 
Four bedrooms $1,232 $2,053 $3,285 $4,106 $4,927 
Five bedrooms $1,359 $2,266 $3,626 $4,532 $5,438 
Source: HUD 

Most of the those employed, however, by the commercial development would not be able to afford a 
rental unit at 80% AMI.  Even rent at 50% AMI would be difficult for many of the low wage workers 
associated with the commercial development. For example, a household with 1.5 accommodation 
workers would have an income of $62,300 (Utah Department of Workforce Services).  At this income 
level the household could afford $1,557 in rent, well below the two-bedroom rent of $2,549 and 
slightly below the 50% rent of $1,593.  In essence, the commercial development will employ low wage 
workers—primarily retail, accommodations (hotel), and food services (restaurants) workers—but 
provide relatively expensive rental housing.  The resolution could be refined to require some of the 
AUEs at 50% AMI rents. 
 
Recommendation on sourcing 
For a few key concepts we recommend a short description or rationale for the use of selected 
variables. 
 
(1) The calculation of the Residential Unit Equivalent (RUE) uses 2,000 sf as the divisor to determine 
the RUE. It is unclear why 2,000 sf is used.   
(2) Once the Residential Unit Equivalent (RUE) is determined a mitigation rate of 20%, for both 
residential and employment generation is applied.  It is unclear why 20% is used or why is it an 
accepted standard for inclusionary zoning.  
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Fee In Lieu and the Development Process 
To better understand the development obstacles faced by the building community working in Park 
City, a brief survey was implemented in the Summer of 2023. The purpose of this survey was to 
highlight specific areas where challenges exist and how the city can provide a smoother process for 
building more attainable housing.  

Additionally, part of the survey was also focused on construction costs. These costs are meant to 
serve as a basis for a new Fee-in-Lie. The breakout of the costs goes beyond construction costs, 
highlights include costs associated with management and design elements of developing housing 
targeting individuals and family working in Park City. 

Some elements of construction in Park City are outside of anyone’s control. The weather adds a 
challenge to building by shortening the build season. This increases the risk of prolonging the 
construction timeline and thus adding costs. Another element is location to the Wasatch Front’s labor 
pool. Because of the distance, transporting skilled labor to sites in the city is difficult, thus builders are 
forced to pay more for labor. 

There are other elements of building in Park City that are within the city’s control. Most of these have 
to do with design elements and the approval process. Builders expressed that architecture 
requirements that go beyond code add additional unnecessary costs. While this isn’t an issue for 
higher-end priced homes, when trying to achieve a certain affordability price-point, these 
requirements add an additional layer of challenges. 

The greatest challenge for building housing that is affordable is the approval process. Site 
improvement costs are higher than average because of legacy environmental issues and the 
challenging topography of Park City. A major challenge in working with the city is that the process 
requires city council approval or planning commission approval on the most innocuous decisions. This 
results in limiting staffs’ ability to make decisions and always defaulting to the most conservative or 
obstructive determinations. Clarity and consistency are also a challenge. For example, additional 
height limits are conditioned with an additional 10-foot setback. This limits floorplans and density. 
Consistency form the Park City Planning Commission is needed. Parking allowable under the 
Affordable Master Planned Developments needs to be upheld consistently because it can lead to 
require more parking than a non-affordable market rate project. 

During interviews, developer feedback included discussion on the difficulty of making it through the 
entitlement process, specifically for conditional uses. Park City has a highly engaged community and 
the extra time spent through the approval process could make the difference of a project being able 
to pencil. 

This strenuous process adds costs due to the risk of investing millions into land development without 
having assurances of a project being approved. As a result, budget contingencies are increased to 8-
10% in Park City projects compared 2-4% in Wasatch Front communities. 
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Smart land use is vital in Park City to maintain the open lands and historic community the city is built 
upon – but there appears to be contradictions between uses. With much of the zoning map listed as 
recreation and open space including a Sensitive Lands Overlay, the areas zoned for residential 
development are minimal. To achieve affordability with limited land, higher density will be required.  

Addictingly, without understanding the nuances of construction costs it is challenging to set policy 
that assists in the development of more housing. Construction costs fluctuate significantly between 
the Wasatch Front and the Wasatch Back according to the survey.  

For an average affordable housing project in Park City, the cost per square foot is estimated at $445. 
Within this cost framework, the allocation of expenses is delineated as follows: 

o Land Costs: Representing $105 per square foot of the total cost of the building, this category 
accounts for 23.6% of the overall expenditures. 

o Total Construction Cost: The most substantial portion of the budget, totaling $313 per square 
foot, corresponds to 70.5% of the total. This category further breaks down into 
subcomponents, including: 

o Direct Construction Cost: Constituting $239 per square foot (53.8% of the total), this 
component encompasses the core expenses directly associated with the physical 
construction process. 

o Architectural/Engineering Fees: Amounting to $13 per square foot (2.9%), these fees 
cover the professional design and engineering services integral to the project. 

o Permits, Tap Fees & Taxes: At $10 per square foot (2.3%), this portion includes 
regulatory permits, utility connection fees, and tax obligations. 

o Overhead and Marketing: This category accounts for $14 per square foot (3.1%) and 
encapsulates general project overhead and marketing-related expenditures. 

o Construction Loan Fees & Interest: With a total of $37 per square foot (8.4%), this 
component incorporates fees and interest payments associated with project financing. 

o Developer/Contractor Fee: Concluding the cost structure, the developer/contractor fee 
represents $26 per square foot, equivalent to 5.9% of the total cost per square foot. 

Table 14: Total Costs per square foot for Park City Projects 

Total Cost Per Sq. Ft. (in Dollars) 
 $      
445  

Land Costs 
 $      
105  

  

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION COST 
 $      
313  

Direct construction cost 
 $      
239  

Architectural/engineering fees  $       13  
Permits, tap fees & taxes  $       10  
Overhead, marketing  $       14  
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Construction loan fees & 
interest 

 $       
37  

  

Developer/Contractor Fee 
 $       
26  

Source: Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute 
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Employee Generation 
In Summit County, Utah, several industries stand out as driving forces for the local economy based on 
their significant levels of employment and economic impact. These industries play a pivotal role in 
shaping the county's overall economic landscape: 

• Accommodation and Food Services: With a robust employment figure of 6,040 individuals, 
this sector is a cornerstone of Summit County's economy. The region's popularity as a tourist 
destination, particularly for its ski resorts and recreational activities, fuels a strong demand 
for accommodations, restaurants, and entertainment services. 
 

• Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation: Employing 4,471 individuals, this sector capitalizes on 
the county's cultural and recreational offerings. Its popularity as a destination for outdoor 
activities and entertainment contributes significantly to the local economy through various 
events, attractions, and recreational facilities. 
 

• Retail Trade: With 3,559 employees, the retail trade sector reflects the county's role as a 
shopping and commercial hub, serving both residents and tourists. Retail establishments 
catering to diverse consumer needs contribute substantially to the local economy. 
 

• Health Care and Social Assistance: Providing employment to 1,796 individuals, this sector 
highlights the importance of healthcare services in Summit County. As the population grows 
and seeks medical care, this sector plays a crucial role in meeting healthcare needs. 

 
• Construction: With a robust vacation and second home market, the construction sector 

supports 2,460 employees. 
 

• Professional, Scientific & Technical Services: With 1,555 employees, this sector represents the 
knowledge-based economy in the county. It encompasses a range of professional services, 
including consulting, technology, legal, and engineering services, contributing to economic 
diversification. 
 

• Real Estate and Rental and Leasing: Employing 1,361 individuals, this sector signifies the 
county's growth and development. As the region attracts residents and businesses, real 
estate and rental services play a vital role in supporting housing and commercial needs. 
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Table 15: Summit County Top 5 Industries, 2022 

Industry sector 
NAICS 
Sector 

Avg. 
Employment Establishments 

Avg. 
Monthly 
Wage 

Accommodation and Food Services 72  6,040             228  $3,461  
     Accommodation 721  2,527               47  $4,426  
     Food Services and Drinking Places 722  3,513             181  $2,765  
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 71  4,471               89  $3,654  
     Performing Arts, Spectator Sports, 711     385               43  $5,222  
     Amusement, Gambling, and 
Recreation 713  3,885               42  $3,490  
Retail Trade (44 & 45) 44  3,559             330  $3,406  
     Motor Vehicle and Parts Dealers 441     185               17  $4,581  
     Building Material and Garden 
Equipment 444     312               16  $3,654  
     Food and Beverage Retailers 445     821               35  $2,957  
     Furniture, Home Furnishings, 
Electronics 449     229               32  $3,572  
     General Merchandise Retailers 455     243                 9  $3,201  
     Health and Personal Care Retailers 456       70               14  $3,102  
     Gasoline Stations and Fuel Dealers 457     251               15  $2,012  
     Clothing, Clothing Accessories 458     870               85  $3,872  
     Sporting Goods, Hobby 459     578             116  $3,468  
Construction 23  2,460             440  $5,196  
     Construction of Buildings 236     892             193  $5,490  
     Heavy and Civil Engineering 
Construction 237     299               29  $6,685  
     Specialty Trade Contractors 238  1,269             218  $4,669  
Health Care and Social Assistance 62  1,796             218  $5,186  
     Ambulatory Health Care Services 621     745             159  $5,276  
     Social Assistance 624     408               49  $3,109  
Totals for Top Five NAICS by 
Employment   18,326          1,305  $4,020  
Total, all industries   29,433          3,876  $5,169  

Source: Utah Department of Workforce Services.  
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Table 16: Top Employers in Summit County, 2022 

Rank 

Avg. 
Annual 
Emp. Company Industry 

1 1000-1999 Deer Valley Resort Outdoor Recreation 
2 1000-1999 Park City Mountain Resort Outdoor Recreation 
3 500-999 Park City School District Public Education 
4 500-999 Park City Local Government 
5 500-999 Park City Hospital Health Care 
6 250-499 Stein Eriksen Lodge Tourism 
7 250-499 Montage Deer Valley Tourism 
8 250-499 South Summit School District Public Education 
9 250-499 United Benefits Consulting Outdoor Recreation 

10 250-499 Promontory Development Outdoor Recreation 
11 250-499 Summit County Local Government 
12 100-249 Triumph Gear Systems Aerospace 
13 100-249 Woodward Park City Recreational and Vacation Camps 
14 100-249 North Summit School District Public Education 
15 100-249 Wal-Mart Warehouse Clubs and Supercenters 
16 100-249 Storied Management Amusement and Recreation 
17 100-249 Smith’s Food and Drug Grocery Stores 
18 100-249 Home Depot Home Centers 
19 100-249 CFI Resorts Management Real Estate 
20 100-249 Backcountry.com Online Retail 
21 100-249 Associated Retail Operations Grocery Stores 
22 100-249 The Lodge at Blue Sky Accommodations 
23 100-249 Resort Retailers Convenience Stores 
24 100-249 Skullcandy Manufacturing 
25 100-249 Whole Foods Market Grocery Stores 

26 100-249 
Snyderville Basin Special 
Recreation Museums and Historical Sites 

27 100-249 Park City Fire Service Local Government 
28 100-249 Captiva Salt Lake Computer Systems Design Services 
29 100-249 Salt Lake Brewing Restaurants 
30 100-249 Jans Sporting Goods Stores 
31 100-249 Waldorf Astoria Accommodations 
32 100-249 Marriott Resorts Accommodations 

33 100-249 Utah Athletic Foundation 
Promoters of Performing Arts and 
Sports 

Source: Utah Department of Workforce Services 
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Park City employment and wages presented in table 17. Two key metrics are presented for each 
sector: the average annual employment and the corresponding average monthly wage. This dataset 
enables an analysis of the city's economic landscape, highlighting the distribution of jobs and wages 
among different sectors. In 2022, there were approximately 10,200 jobs in Park City. The region is 
Tourism-Driven economy. Th Accommodation and Food Services and Arts, Entertainment, and 
Recreation sectors significantly contribute to employment, collectively accounting for 4,533 jobs. This 
highlights Park City's status as a popular tourist destination. The Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 
sector demonstrates substantial employment (670 jobs) and a relatively higher average monthly 
wage. This suggests a thriving real estate market and related services in the city. The Health Care and 
Social Assistance and Educational Services sectors provide consistent employment (1,348 jobs), 
highlighting the stability of these essential service sectors. 

While some sectors such as Information, Finance and Insurance, and Management of Companies and 
Enterprises offer higher monthly wages, others like Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting and 
Retail Trade provide lower wages. 

Low Wages: 

• Retail Trade: The average monthly wage in the retail trade sector is $3,406. Retail jobs often 
include entry-level positions and customer service roles, which typically offer lower wages. 
 

• Accommodation and Food Services: With an average monthly wage of $3,461, this sector 
includes jobs in hospitality and restaurants. While it provides a substantial number of 
employment opportunities, the wages tend to be on the lower side due to the prevalence of 
part-time and seasonal positions. 
 

• Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation: This sector offers an average monthly wage of $3,654. 
Jobs in entertainment and recreation, which may be part-time or event-driven, contribute to 
the lower average wage. 

High Wages: 

• Information: The information sector boasts an average monthly wage of $12,362. This likely 
includes positions in technology, data analysis, and media, which often require specialized 
skills and education, leading to higher compensation. 
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• Finance and Insurance: With an average monthly wage of $16,185, this sector includes jobs in 
financial services and insurance that typically demand expertise in finance and economics, 
leading to higher salaries. 
 

• Management of Companies and Enterprises: The average monthly wage in this sector is 
$12,876. Positions in management often come with responsibilities that require experience and 
leadership skills, justifying the higher wages.  
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Table 17: Industry Average Employment, Monthly Wages, and Annual Income, Park City, 2022 

Sector 
Avg. Annual 
Employment 

Avg. 
Monthly 

Wage 
Total 10,200 $5,117  

Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting 7 $3,380  
Utilities 8 $10,928  

Construction 286 $5,196  
Manufacturing 94 $6,533  

Wholesale Trade 110 $9,801  
Retail Trade 927 $3,406  

Transportation and Warehousing 132 $4,582  
Information 281 $12,362  

Finance and Insurance 278 $16,185  
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 670 $6,177  

Professional, Scientific, and Technical 
Services 623 $10,418  

Management of Companies and Enterprises 52 $12,876  
Admin., Support, Waste Mgmt, Remediation 262 $5,300  

Educational Services 571 $3,228  
Health Care and Social Assistance 777 $5,186  

Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 1,636 $3,654  
Accommodation and Food Services 2,897 $3,461  

Other Services (excluding Public Admin) 349 $4,313  
Public Administration 242 $4,596  

Source: Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute extrapolation of Utah Department of Workforce Services Data. 
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Most establishments, 1,294 in total, fall into the category of 1 to 4 employees. A larger portion of 
these fall under single proprietors and limited-liability companies. There are 327 establishments with 5 
to 9 employees, while slightly fewer, 247, have 10 to 19 employees. The range narrows further, with 
166 establishments having 20 to 49 employees, and a smaller group of 45 establishments with 50 to 
99 employees. A more select category emerges with 22 establishments employing 100 to 249 
individuals, and an even smaller group of 5 establishments with 250 to 499 employees. There are two 
establishments in the 500 to 999 employee range, and only 1 establishment reports an employee 
count of 1000 to 1999. 

Figure 3: Distribution of Top Industries and Employment Size, 2022 

 
Source: Utah Department of Workforce Services 

Table 18: Number of Establishments by Average Annual Employment Range, Park City, 2022 
Avg. 
Annual 
Emp. 

# of 
Establishments 

1-4 1,294 
5-9 327 
10-19 247 
20-49 166 
50-99 45 
100-249 22 
250-499 5 
500-999 2 
1000-1999 1 
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Source: Utah Department of Workforce Services 

 

 

Table 19: Number of Establishments by Average Annual Employment Range by Industry, Park 
City, 2022 

NAICS Industry 1-4 
5-
9 

10-
19 

20-
49 

50-
99 

100-
249 

250-
499 

500-
999 

1000-
1999 

54 
Professional Scientific & Technical 
Svc 113 15 8  2     

44 Retail Trade 50 34 24 4 3         
53 Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 80 12 7 6 2     
72 Accommodation and Food Services 10 8 20 43 10 2 2     

81 
Other Services (except Public 
Admin.) 33 13 8 1  1    

23 Construction 28 15 9 2           
52 Finance and Insurance 37 12 3 1      
62 Health Care and Social Assistance 21 7 4 5 3   1     
51 Information 27 4 4 4      
56 Admin., Support, Waste Mgmt.,  22 4 6 4           
71 Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 6 5 2 4 2 1 1 2 1 
42 Wholesale Trade 13 3 2 2           
31 Manufacturing 9 1 2 1      
61 Education Services 5 1 1 1 3 1       
55 Mgmt. of Companies and Enterprises 7  1 1      
92 Public Administration 1 2 1 1 3         
48 Transportation and Warehousing 3 2 1  1     
22 Utilities   1               

Source: Utah Department of Workforce Services 

 

The data presents a ranking of industries based on their employee density per 1,000 square feet. 
Topping the list is the Food Services and Drinking Places sector, with a density of 8.8 employees.  
Following closely is the Retail Trade sector, with a density of 6.7 employees. 

The Real Estate and Rental and Leasing sector ranks third, registering a density of 6.8 employees, 
highlighting its robust property management landscape. However, it is important to note that many 
real estate agents are not present in the office full-time, therefore this figure is skewed.  

Health Care and Social Assistance secures the fourth position, with a density of 5.1 employees. 
Professional and Technical Services, along with Management of Companies and Enterprises, jointly 
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claim the fifth position with a density of 3.1. The Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation sector ranks sixth, 
with a density of 2.6 employees.  

Education Services follows at the seventh position, sustaining a density of 2.2 employees. Wholesale 
Trade and Information sectors share the eighth position, both exhibiting a density of 2.1 employees. 
Manufacturing stands at the ninth position, registering a density of 1.7 employees. The Information 
sector follows suit at the tenth position, maintaining the same density of 1.7 employees. The Finance 
and Insurance sector claims the eleventh position, with a density of 1.6 employees. The Administrative, 
Support, Waste Management, and Remediation sector ranks twelfth, sustaining a density of 1.9 
employees. Lastly, the Transportation and Warehousing sector occupies the thirteenth position, with a 
density of 0.5 employees, highlighting its spacious operational framework.  

Table 20: Number of Employees per 1000 sf by Industry, Park City, 2022 

    
# of 
Employees 

NAICS Industry 
per 1k Sq. 
Ft. 

31 Manufacturing 1.7 
42 Wholesale Trade 2.1 
44 Retail Trade 6.7 
48 Transportation and Warehousing 0.5 
51 Information 1.7 
52 Finance and Insurance 1.6 
53 Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 6.8 
54 Professional and Technical Services 3.1 
55 Management of Companies and Enterprises 3.1 
56 Admin., Support, Waste Mgmt, Remediation 1.9 
61 Education Services 2.2 
62 Health Care and Social Assistance 5.1 
71 Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation* 2.6 

722 Food Services and Drinking Places 8.8 
Source: Kem C Gardner Policy Institute analysis of Summit County Assessor figure, Park City Business 
Licenses, and Utah Department of Workforce Services 
*Non-ski resort establishments 
 
Hotel staffing varies by season as well as service class. In the high-end hotel category, there is a 
notable variance in the staffing levels. On average, high-end hotels employ 3.7 employees per room. 
However, this ranges between 2.5 to 5.0 employees per room based on hotel and seasonality. 
 
For the average tier hotels 0.7 employees per room is the standard, but does fluctuate between 0.5 to 
1.0 based on seasonality.  
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Figure 4: Employees per Room by Hotel Class, Park City, 2022 

 
Source: Kem C. Gardner Policy Institute 
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In 2022 Summit County averaged 5,810 short-term rentals which generated $495.8 million in revenue. 
The previous year, data shows for every $1 million generated in hotel revenue, 4.6 jobs existed in the 
leisure and hospitality sector. Using this ratio in combination with the annual revenue estimates that 
the STR industry in Summit County supports approximately 2,277 jobs.  As a result, each STR listing on 
average accounts for approximately 0.4 full-time jobs in the area.  
 
Table 21Employee Generation per STR Listing, Summit County, 2022 

Category 
Summit 
County 

STR Revenue $495.8M 
*Employees per $1M of Revenue  4.6 

Supported Employees Based on Revenue 2,277 
 STR Listings  5,810 

Employees pre STR Listing 
                  

0.4  
Source: Kem C. Gardner policy Institute analysis of Transparent.com data. 
*Calculation based on Summit County profile https://gardner.utah.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021-TT-
CountyProfiles-May2023.pdf?x71849 
 

In the first three months of 2023, Summit County resorts employed approximately 4,073 people. This 
includes all employees associated directly with the ski resort and does not include hotel staff.  

On a per-acre basis, there are approximately 0.44 employees, highlighting the relatively low 
employee density across the resort's total acreage. In contrast, when considering the number of 
employees per ski lift, the figure rises significantly to 63 employees. 

Table 22: Employee Generation for Ski Resorts 
  2023 
Employees 4,073 
Acres 9,326 
Ski Lifts 65 
Per Acre 0.44 
Per Lift 62.7 

Source: BLS.gov, Resort Operations. 
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City Council 
Staff Communication 

 
 
 
 
Subject:  Temporary Winter Balcony Enclosures Update 
Author:  Planning Team 
Department:  Planning Department 
Date:   December 14, 2023 
 
Summary 
In 2016, the City Council initiated a pilot program to allow annual balcony enclosures from 
November 15 through April 30 on non-historic buildings along Main Street in the Historic 
Commercial Business District. The pilot program was initially set for three years, but the City 
Council extended the program through 2023 after careful consideration and additional public 
input. 
 
In 2022, the Historic Preservation Board and Planning Commission held work sessions to 
discuss whether the pilot program should be extended. On September 7, 2022, the Historic 
Preservation Board unanimously expressed support for continuing the program on non-historic 
structures (Staff Report; Minutes, p. 2). On October 12, 2022, the Planning Commissioners 
were split (3-to-3) regarding the program (Staff Report; Minutes, p. 5).  
 
The Planning team provided this information to the City Council on December 15, 2022, and the 
Council remanded the discussion back to the Historic Preservation Board and Planning 
Commission to formalize their recommendations (Staff Report; Minutes, p. 2). 
 
On October 4, 2023, the Historic Preservation Board and Planning Commission held a joint 
work session to discuss the pilot program. The Historic Preservation Board voted 5-to-1 to 
continue the pilot program on non-historic structures. The Planning Commission voted 3-to-2 to 
continue the pilot program with a proposal that the City Council continue the pilot program for 
another five years through April 30, 2029 (Minutes, p. 2).  
 

Next Steps 
No amendments to the Land Management Code are necessary to continue the pilot program 
unless the City Council desires to specifically codify a sunset date for the program. If the City 
Council agrees with the final recommendations of the Planning Commission and Historic 
Preservation Board, the Planning Team will return prior to the April 2029 sunset clause for 
additional review. 
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City Council Staff Report  
 
Subject:  Fiscal Year 2023 Annual Comprehensive  
   Financial Report Acceptance   
Author:  Mindy Finlinson, Finance Manager 
Department:  Finance 
Date:  December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Administrative 
 
 
Recommendation  
Review and consider approving Park City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for 
the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023. The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
(ACFR) is the primary document used to communicate the City’s financial condition.  
 
Through years of hard work and dedication and robust internal controls, Park City 
remains in a very strong financial position, and the various internal team's commitment 
to proactive and conservative financial management remains our orienting value.  
 
Executive Summary 
The Finance Department is pleased to report that the City had no material weaknesses 
reported during the year-end audit, and the City’s internal controls over financial 
reporting provide assurance that the financial statements are presented fairly and can 
be relied upon.   
 
Analysis 
State law requires Park City to follow the Uniform Fiscal Procedures Act for Utah Cities, 
UCA § 10-6-101 et seq., which requires an independent annual audit of the City’s 
finances. Certified public accountants, HBME, LLC, performed the audit. The Council 
must be presented with an annual financial report prepared in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles within 180 days of the fiscal year-end. This requirement 
is satisfied by the presentation of the ACFR (Exhibit A), which provides a 
comprehensive financial picture covering all funds and financial transactions for the 
year.  Once finalized, a copy of the ACFR is filed with the State Auditor and the City 
Recorder as a public document. 
 
The ACFR includes all funds of the City and is presented in four sections: Introductory, 
Financial, Statistical, and Internal Control and Compliance Reports. 
 
The Introductory Section contains a letter of transmittal, a directory of principal officials, 
and an organizational chart of the City. The Financial Section contains management’s 
discussion and analysis (MD&A), the basic financial statements, notes to the financial 
statements, required supplementary information, individual fund statements for which 
data is not provided separately within the basic financial statements, as well as the 
independent auditor’s report on these financial statements and schedules. The 
Statistical Section includes selected financial and demographic information, generally 
presented on a multi-year basis. The Internal Control and Compliance Reports Section 
contains the independent auditors’ report on internal control and compliance required by 
Government Auditing Standards and state compliance as required by the State of Utah 
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Legal Compliance Audit Guide. As described in the Internal Control Report section of 
the ACFR, the results of the compliance audit disclosed an instance of noncompliance 
related to budgetary compliance for the Lower Park RDA mitigation payment which is 
required to be reported in accordance with the State Compliance Audit Guide.  This 
instance did not modify the auditors’ opinion on compliance overall.  The City will 
reinforce its policies and procedures to ensure specific oversight of nonmajor funds.  
 
The ACFR is the primary document used to communicate the City’s financial condition. 
It is distributed to various bond-rating agencies, investors in the City’s debt, and the 
State Auditor to evaluate City finances. The first two basic financial statements, the 
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, present information on a 
government-wide, full-accrual accounting basis, which reflects the overall financial 
position of the City and its various funds, not just the amounts available for budgetary 
purposes. Fiscal operations in the government-wide statements are organized into two 
major activities: governmental and business-type. 
 
Fund information is also presented for major funds individually and non-major funds 
combined in a single column in the basic financial statements. Because the focus is so 
different between fund and government-wide statements, a reconciliation between the 
two types of statements is necessary to understand how the numbers differ.  
 
Staff suggests focusing on the MD&A and the notes to the basic financial statements. 
The notes to the basic financial statements in the Financial Section provide required 
detailed disclosures and a description of the financial statements. 
 
Again, we are pleased to reaffirm Park City’s strong financial position and dedication to 
proactive and conservative financial management. 
 
Funding 
Not applicable 
 
Exhibits 
Exhibit A:     Draft Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
2023 
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Park City Municipal Corporation
445 Marsac Avenue    P.O. Box 1480Park City, UT 84060-1480 

Phone (435) 615-5221Fax (435) 615-4917 

December X, 2023 

To the Honorable Mayor, City Council, and Park City community: 

Utah State law requires that every general-purpose local government publish, within six months of the close 
of each fiscal year, a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a 
firm of licensed certified public accountants. In conformance with that requirement, we issue the Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report of Park City Municipal Corporation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2023. 

This ACFR has been prepared by the City's Finance Department. The City’s management is responsible for 
the accuracy of the report, as well as the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all 
disclosures. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the report is complete and accurate in all material 
respects. In order to provide a reasonable basis for making these representations, management of the City 
has established an internal control framework designed to ensure the assets of the government are protected 
from loss, theft or misuse, and to ensure adequate accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation 
of financial statements in conformity with GAAP.  The internal control structure is designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met.  The concept of reasonable assurance 
recognizes that: 1) the cost of the control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived, and 2) the 
valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management. As a recipient of federal, 
state, and local financial assistance, the City is also responsible for ensuring that an adequate internal control 
structure is in place to ensure and document compliance with applicable laws and regulations related to the 
appropriate programs.  This internal control structure is subject to periodic evaluation by management.  

HBME, LLC, a firm of licensed certified public accountants, has audited the City’s financial statements. 
The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the 
City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, represent an accurate portrayal of the City’s financial position 
in all material respects. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  HBME, LLC 
concluded, based upon the audit, that there is reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the 
City’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, were fairly presented in conformity with 
GAAP.   

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany 
the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter 
of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s 
MD&A can be found immediately following the Independent Auditor’s Report. 
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Profile of Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah 

Park City Municipal Corporation (City) was chartered March 15, 1884, under the provisions of the Utah 
Territorial Government and is in Summit County in the northeast part of Utah, which is one of the top 
growth areas in the state. Park City currently occupies 22 square miles and serves an estimated full-time 
resident population of 8,757. The City is empowered to levy a property tax on real property located within 
its boundaries and empowered by state statute to extend its corporate limits by annexation, which it has 
done this past year. We acknowledge that Park City Municipal Corporation is on the traditional land and 
seized territory of the Eastern Shoshone and Ute people, who have stewarded this land throughout the 
generations.  

The City is governed by a mayor-council form of government. Policy‐making and legislative authority are 
vested in the Governing Council (Council) consisting of the mayor and a five-member council, all of whom 
are elected at large. Council members serve four‐year staggered terms. Elections are held every odd 
numbered year. The Governing Council is responsible, among other things, for passing ordinances, 
adopting the budget, appointing committees, and hiring both the City’s manager and attorney. The Mayor 
is the administrative authority by statute; however, the City’s manager has been delegated and tasked with 
the responsibility for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the Governing Council, for overseeing the 
day-to-day operations of the City, and for appointing the heads of the various departments to achieve 
Council objectives and goals. 

The City provides a full range of public services, including police, parks, recreation, library, water, 
stormwater, public improvements, streets, planning and zoning, golf course, transportation and parking, 
licensing and permits, building inspections, affordable housing, and administrative services. This report 
includes the financial statements of the funds required to report on those activities, organizations and 
functions which are related to the City and are controlled by or financially accountable to the City Council. 
The Park City Municipal Building Authority, the Park City Redevelopment Agency, the Park City Housing 
Authority, and the Park City Water Service District are chartered under Utah law as separate governmental 
entities. However, this report includes the financial statements of these entities, since the City Council is 
the appointed board for all four agencies, they are financially accountable to the City, and management 
(below the level of the elected officials) of the City have operational responsibility for their activities. 

The State of Utah, Summit County, Wasatch County, Park City School District, Park City Fire Protection 
District, Snyderville Basin Special Recreation District, Snyderville Basin Water Reclamation District, and 
Weber Basin Water Conservancy District are overlapping governments that provide services to City 
residents; however, they are separately controlled and not financially accountable to the City; therefore, 
they are not included in this report. 

Budgetary Control 

The Council is required to adopt a final budget by no later than June 30 of the fiscal year. The annual budget 
serves as the foundation for the City’s financial planning and control. The budget is prepared by fund, 
function (e.g., public safety), and department (e.g., police). The City Council approves all City budgets at 
the department level (general government, public safety, public works, recreation and library). Budgetary 
control is maintained at the department level where expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations. 
Department heads may make transfers within a department. The City Council may amend the budget by 
ordinance during the budget year but must hold a public hearing to increase a governmental fund’s budget 
before it can pass the ordinance. 
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Local Economy and Economic Trends 

Park City is located in Summit County, Utah, in the heart of the Wasatch Mountains, 30 miles east of Salt 
Lake City and 40 minutes by freeway from the Salt Lake International Airport. In 1869, silver bearing 
quartz was discovered in the area, of what is now Park City, and a silver mining boom began. From the 
1930's through the 1950's, the mining boom subsided due to the decline of silver prices, and Park City came 
very close to becoming a historic ghost town. During that time, the residents began to consider an alternative 
to mining, and began developing Park City into a resort town. Today, Park City is one of the western United 
States premier multi-season resort communities.  

Because of its location in a State with a diverse economic base, recent unemployment rates are historically 
low. Additionally, Park City became a hot-spot for people looking for safe, outdoor recreation after 
COVID-19. The unemployment rate in Summit County increased from last year’s record low of 1.7 percent 
to 2.4 percent in June 2023.  

Tourism is the major industry in Park City, with skiing, lodging facilities and restaurants contributing 
significantly to the local economy. Park City is the home of two major ski resorts, Deer Valley Resort and 
Park City Mountain. A portion of the latter, formerly known as Canyons Resort, operates outside of 
municipal boundaries. Vail Resorts acquired the Canyons Resort in 2013 and Park City Mountain in 
September 2014. In July 2015, Vail linked the two resorts creating the largest skiing resort in the United 
States with over 7,300 acres of skiable terrain. Alterra Mountain Company acquired Deer Valley Resort in 
2018. In 2023, Alterra Mountain Company and Deer Valley agreed to operate a new resort on the 
southeastern reaches of their boundary, Mayflower Resort. Overall, the growth and consolidation of local 
ski areas is unprecedented and continues to rank Park City as arguably the premier ski destination in all of 
North America. Deer Valley Resort and Park City Mountain also host several major international and world 
ski competitions such as, FIS Freestyle International Ski World Cup. Deer Valley was voted 9th and Park 
City Mountain 15th in Ski Magazine’s Reader’s Top-Ranked Ski Resorts in the West 2023.  

During the 2022-2023 season, Utah reported 7.1 million skier days, surpassing the previous record set in 
2021-2022 by approximately 22%. Deer Valey Resort experienced its longest and snowiest season on 
record, as well as its snowiest month on record in March with 160” of snow. Park City Mountain celebrated 
its longest season in 30 years and extended its season all the way to May 1, 2023. The resort also 
experienced its snowiest season on record at 636”. 

Park City’s service population is significant due to the demands of the resort economy and number of 
secondary homeowners within Park City. The City has approximately 136 restaurants, 164 shops, 33 private 
art centers and a community art center. Many of Park City’s restaurants are award winning and among the 
finest in the intermountain west. The Chamber of Commerce estimates that the City has a nightly rental 
capacity for 32,669 guests (please see Schedule 24 of the Statistical Section of this report). 

The Sundance Film Festival held its 39th annual festival in Park City in January 2023. A recent study by 
Y2 Analytics revealed that the 2023 Festival generated an overall economic impact of $118.3 million gross 
domestic product for the State of Utah. The Festival drew at least 86,824 attendees to film screenings, panel 
discussions, and other interactive storytelling events in Park City, Salt Lake City, and at the Sundance 
Resort. Sundance and Park City Municipal Corporation have formally agreed that Park City will remain the 
Festival’s headquarters through 2026.  
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The Kimball Arts Center sponsored its 53rd annual three-day Park City Arts Festival in August 2022.  The 
Park City Arts Festival is Utah’s oldest and the longest running arts festival. A study by Lighthouse 
Research and Development revealed that the 2022 Festival generated a $23.0 million economic impact and 
attracted an estimated 29,059 visitors. The Festival featured 184 artist from 28 states, Canada and Israel.  

Closely connected to the tourism and ski industries in Park City is the real estate industry. During the past 
ten years, building activity within the City fluctuated from a low of $81.2 million in valuation in 2016, to a 
high of $177.0 million in valuation in 2021. Building activity over the last decade averaged $134.8 million 
per year. In the first six months of 2023, 45.2 percent of the $60.0 million in building activity was residential 
construction, with the remaining 54.8 percent consisting of commercial construction. The residential 
construction total valuation of approximately $27.1 million consisted of both single and multi-family 
homes. Easy access to Salt Lake City has intensified the role for Park City as a bedroom community to the 
Wasatch Front. The economy has continued to produce new construction of single-family homes, remodels, 
and commercial building expansion.  

* The 2023 number is from January 2023 through June 2023 only. For activity by fiscal year, please see Schedule
26 of the Statistical Section.

As reported by Park City Realtors, the real estate market in Park City saw a relative cooling off after a 
record setting two years of sales. Land sales decreased 68.0 percent and sales volume decreased 63.0 
percent. The median price of land rose 1.0 percent to $2.0 million. Single-family home sales decreased 44.0 
percent and sales volume decreased 45.0 percent. The median price of single-family homes across the City 
decreased 8.0 percent to 3.4 million. Condominium sales decreased 39.0 percent and sales volume 
decreased 24.0 percent.  The median price of condominiums, however, increased 24.0 percent to $1.7 
million.   

Median household incomes within the City are significantly higher than Utah as a whole. According to 
2022 US Census Bureau estimates, the City’s median family income was $121,701, Summit County’s 
$116,351, Utah’s $79,133, and the National median income $69,021.  
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Due to our diverse and healthy local economy, Park City maintained a strong credit rating of at least Aa2 
from Moody’s Investor Service since 2011, including a recently adjusted increase to Aaa rating for general 
obligation bonds.  

Long‐term Financial Planning 

Insurance – The City maintains a health and dental insurance plan through Regence Blue Cross Blue Shield 
of Utah for its employees. Each year, the City examines its use and total costs to negotiate coverage prices 
and premiums for the following year. In fiscal year 2023, the City experienced a very manageable premium 
increase of only 2.62 percent.  The City absorbed the cost without increasing employee premiums. The 
City’s internal benefits committee reviews annual increases and makes recommendations on premium 
increases or policy changes to the Governing Council annually. The City also offers a high-deductible 
medical plan in addition to a traditional plan to offer both the City and its employees cost savings. The City 
offers a discount on premiums to employees if they participate in employee wellness programs, which 
require annual physicals, regular dental visits, and numerous other activities to promote a healthier lifestyle 
and reduce the prevalence of overall and preventable insurance claims. 

Sales Tax – The City depends on sales tax revenue to fund City services and fund infrastructure to support 
the tourism economy. Of the 9.05 percent sales tax on general purchases in Park City, the City levies a 1.0 
percent local sales and use tax, a 0.25 county option sales tax, a combined 1.25 percent transit tax, 0.1 
county cultural tax, and a 1.6 percent resort community tax.  

Transient Room Tax – The City levies a 1.0 percent transient room tax and uses the revenue to fund 
cultural services and capital projects. For the past 5 years, the City has collected the following revenue: 

Year Revenue 
2023 4.5 million 
2022 4.5 million 
2021 2.7 million 
2020 2.7 million 
2019 2.7 million 

Property Tax – A property tax comparison that normalized tax rates across 50 states, including the District 
of Columbia, ranked states by property tax rate. Utah was consistently amongst the lower in the nation, 
ranking between 40 and 50. The Property Tax Act provides that all taxable property must be assessed and 
taxed at a uniform and equal rate on the basis of its fair market value by January 1 each year. Summit 
County levies, collects, and distributes property taxes for Park City and all other taxing jurisdictions within 
Summit County. Primary residences are taxed at 55 percent of the assessed value while secondary 
residences are taxed at 100 percent of assessed value. The budget for fiscal year 2023 was adopted with no 
property tax increase. 

Relevant Financial Policies 

Fund Balance – Unrestricted fund balance (the total of the committed, assigned, and unassigned 
components of fund balance) in the general fund at year end was 33.3 percent of total general fund revenues. 
This amount was consistent with the policy guidelines set by the Council for budgetary and planning 
purposes (i.e., maintain the general fund balance at approximately the legal maximum of 35.0 percent). For 
budgetary purposes, any balance greater than 5.0 percent of the total revenues of the General Fund may be 
used. The General Fund balance reserve is an important factor in the City’s ability to respond to emergencies 
and unavoidable revenue shortfalls, and we are confident in the strength of our fund balance.   
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Budgeting for Outcomes – The City employs a Budgeting for Outcomes (BFO) process that focuses on 
Council priorities and objectives to determine the annual budget. BFO provides a comprehensive review of 
the entire organization, identifying every program offered and associated cost, evaluating the relevance of 
every program based upon the community's priorities and, ultimately, guiding the Governing Council. The 
City is confident that the BFO process provides the tools needed to build a budget that reflects the 
Community’s values and needs.  

The BFO process is just part of the process the City employs in the development of the annual budget. The 
other distinctive part of the process is the utilization of cross-departmental teams to develop budget 
recommendations. The Results Team develops operating budget recommendations and the Capital 
Improvement Plan Committee creates the capital budget recommendation. These recommendations are 
presented to the City Manager. Next, the Finance Manager; Human Resources Manager; Budget Manager 
and the City Manager hold a Budget Summit to collectively provide a comprehensive budget review and 
discuss any outstanding issues. The result of this collaborative process and the participation of more than 
50 members of the organization is included within the City Manager’s Recommended Budget. 

Major Initiatives 

Net Zero Energy Goal by 2030 – Park City became one of the first in a series of mountain communities 
to commit to 100 percent renewable electricity by 2030. This announcement came on the heels of a similar 
pledge from Salt Lake City showing that local communities can collaborate and take control of their energy 
future. Park City is also a founding partner of Mountain Towns 2030, a coalition of mountain towns 
committed to achieving ambitious carbon reduction goals by 2030. Park City hosted the first MT2030 Net 
Zero Summit in October 2019 and in October 2021, and broke ground on an 80-megawatt renewable energy 
facility to support Park City Municipal, Park City Mountain, and Deer Valley Resort’s electricity needs. 
The facility is scheduled to come online in 2024. 

Long Range Transportation Planning – In Fall 2022, the City Council adopted a long-range 
transportation plan called Park City Forward. This defined a vision and goals for the future of transportation 
in Park City. As Park City remains home to long-standing residents who take pride in the City’s historic, 
small-town character, new growth is occurring across the region and Park City has only become more 
popular as a year-round destination. New technologies, changing demographics, and evolving travel 
preferences also continue to disrupt how people get around. Park City's transportation system embraces 
innovative technologies and mitigation measures to provide safe, year-round transportation options that 
promote a connected and inclusive mountain community. Park City Forward’s six guiding principles: i) 
develop a park once community; ii) collaborate with regional partners on long-range transportation 
solutions; iii) identify, manage, and mitigate traffic during peak conditions; iv) expand our world class 
biking and walking infrastructure; v) proactively review and analyze disruptive transportation and transit 
ideas and innovation; and vi) continue to develop and improve the internal Park City transit system. 

Parking Program – Park City’s parking program continues to support the long-range transportation goals 
for Park City and focuses on balancing parking demand with progressive parking tools. A dynamic parking 
program provides incentives to walk, bike, carpool, and ride public transit, all of which reduce traffic and 
congestion. Enhanced and consistent neighborhood patrol and enforcement along with relevant permit 
parking programs protect resident areas from overflow parking associated with commercial areas and 
special events that draw visitors to Park City. Drivers cruising for parking and idling is reduced when 
parking is priced, permitted, and managed properly, and the result is a vibrant and healthy downtown that 
residents and guests may enjoy together. 
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Affordable Housing – The City Council is committed to making Park City a thriving mountain community 
through accessible housing opportunities, with the goal of adding 800 new housing units to the City’s 
affordable/attainable housing inventory by 2026. In 2023, the City broke ground on EngineHouse, the 
largest public-private partnership for affordable housing in Park City’s history. EngineHouse will deliver 
99 deed-restricted affordable units and 24 market-rate units on City land. Construction is estimated to be 
completed in June 2025. Future projects and partnerships may include the Woodside Park Senior Center 
and multi-family development and the Clark Ranch affordable housing projects.  

Social Equity – In 2017, the City Council identified Social Equity as a Critical Community Priority. In 
2018, the City partnered with the Park City Community Foundation (PCCF) to elevate the concept of social 
equity and conversation through a community convening process. The PCCF brought a coalition together 
to perform a social equity self-diagnosis, identify resources and gaps, prioritize short- and long-term social 
equity issues, and develop a multi-year strategic plan. The partnership identified three priorities: Housing, 
Education, and Inclusion. In addition, PCCF collaborated with the City to ensure additional funding was 
available to the most vulnerable populations amid the COVID-19 pandemic. Work on advancing equity 
initiatives has continued through collaboration with community groups, including the Park City LGBTQ 
Task Force, the Park City Seniors, Mountainlands Community Housing Trust, Park City Early Childhood 
Alliance, the Park City School District, and more. The City has also convened an internal Social Equity 
Committee comprised of staff members that meets bi-monthly. 

Update on Major Projects 

Water Projects – Water quality and delivery continue to be a top priority for Park City. With the increase 
in development, future water needs have been identified and the cost of improvements are being fairly 
distributed between existing users and new development. Capital spending in the Water Fund is reflective 
of the City’s commitment to secure Park City’s water needs and conservation through improvements to the 
City’s water infrastructure. The Water Fund Financial Model is reviewed and updated annually to assess 
the long-range operating and capital needs of the system and to determine future water rate increases and 
bonding needs. Additionally, the City continues to improve the culinary water system with funds from the 
five-year Capital Improvement Plan, an account with an approximate value of $53 million.  

In 2019, to comply with State regulations that allows the City to discharge water draining from the Judge 
and Spiro mine tunnels into Mcleod and Silver Creeks, the City began construction of the Three Kings 
Water Treatment Plant to replace the existing Spiro plant, which was built in the 1990’s. The new plant will 
increase overall water supply resiliency, peak day capacity, water quality, and reliability well into the future. 
The City issued Water Revenue and Refunding Bonds for $75,515,000 in June 2020 and $66,135,000 in 
October 2021. The bonds, in large part, fund the construction of the water treatment plant. The expected 
completion date of the plant is early 2024. 

Arts & Culture District – Park City purchased a 5.25-acre parcel in Bonanza Park to bring a centrally 
located property into public ownership with the hopes of developing a local community gathering area and 
public-private partnerships. Funds for the purchase, development, and maintenance will be generated, in 
part, by overnight visitors via the 1.0 percent municipal transient room tax, and there are currently no plans 
for any additional taxes to be assessed on Park City residents. While future development plans for the 
district are being considered, the City uses the space for temporary uses such as summer and fall 
programming and overflow parking.   
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Awards and Acknowledgements 

Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate 
of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to Park City Municipal Corporation for its annual 
comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. In order to be awarded a Certificate 
of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized annual 
comprehensive financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and 
applicable legal requirements.  

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current annual 
comprehensive financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements 
and we are submitting it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 

Park City Municipal Corporation also received the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award from the 
GFOA for the City’s adopted budget for the period beginning July 1, 2022. In order to qualify for the award, 
the City’s budget document was judged proficient in several categories, including policy documentation, 
financial planning, and organization.   

The preparation of this report on a timely basis could not have been accomplished without the efficient and 
dedicated services of the Finance Department. We would like to express our appreciation to HBME, LLC, 
certified public accountants, for their professional service and assistance. We would also like to thank the 
Mayor and City Council for their interest and support in planning and conducting the financial operations 
of the City in a responsible and transparent manner.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Matt Dias, City Manager Mindy Finlinson, Finance Manager 
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 

Park City Municipal Building 
445 Marsac Avenue 

Park City, Utah 84060 

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL AS OF JUNE 30, 2023 

Name (left to right): Term Expires 

Mayor: 

Nann Worel  January 2026 

Councilors: 

Ryan Dickey  January 2024 

Max Doilney  January 2024 

Rebecca Gerber January 2024 

Jeremy Rubell  January 2026 

Tana Toly  January 2026 

__________________ 

Matt Dias, City Manager 
Margaret Plane, City Attorney 

Mindy Finlinson, Finance Manager 
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 

The above organizational structure also accurately depicts the Park City Redevelopment 
Agency, the Park City Municipal Building Authority, the Park City Housing Authority and 
the Park City Water Service District structure.
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Utah
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Executive Director/CEO
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED) 

June 30, 2023 
 

 

The following narrative is presented to facilitate a better understanding of the City’s financial position and results 
of operations for the year ended June 30, 2023. When read in conjunction with the letter of transmittal and the 
notes to the basic financial statements, the financial highlights, overview and analysis should assist the reader to 
gain a more complete knowledge of the City’s financial performance.  

 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 The City’s government-wide net position (the amount by which assets and deferred outflows exceed 
liabilities and deferred inflows) as of June 30, 2023, was $524,255,590. Of this amount, $183,369,526 
(unrestricted net position) is available to meet ongoing financial obligations.  

 
 The City’s government-wide net position increased by $39,451,477. Of this amount, governmental 

activities increased by $26,926,738, and business-type activities increased by $12,524,739, a decline of 
13.7 percent, and a rise of 3.0 percent, respectively, when compared to last fiscal year. 

 
 The City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of $152,298,609, an increase of 

$14.5 million (10.5 percent) compared to the beginning of this year’s fund balance amount. Total 
governmental funds revenue increased by $5.8 million (7.3 percent increase) compared to prior year, and 
total governmental expenditures increased $11.0 million (17.2 percent). Interest income was the most 
significant contributor to the current year increase in revenues. A significant increase in salaries and 
benefits and the addition of new positions were the most significant contributors to the current year 
increase in expenditures. Of the combined total fund balance, $15,936,018 is available for spending at the 
discretion of the City (unassigned fund balance). 

 
 The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City. The unassigned fund balance of the General 

Fund at June 30, 2023, totaled $15,936,018 and is 33.3 percent of the General Fund total revenues for the 
year and 10.5 percent of total governmental fund balance.  
 

 The City’s enterprise funds reported a combined ending net position of $163,099,385, an increase of $13.0 
million (8.7 percent) compared to the beginning of this year’s fund balance amount.  While proprietary 
funds operating revenue decreased $1.2 million (3.8 percent decrease) compared to the prior year, total 
proprietary funds expenses increased $13.5 million (38.9 percent).  A significant increase in salaries and 
benefits, the addition of new positions, and an increase in noncapital expenses were the most significant 
contributors to the current year increase in expenses.  

 
 The City’s total bond debt had a net decrease of $16,120,000 during fiscal year 2023. This represents a 

6.0 percent decrease over the prior fiscal year, which is attributable to normal reduction in principal 
balances from required debt service payments.   
 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The financial section of this report includes four parts: 1) the independent auditors’ report on financial statements 
and supplementary information; 2) this segment, management’s discussion and analysis; 3) the basic financial 
statements; and 4) supplementary information. Within the basic financial statements are two distinct types of 
financial statements, 1) the government-wide financial statements, and 2) the fund financial statements. The notes 
to the basic financial statements are also an integral part of the basic financial statements. The City’s basic financial 
statements are presented in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 (GASB 
34), Basic Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments, 
as amended.  
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED), Continued 

June 30, 2023 
 
Immediately following the required supplementary information, the supplementary information includes balance 
sheets and income statements for nonmajor governmental funds, internal service funds, as well as other budgetary 
information.  
 
Government-wide Financial Statements: The government-wide financial statements provide a view of City 
finances as a whole, similar to a private-sector business. These statements include the Statement of Net Position 
and the Statement of Activities.  
 
The Statement of Net Position includes all of the City’s assets, liabilities, and deferred inflows and outflows of 
resources, with the difference reported as net position. Net position (and the related change in net position from 
year to year) is one of the most important financial measurements to enable understanding of the financial position 
of the City, and whether financial position improves or deteriorates each year. To assess the overall health of the 
City, additional non-financial factors such as changes in the property tax base, the condition of the City’s 
infrastructure, etc. should be considered. 
 
The Statement of Activities shows how the City’s net position changed as a result of its operations during the 
most recent fiscal year. To understand the basis of how these numbers are determined, it is important to note that 
changes in net position are reported whenever an event occurs that requires a revenue or expense to be recognized, 
regardless of when the related cash is received or disbursed (the accrual basis of accounting). For example, most 
revenues are reported when the revenues are legally due, even though they may not be collected for some time 
after that date; and an obligation to pay a supplier is reported as an expense when the goods or services are 
received, even though the bill may not be paid until sometime later. 
 
There are two distinct types of activities reflected in the government-wide statements: 1) governmental activities; 
and 2) business-type activities. Governmental activities are those supported primarily by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues, while business-type activities are those in which all costs (or at least a significant 
portion of costs) are intended to be recovered through user fees and charges. The governmental activities for the 
City include General Government (Council, Mayor, City Attorney, Human Resources, Technical Services, 
Budget, Debt and Grants, Building, Economy, Community, Environment, Planning, Engineering, Finance, Quinns 
Recreation Complex and Non-departmental); Public Safety (Police and Communications Center); Public Works 
(Streets, Snow Removal, Parks, Building Maintenance); Library and Recreation. The business-type activities 
include Water, Stormwater, Transportation and Parking, and Golf Course. The Park City Municipal Building 
Authority, the Park City Redevelopment Agency, the Park City Housing Authority and the Park City Water 
Service District are chartered under Utah law as separate governmental entities. However, the government-wide 
financial statements include the financial statements of these entities, since the City Council is the appointed board 
for all four agencies, and these entities are financially accountable to the City. The government-wide financial 
statements can be found on pages 18-19 of this report. 
 
Fund Financial Statements: The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is 
considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-
balancing accounts that comprise its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, fund balances, revenues and expenditures, or expenses, as appropriate. Government resources are 
allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based on the purposes for which the funds are to be spent as 
well as by how the activities are to be controlled. The three broad categories of funds are: governmental funds, 
proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.   
 
Governmental Funds – At the fund level, the focus is on changes in short-term spendable resources and the 
balance available to spend, rather than the long-term focus used for determining government-wide numbers. 
Because the focus is so different between fund statements and government-wide statements, reconciliation 
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED), Continued 

June 30, 2023 
 
between the two types of statements is necessary to understand how the numbers differ. Such reconciliations are 
provided for the reader on pages 22 and 24. The City has four governmental type funds. These are the general 
fund, special revenue funds, the debt service funds and the capital projects funds. Four of these are considered 
major funds: General Fund, Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding Debt Service Fund, Park City General Obligation 
Debt Service Fund and Capital Projects Improvement Fund. The basic governmental fund financial statements 
can be found on pages 21-25. A summary of other funds (nonmajor funds) is combined into one “Nonmajor 
Governmental Funds” column. The composition of the nonmajor funds is shown in the combining statements later 
in the report in the supplementary information section on pages 81-91.  
 

 The General Fund is used to account for all financial resources of the City that are not accounted for by 
a separate specialized fund. More specifically, the general fund is used to account for ordinary operations 
such as collection of tax revenues and general government expenditures. The City adopts an annual 
appropriated budget for the general fund. On page 25, a budgetary comparison statement has been 
provided for the general fund to demonstrate budgetary compliance. 

 
 Special Revenue Funds are used to account for specific revenue sources that are restricted to expenditures 

for specific purposes.  
 

 Debt Service Funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources for the payment of general 
obligation bonds, special assessment bonds and sales tax revenue and refunding bonds. Therefore, this 
fund is set up to accumulate the resources used to pay both the interest and principal on bond debt.  

 
 Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or 

construction of major capital improvements. These funds do not account for capital improvements 
financed by the proprietary funds. 

 
Proprietary Funds – These funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial 
statements, only in more detail. The City uses both enterprise funds and internal service funds. The basic 
proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 27-29 of this report. 
 

 Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar 
to private business enterprises where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including 
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has decided that periodic 
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or net income is appropriate for capital 
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or other purposes. The City currently 
operates enterprise funds for the City-owned water system, storm water system, public transportation 
system (bus and trolley system) and paid parking system, and golf course. 

 
 Internal Service Funds are used to account for the central financing of goods or services provided to 

various departments of the City or other governments on a cost-reimbursement basis. The City currently 
has two internal service funds. The Fleet Services Fund provides vehicle storage, repair and maintenance. 
The Self-Insurance Fund was established to allow the City to supplement its regular insurance coverage. 
Because both of these services predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, 
they have been included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. The 
combining statements for internal service funds can be found on pages 93-95 of this report. 
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED), Continued 

June 30, 2023 
 
Fiduciary Funds – These funds are used for assets the City receives wherein the City has temporary custody. 
custodial funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations, 
other governments and/or other funds and do not involve measurement of results of operations (assets equal 
liabilities). The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 31-32 of this report. 
 
Notes to the basic Financial Statements contain additional information important to a complete understanding 
of the information contained in the government-wide and fund financial statements. Notes to the basic financial 
statements can be found beginning on page 33 of this report. 
 
Other Information: In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents supplementary information.  Supplementary information, including the combining schedules can be 
found on pages 81-91 of this report.   
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
The following analysis examines the factors that affect the net position (Table 1) and the changes in net position 
(Table 2) of both the governmental and the business-type activities. As noted earlier, net position may serve over 
time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. At June 30, 2023, the City’s assets and deferred 
outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $524,220,479, an increase of $39.4 million from prior fiscal 
year.  
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Current and other assets 197,600,710$   188,700,001$   86,815,806$     95,511,669$     284,416,516$   284,211,670$   
Capital assets(net) 335,937,962    337,795,780    249,281,856    229,658,645    585,219,818    567,454,425    

Total assets 533,538,672    526,495,781    336,097,662    325,170,314    869,636,334    851,666,095    

Deferred outflows of resources 4,546,277        3,008,825        2,118,032        1,305,236        6,664,309        4,314,061        
Total assets and deferred

outflows of resources 538,084,949    529,504,606    338,215,694    326,475,550    876,300,643    855,980,156    

Current and other liabilities 23,129,199      21,513,363      23,443,828      15,895,665      46,573,027      37,409,028      
Long-term liabilities 118,541,058    127,693,440    151,432,931    156,356,015    269,973,989    284,049,455    

Total liabilities 141,670,257    149,206,803    174,876,759    172,251,680    316,547,016    321,458,483    

Deferred inflows of resources 35,245,139      46,054,988      252,898           3,662,572        35,498,037      49,717,560      
Total liability and deferred

inflows of resources 176,915,396    195,261,791    175,129,657    175,914,252    352,045,053    371,176,043    

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 247,109,195    237,974,910    92,621,212      88,280,161      339,730,407    326,255,071    
Restricted 58,940             58,940             1,096,717        -                      1,155,657        58,940             
Unrestricted 114,001,418    96,208,965      69,368,108      62,281,137      183,369,526    158,490,102    

Total net position 361,169,553$   334,242,815$   163,086,037$   150,561,298$   524,255,590$   484,804,113$   

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

Table 1 - Net Position

 
 

By far the largest portion of the City’s net position (64.8 percent) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., 
infrastructure, land, buildings, machinery, and equipment); less any related outstanding debt issued to acquire 
those assets.  The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not 
available for future spending.  Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, 
it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the 
capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
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Restricted net position of $1,155,657 at June 30, 2023 represents resources that are subject to external restrictions 
on how they may be used. The increase in restricted net position was due to water development fees.   
  
The other sub-classification of net position is unrestricted. The unrestricted balance of $183,369,526 at June 30, 
2023 denotes that this amount may be used to meet general, on-going financial obligations without constraints 
established by debt covenants or other legal requirements. Unrestricted net position increased $24.9 million from 
last fiscal year. The reasons for this overall increase are discussed in the following sections for governmental 
activities and business-type activities. 
 
As the end of fiscal year 2023, the City is able to report positive balances in all three categories of net position, 
both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities.  The 
same situation held true for the prior fiscal year.  
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
REVENUES
Program revenues:

Charges for services 10,626,013$   8,789,270$     29,803,467$   30,996,557$   40,429,480$   39,785,827$   
Operating grants and contributions 648,943         711,048         9,620,080      5,661,227      10,269,023    6,372,275      
Capital grants and contributions 555,424         2,265,605      10,397,791    2,431,291      10,953,215    4,696,896      

General revenues:
Property tax, levied for general purposes 16,783,697    18,496,739    -                     -                     16,783,697    18,496,739    
Property tax, levied for debt service 9,509,688      9,509,688      -                     -                     9,509,688      9,509,688      
General sales and use tax 9,598,138      9,234,210      11,419,196    10,644,790    21,017,334    19,879,000    
Franchise tax 4,368,710      3,526,042      -                     -                     4,368,710      3,526,042      
Resort tax 26,043,857    24,934,554    4,468,541      4,243,253      30,512,398    29,177,807    
Investment earnings 5,381,810      651,862         2,705,144      374,145         8,086,954      1,026,007      
Miscellaneous 4,638,111      3,622,380      137,151         120,470         4,775,262      3,742,850      
Gain/(loss) on sale of capital assets 93,513           64,291           4,895             100,747         98,408           165,038         

Total revenues 88,247,904    81,805,689    68,556,265    54,572,480    156,804,169  136,378,169  

EXPENSES
Governmental activities:

General government 31,996,433    26,040,817    -                     -                     31,996,433    26,040,817    
Public safety 9,325,631      7,919,533      -                     -                     9,325,631      7,919,533      
Public works 8,838,131      7,208,853      -                     -                     8,838,131      7,208,853      
Library and recreation 8,213,984      6,195,430      -                     -                     8,213,984      6,195,430      
Interest on long-term debt 3,661,987      3,965,283      -                     -                     3,661,987      3,965,283      

Business-type activities:
Water Fund -                     -                     23,626,444    21,214,590    23,626,444    21,214,590    
Stormwater Fund -                     -                     1,048,489      1,198,846      1,048,489      1,198,846      
Golf Course Fund -                     -                     1,764,238      1,645,691      1,764,238      1,645,691      
Transportation and Parking Fund -                     -                     28,877,355    17,636,896    28,877,355    17,636,896    

Total expenses 62,036,166    51,329,916    55,316,526    41,696,023    117,352,692  93,025,939    
Change in net position before transfers 26,211,738    30,475,773    13,239,739    12,876,457    39,451,477    43,352,230    

Transfers 715,000         715,000         (715,000)        (715,000)        -                     -                     
Change in net position 26,926,738    31,190,773    12,524,739    12,161,457    39,451,477    43,352,230    

Total net position - beginning 334,242,815  303,052,042  150,561,298  138,399,841  484,804,113  441,451,883  
Total net position - ending # ########## # ########## # ########## # ########## # ########## # ##########

Table 2 - Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
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Governmental Activities: As shown in Table 2 – Changes in Net Position governmental activities increased the 
City’s net position by $26.9 million. Key elements of this increase were as follows:  
 

 
Revenue Highlights: 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, governmental revenues were $88,247,904, an increase of $6.4 million from 
the prior fiscal year.   
 
 Taxes comprise the largest source of revenue for the City’s governmental activities: $66,304,090 or 75.1 

percent in fiscal year 2023 of total governmental activities revenues, an increase of $0.6 million from the prior 
fiscal year. This increase is primarily related to an increase in resort tax revenues. Park City saw a dramatic 
increase in tourism due to people looking for outdoor recreation opportunities due to the pandemic. Of total 
taxes revenues, real property taxes are $26,293,385 or 39.7 percent in fiscal year 2023. 
 

 Charges for services were $10,626,013 and represented 12.0 percent of total governmental activities revenues 
in fiscal year 2023, and an increase of $1.8 million from the prior fiscal year. Approximately $1.0 million of 
the current year increase is attributable to an overall increase in building activity.  Building permit fees, plan 
check fees, and planning applications all increased as compared to the previous fiscal year.   
 

 Total governmental operating and capital grant and contribution revenues were $1,204,367, representing 1.4 
percent of total governmental activities revenue in fiscal year 2023, and a net decrease of $1.8 million from 
the prior fiscal year. The net decrease was the result of large Recreation, Art and Parks Tax grants received in 
the amount of $1.6 million in fiscal year 2022 and not repeated in the current fiscal year.  

 
 Interest revenues were $5,381,810, representing 6.1 percent of total governmental activities revenue in fiscal 

year 2023, and a net increase of $4.7 million from the prior fiscal year.  
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Expense Highlights: 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, governmental expenditures were $62,036,166, an increase of $10.7 million 
from the prior fiscal year.   
 
 In fiscal year 2023, the City provided a 10.33 percent cost of living adjustment and a 5.0 percent merit increase 

to eligible employees. These increases were meant to help retain the City’s current staff, help attract top-tier 
talent, and to remain competitive with other municipalities. Total salaries and benefits for general government, 
public safety, public works, and library and recreation increased $4.6 million from the prior fiscal year. 

 
 Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of Activities, the cost 

of these assets is allocated over the estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. The amount 
that the capital outlays exceeded depreciation in fiscal year 2023 is $6,351,003.  

 
Business-Type Activities: As shown in Table 2 – Changes in Net Position business-type activities increased the 
City’s net position by $12.5 million.  Key elements of this increase were as follows:  
 

 
Revenue Highlights: 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, business-type revenues were $68,556,265, an increase of $14.0 million from 
the prior fiscal year.   
 
 Charges for services for business-type activities were $29,803,467 representing 43.5 percent of total business-

type revenue, a decrease of 1.2 million from prior fiscal year. This decrease is related to the Transportation 
and Parking Fund.  During fiscal year 2023, the City stopped providing regional transit services as Summit 
County started a Countywide service and took over those operations.  Due to this shift in operations and 
decrease in regional routes, transit revenue decreased. 
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 Operating and capital grants and contributions were $20,017,871 representing 29.2 percent of total business-

type revenue, an increase of approximately $11.9 million from prior fiscal year. The increase is primarily due 
to an increase in intergovernmental funds received by the Transportation Department.  During fiscal year 
2023, the Transportation Fund was awarded an $8.6 million grant. 

 
 Combined general sales and use tax and resort tax revenues were $15,887,737, representing 23.2 percent of 

total business-type revenue, an increase of approximately $1.0 million from prior fiscal year.  
 
Expense Highlights: 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, business-type expenses were $55,316,526, an increase of $13.6 million from 
the prior fiscal year.   
  
 In fiscal year 2023, the City provided a 10.33 percent cost of living adjustment and a 5.0 percent merit increase 

to eligible employees. These increases were meant to help retain the City’s current staff, help attract top-tier 
talent, and to remain competitive with other municipalities. Total salaries and benefits for business-type 
activities increased $4.7 million from the prior fiscal year and represented 34.6 percent of total business-type 
operating expenses. 
 

 Supplies, maintenance and services expenses were $22,095,399 representing 45.7 percent of total business-
type operating expenses, an increase of $8.4 million from prior fiscal year. The majority of the increase is 
related to increased expenses in the Transportation Fund for the $8.6 million grant. 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS 
 
Governmental Funds: The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows and balances of resources available for appropriation. Such information is useful in assessing 
the City’s financing requirements. GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund 
Type Definitions, establishes criteria for classifying fund balances into specifically defined classifications and 
clarifies definitions for governmental funds. GASB Statement No. 54 requires that the fund balances be classified 
into categories based upon the type of restrictions imposed on the use of funds. The City classified fund balances 
into the following five categories: nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. In particular, 
unassigned fund balance is a useful measure of the City’s net resources available for spending at the end of the 
fiscal year. More detailed information about GASB Statement No. 54 is presented in Note A, Section 5, starting 
on page 39. 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the aggregate fund balance of the City’s governmental funds was $152,298,609, an increase 
of $14.5 million in comparison with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. As of June 30, 2023, $15,936,018 or 
10.5 percent of this amount is in unassigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance category is available for 
appropriation by the City Council at their discretion.  
 
Nonspendable fund balance includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable form 
or legally or contractually required to remain intact. Nonspendable fund balance is $477,802 in fiscal year 2023, 
consistent with the prior year balance. 
 
Restricted fund balance has externally enforceable limitations on use and is not available for new spending. 
Restricted fund balance is $33,695,458 in fiscal year 2023, consistent with the prior year balance. Restricted 
capital improvement funds will be used to pay for several large dollar construction projects in future fiscal years. 
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The remainder of the fund balance of $102,189,331 is committed. Of the total committed fund balance, 
$96,919,910 is committed to capital projects, $2,471,813 is committed to debt service and $2,797,608 is 
committed to economic development.  
 
The General Fund is the principal operating fund of the City. Utah State code establishes a 5.0 percent minimum 
($2,389,740) and a 35.0 percent maximum ($16,728,180) limit to the amount that may be accumulated as the fund 
balance in the General Fund. As of June 30, 2023 the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was 
$15,936,018 and was $792,162 below the 35.0 percent limit. The unassigned fund balance increased by 
$1,790,747 in 2023.  
 
As of June 30, 2023, the restricted fund balance in the Capital Improvements Fund was $8,039,048 and the 
committed fund balance was $88,478,918.  The restricted balance is the amount of unspent general obligation 
bond proceeds, B&C road funds and impact fees that are restricted to certain projects. This amount will decrease 
as bond funds are spent each year. The committed balance is the amount of funds budgeted for capital projects. 
This amount will change based on current projects approved by City Council. 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the restricted fund balance in the Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding Bonds Debt Service 
Fund was $25,579,552 and the committed fund balance was $842,098. The fund balances remained constant from 
prior fiscal year. The restricted balance is the amount held in trust by a third party to either make bond payments 
or hold in reserve until the City requisitions the funds for expenditures made on approved projects identified in 
the bond agreements. The committed balance is the amount of funds budgeted for capital projects. This amount 
will change based on current projects approved by City Council. 
 
As of June 30, 2023, the restricted fund balance in the General Obligation Bonds Debt Service Fund was 
$17,918 and the committed fund balance was $1,629,715. The fund balances remained constant from prior fiscal 
year. The restricted balance is the amount held in trust by a third party to make bond payments. The committed 
balance is the amount of funds budgeted for capital projects. This amount will change based on current projects 
approved by City Council. 
 
Proprietary Funds:  The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-
wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
Net position of the City’s enterprise funds totaled $163,099,385 at June 30, 2023, as compared to $150,072,040 
at the end of fiscal year 2022. The increase in net position from the prior fiscal year was $13.0 million as compared 
to an increase of $11.7 million in fiscal year 2022. Net position at the end of fiscal year 2023 for each of these 
funds were: 
 
Water Fund net investment in capital assets increased by $6.8 million, and unrestricted net position decreased by 
$9.3 million resulting in a slight decrease in net position from prior year. The increase in net investment in capital 
assets was due to the acquisition of capital assets related to ongoing water treatment plant construction offset by 
the repayment of related debt and depreciation expense.  
 
Stormwater Fund net investment in capital assets remained constant from prior fiscal year, and unrestricted net 
position increased by $0.9 million. The increase was attributable to an increase in revenues due to a 3.0 percent 
increase in rates in addition to a slight decrease in supplies, maintenance and services expenses.   
 
Golf Course Fund net investment in capital assets remained constant from prior fiscal year, and unrestricted net 
position increased by $0.7 million.  This increase was attributable to a slight increase in charges for services and 
an increase in grants received in fiscal year 2023.  
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Transportation and Parking Fund net investment in capital assets decreased by $2.2 million, and unrestricted net 
position increased by $15.3 million.  The decrease in net investment in capital assets was due to normal annual 
depreciation expense.  The increase in unrestricted net position was primarily due to the fund receiving an increase 
in transportation grants to the tune of $12.1 million more than the previous fiscal year.  
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Park City budgets for full-time regular positions at the maximum wage each position could earn for a full 40 hours 
per week for 52 weeks. However, due to vacant positions and some employees being paid below the maximum 
allowed for a position, at any given time during the year, the City spends approximately 7.0 percent less than is 
budgeted for personnel. This is referred to as the vacancy factor. The majority of the adjustments in the budget 
this fiscal year were due to the vacancy factor. 
 
Key differences between the original budget and the final amended budget for expenditures of $7,204,984 (net 
increase) can be briefly summarized as follows: 
 
 $4.1 million of the increase in appropriations was to adjust salaries and benefits. As mentioned above, the 

City provided a 10.33 percent cost of living adjustment and a 5.0 percent merit increase to eligible 
employees. These increases were meant to help retain the City’s current staff, help attract top-tier talent, 
to remain competitive with other municipalities and to add 16.5 full-time positions to several departments.  
 

 $1.3 million of the increase in appropriations was to adjust contract services. A large portion of this was 
allocated to the Information Technology Department for increased monitoring and detection of fraudulent 
activity.  
 

 $0.7 million of the increase in appropriations was to adjust supplies, maintenance and services and 
equipment.  With the addition of 16.5 full-time regular positions, vehicles, computers and other supplies 
were necessary for many of the new positions. 
 

 $0.5 million of the increase in appropriations was to adjust for the last tranche of ARPA funding received.  
These monies were used to pay for public safety salaries and benefits.  
 

Total actual expenditures of $45,872,483 were $3.0 million less than the budgeted expenditures of $48,868,354. 
 
Total actual revenues of $47,794,803 were $6.0 million more than the budgeted revenues of $41,782,668.  
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets: The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities totaled 
$584,962,736 (net of $266,348,007 accumulated depreciation) at June 30, 2023, as compared to $567,454,425 
(net of $251,928,697 accumulated depreciation) at June 30, 2022. This investment in capital assets includes land 
and water rights, buildings, improvements other than buildings, vehicles and equipment, art, intangibles, 
infrastructure, right to use assets, and construction in progress.   
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Park City Municipal Corporation Capital Assets (net of depreciation/amortization) 
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Land and water rights 243,725,614$ 243,725,614$ 22,337,188$   22,337,188$   266,062,802$ 266,062,802$ 
Construction in progress 8,743,785       6,973,608       114,922,556   98,559,100     123,666,341   105,532,708   
Art 828,717          828,717          117,850          117,850          946,567          946,567          
Right to use asset 391,481          -                      3,380,984       3,380,984       3,772,465       3,380,984       
Buildings 50,286,235     49,999,600     40,183,170     40,191,478     90,469,405     90,191,078     
Improvements other than buildings 49,854,869     48,640,882     124,083,890   121,771,729   173,938,759   170,412,611   
Vehicles and equipment 20,152,234     18,437,352     45,648,383     37,689,484     65,800,617     56,126,836     
Infrastructure 117,835,456   117,721,822   -                      -                      117,835,456   117,721,822   
Intangibles 9,123,057       8,921,259       86,455            86,455            9,209,512       9,007,714       
Accumulated depreciation (165,003,486)  (157,453,074)  (101,478,620)  (94,475,623)    (266,482,106)  (251,928,697)  

     Total assets 335,937,962$ 337,795,780$ 249,281,856$ 229,658,645$ 585,219,818$ 567,454,425$ 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

 
 
Major capital asset additions during the year ended June 30, 2023 included: 
 
Governmental Activities: 

 $1.4 million for Fleet replacement vehicles and equipment 
 $2.2 million for the Rossie Hill Drive and Park Ave Reconstruction projects 

 
Business-type Activities: 

 $15.0 million for 3 Kings Water Treatment Plant 
 $3.0 million for the Marsac and American Saddler Reconstruction projects 
 $6.3 million for Transit bus replacements 

 

Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note E-Capital Assets on pages 47-48 of this 
report. 
 
Long-term Debt:  At June 30, 2023, the City had $281,712,061 in long-term debt, an decrease of 6.1 percent 
from fiscal year 2022. Of this amount, $68,581,170 is considered to be general obligation debt and backed by the 
full faith and credit of the City. Debt that is secured solely by specific revenue sources is $210,381,708. 
Additionally, the City has a contract payable for $2,749,183.  
 

Park City Municipal Corporation Outstanding Debt 
 

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

General obligation bonds 68,581,170$    75,916,839$    -$                    -$                    68,581,170$    75,916,839$    
Revenue bonds 57,664,246      62,913,028      152,717,462    158,336,346    210,381,708    221,249,374    
Contract payable -                      -                      2,749,183        2,895,756        2,749,183        2,895,756        

     Total debt 126,245,416$  138,829,867$  155,466,645$  161,232,102$  281,712,061$  300,061,969$  

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
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The City’s general obligation bonds, including the recent 2021 Series Bond, were assigned a rating by Moody’s 
of Aaa, and confirmed at AA+ by Standard and Poor’s and AA+ by Fitch. Standard and Poor’s has assigned a 
rating of AA- to the most recent Series 2015, 2017 and 2019 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds. The City’s 2013, 2014, 
2020 and 2021 Water Revenue Bonds are rated Aa2 by Moody’s and AA by Standard and Poor’s.  
 
The State of Utah mandates a general obligation debt limit of 4.0 percent of total assessed value of 
$15,581,921,470. The current limitation for the City is $623,276,859 which is significantly in excess of the City’s 
outstanding general obligation debt. The City’s net debt subject to this limitation was $68,581,170 or 0.4 percent 
of total assessed value, leaving the amount available for future indebtedness at $554,695,689. See Schedule 17 on 
page 114 of this report.  
 
More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note F-Long-term Obligations on 
pages 59-67 of this report. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET RATES 
 

 As of June 2023, the unemployment rate for Summit County (of which Park City is the largest city) was 
2.4 percent consistent with the State unemployment rate, and a national rate of 3.6 percent. This compares 
with a rate of 1.7 percent for Summit County in June 2022. (Sources: Utah Dept. of Workforce Services 
and Bureau of Labor Statistics) 

 
 The fiscal year 2023 City budget does not include a property tax increase. The City Council recently adopted 

the certified tax rate for the General Fund. In accordance with Utah Statutes, the certified tax rate is intended 
to generate the same amount of property tax revenue as was received the prior fiscal year plus revenue for 
“new growth” occurring in the City. All other revenue sources have been estimated on a conservative basis 
using a multi-year trend analysis and assuming significant changes in the local economy. The City’s 
approach to budgeting includes preparation of a five-year capital plan. The long-term nature of the City’s 
financial planning system allows decision makers to better understand the true effect of policy decisions. 
One of the most powerful aspects of the multi-year financial planning is its capability to recognize trends 
over time and begin at an early point to consider the necessary steps to alter the long-term forecasted 
position of the City. 

 
 The rates and fees for most services remained comparable for fiscal year 2023 compared with the prior 

fiscal year. The most significant changes in rates were in the Water and Stormwater Funds. In the Water 
Fund the water base and irrigation base rates were increased 3.0 percent. The energy surcharge also increase 
3.0 percent. In the Stormwater Fund the Equivalent Surface Unit (ESU) charge increased 3.0 percent. The 
City anticipates rate increases each year over the next several years in order to provide adequate working 
capital necessary to maintain the water and storm water systems.   

 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

 
This financial report is designed to give its readers a general overview of the City’s finances. Questions regarding 
any information contained in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to 
Park City Municipal Corporation, Finance Department at P.O. Box 1480, Park City, Utah 84060-1480. 
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Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments 120,081,150$                  53,374,873$                    173,456,023$                  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, fiscal agent 25,698,133                     13,357,949                     39,056,082                     
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, other 9,939,048                       1,096,717                       11,035,765                     
Taxes receivable 29,237,361                     1,428,967                       30,666,328                     
Accounts receivable 967,384                          15,161,158                     16,128,542                     
Notes receivable 248,059                          -                                      248,059                          
Inventories 585,800                          1,063,043                       1,648,843                       
Prepaids 97,144                            1,061,801                       1,158,945                       
Lease receivable 70,135                            -                                      70,135                            
Internal balances 13,348                            (13,348)                           -                                      

Total current assets 186,937,562                   86,531,160                     273,468,722                   
Noncurrent assets:

Notes receivable 1,418                              -                                      1,418                              
Prepaids -                                      284,646                          284,646                          
Lease receivable 10,661,730                     -                                      10,661,730                     
Land and water rights 243,725,614                   22,337,188                     266,062,802                   
Construction in progress 8,743,785                       114,922,556                   123,666,341                   
Art 828,717                          117,850                          946,567                          
Right to use asset 257,382                          3,085,148                       3,342,530                       
Buildings 28,906,611                     29,102,384                     58,008,995                     
Improvements other than buildings 20,618,515                     59,962,486                     80,581,001                     
Vehicles and equipment 6,618,745                       19,746,961                     26,365,706                     
Infrastructure 17,516,970                     -                                      17,516,970                     
Intangibles 8,721,623                       7,283                              8,728,906                       

Total noncurrent assets 346,601,110                   249,566,502                   596,167,612                   
Total assets 533,538,672                   336,097,662                   869,636,334                   

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 4,546,277                       2,118,032                       6,664,309                       

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 538,084,949                   338,215,694                   876,300,643                   

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 2,911,301                       11,526,407                     14,437,708                     
Accrued liabilities 7,232,804                       6,311,030                       13,543,834                     
Contract payable 170,646                          149,278                          319,924                          
Compensated absences 974,448                          407,113                          1,381,561                       
General obligation bonds 6,890,000                       -                                      6,890,000                       
Revenue bonds 4,950,000                       5,050,000                       10,000,000                     

Total current liabilities 23,129,199                     23,443,828                     46,573,027                     
Noncurrent liabilities:

Contract payable 51,625                            2,599,904                       2,651,529                       
Compensated absences 145,609                          83,385                            228,994                          
General obligation bonds 61,691,170                     -                                      61,691,170                     
Revenue bonds 52,714,246                     147,667,460                   200,381,706                   
Net pension liability 3,938,408                       1,082,182                       5,020,590                       

Total noncurrent liabilities 118,541,058                   151,432,931                   269,973,989                   
Total liabilities 141,670,257                   174,876,759                   316,547,016                   

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Property taxes 24,641,351                     -                                      24,641,351                     
Deferred gain on refunding 87,618                            207,256                          294,874                          
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 77,871                            45,642                            123,513                          
Deferred inflows of resources related to leases 10,438,299                     -                                      10,438,299                     

Total deferred inflows of resources 35,245,139                     252,898                          35,498,037                     
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 176,915,396                   175,129,657                   352,045,053                   

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 247,109,195                   92,621,212                     339,730,407                   
Restricted for:

Capital Projects -                                      1,096,717                       1,096,717                       
Other 58,940                            -                                      58,940                            

Unrestricted 114,001,418                   69,368,108                     183,369,526                   
Total net position 361,169,553$                  163,086,037$                  524,255,590$                  

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Primary Government
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Functions/Programs Expenses Charges for Services
Operating Grants 
and Contributions

Capital Grants and 
Contributions

Governmental 
Activities

Business-type 
Activities Total

Primary government:
Governmental activities:

General government 31,996,433$             7,383,081$               539,279$                  38,777$                    (24,035,296)$            - $                           (24,035,296)$           
Public safety 9,325,631                5,105                       97,904                     19,895                     (9,202,727)              -                              (9,202,727)              
Public works 8,838,131                505,568                   -                              396,403                   (7,936,160)              -                              (7,936,160)              
Library and recreation 8,213,984                2,732,259                11,760                     100,349                   (5,369,616)              -                              (5,369,616)              
Interest on long-term debt 3,661,987                -                              -                              -                              (3,661,987)              -                              (3,661,987)              

Total governmental activities 62,036,166              10,626,013              648,943                   555,424                   (50,205,786)            -                              (50,205,786)            

Business-type activities:
Water Fund 23,626,444              20,737,127              -                              885,049                   -                              (2,004,268)              (2,004,268)              
Stormwater Fund 1,048,489                1,801,575                -                              -                              -                              753,086                   753,086                   
Golf Course Fund 1,764,238                1,966,555                -                              168,363                   -                              370,680                   370,680                   
Transportation and Parking Fund 28,877,355              5,298,210                9,620,080                9,344,379                -                              (4,614,686)              (4,614,686)              

Total business-type activities 55,316,526              29,803,467              9,620,080                10,397,791              -                              (5,495,188)              (5,495,188)              
Total primary government 117,352,692$           40,429,480$             10,269,023$             10,953,215$             (50,205,786)$           (5,495,188)$             (55,700,974)$           

16,783,697              -                              16,783,697              
9,509,688                -                              9,509,688                
9,598,138                11,419,196              21,017,334              
4,368,710                -                              4,368,710                

26,043,857              4,468,541                30,512,398              
5,381,810                2,705,144                8,086,954                
4,638,111                137,151                   4,775,262                

93,513                     4,895                       98,408                     
715,000                   (715,000)                 -                              

77,132,524              18,019,927              95,152,451              
26,926,738              12,524,739              39,451,477              

334,242,815            150,561,298            484,804,113            
361,169,553$           163,086,037$           524,255,590$           

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Activities

June 30, 2023

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Program Revenues Primary Government

General revenues:
Property tax, levied for general purposes
Property tax, levied for debt service
General sales and use tax
Franchise tax
Resort tax
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Net position - ending

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Gain on sale of capital assets
Transfers

Total general revenues and transfers
Change in net position

Net position - beginning
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GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 

Major Funds 
 
General Fund - Accounts for all activities not accounted for by other funds of the City. The 
General Fund accounts for the normal recurring activities of the City, (i.e., public safety, public 
works, library, recreation, general government, etc.). The principal sources of revenue for this fund 
are property taxes, sales and use taxes and franchise taxes. 
 
Debt Service - Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding Bonds Fund - Accounts for the accumulation 
of money for the repayment of the 2014B, 2015, 2017 and 2019 Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding 
Bonds. 
 
Debt Service - Park City General Obligation Bonds Fund - Accounts for the accumulation of 
money for the repayment of 2013A, 2017, 2019 and 2020 General Obligation Bonds. The principal 
source of revenue is property tax. 
 
Capital Projects - Capital Improvements Fund - Accounts for the acquisition or construction of 
major capital projects not accounted for in the proprietary funds. The Capital Improvements Fund 
is used to account for capital projects of the City's general government. 
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General Fund
Capital Improvements 

Fund

Sales Tax Revenue and 
Refunding Bonds Debt 

Service Fund

Park City General 
Obligation Bonds Debt 

Service Fund Total Nonmajor Funds
Total Governmental 

Funds
ASSETS
Cash, cash equivalents and investments 15,183,106$                86,537,617$                844,198$                      1,630,215$                  12,387,760$                116,582,896$              
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, fiscal agent -                                   100,663                       25,579,552                 17,918                         -                                   25,698,133                 
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, other -                                   9,939,048                    -                                   -                                   -                                   9,939,048                    
Taxes receivable 13,211,190                 971,535                       -                                   9,466,438                    4,405,192                    28,054,355                 
Accounts receivable 294,286                       295,290                       -                                   -                                   1,150                           590,726                       
Notes receivable -                                   249,477                       -                                   -                                   -                                   249,477                       
Inventory 87,092                         -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   87,092                         
Prepaids 97,144                         -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   97,144                         
Lease receivable 10,731,865                 -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   10,731,865                 

Total assets 39,604,683$                98,093,630$                26,423,750$                11,114,571$                16,794,102$                192,030,736$              

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 890,334$                      778,533$                      2,100$                          500$                             1,079,095$                  2,750,562$                  
Accrued liabilities 1,029,174                    547,654                       -                                   -                                   75,610                         1,652,438                    

Total liabilities 1,919,508                    1,326,187                    2,100                           500                              1,154,705                    4,403,000                    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue-property tax 10,774,116                 -                                   -                                   9,466,438                    4,400,797                    24,641,351                 
Unavailable revenue-notes -                                   249,477                       -                                   -                                   -                                   249,477                       
Unavailable revenue - leases 10,438,299                 -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   10,438,299                 

Total deferred inflows of resources 21,212,415                 249,477                       -                                   9,466,438                    4,400,797                    35,329,127                 

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 23,131,923                 1,575,664                    2,100                           9,466,938                    5,555,502                    39,732,127                 

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable

Prepaids 97,144                         -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   97,144                         
Inventory 87,092                         -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   87,092                         
Leases 293,566                       -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   293,566                       

Restricted
Capital projects -                                   8,039,048                    24,976,146                 -                                   -                                   33,015,194                 
Debt service -                                   -                                   603,406                       17,918                         -                                   621,324                       
Drug and tobacco enforcement 58,940                         -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   58,940                         

Committed
Capital projects funds -                                   88,478,918                 -                                   -                                   8,440,992                    96,919,910                 
Debt service funds -                                   -                                   842,098                       1,629,715                    -                                   2,471,813                    
Economic development -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   2,797,608                    2,797,608                    

Unassigned 15,936,018                 -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   15,936,018                 
Total fund balances 16,472,760                 96,517,966                 26,421,650                 1,647,633                    11,238,600                 152,298,609               
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balances 39,604,683$                98,093,630$                26,423,750$                11,114,571$                16,794,102$                192,030,736$              

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Park City Municipal Corporation
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2023
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Fund balances of governmental funds 152,298,609$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported 
in the funds. 335,937,962

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore, are not reported in 
the funds:
Taxes receivable 1,183,006$          
Interest receivable 317,804
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 4,380,513

5,881,323
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance to 
individual funds. The assets and liabilities of certain internal service funds are included in governmental 
activities in the statement of net position. 2,869,713

Certain items not accounted for as unavailable under accrual accounting. 249,477

Pollution remediation liability not reported in the funds. (3,470,000)

Noncurrent liabilities, including bonds payable and net pension obligations, are not due and payable in the 
current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. Noncurrent liabilities at year-end consist of:
Compensated absences (1,053,659)
Subscription-based IT arrangement contract payable (222,271)
Revenue bonds (52,815,000)
General obligation bonds (60,995,000)
Deferred bond premiums (12,435,416)
Accrued interest on the bonds (1,081,511)
Net pension liability (3,832,486)

(132,435,343)
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions are applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported 
in the funds:
Deferred gain on debt refunding (87,618)
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (74,570)

(162,188)

Net position of governmental activities 361,169,553$      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.  

Park City Municipal Corporation
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2023
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General Fund
Capital Improvements 

Fund

Sales Tax Revenue 
and Refunding Bonds 

Debt Service Fund

Park City General 
Obligation Bonds Debt 

Service Fund Total Nonmajor Funds
Total Governmental 

Funds

REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments 36,210,596$                16,258,170$                -$                                 9,509,688$                  1,009,791$                  62,988,245$                
Licenses and permits 5,719,878                   -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  5,719,878                   
Intergovernmental 657,078                      547,289                      -                                  -                                  3,380,605                   4,584,972                   
Charges for services 3,752,249                   -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  3,752,249                   
Fines and forfeitures 44,171                        -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  44,171                        
Investment income 1,001,543                   3,066,693                   974,044                      19,115                        320,415                      5,381,810                   
Impact fees -                                  604,147                      -                                  -                                  -                                  604,147                      
Rental and other 201,775                      86,233                        -                                  -                                  -                                  288,008                      
Miscellaneous 207,513                      1,524,759                   -                                  -                                  -                                  1,732,272                   

Total revenues 47,794,803                 22,087,291                 974,044                      9,528,803                   4,710,811                   85,095,752                 

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 23,851,112                 -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  23,851,112                 
Public safety 8,811,048                   -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  8,811,048                   
Public works 7,752,671                   -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  7,752,671                   
Library and recreation 5,457,652                   -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  5,457,652                   
Economic development -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  945,308                      945,308                      

Debt service:
Interest -                                  -                                  2,236,476                   2,897,977                   -                                  5,134,453                   
Principal retirement -                                  -                                  4,735,000                   6,590,000                   -                                  11,325,000                 

Capital outlay 391,481                      9,570,519                   -                                  -                                  1,880,705                   11,842,705                 
Total expenditures 46,263,964                 9,570,519                   6,971,476                   9,487,977                   2,826,013                   75,119,949                 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 1,530,839                   12,516,772                 (5,997,432)                 40,826                        1,884,798                   9,975,803                   

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of capital assets -                                  691,293                      -                                  -                                  67,640                        758,933                      
Subscription-based IT arrangement 391,481                      -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  391,481                      
Transfers in 3,430,983                   2,953,987                   6,968,791                   -                                  5,078,132                   18,431,893                 
Transfers out (3,610,600)                 (4,177,076)                 (953,987)                    -                                  (6,284,247)                 (15,025,910)               

Total other financing sources (uses) 211,864                      (531,796)                    6,014,804                   -                                  (1,138,475)                 4,556,397                   

Net change in fund balances 1,742,703                   11,984,976                 17,372                        40,826                        746,323                      14,532,200                 
Fund balances - beginning 14,730,057                 84,532,990                 26,404,278                 1,606,807                   10,492,277                 137,766,409               
Fund balances - ending 16,472,760$                96,517,966$                26,421,650$                1,647,633$                  11,238,600$                152,298,609$              

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Net change in fund balances - total government funds 14,532,200$        

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the cost of 
those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense:
Capital outlay 6,351,003$          
Subscription-based IT arrangement right to use asset 391,481
Depreciation expense (7,930,882)

(1,188,398)

In the statement of activities, only the gain or (loss) on the sale of capital assets is reported; whereas in the 
governmental funds, proceeds from disposal or sale of assets increase financial resources. (669,420)

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as 
revenues in the governmental funds:
Taxes receivable 270,163
Interest receivable 25,403
Subscription-based IT arrangement (222,271)
Unavailable revenue (2,910)

70,385

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt increases long-term 
liabilities in the statement of net position. Premiums and discounts associated with the issuance of debt are 
reported as other financing sources (uses) in the governmental funds, but in the statement of activities they are 
deferred and amortized throughout the period during which the related debt is outstanding. Repayment of bond 
principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces liabilities in the statement of 
net position:
Principal repayments of long-term debt 11,325,000
Amortization of bond premiums and discounts 1,356,388

12,681,388

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and, 
therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. (44,737)

Governmental funds report pension contributions as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the 
cost of pension benefits earned net of employee contributions is reported as pension expense:
Pension contributions 3,361,582
Actuarial calculated pension expense (2,306,627)

1,054,955

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance and 
fleet management, to individual funds. Internal service fund net loss of $12,241 less amount allocated to business-
type activities of $13,348 and reversal of prior year allocation of $489,258. 490,365

Change in net position of govenmental activities 26,926,738$        

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.  

Park City Municipal Corporation
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Variance with Final 
Original Final Actual  Budget

REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments 33,541,995$             32,670,023$             36,210,596$             3,540,573$               
Licenses and permits 4,163,017               4,792,077               5,719,878               927,801                  
Intergovernmental 155,304                  138,275                  657,078                  518,803                  
Charges for services 2,985,962               3,447,175               3,752,249               305,074                  
Fines and forfeitures 3,113                      17,540                    44,171                    26,631                    
Investment income 103,495                  90,479                    1,001,543               911,064                  
Rental and other 56,714                    49,581                    201,775                  152,194                  
Miscellaneous 586,900                  577,518                  207,513                  (370,005)                 

Total revenues 41,596,500              41,782,668              47,794,803              6,012,135               

EXPENDITURES
General government 22,384,459              26,922,165              24,242,593              2,679,572               
Public safety 7,579,646               8,674,439               8,811,048               (136,609)                 
Public works 6,770,719               7,892,634               7,752,671               139,963                  
Library and recreation 4,928,546               5,379,116               5,457,652               (78,536)                   

Total expenditures 41,663,370              48,868,354              46,263,964              2,604,390               
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (66,870)                   (7,085,686)              1,530,839               8,616,525               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of capital assets -                              2,162                      -                              (2,162)                     
Subscription-based IT arrangement -                              -                              391,481                  391,481                  
Transfers in 2,950,291               3,430,983               3,430,983               -                              
Transfers out (5,060,901)              (3,610,600)              (3,610,600)              -                              

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,110,610)              (177,455)                 211,864                  389,319                  

Net change in fund balances (2,177,480)              (7,263,141)              1,742,703               9,005,844               
Fund balances - beginning 14,730,058              14,730,058              14,730,057              -                              
Fund balances - ending 12,552,578$             7,466,917$               16,472,760$             9,005,843$               

The notes to the financial statements are an intregral part of this statement. 

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
 

Major Funds 
 
Water Fund - Accounts for the operations of the City's water utility. 
 
Stormwater Fund - Accounts for the operations of the City’s storm water utility. 
 
Golf Course Fund - Accounts for the operations of the City's golf course. 
 
Transportation and Parking Fund - Accounts for the operations of the City's public 
transportation (bus and trolley) system and paid parking system. 
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Governmental 
Activities

Water Fund
Stormwater 

Fund
Golf Course 

Fund

Transportation 
and Parking 

Fund

Total 
Enterprise 

Funds
Internal 

Service Funds

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments 13,691,556$  2,942,190$    2,122,432$  34,618,695$    53,374,873$    3,498,252$     
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, fiscal agent 13,357,949   -                    -                  -                      13,357,949     -                     
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, other 1,096,717     -                    -                  -                      1,096,717        -                     
Taxes receivable -                    -                    -                  1,428,967       1,428,967        -                     
Accounts receivable 1,494,713     168,783        409             13,497,253     15,161,158     58,854           
Inventories 743,869        1,226            207,086      110,862          1,063,043        498,708         
Prepaids 496,976        -                    -                  564,825          1,061,801        -                     

Total current assets 30,881,780   3,112,199     2,329,927   50,220,602     86,544,508     4,055,814      
Noncurrent assets:

Prepaids -                    -                    -                  284,646          284,646           -                     
Land and water rights 17,785,588   -                    828,451      3,723,149       22,337,188     -                     
Construction in progress 113,798,746 124,271        -                  999,539          114,922,556   -                     
Art 8,636            -                    -                  109,214          117,850           -                     
Right to use asset 3,380,984     -                    -                  -                      3,380,984        -                     
Buildings 17,211,592   320,962        1,671,486   20,979,130     40,183,170     -                     
Improvements other than buildings 97,151,614   15,813,651   1,728,630   9,389,995       124,083,890   -                     
Vehicles and equipment 14,112,512   443,326        2,001,405   29,091,140     45,648,383     47,450           
Intangible 27,810          -                    -                  58,645            86,455             -                     
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (60,364,976)  (8,678,312)    (4,094,305)  (28,341,027)    (101,478,620)  (47,450)          

Total noncurrent assets 203,112,506 8,023,898     2,135,667   36,294,431     249,566,502   -                     
Total assets 233,994,286 11,136,097   4,465,594   86,515,033     336,111,010   4,055,814      

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 692,094        201,457        76,896        1,147,585       2,118,032        165,764         

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 234,686,380 11,337,554   4,542,490   87,662,618     338,229,042   4,221,578      

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 3,186,230     38,865          295,866      8,005,446       11,526,407     160,740         
Accrued liabilities 5,957,469     16,093          61,394        276,074          6,311,030        28,852           
Contract payable 149,278        -                    -                  -                      149,278           -                     
Compensated absences 113,347        20,319          27,868        245,579          407,113           41,496           
Revenue bonds 5,050,000     -                    -                  -                      5,050,000        -                     

Total current liabilities 14,456,324   75,277          385,128      8,527,099       23,443,828     231,088         
Noncurrent liabilities:

Accrued liabilities -                    -                    -                  -                      -                       1,000,000      
Contract payable 2,599,904     -                    -                  -                      2,599,904        -                     
Compensated absences 23,216          4,162            5,708          50,299            83,385             24,902           
Revenue bonds 147,667,460 -                    -                  -                      147,667,460   -                     
Net pension liability 387,651        119,159        41,089        534,283          1,082,182        105,922         

Total noncurrent liabilities 150,678,231 123,321        46,797        584,582          151,432,931   1,130,824      
Total liabilities 165,134,555 198,598        431,925      9,111,681       174,876,759   1,361,912      

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources related to debt 207,256        -                    -                  -                      207,256           -                     
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 13,937          3,875            1,605          26,225            45,642             3,301             

Total deferred inflows of resources 221,193        3,875            1,605          26,225            252,898           3,301             
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 165,355,748 202,473        433,530      9,137,906       175,129,657   1,365,213      

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 54,230,265   8,005,067     1,940,121   28,445,759     92,621,212     -                     
Restricted for:

Capital Projects 1,096,717     1,096,717        
Unrestricted 14,003,650   3,130,014     2,168,839   50,078,953     69,381,456     2,856,365      

Total net position 69,330,632$  11,135,081$  4,108,960$  78,524,712$    163,099,385   2,856,365$     

(13,348)           
163,086,037$  

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2023

Business-type Activities

Difference between business-type adjustments to assets and liabilities
Net position of business-type activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental 
Activities

Water Fund
Stormwater 

Fund
Golf Course 

Fund

Transportation 
and Parking 

Fund
Total Enterprise 

Funds
Internal 

Service Funds

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 20,737,127$  1,801,575$    1,966,555$    5,298,210$     29,803,467$      5,499,050$    
Miscellaneous -                     -                     49,284           87,867            137,151             -                     

Total operating revenues 20,737,127    1,801,575      2,015,839      5,386,077       29,940,618        5,499,050      

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and benefits 4,294,071      660,125         872,421         10,892,845     16,719,462        1,235,025      
Supplies, maintenance and services 9,288,983      36,672           515,447         12,254,297     22,095,399        3,165,913      
Energy and utilities 890,175         45,038           50,659           1,110,680       2,096,552          1,110,353      
Depreciation and amortization 4,281,215      173,616         210,152         2,773,520       7,438,503          -                     

Total operating expenses 18,754,444    915,451         1,648,679      27,031,342     48,349,916        5,511,291      
Operating income (loss) 1,982,683      886,124         367,160         (21,645,265)    (18,409,298)       (12,241)         

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Taxes and special assessments -                     -                     -                     15,887,737     15,887,737        -                     
Intergovernmental -                     -                     168,363         -                      168,363             -                     
Investment income 1,312,539      85,531           64,753           1,242,321       2,705,144          -                     
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets 3,895             -                     1,000             (56,818)           (51,923)              -                     
Operating grants and contributions -                     -                     -                     9,620,080       9,620,080          -                     
Interest expense (3,716,203)    -                     -                     -                      (3,716,203)         -                     

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (2,399,769)    85,531           234,116         26,693,320     24,613,198        -                     
Income (loss) before contributions and transfers (417,086)       971,655         601,276         5,048,055       6,203,900          (12,241)         

Capital contributions 885,049         -                     -                     9,344,379       10,229,428        -                     
Transfers in -                     -                     25,000           -                      25,000               -                     
Transfers out (1,832,713)    (124,430)       (131,951)       (1,341,889)      (3,430,983)         -                     

Change in net position (1,364,750)    847,225         494,325         13,050,545     13,027,345        (12,241)         
Total net position - beginning 70,695,382    10,287,856    3,614,635      65,474,167     150,072,040      2,868,606      
Total net position - ending 69,330,632$   11,135,081$   4,108,960$     78,524,712$    163,099,385$     2,856,365$     

(502,606)            
12,524,739$       

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2023

Business-type Activities

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of internal service fund activities related to enterprise funds
Changes in net position of business-type activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental 
Activities

Water Fund
Stormwater 

Fund
Golf Course 

Fund

Transportation 
and Parking 

Fund
Total Enterprise 

Funds
Internal Service 

Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers 20,096,401$    1,798,407$      2,015,839$      5,514,401$      29,425,048$    6,072,513$      
Payments to employees (4,498,830)      (739,869)         (890,215)         (11,054,954)    (17,183,868)    (1,229,289)      
Payments to suppliers (10,160,695)    (156,778)         (466,630)         (6,234,000)      (17,018,103)    (4,858,634)      

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 5,436,876       901,760          658,994          (11,774,553)    (4,776,923)      (15,410)           

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

Transfers from other funds -                      -                      25,000            -                      25,000            -                      
Transfers to other funds (1,117,713)      (124,430)         (131,951)         (1,341,889)      (2,715,983)      -                      
Transit and resort sales tax -                      -                      -                      15,565,985     15,565,985     -                      
Operating grants -                      -                      -                      10,167,157     10,167,157     -                      

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities (1,117,713)      (124,430)         (106,951)         24,391,253     23,042,159     -                      

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Impact fees, contributions and grants 885,049          -                      168,363          540,179          1,593,591       -                      
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (18,874,441)    (18,831)           (195,546)         (8,028,714)      (27,117,532)    -                      
Principal paid on capital debt and interfund loan (4,941,574)      -                      -                      -                      (4,941,574)      -                      
Interest paid on capital debt and interfund loan (4,666,341)      -                      -                      -                      (4,666,341)      -                      
Proceeds from sales of capital assets 3,895              -                      -                      -                      3,895              -                      

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (27,593,412)    (18,831)           (27,183)           (7,488,535)      (35,127,961)    -                      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received by investing activities 1,310,960       85,147            64,498            1,237,969       2,698,574       -                      

Net cash provided by investing activities 1,310,960       85,147            64,498            1,237,969       2,698,574       -                      

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (21,963,289)    843,646          589,358          6,366,134       (14,164,151)    (15,410)           
Balances - beginning of year 50,109,511     2,098,544       1,533,074       28,252,561     81,993,690     3,513,662       
Balances - end of the year 28,146,222$    2,942,190$      2,122,432$      34,618,695$    67,829,539$    3,498,252$      

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating Income (Loss) 1,982,683$      886,124$         367,160$         (21,645,265)$   (18,409,298)$   (12,241)$          
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided (used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 4,281,215       173,616          210,152          2,773,520       7,438,503       -                      
Non-cash water interfund transfer to general fund (715,000)         -                      -                      -                      (715,000)         -                      
Pension related (263,738)         (78,123)           (25,848)           (355,996)         (723,705)         (15,931)           

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 62,809            (3,168)             -                      444,585          504,226          11,334            
Inventory (131,290)         (1,226)             (75,536)           (9,440)             (217,492)         86,867            
Accounts and other payables 161,218          (73,842)           175,012          6,824,156       7,086,544       (107,106)         
Accrued liabilities 32,199            (2,330)             3,333              80,258            113,460          8,651              
Compensated absences 26,780            709                 4,721              113,629          145,839          13,016            

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 5,436,876$      901,760$         658,994$         (11,774,553)$   (4,776,923)$     (15,410)$          

NONCASH INVESTING, CAPITAL AND
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Included in investment income is a decrease of $44,268 in fair value for the year ended June 30, 2023.

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2023

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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FIDUCIARY FUND 
 

Custodial Fund - Used to hold deposits and performance bonds from individuals, organizations 
and other governments. 
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Custodial Funds

ASSETS
Cash, cash equivalents and investments 2,232,085$               

Total assets 2,232,085                

NET POSITION
Restricted for:

Individuals, organizations, and other governments 2,232,085                
Total net position 2,232,085$               

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Fund
June 30, 2023

31

DRAFT

Page 104 of 377



Custodial Funds

ADDITIONS
Contributions from individuals, organizations, and other governments 479,587$                  

Total additions 479,587                   

DEDUCTIONS
Refunds to individuals, organizations, and other governments 1,296,252                

Total deductions 1,296,252        

Net decrease in fiduciary net position (816,665)          
Net Position -- beginning of the year 3,048,750                
Net Position -- end of the year 2,232,085$               

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
    

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

A summary of the significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the 
accompanying financial statements follows. 

1. General Information 

The Park City Municipal Corporation (the City) is a municipal corporation governed by an elected 
mayor and five-member Council elected at large with staggered terms. The City was chartered March 
15, 1884, under the provisions of the Utah Territorial Government. The Mayor is the administrative 
authority by statute; however, that responsibility has been delegated to the City Manager by City 
Ordinance. Therefore, the City operates under a Council-Manager form of government. The City 
provides the following services as authorized in its charter:  public safety (police), highways and 
streets, cultural and recreational, library, public improvements, planning and zoning, public 
transportation, public utilities (water and stormwater), golf and general administrative services. 

2. Reporting Entity 

These financial statements include the City and its component units. The City has considered all 
potential component units for which it is financially accountable. The criteria to be considered in 
determining financial accountability have been set forth in the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board’s (GASB) Statement No. 61. These criteria include (1) substantively the same governing body, 
(2) the primary government and the component unit have a financial benefit or burden relationship, or 
(3) management (below the level of the elected officials) of the primary government have operational 
responsibility for the activities of the component unit. 

Blended component units, although legally separate entities are so intertwined with the City that they 
are, in substance, the same as the City. They have the same governing board and provide services 
almost entirely to the City. They are reported as funds of the City. These are organizations for which 
the City is financially accountable, and the relationship with the City is significant enough that 
exclusions would possibly lead to misleading or incomplete financial statements.  

Included in this report are the following blended component units:   

The Park City Redevelopment Agency (RDA) was legally created by City ordinance pursuant to 
the Utah Limited Purpose Local Government Entities-Community Development and Renewal 
Agencies Act. The City Council is designated as the governing body of the RDA. The City has 
accountability for all fiscal and operating activities of the RDA. The RDA currently has two special 
revenue funds and two capital projects funds.  

The Park City Municipal Building Authority (MBA) governing board is comprised of the same 
individuals as the City Council and was created to provide a mechanism for financing City 
facilities. The MBA acquires and/or builds facilities by borrowing money secured by a lease 
agreement between the City and the Authority. The MBA currently has a capital projects fund. The 
bond issuance authorizations are approved by the City Council and the legal liability for those 
bonds remains with the City. 

The Park City Housing Authority (HA) governing board is comprised of the same individuals as 
the City Council and was created to accumulate funds for construction of affordable housing within 
the City. The City has accountability for all fiscal and operating activities of the HA. 
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

The Park City Water Service District (WSD) governing board is comprised of the same individuals 
as the City Council and was created to furnish municipal water service within the boundaries of the 
District. The City has accountability for all fiscal and operating activities of the WSD. 

3. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the City. Governmental activities, 
which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from 
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. Certain 
eliminations have been made as prescribed by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
Statement No. 34 for interfund activities. All internal balances in the statement of net position have 
been eliminated except those representing balances between the governmental activities and the 
business-type activities, which are presented as internal balances and eliminated in the total primary 
government column. In the statement of activities, internal service fund transactions have been 
eliminated except interfund services provided and used by business-type activities, which are not 
eliminated. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function 
or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with 
a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. Separate financial statements are provided 
for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded 
from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major 
individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

4. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial 
statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year 
for which they are levied. Amounts received or recognized as a receivable at fiscal year end are 
included in the financial statements as taxes receivable and deferred inflows of resources. Grants and 
similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as 
they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of 
the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, 
as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to 
compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all 
considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal 
period. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Only the 
portion of special assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be 
susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current period. All other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It is used to account for all financial 
resources of the City not accounted for by a separate, specialized fund. 

The Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding Bonds Debt Service Fund and the Park City General 
Obligation Bonds Debt Service Fund are used to account for the accumulation of resources for the 
payment of sales tax revenue bonded debt and general obligation debt. 

The Capital Improvements Fund is used to account for financial resources to be used for the 
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary 
funds, the Redevelopment Agencies or Municipal Building Authority).  

The City reports the following major enterprise funds: 

The Water Fund operates the water distribution system for residents of the City. 
 
The Stormwater Fund operates the storm drain system for residents of the City. 
 
The Golf Course Fund accounts for the operations of the City’s golf course. 
 
The Transportation and Parking Fund accounts for the operations of the City’s public 
transportation (bus and trolley) system and paid parking system. 

 
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for specific revenue sources that are restricted to 
expenditures for specific purposes. The City currently has the Lower Park Avenue 
Redevelopment Agency and the Main Street Redevelopment Agency special revenue funds. 
These funds account for redevelopment activities that are supported by property tax increment. 
 
Capital Project Funds are used to account for the acquisition or construction of capital projects.  
The City currently has the Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment Agency, the Main Street 
Redevelopment Agency, the Municipal Building Authority, and the Equipment Replacement 
capital project funds.   
 
Internal Service Funds are used to account for the central financing of goods or services provided 
to various departments of the City or other governments on a cost-reimbursement basis. The City 
currently has two internal service funds. The Fleet Services Fund provides vehicle storage, repair 
and maintenance. The Self-Insurance Fund was established to allow the City to supplement its 
regular insurance coverage as further explained in Note K – Risk Management.  
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

Custodial Funds are used to account for the assets held by the City as a fiduciary activity. 
Custodial funds use the economic resources measurement focus. The City currently has one 
custodial fund. The Park City Custodial Fund is used to hold deposits and performance bonds. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods 
in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues 
of the enterprise funds and of the internal service funds are charges to customers for sales and services. 
Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost of sales and 
services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 

5. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments - Cash and investment management in the City is 
administered by the City Treasurer in accordance with the Utah Money Management Act, Section 51-
7 of the Utah Code (see Note B – Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments). The City complies with 
GASB 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. The statement requires certain investments to 
be reported at fair value and the change in fair value to be recognized as an increase or decrease to 
investment assets and investment income. The City’s investment in the State Treasurer’s Pool has a 
fair value approximately equal to the value of the pool shares. This pool is administered by the State 
of Utah and is regulated by the Money Management Council under provisions of the Utah State Money 
Management Act. 

Inventories and prepaid items - Inventories of supplies for the proprietary fund types consist 
principally of items used in repairing and maintaining the water distribution system and transportation 
equipment. Supplies inventories are valued at cost using the weighted average method. Inventory held 
for retail sale in the Golf Course Fund is valued at lower-of-cost or market using the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) method. Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed 
rather than when purchased. Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond 
June 30, 2023 are recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.  
The costs of governmental fund type prepaid items are recorded as expenditures when consumed 
rather than when purchased.  

 
Leases Receivable – The City leases certain city property and recognizes a lease receivable and a 
deferred inflow of resources in the government-wide and governmental fund financial statements.  At 
commencement of a lease, the City initially measures the lease receivable at the present value of the 
payments expected to be received during the lease term.  Subsequently, the lease receivable is reduced 
by the principal portion of lease payments received. The deferred inflow of resources is initially 
measured as the initial amount of the lease receivable, adjusted for lease payments received during the 
lease term. Subsequently, the deferred inflow of resources is recognized as revenue over the lease 
term.  The City uses its effective borrowing rate as the discount rate.
 
Capital Assets - Capital assets, which include property, plant, and equipment, infrastructure assets 
(e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items) and intangible assets, are reported in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. 
Capital assets, other than infrastructure assets, are defined by the government as assets with an initial, 
individual cost of more than $5,000 (amount not rounded) and an estimated useful life in excess of 
two years. The government reports infrastructure assets on a network and subsystem basis.  

37

DRAFT

Page 110 of 377



PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

Accordingly, the amounts spent for the construction or acquisition of infrastructure assets are 
capitalized and reported in the government-wide financial statements regardless of their amount. In 
the case of the initial capitalization of general infrastructure assets (i.e., those reported by 
governmental activities) the government included all assets with acquisition dates as far back as June 
30, 1980. Most of the City’s infrastructure assets were valued at historical cost (when available) or 
estimated historical cost through back trending (i.e., estimating the current replacement cost of the 
infrastructure to be capitalized and using an appropriate price-level index to deflate the cost to the 
acquisition year or estimated acquisition year). As the City constructs or acquires additional capital 
assets each period, including infrastructure assets, they are capitalized and reported at historical cost.  
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend assets lives are not capitalized. Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items 
are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation.  

 
Art represents a collection of the City and is therefore not depreciated. Property, plant, equipment and 
intangible assets of the primary government are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line 
method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
Assets Years 
Buildings and improvements     20-75 
Public domain infrastructure 20-30 
System infrastructure 20-30 
Vehicles, equipment and intangibles 3-25 

 
Noncurrent Obligations - In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in 
the fund financial statements, noncurrent debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type 
statement of net position. Bond premiums, discounts and gains and losses on bond refunding, are 
deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable 
are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Gains and losses on bond refunding are 
reported as deferred inflows and outflows. Bond issuance costs are expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred. The unamortized bond premiums/discounts at June 30, 2023 for governmental 
activities were $12,435,416 and $13,877,460 for business-type activities and proprietary funds, 
respectively. In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and 
discounts during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing 
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts 
on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from 
the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as current expenditures.  

Compensated Absences - Accumulated unpaid vacation is accrued based on the years of service of 
each employee. Vacation is accumulated on a monthly basis and is fully vested when earned. The 
maximum amount of accumulated accrued vacation hours is determined by the length of service of 
each employee. Accumulated vacation cannot exceed these limits at the end of any calendar year and 
any vacation in excess of this amount is forfeited. At retirement, death, or termination in good 
standing, all unpaid vacation that has been accrued, up to the above limits, is paid. All vacation pay is 
accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability 
for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result 
of employee resignations and retirements. There is no liability for unpaid accumulated sick leave since 
the City does not have a policy to pay any amounts when employees separate from service. 
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Continued 

Pensions - For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position of the Utah Retirement Systems Pension Plan (URS) including additions to and 
deductions from URS's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by URS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported 
at fair value. 
 
Deferred Outflows of Resources or Deferred Inflows of Resources - In addition to assets, the 
statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This 
separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net 
assets that applies to future periods and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Pensions, the government-wide statement of net position and the proprietary 
fund statement of net position report deferred outflows of resources related to pensions. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods and will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has items which qualify for reporting in this 
category. The governmental funds report unavailable revenue from property taxes, notes receivable, 
and leases receivable. The government-wide statement of net position reports deferred inflows from 
property taxes, pension related items, deferred gain on refunding of debt, and leases receivable. 
Property taxes are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the following fiscal year to 
correspond with the period in which the taxes are levied. The deferred gain on refunding resulted from 
the difference in the carrying value of the refunded debt and its reacquisition price. The proprietary 
fund statement of net position reports items related to pensions. 

 
Net Position Flow Assumption - Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from 
both restricted and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted-net 
position and unrestricted-net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to 
be applied. It is the City’s policy to consider restricted-net position to have been depleted before 
unrestricted-net position is applied. 

 
Fund Balance - Fund balances presented in the governmental fund financial statements represent the 
difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources. GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, 
establishes criteria for classifying fund balances into specifically defined classifications and clarifies 
definitions for governmental funds. GASB Statement No. 54 requires that the fund balances be classified 
into categories based upon the type of restrictions imposed on the use of funds.  

The City evaluated each of its funds at June 30, 2023, and classified fund balances into the following 
five categories: 

 
Nonspendable - Amounts that cannot be spent because they are (1) not in spendable form, such 
as prepaid items, inventories and long-term receivables for which the payment of proceeds are 
not restricted or committed with respect to the nature of the specific expenditures of that fund or 
(2) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
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Restricted - Amounts that are restricted by external parties such as creditors or imposed by grants, 
laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or 
enabling legislation. The City has legislative restrictions on amounts collected and reported in 
the City’s various governmental funds. As a result, these restrictions have been classified as 
restricted for capital projects, debt service and drug and tobacco enforcement. 

Committed - Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed 
by formal action (ordinance) of the City’s “highest level of decision-making authority”, which 
the City considers to be the Park City Municipal City Council. Commitments may be changed 
by the government by taking the same action that imposed the constraint initially. 

Assigned - Amounts that have been allocated by action of the Park City Municipal City Council 
through a resolution in which the City’s intent is to use the funds for a specific purpose, but that 
do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. 

Unassigned - Amounts that constitute the residual balances that have no restrictions placed upon 
them. If restrictions exceed available resources only deficit amounts are reported in the 
unassigned category. The general fund is the only fund that reports a positive unassigned balance. 

The City reduces restricted amounts first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both 
restricted and unrestricted (committed, assigned or unassigned) amounts are available. The City 
reduces committed amounts first, followed by assigned amounts and then unassigned amounts when 
expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fund balance 
classifications could be used.  

The City does not have a minimum fund balance policy. Utah Code 10-6-116(4) requires that a 
minimum fund balance of 5.0 percent of total revenues be maintained in the general fund. 

Restricted Assets - Certain proceeds of the City’s Water Revenue and Refunding Bonds, as well as 
certain resources set aside for their repayment, are classified as restricted assets on the proprietary 
funds’ statement of net position because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants.  
 
Proceeds of the City’s 2013A and 2020 Series General Obligation Bonds in the amount of $5,663,147 
are classified as restricted assets as well as impact fees of $1,862,615 and B and C road funds of 
$513,286. Bond proceeds are restricted to acquiring and preserving undeveloped park and recreational 
land and to acquire, construct, improve and modify pathways, roads and related improvements for use 
by pedestrians and cyclists. The “reserve fund” account with a balance at June 30, 2023 of $17,918 is 
used to report resources set aside to make up potential future deficiencies in the revenue bond debt 
service account. 
 
Proceeds of the City’s 2015, 2017 and 2019 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds are classified as restricted 
assets on the governmental funds balance sheet because they are maintained in separate bank accounts 
and their use is limited by applicable bond covenants. The “construction fund” account with a balance 
at June 30, 2023 of $24,976,146 is used to report those proceeds of revenue bond issuances that are 
restricted for the purpose of financing the cost associated with improvements and acquisition of open 
space. The “reserve fund” account with a balance at June 30, 2023, of $603,406 is used to report 
resources set aside to make up potential future deficiencies in the revenue bond debt service account. 
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Water development fees are charged to new customers to pay for the cost of increasing the capacity 
of the water system to meet the additional demand created by the connection of new customers. Water 
development fee in the amount of $1,096,717 are classified as restricted net assets as their use is 
legally restricted. 
 
6.  Budgets 
 
State law requires the City Council to prepare and adopt budgets for all governmental and proprietary 
funds. The City Manager submits to the Mayor and City Council a proposed operating budget for the 
fiscal year commencing the following July 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures 
and the proposed sources of revenues. Between May 1 and June 30, the City Council reviews and 
adjusts the City Manager’s proposed budget. On or before June 30, a public hearing is held and the 
budget is legally adopted through passage of an ordinance. Budgets are adopted below individual 
department levels, but control of budget appropriations is exercised, under state law, at the department 
level (General Government, Public Safety, Public Works and Library and Recreation). 

After the budget is adopted, transfers of any unexpended appropriation amount between line items 
within a major category are to be initiated and approved by each respective department. Transfers 
between major categories and between programs within the same department and fund are to be 
initiated by the respective departments and approved by the City Manager. Transfers between capital 
improvement projects within the same fund are to be initiated by the individual designated as 
responsible for the project and approved by the City Manager. Transfers that will result in a total 
change in the appropriation for a project of more than 20.0 percent or if a project would be eliminated 
by the transfer must be approved by the City Council. The City Council may reduce or increase the 
budget of any fund by ordinance during the budget year. The City Council must hold a public hearing 
to increase a fund’s budget before it can pass the ordinance. Utah State law prohibits the appropriation 
of unassigned general fund balance until it exceeds the sum of 5.0 percent of the budgeted general 
fund revenues. Until unassigned fund balance is greater than the above amount, it cannot be budgeted 
but is used to provide working capital until tax revenue is received, meet emergency expenditures and 
cover unanticipated deficits.  

When the unassigned fund balance is greater than 35.0 percent of actual revenues, the excess must be 
appropriated to capital projects determined to be in the best long-term interest of the City. During the 
year, the General Fund budget was increased by $7,204,984 under the guidelines described above. 
The supplemental appropriation was due to personnel expense increases. 
 
Budgets are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting according to accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) for governmental funds. Budgets are not prepared for 
the custodial fund since this fund is comprised only of deposits and performance bonds held by the 
City. Encumbrance accounting is used by the City. 

 
Each year the capital projects fund adjusted budget is comprised of new appropriations from the 
current year and unexpended appropriations from the prior year, since unexpended capital projects 
appropriations do not automatically lapse at year end. The adjusted capital projects fund budget 
represents the amount available for expenditures in the current year. Future projects and 
appropriations that are to come from funds available in future years are not reflected in the current 
year budget. 
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7.  Implementation of New GASB Pronouncements 
 
In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 94 Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships 
and Availability Payment Arrangements. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the 
information needs of financial statement users by improving the comparability of financial statements 
among governments that enter into public-private and public-public partnerships (PPPs) and 
availability payment arrangements (APAs) and by enhancing the understandability, reliability, 
relevance, and consistency of information about PPPs and APAs. The requirements of this Statement 
are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2022.  The City adopted GASB No. 94 for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2023. Implementation of this Statement had no impact on the City’s financial 
statements. 

 
In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 96 Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements. The objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial 
statement users by (a) establishing uniform accounting and financial reporting requirements for 
subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs); (b) improving the comparability 
of financial statements among governments that have entered into SBITAs; and (c) enhancing the 
understandability, reliability, relevance, and consistency of information about SBITAs. The 
requirements of this Statement are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2022.  The City 
adopted GASB No. 96 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. Implementation of this Statement had 
minimal impact on the City’s financial statements.  
 
In April 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 99 Omnibus 2022. The objectives of this Statement 
are to enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of 
authoritative literature by addressing (1) practice issues that have been identified during 
implementation and application of certain GASB Statements and (2) accounting and financial 
reporting for financial guarantees. The requirements related to leases, PPPs, and SBITAs are effective 
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022.  The requirements related to financial guarantees and 
the classification and reporting of derivative instruments within the scope of Statement 53 are effective 
for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023. The City adopted GASB No. 99 for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2023. Implementation of this Statement had no impact on the City’s financial 
statements. 

 
In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 100 Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. The 
primary objective of this Statement is to enhance accounting and financial reporting requirements for 
accounting changes and error corrections to provide more understandable, reliable, relevant, 
consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or assessing accountability.  The 
requirements of this Statement are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2023.  The City 
adopted GASB No. 100 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. Implementation of this Statement had 
no impact on the City’s financial statements. 

 
In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 101 Compensated Absences. The objective of this 
Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statements users by updating the 
recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences. That objective is achieved by 
aligning the recognition and measurement guidance under a unified model and by amending certain 
previously required disclosures. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years 
periods beginning after June 15, 2023.  The City adopted GASB No. 101 for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023. Implementation of this Statement had no impact on the City’s financial statements. 
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NOTE B – CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS 
 

The City follows the practice of pooling cash and investments of all funds, except for funds required 
to be held by fiscal agents under the provisions of bond indentures. Each fund type’s portion of this 
pool is displayed on the basic financial statements as “cash, cash equivalents and investments”. Cash 
and cash equivalents are generally considered short-term, highly liquid investments with a maturity 
of three months or less from the purchase date. Investments with original maturities of three months 
or less meet this definition. Interest income earned on pooled cash and investments is allocated on an 
accounting period basis to the various funds based on the period-end cash and investment balances. 
Interest income from cash and investments with fiscal agents is credited directly to the related fund.  

 
As of June 30, 2023, the City had the following deposits and investments, including $2,232,085 held 
in a custodial capacity for others: 
 
Held by city:

Investment Type Fair Value 1 year or less 1-5 years
Debt securities
   Negotiable Certificates of Deposits 220,222$        -$                 220,222$    
   Corporate Bonds 5,111,714       1,232,994       3,878,720   

5,331,936       1,232,994$     4,098,942$ 

Other investments
   State treasurer's investment pool 173,240,422    173,240,422$ 

Total investments 178,572,358    

Deposits

Cash deposits checking-net of outstanding checks 7,412,293       
Cash deposits money market/savings 732,102          
Cash on hand 7,120             
Total deposits 8,151,515       
Total cash, cash equivalents and
   investments held by city 186,723,873    

Held by fiscal agent:
State treasurer's investment pool 39,056,082     
Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 225,779,955$  

Investments maturities

 
Deposits – The City follows the requirements of the Utah Money Management Act (the Act) in 
handling its depository and investment transactions.  The Act requires the depositing of the City’s 
funds in a qualified depository.  The Act defines a qualified depository as any financial institution 
whose deposits are insured by an agency of the Federal Government, and which has been certified by 
the State Commissioner of Financial Institutions as meeting the requirements of the Act and adhering 
to the rules of the Utah Money Management Council. 

 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may 
not be returned to it.  The City does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk. As of 
June 30, 2023, the City’s bank balance was $8,335,113 of which $8,085,113 was uninsured and 
uncollateralized. 
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NOTE B – CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS, Continued 
 
Investments – The State of Utah Money Management Council has the responsibility to advise the 
Utah State Treasurer about investment policies, promote measures and rules that will assist in 
strengthening the banking and credit structure of the state, and review the rules adopted under the 
authority of the State of Utah Money Management Act (Utah Code, Title 51, Chapter 7) that relate to 
the deposit and investment of public funds. 
 
The Act defines the types of securities authorized as appropriate investments for the City’s funds and 
the conditions for making investment transactions.  Investment transactions may be conducted only 
through qualified depositories, certified dealers, or directly with issuers of the investment securities.   

 
Statutes authorize the City to invest in negotiable or nonnegotiable deposits of qualified or permitted 
depositories; repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements; commercial paper that is classified as 
“first tier” by two nationally recognized statistical rating organizations; bankers’ acceptances; 
obligations of the United States Treasury including bills, notes, and bonds; obligations, other than 
mortgage derivative products, issued by U.S. government sponsored enterprises (U.S. Agencies) such 
as the Federal Home Loan Bank System, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac), 
and Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae); bonds, notes, and other evidence of 
indebtedness of political subdivisions of the State; fixed rate corporate obligations and variable rate 
securities rated “A” or higher, or the equivalent of “A” or higher, by two nationally recognized 
statistical rating organizations; shares or certificates in a money market mutual fund as defined in the 
Act; and the Utah Public Treasurers’ Investment Fund (PTIF). 
 
The Utah State Treasurer’s Office operates the PTIF.  The PTIF is available for investment of funds 
administered by any Utah public treasurer and is not registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission as an investment company.  The PTIF is authorized and regulated by the Act.  The Act 
established the Money Management Council which oversees the activities of the Utah State Treasurer 
and the PTIF and details the types of authorized investments.  Deposits in the PTIF are not insured or 
otherwise guaranteed by the State of Utah, and participants share proportionally in any realized gains 
or losses on investments. 
 
Fair Value of Investments: The City measures and records its investments using fair value 
measurement guidelines established by generally accepted accounting principles.  These guidelines 
recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows: 

 
 Level 1:  Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets; 
 Level 2:  Observable inputs other than quoted market prices; and, 
 Level 3:  Unobservable inputs. 

 
At June 30, 2023 the City had the following recurring fair value measurements: 
 

June 30, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Investments by fair value level:
Certificate of Deposits 220,222$         220,222$     -$                   -$              
Corporate Bonds 5,111,714        5,111,714    -                     -                
Utah Public Treasurers' Investment Fund 173,240,422     -                 173,240,422     -                

Total 178,572,358$   5,331,936$  173,240,422$   -$              
                

Fair Value Measurements Using
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Debt securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those 
securities. The Utah Public Treasurers’ Investment Fund classified in Level 2 is valued by application 
of the June 30, 2023 fair value factor, as calculated by the Utah State Treasurer, to the City’s average 
daily balance in the Fund. 

 
Interest Rate Risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  The City’s policy for managing its exposure to fair value loss arising from increasing 
interest rates is to comply with the Act.  Section 51-7-11 of the Act requires that the remaining term 
to maturity of investments may not exceed the period of availability of the funds to be invested.  The  

Act further limits the remaining term to maturity on all investments in commercial paper, bankers’ 
acceptances, fixed rate negotiable deposits, and fixed rate corporate obligations to 270 days – 15 
months or less.  The Act further limits the remaining term to maturity on all investments in obligations 
of the United States Treasury; obligations issued by U.S. Government-sponsored enterprises; and 
bonds, notes, and other evidence of indebtedness of political subdivisions of the State to 5 years.  In 
addition, variable rate negotiable deposits and variable rate securities may not have a remaining term 
to final maturity exceeding 3 years.   
 
Credit Risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations.  The City’s policy for reducing its exposure to credit risk is to comply with the Act, as 
previously discussed. 
 
At June 30, 2023, the City’s investments had the following quality ratings: 

Fair
Value AAA AA A

Primary government:
Corporate Bonds 5,111,714$  3,615,649$ 748,904$     747,161$     

Quality Ratings

 
 

At the time of purchase, all debt securities were rated the equivalent of “A” or higher by two nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations. At year end, all debt securities were in compliance with the 
UMMA. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s 
investment in a single issuer. The City’s policy for reducing this risk of loss is to comply with the 
Rules of the Money Management Council.  Rule 17 of the Money Management Council limits 
investments in a single issuer of commercial paper and corporate obligations to 5.0 - 10.0 percent 
depending upon the total dollar amount held in the portfolio at the time of purchase. None of the City’s 
investments exceed this limit.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk for an investment is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, 
the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the 
possession of an outside party. The City does not have a formal policy for custodial credit risk. As of 
June 30, 2023, the City had $5,331,936 in U.S. negotiable certificate of deposits and corporate bonds 
which were held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent but not in the government’s name of 
which $5,111,714 was uninsured and uncollateralized. 
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NOTE C – NOTES RECEIVABLE 
 
Notes receivable of the governmental fund types at June 30, 2023 include an affordable housing and 
an employee mortgage assistance loan with interest rates ranging from 0.0 - 5.0 percent. The following 
is a schedule of future principal and interest payments required under the terms of the notes receivable 
as of June 30, 2023: 

Fiscal year ending Principal Interest Total
2024 $ 248,059    $ 216         $ 248,275    
2025 1,418        60           1,478        
Total $ 249,477 $ 276 $ 249,753                                

 
NOTE D – LEASES RECEIVABLE 

The City leases certain city property and building space to third parties.  As of June 30, 2023, the City’s 
receivable for lease payments is shown on the governmental funds balance sheet and the government-
wide statement of net position. Also, the City has a deferred inflow of resources associated with these 
leases that will be recognized as revenue over the lease term.  A general description of the lease 
agreements follows:  
 
The City has 2 active leases for a portion of its land and use of facilities. These leases have a 99-year 
term. The agreements have increases of 10.0 percent every 5 years. At the end of the lease term, the 
property must be returned in good standing. During the fiscal year, the City recognized $29,525 in lease 
revenue and $16,675 in interest income related to these agreements. At June 30, 2023 the City recorded 
$10,612,708 in lease receivables for these arrangements.  The City used an interest rate of 1.89 percent 
based on incremental borrowing rates.  
 
The City has 2 active leases for building space. The leases are for a period of 5 years; one with an option 
to renew for an additional term of 2 years and the other with no option to renew.  The City believes the 
option to extend will be exercised with reasonable certainty.   During the fiscal year the City recognized 
$16,872 in lease revenue and $13 in interest income related to these agreements.  At June 30, 2023 the 
City recorded $16,859 in lease receivables for these arrangements. The City used an interest rate of 1.89 
percent based on incremental borrowing rates. 
 
The City leases building space out of its Library. The lease is for a period of 5 years with no option to 
renew. The agreement has an annual 3.0 percent increase.  During the fiscal year the City recognized 
$22,518 in lease revenue and $2,166 in interest income related to this agreement.  At June 30, 2023 the 
City recorded $102,298 in lease receivable for the arrangement. The City used an interest rate of 1.89 
percent based on incremental borrowing rates. 
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NOTE D – LEASES RECEIVABLE, Continued 

Remaining amounts to be received associated with these leases are as follows:  
 

Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30, Principal Interest Total 

2024 70,128$           18,385$           88,513$           
2025 54,531             17,938             72,469             
2026 55,852             17,324             73,176             
2027 57,208             16,772             73,980             
2028 34,108             16,442             50,550             

2029-2033 176,068           81,404             257,472           
2034-2038 202,645           79,935             282,580           
2039-2043 235,372           78,237             313,609           
2044-2048 268,689           76,281             344,970           
2049-2053 305,419           74,052             379,471           
2054-2058 345,897           71,522             417,419           
2059-2063 390,497           68,660             459,157           
2064-2068 439,635           65,434             505,069           
2069-2073 493,775           61,804             555,579           
2074-2078 553,407           57,731             611,138           
2079-2083 619,082           53,169             672,251           
2084-2088 691,403           48,072             739,475           
2089-2093 797,362           42,379             839,741           
2094-2098 858,935           35,830             894,765           
2099-2103 955,477           28,767             984,244           
2104-2108 1,068,425         20,916             1,089,341         
2109-2113 1,212,927         12,036             1,224,963         
2114-2116 790,130           2,491               792,621           

 
NOTE E – CAPITAL ASSETS 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions for the year ended June 30, 2023 as follows: 
 

Governmental activities: Business-type activities:
  General government $ 3,502,286      Water $ 4,281,215    
  Public safety 499,170         Stormwater 173,616       
  Public works 1,055,469      Golf course 210,152       
  Library and recreation 2,739,858      Transportation and parking 2,773,520    
Total governmental activities Total business-type activities

depreciation expense $ 7,796,783 depreciation expense $ 7,438,503
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NOTE E – CAPITAL ASSETS, Continued 
 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance
Governmental activities: June 30, 2022 Additions Deletions June 30, 2023
  Capital assets, not being depreciated:
    Land and water rights $ 243,725,614 $ -                    $ -                   $ 243,725,614
    Construction in progress 6,973,608 3,275,284     (1,505,107)   8,743,785
    Art 828,717           -                    -                   828,717
      Total capital assets, not being depreciated 251,527,939 3,275,284     (1,505,107)   253,298,116
  Capital assets, being depreciated:
    Right to use asset -                       391,481 -                   391,481          
    Buildings 49,999,600      974,490        (687,855)      50,286,235     
    Improvements other than building 48,640,882      1,243,087     (29,100)        49,854,869     
    Vehicles and equipment 18,437,352      2,097,817     (382,935)      20,152,234     
    Infrastructure 117,721,822    113,634        -                   117,835,456   
    Intangibles 8,921,259        201,798        -                   9,123,057       
      Total capital assets, being depreciated 243,720,915 5,022,307 (1,099,890) 247,643,332
  Less accumulated depreciation for:
    Right to use asset -                       (134,099) -                   (134,099)         
    Buildings (20,084,339)     (1,295,285)    -                   (21,379,624)    
    Improvements other than building (26,335,665)     (2,929,789)    29,100         (29,236,354)    
    Vehicles and equipment (12,208,622)     (1,676,237)    351,370       (13,533,489)    
    Infrastructure (98,434,699)     (1,883,787)    -                   (100,318,486)  
    Intangibles (389,749)          (11,685)         -                   (401,434)         
      Total accumulated depreciation (157,453,074) (7,930,882) 380,470 (165,003,486)
  Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 86,267,841      (2,908,575)    (719,420)      82,639,846
Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 337,795,780    $ 366,709        $ (2,224,527)   $ 335,937,962

Business-type activities:
  Capital assets, not being depreciated:
    Land and water rights $ 22,337,188 $ -                    $ -                   $ 22,337,188
    Construction in progress 98,559,100 18,647,201   (2,283,745)   114,922,556   
    Art 117,850           -                    -                   117,850          
      Total capital assets, not being depreciated 121,014,138    18,647,201   (2,283,745)   137,377,594   
  Capital assets, being depreciated:
    Right to use asset 3,380,984        -                    -                   3,380,984       
    Buildings 40,191,478      -                    (8,308)          40,183,170     
    Improvements other than building 121,771,729    2,312,161     -                   124,083,890   
    Vehicles and equipment 37,689,484      8,442,915     (484,016)      45,648,383     
    Intangibles 86,455             -                    -                   86,455            
      Total capital assets, being depreciated 203,120,130    10,755,076   (492,324)      213,382,882   
  Less accumulated depreciation for:
    Right to use asset (211,311)          (84,525)         -                   (295,836)         
    Buildings (10,194,198)     (891,746)       5,158           (11,080,786)    
    Improvements other than building (60,848,622)     (3,272,782)    -                   (64,121,404)    
    Vehicles and equipment (23,144,141)     (3,187,629)    430,348       (25,901,422)    
    Intangibles (77,351)            (1,821)           -                   (79,172)           
      Total accumulated depreciation (94,475,623)     (7,438,503)    435,506       (101,478,620)  
  Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 108,644,507    3,316,573     (56,818)        111,904,262   
Business-type activities capital assets, net $ 229,658,645    $ 21,963,774   $ (2,340,563)   $ 249,281,856
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NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 
 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2023: 
 

Additions Reductions
Governmental activities:                                                                     
General obligation bonds:

2013A series-principal 3,250,000$      -$                 (500,000)$        -$                   2,750,000$      515,000$       
2013A series-premium 36,933             -                   -                       (6,318)            30,615 -                     
2017 series-principal 17,995,000      -                   (1,500,000)       -                     16,495,000 1,560,000      
2017 series-premium 1,874,539        -                   -                       (195,264)        1,679,275 -                     
2019 series-principal 39,690,000      -                   (3,090,000)       -                     36,600,000 3,245,000      
2019 series-premium 5,308,143        -                   -                       (457,491)        4,850,652 -                     
2020 series-principal 6,650,000        -                   (1,500,000)       -                     5,150,000 1,570,000      
2020 series-premium 1,112,224        -                   -                       (86,596)          1,025,628 -                     

Total general obligation bonds 75,916,839 -                   (6,590,000) (745,669) 68,581,170 6,890,000

Revenue bonds (Sales tax revenue):
2014B series-principal 4,770,000        -                   (625,000)          -                     4,145,000        640,000         
2014B series-premium 78,342             -                   -                       (11,241)          67,101             -                     
2015 refunding-principal 6,910,000        -                   (765,000)          -                     6,145,000        795,000         
2015 refunding-premium 320,570           -                   -                       (40,222)          280,348           -                     
2017 refunding-principal 23,070,000      -                   (1,870,000)       -                     21,200,000      1,965,000      
2017 refunding-premium 2,252,788        -                   -                       (225,960)        2,026,828        -                     
2019 refunding-principal 22,800,000      -                   (1,475,000)       -                     21,325,000      1,550,000      
2019 refunding-premium 2,711,328        -                   -                       (236,359)        2,474,969        -                     

Total revenue bonds 62,913,028 -                   (4,735,000) (513,782) 57,664,246 4,950,000
Compensated absences 942,864 1,368,088    (1,190,895)       -                     1,120,057        974,448         

Total governmental activities 139,772,731$  1,368,088$  (12,515,895)$   (1,259,451)$   127,365,473$  12,814,448$  

Business-type activities:
Revenue bonds:

2009A wtr revenue 1,000,000$      -$                 (125,000)$        -$                   875,000$         125,000$       
2013A wtr revenue refunding 1,015,000        -                   (245,000)          -                     770,000           250,000         
2013A wtr revenue-prem/disc. 10,148             -                   -                       (2,926)            7,222               -                     
2014 wtr revenue 4,115,000        -                   -                       -                     4,115,000        -                     
2014 wtr revenue-premium 74,170             -                   -                       (18,695)          55,475             -                     
2020 wtr revenue refunding 71,370,000      -                   (2,250,000)       -                     69,120,000      2,325,000      
2020 wtr revenue-premium 8,778,289        -                   -                       (502,440)        8,275,849        -                     
2021 wtr revenue refunding 66,135,000      -                   (2,175,000)       -                     63,960,000      2,325,000      
2021 wtr revenue-premium 5,838,739        -                   -                       (299,823)        5,538,916        -                     

Total revenue bonds 158,336,346    -                   (4,795,000)       (823,884)        152,717,462    5,025,000      
Compensated absences 344,659           543,957       (398,116)          -                     490,500           407,113         
Contract payable 2,895,756        -                   (146,573)          -                     2,749,183        149,278         

Total business-type activities 161,576,761$  543,957$     (5,339,689)$     (823,884)$      155,957,145$  5,581,391$    

 Due Within 
One Year

Ending Balance 
June 30, 2023

Beginning 
Balance 

July 1, 2022 Amortization

 

Internal service funds predominantly serve the governmental funds. Accordingly, long-term liabilities 
for these funds are included as part of the above totals for governmental activities. At year end $66,398 
of internal service fund compensated absences are included in the above amounts. Also, for the 
governmental activities compensated absences are liquidated by the general fund. The City has 
complied with all revenue bond covenants.  
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NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued 
 
Redevelopment Agency Capital Projects Funds and Bonds 
The City maintains special revenue and capital project funds for the Main Street Redevelopment 
Agency and the Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment Agency. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, 
the tax increment collected by the Main Street Redevelopment Agency was $1,442 and the tax 
contributions from other governments were $4,828.  The tax increment collected by the Lower Park 
Avenue Redevelopment Agency was $1,008,349 and the tax contributions from other governments 
were $3,375,777. The tax increment paid to another taxing agency by the Main Street Redevelopment 
Agency and by the Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment Agency was $230,163 and $693,937, 
respectively. During the fiscal year, the Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment Agency expended 
$158,252 for site improvements and $14,378 for economic development. The Main Street 
Redevelopment Agency expended $19,940 for site improvements, $6,830 for economic development. 
 
General Obligation Bonds 
On August 28, 2013, the City issued General Obligation Bonds Series 2013A in the par amount of 
$7,170,000, a premium of $92,774 and issuance costs of $98,614. Pursuant to a special bond election 
held on November 6, 2007, the proceeds of the bonds were used to acquire, construct, improve and 
modify pathways, roads and related improvements for use by pedestrians and cyclists. Repayments 
are made from property tax revenues recorded in the Park City General Obligation Debt Service Fund. 
 
On June 6, 2017, the City issued General Obligation Bonds Series 2017 in the amount of $25,000,000 
plus a premium of $2,863,698 and bond issuance costs of $155,239 pursuant to a bond election held 
on November 8, 2016. The proceeds of the bonds were used to acquire, improve and forever preserve 
open space, park and recreational land located in Bonanza Flats. Repayments are made from property 
tax revenues recorded in the Park City General Obligation Debt Service Fund.  
 

The debt service requirements for the bonds at June 30, 2023 were as follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year Ending

June 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2024 515,000$      84,100$        1,560,000$   627,350$      
2025 530,000        69,938          1,625,000     549,350        
2026 550,000        54,036          1,685,000     468,100        
2027 565,000        37,538          1,755,000     383,850        
2028 590,000        19,175          1,825,000     296,100        
2029 -                    -                    1,900,000     241,350        
2030 -                    -                    1,975,000     184,350        
2031 -                    -                    2,055,000     125,100        
2032 -                    -                    2,115,000     63,450          
Total 2,750,000     264,787        16,495,000   2,939,000     

   Plus unamortized
     premium 30,615          -                    1,679,275     -                    

Total 2,780,615$   264,787$      18,174,275$ 2,939,000$   

Series 2017
Dated June 6, 2017

$25,000,000 @ 3.00% to 5.00%
per annum paid semi-

annually (Feb. & Aug.)

Series 2013A
Dated August 28, 2013

$7,170,000 @ 2.00% to 3.25%
per annum paid semi-

annually (Nov. & May)
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NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued 
 

General Obligation Bonds, Continued 
On March 5, 2019, the City issued General Obligation Bonds Series 2019 in the par amount of 
$48,290,000, a premium of $6,827,264 and issuance costs of $215,508. Pursuant to a special bond 
election held on November 6, 2018, the proceeds of the bonds were used to acquire, improve and 
forever preserve open space, park and recreational land located in Treasure Hill and Armstrong/Snow 
Ranch Pasture. Additionally, the bonds currently refunded $4,290,000 principal of the City’s General 
Obligation Bonds Series 2008, plus $67,993 interest.  For government-wide reporting, the gain on 
refunding is reported as a deferred inflow of resources and amortized over the life of the bond.  
Repayments are made from property tax revenues and recorded in the Park City General Obligation 
Debt Service Fund.   
 

On May 6, 2020, the City issued General Obligation Bonds Series 2020 in the par amount of 
$9,470,000, a premium of $1,298,465 and issuance costs of $83,373. Pursuant to a special bond 
election held on November 6, 2018, the proceeds of the bonds were used to acquire, improve and 
forever preserve open space, park and recreational land located in Treasure Hill and Armstrong/Snow 
Ranch Pasture. The 2020 Bonds were the last block of bonds to be issued from the 2018 bond election. 
Additionally, the bonds currently refunded $3,730,000 and $2,255,000 principal of the City’s General 
Obligation Bonds Series 2009 and Series 2010B, respectively, plus $1,991 and $1,562 interest, 
respectively.  For government-wide reporting, the gain on refunding is reported as a deferred inflow 
of resources and amortized over the life of the bond.  Repayments are made from property tax revenues 
and recorded in the Park City General Obligation Debt Service Fund.   
 

The debt service requirements for the bonds at June 30, 2023 were as follows: 

Fiscal
Year Ending

June 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2024 3,245,000$   1,640,400$   1,570,000$   224,587$      
2025 3,405,000     1,478,150     615,000        146,088        
2026 2,730,000     1,307,900     240,000        115,337        
2027 2,870,000     1,171,400     250,000        103,338        
2028 3,015,000     1,027,900     265,000        90,837          
2029 3,165,000     877,150        275,000        77,588          
2030 3,320,000     718,900        290,000        63,837          
2031 3,490,000     552,900        305,000        49,338          
2032 3,625,000     413,300        320,000        37,137          
2033 3,810,000     232,050        330,000        27,538          
2034 3,925,000     117,750        340,000        17,637          
2035 -                    -                    350,000        7,445            
Total 36,600,000   9,537,800     5,150,000     960,707        

   Plus unamortized
     premium 4,850,652     -                    1,025,628     -                    

Total 41,450,652$ 9,537,800$   6,175,628$   960,707$      

Series 2020
Dated May 6, 2020

$9,470,000 @ 2.125% to 5.00%
per annum paid semiannually

(May and November)

Series 2019
Dated March 5, 2019

$48,290,000 @ 3.00% to 5.00%
per annum paid semiannually

(February and August)
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NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued 
 
Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding Bonds 
On September 11, 2014, the City issued Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2014B in the amount of 
$5,375,000 plus a premium of $166,022. The proceeds from the sale of the Series 2014B Sales Tax 
Revenue Bonds were used for the purpose of financing the cost associated with improvements and 
acquisition of open space.  
 
On May 12, 2015, the City issued Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 in the amount of 
$11,600,000 plus a premium of $607,524. The proceeds from the sale of the bonds were used for the 
purpose of financing the cost associated with improvements and acquisition of open space. 
 
The debt service requirements for the bonds at June 30, 2023 were as follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year Ending

June 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2024 640,000$      128,013$      795,000$      204,525$      
2025 660,000        108,813        820,000        180,675        
2026 680,000        89,013          845,000        156,075        
2027 700,000        68,613          880,000        122,275        
2028 720,000        47,612          905,000        95,875          
2029 745,000        24,212          930,000        68,725          
2030 -                    -                    970,000        31,525          

Total 4,145,000 466,276 6,145,000 859,675
Plus unamortized

premium 67,101          -                    280,348        -                    
Total 4,212,101$   466,276$      6,425,348$   859,675$      

   Series 2014B

per annum paid semiannually
(June and December)

Series 2015

per annum paid semiannually 
(June and December)

Dated September 11, 2014
$5,375,000 @ 3.00% to 3.25% $11,600,000 @ 2.00% to 4.00%

Dated May 12, 2015

 
On November 11, 2017, the City issued Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2017 in the amount of 
$31,940,000 plus a premium of $3,287,871. The proceeds from the sale of the bonds were used for 
the purpose of financing the acquisition and construction of affordable housing units; land acquisition; 
parking, plaza and walkway improvements; road improvements; open space acquisition; and parks 
and community center improvements.   
 
On February 21, 2019 the City issued Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 in the amount of 
$26,775,000 plus a premium of $3,495,522.  The proceeds from the sale of the bonds were used for 
the purpose of financing a portion of the cost of a revolving program of acquiring and constructing 
affordable housing units, parking and plaza improvements, road improvements, open space 
acquisition, and park, recreation and community center improvements. 
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NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued 
 

Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding Bonds, Continued 
The debt service requirements for the bonds at June 30, 2023 were as follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year Ending

June 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2024 1,965,000$     807,028$       1,550,000$     865,750$       
2025 2,060,000      708,778         1,600,000      811,000         
2026 2,165,000      605,777         1,650,000      753,750         
2027 2,275,000      497,528         1,750,000      668,750         
2028 2,385,000      383,777         1,825,000      579,375         
2029 2,480,000      288,378         1,925,000      485,625         
2030 2,555,000      213,977         2,025,000      386,875         
2031 2,620,000      147,548         2,125,000      293,750         
2032 2,695,000      76,807           2,200,000      207,250         
2033 -                   -                   2,300,000      117,250         
2034 -                   -                   2,375,000      35,625           
Total 21,200,000     3,729,598      21,325,000     5,205,000      

   Plus unamortized
     premium 2,026,828      -                   2,474,969      -                   
Total 23,226,828$   3,729,598$     23,799,969$   5,205,000$     

Series 2019
Dated February 21, 2019

$26,775,000 @ 3.00% to 5.00%

(June and December)
per annum paid semiannually

Series 2017
Dated November 11, 2017

$31,940,000 @ 2.85% to 5.00%
per annum paid semiannually 

(June and December)

 
The Series 2014B, 2015, 2017 and 2019 Bonds are special limited obligations of the City, payable 
solely from and secured solely by a pledge of revenues from (1) 100 percent of the revenues received 
by the City from the local sales and use tax levied by the City pursuant to the Utah Local Sales and 
Use Tax Act, Title 59, Chapter 12, Part 2, Utah Code and (2) 100 percent of the revenues received by 
the City from the resort communities tax levied by the City pursuant to Title 59, Chapter 12, Part 4 of 
the Utah Code. The bonds do not constitute a pledge of the ad valorem taxing power or the full faith 
and credit of the City.  
 
The Series 2017 and 2019 Bonds are additionally payable solely from and secured solely by a pledge 
of revenues from 100 percent of the revenues received by the City from the municipal transient room 
tax levied by the City pursuant to Title 59, Chapter 12, Part 3A, Utah Code.  
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NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued 

Water Revenue Bonds
On July 14, 2009, the City issued the par amount of $2,500,000 in Taxable Water Revenue Bonds 
Series 2009A to finance the construction of drinking water system improvements. The bonds bear no 
interest and the principal payment of $125,000 is paid annually beginning July 15, 2010 and ending 
July 15, 2029. Repayments on the debt are made from the net revenues of the Water Fund. The 
outstanding balance at June 30, 2022 is $1,000,000. 

 
Water Revenue Refunding Bonds 
On February 21, 2013, the City issued the par amount of $3,045,000 in Water Revenue and Refunding 
Bonds Series 2013 A and B plus a premium of $37,518. The premium was deferred and amortized 
over the life of the bond using the effective interest method. The bond proceeds were used to refund 
$3,029,000 principal of outstanding Water Revenue Bonds Series 2006 plus interest of $63,609. The 
bonds incurred bond issue costs of $74,516, which were recognized as an expense in the period 
incurred. Repayments on the debt are made from the net revenues of the Water Fund. 
 
On June 25, 2014, the City issued the par amount of $4,115,000 in Water Revenue Bonds Series 2014 
plus a premium of $223,986 to finance construction of water system infrastructure. The premium was 
deferred and amortized over the life of the bond on an effective interest method. The bonds incurred 
bond issue costs of $93,218, which were recognized as an expense in the period incurred. Repayments 
on the debt are made from net revenues of the Water Fund. 
 
The debt service requirements for the water refunding bonds at June 30, 2023 were as follows:  

 

Fiscal
Year Ending

June 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2024 250,000$      12,900$        -$                  133,738$      
2025 255,000        7,850            2,350,000     133,738        
2026 265,000 2,650 1,765,000     57,362          
Total 770,000 23,400 4,115,000 324,838

Plus unamortized
premium/discount 7,222            -                    55,475          -                    

Total 777,222$      23,400$        4,170,475$   324,838$      

Series 2013A
Dated February 21, 2013

(June and December)

Series 2014
Dated June 25, 2014

(June and December)

$3,045,000 @ 2.00%
per annum paid semiannually

$4,115,000 @ 3.25%
per annum paid semiannually

 
On June 16, 2020, the City issued the par amount of $75,515,000 in Water Revenue Bonds Series 
2020 plus a premium of $9,802,442. The premium was deferred and amortized over the life of the 
bond using the effective interest method. The bond proceeds were used to refund $8,235,000 and 
$4,945,000 of outstanding Water Revenue Bonds Series 2009C and 2010, respectively plus interest 
of $225,484 and $99,449, respectively. New money in the amount of $66,620,000 was received to 
finance construction of water system infrastructure. The bonds incurred bond issue costs of $333,785, 
which were recognized as an expense in the period incurred. Repayments on the debt are made from 
net revenues of the Water Fund. 

 

54

DRAFT

Page 127 of 377



PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
 

NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued 
 
Water Revenue Refunding Bonds, Continued 
On October 13, 2021, the City issued the par amount of $66,135,000 in Water Revenue Bonds Series 
2021 plus a premium of $6,052,311. The premium was deferred and amortized over the life of the 
bond using the effective interest method. The bond proceeds were used to refund $1,925,000 and 
$5,525,000 of outstanding Water Revenue Bonds Series 2012 and 2012B, respectively plus interest 
of $21,063 and $62,156, respectively. New money in the amount of $65,000,000 was received to 
finance construction of water system infrastructure. The bonds incurred bond issue costs of $320,994, 
which were recognized as an expense in the period incurred. Repayments on the debt are made from 
net revenues of the Water Fund. 

 
The debt service requirements for these bonds at June 30, 2023 were as follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year Ending

June 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2024 2,325,000$    2,201,719$    2,325,000$    2,018,007$    
2025 175,000        2,139,218     2,300,000     1,902,381     
2026 -                  2,134,844     3,280,000     1,762,882     
2027 1,945,000     2,086,219     3,645,000     1,589,756     
2028 2,000,000     1,987,594     3,875,000     1,401,757     
2029 4,250,000     1,831,344     1,930,000     1,256,631     
2030 4,475,000     1,613,219     2,020,000     1,157,882     
2031 4,700,000     1,383,844     2,255,000     1,051,006     
2032 4,875,000     1,193,219     2,385,000     935,006        
2033 5,025,000     1,044,719     2,495,000     825,481        
2034 5,175,000     891,719        2,575,000     749,831        
2035 5,350,000     733,844        2,610,000     697,981        
2036 5,500,000     571,094        2,675,000     645,131        
2037 5,650,000     432,094        2,715,000     591,231        
2038 5,775,000     314,234        2,765,000     536,431        
2039 5,875,000     190,453        2,845,000     480,331        
2040 6,025,000     64,014          2,880,000     421,281        
2041 -                  -                  9,095,000     294,047        
2042 -                  -                  9,290,000     98,706          
Total 69,120,000    20,813,391    63,960,000    18,415,759    

   Plus unamortized
     premium 8,275,849     -                  5,538,916     -                  

Total 77,395,849$  20,813,391$  69,498,916$  18,415,759$  

Series 2021
Dated October 13, 2021

$66,135,000 @ 2.00% to 5.00%
per annum paid semiannually

(June and December)

Series 2020
Dated June 16, 2020

$75,515,000 @ 2.125% to 5.00%

(June and December)
per annum paid semiannually
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NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued 
 
Other Debt 
The City entered into an agreement with Weber Basin Water Conservancy District for the right to 
share in the existing capacity in the East Canyon Water Treatment Plan and Highway 40 System. In 
return, the City agreed to make an annual payment of $200,000 per year beginning January 1, 2020 
through January 1, 2039. The contract payable has an effective interest rate of 1.8 percent per 
annum.  
 
The debt service requirements for the contracts payable at June 30, 2023 were as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Ending
June 30, PRINCIPAL INTEREST

2024 149,278$           50,722$             
2025 152,032             47,968               
2026 154,837             45,163               
2027 157,693             42,307               
2028 160,603             39,397               
2029 163,566             36,434               
2030 166,584             33,416               
2031 169,657             30,343               
2032 172,788             27,212               
2033 175,975             24,024               
2034 179,222             20,778               
2035 182,529             17,471               
2036 185,897             14,104               
2037 189,326             10,674               
2038 192,819             7,181                 
2039 196,377             3,623                 
Total 2,749,183$         450,817$           
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NOTE F – LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS, Continued 
 
Annual Debt Service
The annual debt service requirements for all long-term debt outstanding as of June 30, 2023 by activity 
are as follows: 

Fiscal
Year Ending General Obligation Revenue Revenue Contract

June 30, Bonds Bonds Bonds Payable
Principal

2024 6,890,000$       4,950,000$       5,025,000$       149,278$          
2025 6,175,000         5,140,000         5,205,000 152,032
2026 5,205,000         5,340,000         5,435,000 154,837
2027 5,440,000         5,605,000         3,770,000 157,693
2028 5,695,000         5,835,000         5,945,000 160,603

2029-2033 26,975,000       23,570,000       31,635,000 848,570
2034-2038 4,615,000         2,375,000         40,040,000 929,793
2039-2042 -                        -                        41,785,000 196,377

Total 60,995,000 52,815,000 138,840,000 2,749,183
 Plus unamortized

     premium/discount 7,586,170         4,849,246         13,877,462       -                        
Total 68,581,170$     57,664,246$     152,717,462$   2,749,183$       

Interest
2024 2,576,438$       2,005,316$       4,366,363$       50,722$            
2025 2,243,526         1,809,266 4,183,188 47,968
2026 1,945,376         1,604,616 3,957,738 45,163
2027 1,696,124         1,357,164 3,675,975 42,307
2028 1,434,013         1,106,641 3,389,350 39,397

2029-2033 3,663,988         2,341,922 12,292,349 151,429
2034-2038 142,826            35,625              6,163,589         70,208              
2039-2042 -                        -                        1,548,834         3,623                

Total 13,702,291$     10,260,550$     39,577,386$     450,817$          

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activites
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NOTE G – SUBSCRIPTION BASED IT ARRANGEMENTS 

The City is committed under various subscription-based IT arrangements (SBITAs). At June 30, 
2023, the City has 6 qualifying SBITAs that range from 2-3 years with a total asset value of 
$391,481 and accumulated amortization of $134,099. During the fiscal year, the City recognized 
$169,210 and $3,362 in principal and interest payments, respectively.  
 
The City’s schedule of future minimum payments for these SBITA liabilities is as follows:  

Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 170,646$     1,927$    172,573$     
2025 51,625         344         51,969          

 
NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS 

 
General Information about the Pension Plan 
Plan description: Eligible plan participants are provided with pensions through the Utah Retirement 
Systems (Systems). The Systems are comprised of the following pension trust funds: 
 
Defined Benefit Plans 

 Public Employees Noncontributory Retirement System (Noncontributory System); 
 Public Employees Contributory Retirement System (Contributory System) is a multiple-

employer, cost-sharing, public employee retirement system; 
 Public Safety Retirement System (Public Safety System) is a multiple-employer, cost-sharing, 

public employee retirement system; 
 Tier 2 Public Employees Contributory Retirement System (Tier 2 Public Employees System) 

is a multiple-employer, cost-sharing, public employee retirement system; 
 Tier 2 Public Safety and Firefighter Contributory Retirement System (Tier 2 Public Safety and 

Firefighters System) is a multiple-employer, cost-sharing, public employee retirement system. 
 

The Tier 2 Public Employees System became effective July 1, 2011. All eligible employees beginning 
on or after July 1, 2011, who have no previous service credit with any of the Systems, are members 
of the Tier 2 Retirement System. 
 
The Systems are established and governed by the respective sections of Title 49 of the Utah Code 
Annotated 1953, as amended. The Systems’ defined benefit plans are amended statutorily by the State 
Legislature. The Utah State Retirement Office Act in Title 49 provides for the administration of the 
Systems under the direction of the Utah State Retirement Board (Board), whose members are 
appointed by the Governor. The Systems are fiduciary funds defined as pension (and other employee 
benefit) trust funds. The Systems are a component unit of the State of Utah. Title 49 of the Utah Code 
grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms.  
 
The Systems issue a publicly available financial report that can be obtained by writing Utah 
Retirement Systems, 560 E. 200 S., Salt Lake City, Utah 84102 or visiting the website: 
www.urs.org/general/publications. 
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 

Benefits provided: The Systems provide retirement, disability, and death benefits. Retirement 
benefits are as follows: 

 

System 

Final 
average 
salary 

Years of service 
required and/or age 
eligible for benefit 

Benefit percent per 
year of service COLA** 

Noncontributory 
System 

Highest 
3 years 

30 years any age 
25 years any age* 
20 years age 60* 
10 years age 62* 
4 years age 65 

2.00% per year all 
years 

 
Up to 4.00% 

Contributory System 
Highest 
5 years 

30 years any age 
20 years age 60* 
10 years age 62* 
4 years age 65 

1.25% per year to 
June 1975; 2.00% per 

year July 1975 to 
present 

Up to 4.00% 

Public Safety System 
Highest 
3 years 

20 years any age 
10 years age 60 
4 years age 65 

2.50% per year up to 
20 years; 2.00% per 
year over 20 years 

Up to 2.50% or 
4.00% 

depending upon 
employer 

Tier 2 Public 
Employees System 

Highest 
5 years 

35 years any age 
20 years age 60* 
10 years age 62* 
4 years age 65 

1.50% per year all 
years 

Up to 2.50% 

Tier 2 Public Safety 
and Firefighter System 

Highest 
5 years 

25 years any age 
20 years age 60* 
10 years age 62* 
4 years age 65 

1.50% per year to 
June 2020; 2.00% per 

year July 2020 to 
present 

Up to 2.50% 

* Actuarial reductions are applied. 
**All post-retirement cost-of-living adjustments are non-compounding and are based on the original 
benefit except for Judges, which is a compounding benefit. The cost-of-living adjustments are also 
limited to the actual Consumer Price Index (CPI) increase for the year, although unused CPI increases 
not met may be carried forward to subsequent years. 

 
Contribution Rate Summary 
As a condition of participation in the Systems, employers and/or employees are required to contribute 
certain percentages of salary and wages as authorized by statute and specified by the Systems’ Board. 
Contributions are actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee 
contributions (where applicable) is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees 
during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded actuarial accrued liability.
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
Contribution rates as of June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
     

Employee Employer Employer 
401(k) 

Contributory System 
   

  
11 Local Government Div - Tier 1 6.00 13.96 -   

111 Local Government Div - Tier 2* - 16.01 0.18 
Noncontributory System 

   
  

15 Local Government Div - Tier 1 - 17.97 - 
Public Safety System 

   
 

Contributory 
   

  
122 Tier 2 DB Hybrid Public Safety* 2.59 25.83 -  

Noncontributory 
   

  
43 Other Div A with 2.50% COLA - 34.04 - 

Tier 2 Defined Contribution Only* 
   

  
211 Local Government - 6.19 10.00   
222 Public Safety - 11.83 14.00 

 
*Tier 2 rates include a statutory required contribution to finance the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability of the Tier 1 plans. 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the employer and employee contributions to the Systems were 
as follows: 

System   
Employer 

Contributions 

 Employee 
Contributions 

 Noncontributory System  $          1,391,539 $ -  

 Contributory System 23,410                        10,061 

 Public Safety System 874,787                         -   

 Tier 2 Public Employees Systems 2,464,116                        -   

 Tier 2 Public Safety and Firefighter 140,141  13,895 

 Tier 2 DC Only System 191,025   - 

 
Tier 2 DC Public Safety and 
Firefighter System 11,013 

 
 -  

  Total Contributions  $          5,096,032 $                    -  
 
Contributions reported are the Systems’ Board approved required contributions by the System. 
Contributions in the Tier 2 Systems are used to finance the unfunded liabilities in the Tier 1 Systems. 
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
Combined Pension Assets, Liabilities, Expense, Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported a net pension asset of $0 and a net pension liability of $5,020,590. 
 

Net Pension
Asset

Net Pension
Liability

Proportionate
Share

Noncontributory System -$             2,125,557$     1.2410208 % 1.0837078 % 0.1573130  %
Contributory System -               144,808          1.4079842 1.5272379 (0.1192537) 
Public Safety System -               2,036,044       1.5745754 1.3752460 0.1993294  
Tier 2 Public Employees System -               703,631          0.6461891 0.5734098 0.0727793  
Tier 2 Public Safety and Firefighter -               10,550            0.1264571 0.0963238 0.0301333  

-$             5,020,590$     

(Measurement Date): December 31, 2022

Proportionate Share 
December 31, 2021

Change 
(Decrease)

 
The net pension asset and liability were measured as of December 31, 2022, and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the net pension asset and liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of January 1, 2022 and rolled-forward using generally accepted actuarial procedures. The 
proportion of the net pension asset and liability is equal to the ratio of the employer’s actual 
contributions to the Systems during the plan year over the total of all employer contributions to the 
Systems during the plan year. 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $3,298,049.  
 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
relating to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 972,721$        31,415$          
Changes in assumptions 638,063          11,335           
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 2,211,759       -                
Changes in proportion and differences between contrib-

tions and proportionate share of contributions 373,106          80,760           
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 2,468,662       -                

6,664,311$     123,510$        

 
$2,468,662 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions 
made by the City prior to fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 
2022.  
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming 
fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31,
Net Deferred Outflows 
(Inflows) of Resources

2023  $                           (590,970)
2024                                  79,818 
2025                                931,239 
2026                              3,354,639 
2027                                  60,718 

Thereafter                                236,695  
 
Noncontributory System Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $853,921.  
 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 720,957$        -$              
Changes in assumptions 348,351          8,488             
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 1,402,038       -                
Changes in proportion and differences between contrib-

tions and proportionate share of contributions 130,350          48,978           
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 670,115          -                

3,271,811$     57,466$          

 
$670,115 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions 
made by the City prior to fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 
2022.  
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming 
fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31,
Net Deferred Outflows 
(Inflows) of Resources

2023  $                           (281,272)
2024                                109,252 
2025                                563,144 
2026                              2,153,108 
2027                                        -   

Thereafter                                        -   
 

 
Contributory System Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $329,700.  
 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience -$              -$              
Changes in assumptions -                -                
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 43,170           -                
Changes in proportion and differences between contrib-

tions and proportionate share of contributions -                -                
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 11,554           -                

54,724$          -$              

 
$11,554 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions 
made by the City prior to fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 
2022. 
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 

These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming 
fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

Year ended December 31,
Net Deferred Outflows 
(Inflows) of Resources

2023  $                           (122,553)
2024                                (36,618)
2025                                  33,200 
2026                                169,141 
2027                                        -   

Thereafter                                        -   
 

 
Public Safety System Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $720,129.  
 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 9,014$           -$              
Changes in assumptions 54,608           -                
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 471,924          -                
Changes in proportion and differences between contrib-

tions and proportionate share of contributions 124,283          1,021             
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 396,407          -                

1,056,236$     1,021$           

 
$396,407 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions 
made by the City prior to fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 
2022. 
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming 
fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31,
Net Deferred Outflows 
(Inflows) of Resources

2023  $                           (228,094)
2024                                (79,612)
2025                                196,730 
2026                                769,784 
2027                                        -   

Thereafter                                        -   
 

 
Tier 2 Public Employees System Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of 
Resources 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $1,347,927.  
 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 237,661$        27,917$          
Changes in assumptions 228,432          1,790             
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 283,681          -                
Changes in proportion and differences between contrib-

tions and proportionate share of contributions 108,533          28,672           
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,311,031       -                

2,169,338$     58,379$          

 
$1,311,031 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions 
made by the City prior to fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 
2022. 
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming year. 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31,
Net Deferred Outflows 
(Inflows) of Resources

2023  $                              39,372 
2024                                  84,068 
2025                                134,162 
2026                                255,031 
2027                                  59,484 

Thereafter                                227,811 
 

 
Tier 2 Public Safety and Firefighter Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of 
Resources 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $46,372.  
 
At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 

 
Deferred 

Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 5,089$           3,498$           
Changes in assumptions 6,672             1,057             
Net difference between projected and actual

earnings on pension plan investments 10,946           -                
Changes in proportion and differences between contrib-

tions and proportionate share of contributions 9,940             2,089             
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 79,555           -                

112,202$        6,644$           

 
$79,555 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions results from contributions 
made by the City prior to fiscal year end, but subsequent to the measurement date of December 31, 
2022. 
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the upcoming 
fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31,
Net Deferred Outflows 
(Inflows) of Resources

2023  $                                1,577 
2024                                    2,728 
2025                                    4,003 
2026                                    7,575 
2027                                    1,234 

Thereafter                                    8,884 
 

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
The total pension liability in the December 31, 2022, actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumption, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation 2.50 percent 

Salary increases 3.25 - 9.25 percent, average, including inflation 

Investment rate of return 6.85 percent, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation 

 
Mortality rates were adopted from an actuarial experience study dated January 1, 2020. The retired 
mortality tables are developed using URS retiree experience and are based upon gender, occupation, 
and age as appropriate with projected improvement using 80.0% of the ultimate rates from the MP-
2019 improvement assumption using a base year of 2020. The mortality assumption for active 
members is the PUB-2010 Employees Mortality Table for public employees, teachers, and public 
safety members, respectively. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2022 valuation were based on an experience of the 
demographic assumptions as of January 1, 2020, and a review of economic assumptions as of January 
1, 2021.  
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class and is 
applied consistently to each defined benefit pension plan. These ranges are combined to produce the 
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target 
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates 
of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

Asset Class

Target Asset 
Allocation

Real Return 
Arithmetic Basis

Long-Term Expected Portfolio 
Real Rate of Return

Equity securities 35.000 % 6.58 % 2.30 %

Debt securities 20.000 1.08 0.22

Real assets 18.000 5.72 1.03

Private equity 12.000 9.80 1.18

Absolute return 15.000 2.91 0.44

Cash and cash equivalents - (0.11)                      0.00

Totals 100.00 % 5.17 %

Inflation 2.50 %

Expected arithmetic nominal return 7.67 %

Expected Return Arithmetic Basis

 
 
The 6.85 percent assumed investment rate of return is comprised of an inflation rate of 2.50 percent, 
a real return of 4.35 percent that is net of investment expense. 
 
Discount rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.85 percent. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will 
be made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from all participating employers will 
be made at contractually required rates that are actuarially determined and certified by the Systems’ 
Board. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods 
of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The discount rate does not use 
the Municipal Bond Index Rate.  
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NOTE H – RETIREMENT PLANS, Continued 
 
Sensitivity of the proportionate share of the net pension asset and liability to changes in the discount 
rate: The following presents the proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the 
discount rate of 6.85 percent, as well as what the proportionate share of the net pension liability would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (5.85 percent) or 1 
percentage point higher (7.85 percent) than the current rate: 
 

System
1%  Decrease

or 5.85%
Discount Rate

of 6.85%
1%  Increase

or 7.85%

Noncontributory System  $    13,395,972  $      2,125,557  $   (7,291,468)

Contributory System             742,888             144,808          (362,791)

Public Safety System          6,557,090          2,036,044       (1,640,632)

Tier 2 Public Employees System          3,074,483             703,631       (1,122,809)

Tier 2 Public Safety and Firefighter System               84,447               10,550            (48,181)

Total  $    23,854,880  $      5,020,590  $ (10,465,881)
 

Pension plan fiduciary net position: Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position is available in the separately issued Systems’ financial report. 

 
 Defined Contribution Savings Plans 

The Defined Contribution Savings Plans are administered by the Systems’ Board and are generally 
supplemental plans to the basic retirement benefits of the Systems but may also be used as a primary 
retirement plan. These plans are voluntary tax-advantaged retirement savings programs authorized 
under sections 401(k), 457(b) and 408 of the Internal Revenue code. Detailed information regarding 
plan provisions is available in the separately issued Systems’ financial report. 

 
The City participates in the following Defined Contribution Savings Plans with the Systems: 

 401(k) Plan 
 Roth IRA Plan 

 
Employee and employer contributions to the Systems Defined Contribution Savings Plans for fiscal 
year ended June 30th were as follows: 

 
2023 2022 2021

Employer Contributions $396,984 $379,310 $362,410
Employee Contributions 71,469 8804                       - 

Employer Contributions  N/A  N/A  N/A 
Employee Contributions 16,470 15,190 12,285

401(k) Plan

Roth IRA Plan
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NOTE I – DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS 
 
Section 401(a) defined contribution money purchase plan 
The City sponsors a defined contribution plan under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) for all full-
time City employees not covered by the Public Safety Retirement System for employers with Social 
Security coverage. 
 
MissionSquare Retirement (MissionSquare) administers this plan. The City's total payroll in the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2023 was $35,586,138. Of that amount, $4,743,264 was eligible to participate in 
this plan. The City participated at a rate of 0.50 percent, under City resolution for the year ended June 
30, 2023 for employees covered by the State Contributory System retirement plan, 0.50 percent for 
employees covered by the State Noncontributory System retirement plan, and 18.47 percent under 
State Statue for a limited number of employees that are exempt from the State plan. During the year 
ended June 30, 2023 contributions totaling $23,638 or 0.50 percent of covered payroll were made by 
the City. Employer contributions are fully vested in one year. All contributions were made by the due 
dates. The 401(a) defined contribution monies are not available to the City or its general creditors.  
Therefore, no assets or liabilities of the 401(a) defined contribution plan are reflected in the City’s 
financial statements.  
 
Section 457 deferred compensation plan 
The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal 
Revenue Code Section 457. The plan, available to all full-time City employees, permits them to defer 
a portion of their salary until future years. Employees are eligible to voluntarily participate from the 
date of employment and are vested immediately upon participating. The City's total payroll in the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 was $35,586,138 and the City's covered payroll eligible for this plan 
totaled $23,940,796. The City participates in employer benefits of $46.15 per pay period for those 
employees who have chosen single health insurance coverage and match the employees’ voluntary 
contribution amount at fifty cents on the dollar to a maximum contribution of $900. Contributions 
totaling $310,777 or 1.30 percent of covered payroll were made by the City and voluntary 
contributions totaling $1,068,532 or 4.46 percent of covered payroll were made by employees. All 
contributions were made by the due dates. 

 
All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan, all property and rights purchased with those 
amounts, and all income attributable to those amounts, property, or rights are held in trust for the 
exclusive benefit of participants and their beneficiaries, except that expenses and taxes may be paid 
from the Trust. Participants' rights under the plan are equal to those of general creditors of the City in 
an amount equal to the fair value of the deferred account for each participant. The deferred 
compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable 
emergency. 
 
Investments are managed by the plan's administrator under one of seven investment options, or a 
combination thereof. The choice of the investment option(s) is made by the participants. All of the 
assets and income of the 457 Plan are held in investment fund trusts by MissionSquare for the 
exclusive benefit of the participants or their beneficiaries rather than as assets of the employer. As 
MissionSquare is the fiduciary of these assets, the City is no longer required to report the assets.  

 
Loans or notes between the City and the defined contribution plans 
There are no securities, loans or notes of the City included in the plans’ assets. 
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NOTE J – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 

There are several pending lawsuits in which the City is involved. The City Attorney estimates the 
potential claims against the City resulting from such litigation not covered by insurance would not 
materially affect the financial position of the City. 
 
Commitments for major construction and capital improvements projects at June 30, 2023 are as 
follows: 
  
 Capital Projects Funds                    $   12,161,838  
  
 Enterprise Funds                             $     7,101,043 

 
NOTE K – INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES 

Intergovernmental revenues were received by governmental fund types for the year ended June 30, 
2023. They consist of the following: 

State of Utah Class "C" road allotments 396,403$           
State contributions 89,414               
County contributions 751,113             
Federal contributions 564,424             
Fire District 300,645             
School District 2,482,973          
     Total 4,584,972$        

 
NOTE L – RISK MANAGEMENT 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft or, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During fiscal year 1989, the 
City established a Self-Insurance Fund (an internal service fund) to account for and finance its 
uninsured risk of loss. Under this program, the Self-Insurance Fund provides coverage for up to a 
maximum of $250,000 per occurrence for general liability, automobile and errors and omissions. The 
City purchases commercial insurance for claims in excess of coverage provided by the Self-Insurance 
Fund and for all other risks of loss. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any 
of the past three fiscal years. Liabilities are recorded for any claim or judgment when information 
available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates it is probable that an asset has been 
impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the 
loss can be reasonably estimated. 

Unpaid claims as of June 30, 2021 310,231$      
Incurred claims 92,031          
Claim payments (101,122)       
Unpaid claims as of June 30, 2022 301,140        
Incurred claims 274,919        
Claim payments (217,449)       
Unpaid claims as of June 30, 2023 358,610$      
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
 

NOTE M – INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
Transfers were made to and from several funds during the course of the year ended June 30, 2023. An 
interfund transfer is a legally authorized transfer between funds in which one fund is responsible for 
the initial receipt of funds and another fund is responsible for the actual disbursement. The General 
Fund transferred $2,953,987 to the Capital Improvement Fund and $1,585,600 to the Equipment 
Replacement Capital Projects Fund for future capital projects and replacement of rolling stock and 
computer equipment, respectively. The Redevelopment Agency funds for Main Street and Lower Park 
transferred $3,492,532 to the Special Revenue funds for capital expenditures. Several funds 
transferred a total of $6,968,791 to the Sales Tax Revenue Bond Debt Service Fund to support 
principal and interest payments on debt. The General Fund transferred $25,000 to the Golf Course 
Fund for administrative costs. Transfers to the General Fund were comprised of: $1,832,713 from the 
Water Fund, $124,430 from the Stormwater Fund, $1,341,889 from the Transportation and Parking 
Fund and $131,951 from the Golf Course Fund for administrative expenses for the year ended June 
30, 2023. All interfund transfers within governmental activities and business-type activities are 
eliminated in the Government-Wide Financial Statements. 

 

Business-
Type 

Activities

General Fund

Capital 
Improvement 

Fund

Sales Tax 
Revenue & 
Refunding - 

DSF
Nonmajor 

Funds

Golf 
Course 
Fund Total

Transfers out from:
Governmental activities

Major funds:
General fund -$                  2,953,987$   -$              1,585,600$   25,000$  4,564,587$     
Capital improvement fund -                    -                    4,177,076     -                    -              4,177,076       

Nonmajor funds:    
Other funds -                    -                    2,791,715     3,492,532     -              6,284,247       

Business-type activities
Water fund 1,832,713     -                    -                    -                    -              1,832,713       
Stormwater fund 124,430        -                    -                    -                    -              124,430          
Transportation and 

parking fund 1,341,889     -                    -                    -                    -              1,341,889       
Golf course fund 131,951        -                    -                    -                    -              131,951          
Total 3,430,983$   2,953,987$   6,968,791$   5,078,132$   25,000$  18,456,893$   

Major Funds

Transfers into:

Governmental Activities
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PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
 

NOTE N - TAXES 
 
Before June 15 of each year, the City sets the property tax rate for various municipal purposes. If the 
City intends to increase property tax revenues above the tax rate of the previous year, state law requires 
the City to provide public notice to property owners and hold public hearings. All property taxes levied 
by the City are assessed and collected by Summit and Wasatch Counties. Property taxes are levied on 
January 1 on real property values assessed as of the same date. Taxes are due November 30 and 
delinquent taxes are subject to a penalty. Unless the delinquent taxes and penalties are paid before 
January 15 of the following year, a lien is attached to the property and the amount of taxes and 
penalties bear interest from January 1 until paid. 

If after five years, delinquent taxes have not been paid, the County sells the property at a tax sale. Tax 
collections are remitted to the City from the County on a monthly basis. 

Sales and resort taxes are collected by the State Tax Commission and remitted to the City monthly. 
Franchise taxes are collected by the telephone, natural gas, electric utilities, cable television and sewer 
companies and remitted to the City periodically.  
 

NOTE O – UNAVAILABLE REVENUE 

Fund Financial Statements 
At June 30, 2023, the following unavailable revenues were recorded in the fund financial statements 
as deferred inflows of resources because the funds were not available to finance expenditures of the 
current period. 

General

Debt Service - 
Park City General 

Obligation

Capital Projects - 
Capital 

Improvement Fund

Other 
Governmental 

Funds Total

Notes receivable -$               -$                      249,477$              -$                249,477$     
Leases receivable 10,438,299   -                        -                          -                  10,438,299   
Property tax levied- 

not yet collected 10,774,116   9,466,438            -                          4,400,797     24,641,351   

21,212,415$ 9,466,438$          249,477$              4,400,797$    35,329,127$ 

 

NOTE P – CONDUIT DEBT 
 

On May 13, 2021, the City issued $15,670,000 of 2021 Tax-Exempt Industrial Revenue Refunding 
Bonds on behalf of the United States Ski and Snowboard Association (USSA), a nonprofit 
corporation. The bonds refunded $15,455,766 of the 2015 Industrial Revenue Refunding Bonds issued 
on May 29, 2015, on behalf of USSA. The bonds bear interest at a 2.75 percent rate and mature May 
1, 2036. The bonds were used to partially finance the construction of The USSA Center of Excellence, 
an athletic training and office facility located in Park City. The bonds are secured by a pledge of 
revenues under the Bond Indenture. Neither the City’s General Fund nor the full faith and credit of 
the City are pledged for the payment of principal or interest on the bonds. Since the bonds do not 
constitute a debt of the City, they are not reported in the accompanying financial statements. The 
principal balance of outstanding bonds was $14,976,922 at June 30, 2023. 

 

73

DRAFT

Page 146 of 377



PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, UTAH 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued 

JUNE 30, 2023 
 

 
 

NOTE Q – POLLUTION REMEDIATION 
 
GAAP addresses accounting and financial reporting standards for pollution (including contamination) 
remediation obligations, which are obligations to address the current or potential detrimental effects 
of existing pollution by participating in pollution remediation activities such as site assessments and 
cleanups. GASB 49 identifies the obligating events, which require the City to estimate the components 
of expected pollution remediation outlays and determine whether outlays for those components should 
be accrued as a liability or, if appropriate, capitalized when goods and services are acquired. 

 
The United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) and Utah Department of 
Environmental Quality have been investigating and evaluating mine sites within the Park City area 
since the early 1980’s. In 1988, pursuant to approval of USEPA, Park City Municipal Corporation 
enacted the Landscaping and Maintenance of Soil Cover Ordinance for lots within the City limits. In 
general, the landscaping and soil maintenance cover requirements mandated a 6-inch clean topsoil cap 
in order to contain the underlying mine related material. The general objective of these measures was 
to isolate potentially contaminated material from the surface and minimize direct contact. On April 
30, 2004, the City implemented an Environmental Management System (EMS) to further strengthen 
the Soils Ordinance Program on a long-term basis.  The EMS Soils Ordinance Boundary contains 
pollution remediation obligations of Park City Municipal Corporation pursuant to this local ordinance, 
which is an obligating event pursuant to GASB 49.  Park City has evaluated its property holdings and 
found that there exists remediation obligations. The estimated cost to remediate these properties is 
$2,250,000. In addition, Park City, is responsible for assessing environmental damages through an 
NRDA assessment. The estimated cost for the assessment and potential damages is $1,720,000.  The 
total estimate of $3,470,000 is measured at current value using the expected cash flow technique, 
which measures the liability as the sum of probability-weighted amounts in a range of possible 
estimated amounts. This technique uses all expectations about possible cash flows. The pollution 
remediation obligation is an estimate subject to changes resulting from price increases or reductions, 
technology, or changes in applicable laws and regulations.  
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Schedule of Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah

Utah Retirement Systems

Last 10 Calendar Years 1

As of 
calendar year 

ended 
December 31,

Proportion of the 
net pension 

liability (asset)

Proportionate 
share of the net 

pension 
liability (asset)

Covered 
payroll

Proportionate 
share of the net 
pension liability 

(asset) as a 
percentage of its 
covered  payroll

Noncontributory System 2014 1.1057757 % 4,801,538$      8,969,083$   53.50                   % 90.20 %

2015 1.1629907 6,580,767        8,900,339     73.94                   87.80

2016 1.1028763 7,081,816        8,404,365     84.26                   87.30

2017 1.1793561 5,167,113        8,457,558     61.09                   91.90

2018 1.2132077 8,933,726        8,284,921     107.83                 87.00

2019 1.1954718 4,505,576        7,721,132     58.35                   93.70

2020 1.0590082 543,211           6,406,630     8.48                     99.20

2021 1.0837078 (6,206,510)       6,475,027     (95.85)                  108.70
2022 1.2410208 2,125,557        7,593,684     27.99                   97.50

Contributory System 2014 1.7202131 496,184           921,380        53.90                   94.00

2015 2.1367876 1,501,851        910,458        164.96                 85.70

2016 3.5528544 1,165,731        852,469        136.75                 92.90

2017 4.2822288 348,463           868,933        40.10                   98.20

2018 4.4140715 1,791,243        826,181        216.81                 91.20

2019 4.3953469 288,055           787,616        36.57                   98.60

2020 3.2448058 (581,540)          535,246        (108.65)                (103.90)         

2021 1.5272379 (1,105,633)       224,323        (492.87)                115.90          
2022 1.4079842 144,808           197,103        73.47                   97.70            

Public Safety System 2014 1.0325635 1,298,534        1,628,847     79.70                   90.50

2015 1.1316373 2,027,047        1,850,090     109.56                 87.10

2016 1.3348476 2,708,774        2,154,360     125.73                 86.50

2017 1.4076471 2,208,117        2,326,902     94.90                   90.20

2018 1.3792220 3,548,166        2,335,379     151.93                 84.70

2019 1.3778642 2,212,323        2,376,678     93.08                   90.90

2020 1.3794893 1,145,309        2,435,306     47.03                   95.50

2021 1.3752460 (1,116,896)       2,453,207     (45.53)                  104.20
2022 1.5745754 2,036,044        2,852,056     71.39                   93.60

Tier 2 Public Employees System 2014 0.4811751 (14,582)            2,361,287     (0.60)                    103.50

2015 0.6083725 (1,328)              3,930,779     (0.03)                    100.20

2016 0.5779839 64,474             4,739,934     1.36                     95.10

2017 0.6412973 56,541             6,278,394     0.90                     97.40

2018 0.6795699 291,045           7,931,286     3.67                     90.80

2019 0.6951133 156,336           9,661,859     1.62                     96.50

2020 0.6133599 88,218             9,810,802     0.90                     98.30

2021 0.5734098 (242,688)          10,647,053   (2.28)                    103.80
2022 0.6461891 703,631           14,078,980   5.00                     92.30

Tier 2 Public Safety and Firefighter System 2014 0.5580685 (8,256)              230,513        (3.60)                    120.50

2015 0.4334431 (6,333)              258,047        (2.45)                    110.70

2016 0.4276917 (3,713)              353,369        (1.05)                    103.60

2017 0.2907906 (3,365)              307,120        (1.10)                    103.00

2018 0.1535009 3,846               205,685        1.87 95.60

2019 0.1264583 11,895             208,446        5.71 89.60

2020 0.1177901 10,565             236,532        4.47 93.10

2021 0.0963238 (4,868)              230,346        (2.11)                    102.80
2022 0.1264571 10,550             389,082        2.71 96.40

Plan fiduciary 
net position as a 
percentage of its 
covered  payroll

1 Table represents data available since implementation of GASB Statement 68 and will increase to ten years over time. 
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Schedule of Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Contributions

Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah

Utah Retirement Systems

Last 10 Fiscal Years 1

As of fiscal 
year ended 

June 30,

Actuarial 
determined 

contributions

Contributions in 
relation to the 

contractually required 
contribution

Contribution 
deficiency 

(excess) Covered payroll

Noncontributory System 2014 1,463,515$      1,463,515$                    $ -                        8,593,869$        17.03 %

2015 1,593,052        1,593,052                      -                        8,676,643          18.36

2016 1,583,281        1,583,281                      -                        8,630,571          18.35

2017 1,559,571        1,559,571                      -                        8,480,620          18.39

2018 1,553,648        1,553,648                      -                        8,429,027          18.43

2019 1,486,998        1,486,998                      -                        8,084,781          18.39

2020 1,279,250        1,279,250                      -                        6,988,178          18.31

2021 1,154,993        1,154,993                      -                        6,259,429          18.45

2022 1,257,885        1,257,885                      -                        6,835,882          18.40
2023 1,391,539        1,391,539                      -                        7,851,481          17.72

Contributory System 2014 118,386           118,386                         -                        891,460             13.28

2015 124,015           124,015                         -                        857,642             14.46

2016 126,506           126,506                         -                        874,871             14.46

2017 128,811           128,811                         -                        890,811             14.46

2018 121,856           121,856                         -                        842,711             14.46

2019 118,253           118,253                         -                        817,793             14.46

2020 98,228             98,228                           -                        679,310             14.46

2021 50,519             50,519                           -                        349,369             14.46

2022 30,760             30,760                           -                        212,723             14.46
2023 23,410             23,410                           -                        167,692             13.96

Public Safety System 2014 444,956           444,956                         -                        1,579,083          28.18

2015 487,710           487,710                         -                        1,613,195          30.23

2016 602,057           602,057                         -                        2,018,519          29.83

2017 703,564           703,564                         -                        2,326,004          30.25

2018 696,730           696,730                         -                        2,306,955          30.20

2019 703,630           703,630                         -                        2,321,728          30.31

2020 741,934           741,934                         -                        2,438,344          30.43

2021 738,239           738,239                         -                        2,427,488          30.41

2022 811,796           811,796                         -                        2,590,802          31.33
2023 874,787           874,787                         -                        2,740,314          31.92

Tier 2 Public Employees System3 2014 274,597           274,597                         -                        1,962,810          13.99

2015 447,904           447,904                         -                        2,998,019          14.94

2016 652,227           652,227                         -                        4,374,424          14.91

2017 830,304           830,304                         -                        5,568,772          14.91

2018 1,051,865        1,051,865                      -                        6,961,378          15.11

2019 1,391,549        1,391,549                      -                        8,954,624          15.54

2020 1,568,428        1,568,428                      -                        10,015,507        15.66

2021 1,570,537        1,570,537                      -                        9,940,099          15.80

2022 1,890,094        1,890,094                      -                        11,761,625        16.07
2023 2,464,116        2,464,116                      -                        15,391,105        16.01

Tier 2 Public Safety and Firefighter System3 2014 43,142             43,142                           -                        206,915             20.85

2015 46,309             46,309                           -                        205,361             22.55

2016 75,876             75,876                           -                        337,225             22.50

2017 79,353             79,353                           -                        352,678             22.50

2018 54,182             54,182                           -                        240,064             22.57

2019 47,136             47,136                           -                        204,142             23.09

2020 53,529             53,529                           -                        231,425             23.13

2021 57,846             57,846                           -                        223,947             25.83

2022 65,258             65,258                           -                        252,643             25.83
2023 140,141           140,141                         -                        542,551             25.83

Tier 2 Public Employees DC Only System3 2014 2,308               2,308                             -                        41,356               5.58

2015 14,096             14,096                           -                        209,757             6.72

2016 23,903             23,903                           -                        357,294             6.69

2017 36,006             36,006                           -                        538,211             6.69

2018 63,003             63,003                           -                        941,754             6.69

2019 85,220             85,220                           -                        1,273,841          6.69

2020 108,323           108,323                         -                        1,619,186          6.69

2021 134,577           134,577                         -                        2,011,611          6.69

2022 162,084           162,087                         -                        2,422,779          6.69
2023 191,025           191,025                         -                        3,086,025          6.19

Tier 2 Public Safety and Firefighter DC Only System3 2014 -                      -                                    -                        -                        -                      

2015 3,007               3,007                             -                        25,417               11.83

2016 6,153               6,153                             -                        52,009               11.83

2017 6,895               6,895                             -                        58,283               11.83

2018 7,618               7,618                             -                        64,392               11.83

2019 8,158               8,158                             -                        68,956               11.83

2020 9,069               9,069                             -                        76,665               11.83

2021 7,531               7,531                             -                        63,660               11.83

2022 9,094               9,094                             -                        76,869               11.83
2023 11,013             11,013                           -                        93,091               11.83

2 Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll may be different than the Board certified rate due to rounding or other administrative issues.
3 Contributions in Tier 2 include an amortization rate to help fund the unfunded liabilities in the Tier 1 systems. Tier 2 systems were created effective July 1, 2011.

1 Table represents data available since implementation of GASB Statement 68 and will increase to ten years over time. 

Contributions as 
a percentage of 

covered payroll 2
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Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

For the year ended June 30, 2023 

 

 
 
Note 1.  Changes in Assumptions 
  

No changes were made in actuarial assumptions from the prior year’s valuation. 
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NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL 
FUNDS 

 
Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment Agency and Main Street Redevelopment Agency Special 
Revenue Funds - Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenue sources that are 
restricted, committed or assigned to expenditures for particular purposes. These special revenue 
funds account for the agencies’ redevelopment activities which are supported by property tax 
increment revenue. 
 
Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment Agency Capital Projects Fund - Accounts for the 
acquisition or construction of capital projects in the Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment area. 
 
Main Street Redevelopment Agency Capital Projects Fund - Accounts for capital projects in 
the Main Street Redevelopment area. 
 
Municipal Building Authority Capital Projects Fund - The Municipal Building Authority is a 
legally separate organization that is a mechanism for financing needed City facilities. The Authority 
acquires and/or builds facilities by borrowing money secured by a lease agreement between the 
City and the Authority. 
 
Equipment Replacement Capital Improvements Fund - Accounts for the accumulation of 
resources for the future replacement of capital assets such as computers, vehicles and heavy 
equipment. 
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Lower Park Avenue 
Redevelopment 
Special Revenue 

Fund

Main Street 
Redevelopment 
Special Revenue 

Fund

Lower Park Avenue 
Redevelopment 
Capital Projects 

Fund

Main Street 
Redevelopment 
Capital Projects 

Fund

Municipal Building 
Authority Capital 

Projects Fund

Equipment 
Replacement Capital 
Improvements Fund

Total Nonmajor 
Governmental Funds

Assets
Cash, cash equivalents and investments 2,654,316$              1,138,237$              3,649,297$              2,047,102$              470,859$                 2,427,949$              12,387,760$            
Taxes receivable 4,403,528               1,664                      -                              -                              -                              -                              4,405,192               
Accounts receivable 318                         116                         415                         247                         54                           -                              1,150                      

Total assets 7,058,162$              1,140,017$              3,649,712$              2,047,349$              470,913$                 2,427,949$              16,794,102$            

Liabilities
Accounts payable 694,001$                 230,163$                 97,664$                   -$                             -$                             57,267$                   1,079,095$              
Accrued liabilities 37,210                    38,400                    -                              -                              -                              -                              75,610                    

Total liabilities 731,211                  268,563                  97,664                    -                              -                              57,267                    1,154,705               

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue-property tax 4,400,797               -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              4,400,797               

Total deferred inflows of resources 4,400,797               -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              4,400,797               

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 5,132,008               268,563                  97,664                    -                              -                              57,267                    5,555,502               

FUND BALANCES
Committed

Capital projects funds -                              -                              3,552,048               2,047,349               470,913                  2,370,682               8,440,992               
Economic development 1,926,154               871,454                  -                              -                              -                              -                              2,797,608               

Total fund balances 1,926,154               871,454                  3,552,048               2,047,349               470,913                  2,370,682               11,238,600             

Total liabilities and fund balances 7,058,162$              1,140,017$              3,649,712$              2,047,349$              470,913$                 2,427,949$              16,794,102$            

Special Revenue Capital Projects

Park City Municipal Corporation
Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
June 30, 2023
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Lower Park Avenue 
Redevelopment 
Special Revenue 

Fund

Main Street 
Redevelopment 
Special Revenue 

Fund

Lower Park Avenue 
Redevelopment 
Capital Projects 

Fund

Main Street 
Redevelopment 
Capital Projects 

Fund

Municipal Building 
Authority Capital 

Projects Fund

Equipment 
Replacement Capital 
Improvements Fund

Total Nonmajor 
Governmental Funds

REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments 1,008,349$               1,442$                       - $                             - $                             - $                             - $                            1,009,791$               
Intergovernmental 3,375,777                4,828                        -                                -                                -                                -                                3,380,605                
Investment income 77,614                     38,326                     119,633                   68,766                     16,074                     2                               320,415                   

Total revenues 4,461,740                44,596                     119,633                   68,766                     16,074                     2                               4,710,811                

EXPENDITURES
Economic development 708,315                   236,993                   -                                -                                -                                -                                945,308                   
Capital outlay -                                -                                158,252                   19,940                     -                                1,702,513                1,880,705                

Total expenditures 708,315                   236,993                   158,252                   19,940                     -                                1,702,513                2,826,013                
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 3,753,425                (192,397)                  (38,619)                    48,826                     16,074                     (1,702,511)               1,884,798                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of capital assets -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                67,640                     67,640                     
Transfers in -                                -                                3,092,532                400,000                   -                                1,585,600                5,078,132                
Transfers out (3,092,532)               (400,000)                  (2,791,715)               -                                -                                -                                (6,284,247)               

Total other financing sources (uses) (3,092,532)               (400,000)                  300,817                   400,000                   -                                1,653,240                (1,138,475)               

Net change in fund balances 660,893                   (592,397)                  262,198                   448,826                   16,074                     (49,271)                    746,323                   
Fund balances - beginning 1,265,261                1,463,851                3,289,850                1,598,523                454,839                   2,419,953                10,492,277              
Fund balances - ending 1,926,154$               871,454$                  3,552,048$               2,047,349$               470,913$                  2,370,682$               11,238,600$             

Special Revenue Capital Projects

Park City Municipal Corporation
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments 12,812,034$             12,812,034$             16,258,170$             3,446,136$               
Intergovernmental 867,623                   867,623                   547,289                   (320,334)                 
Investment income 726,501                   726,501                   3,066,693                2,340,192                
Impact fees 419,695                   419,695                   604,147                   184,452                   
Rental and other 2,585                       2,585                       86,233                     83,648                     
Miscellaneous 561,170                   561,170                   1,524,759                963,589                   

Total revenues 15,389,608              15,389,608              22,087,291              6,697,683                

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay:

Land and building acquisition 13,514,497              36,561,746              1,668,831                34,892,915              
Street and storm drain improvements 571,047                   7,503,810                1,283,755                6,220,055                
Building renovation and construction 1,580,613                5,295,198                859,088                   4,436,110                
Improvements other than building 3,619,726                34,652,415              4,395,252                30,257,163              
City parks and cemetery improvements 442,829                   1,434,738                758,198                   676,540                   
Equipment 772,000                   3,060,708                605,395                   2,455,313                

Total expenditures 20,500,712              88,508,615              9,570,519                78,938,096              
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (5,111,104)              (73,119,007)            12,516,772              85,635,779              

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Debt issuance 3,000,000                11,400,000              -                              (11,400,000)            
Sale of capital assets -                              -                              691,293                   691,293                   
Transfers in 2,953,987                2,953,987                2,953,987                -                              
Transfers out -                              (4,177,076)              (4,177,076)              -                              

Total other financing sources (uses) 5,953,987                10,176,911              (531,796)                 (10,708,707)            

Net change in fund balances 842,883                   (62,942,096)            11,984,976              74,927,072              
Fund balances - beginning 84,532,990              84,532,990              84,532,990              -                              
Fund balances - ending 85,375,873$             21,590,894$             96,517,966$             74,927,072$             

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Capital Improvements Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

REVENUES
Investment income -$                             -$                             974,043$                  974,043$                  

Total revenues -                              -                              974,043                   974,043                   

EXPENDITURES
Debt service:

Interest 2,452,216                2,244,291                2,236,476                7,815                       
Principal retirement 4,520,000                4,735,000                4,735,000                -                              

Total expenditures 6,972,216                6,979,291                6,971,476                7,815                       
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (6,972,216)              (6,979,291)              (5,997,433)              981,858                   

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -                              6,968,791                6,968,791                -                              
Transfers out (953,987)                 (953,987)                 (953,987)                 -                              

Total other financing sources (uses) (953,987)                 6,014,804                6,014,804                -                              

Net change in fund balances (7,926,203)              (964,487)                 17,371                     981,858                   
Fund balances - beginning 26,404,278              26,404,278              26,404,278              -                              
Fund balances - ending 18,478,075$             25,439,791$             26,421,649$             981,858$                  

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Sales Tax Revenue and Refunding Bonds Debt Service Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments 9,549,054                9,496,688                9,509,688                13,000$                    
Investment income -                              -                              19,116                     19,116                     

Total revenues -                              9,496,688                9,528,804                32,116                     

EXPENDITURES
Debt service:

Interest 3,209,688                2,906,688                2,897,977                8,711                       
Principal retirement 6,300,000                6,590,000                6,590,000                -                              

Total expenditures 9,509,688                9,496,688                9,487,977                8,711                       
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 39,366                     -                              40,827                     40,827                     

Net change in fund balances 39,366                     -                              40,827                     40,827                     
Fund balances - beginning 1,606,807                1,606,807                1,606,807                -                              
Fund balances - ending 1,646,173$               1,606,807$               1,647,634$               40,827$                    

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Park City General Obligation Bonds Debt Service Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments 1,052,000$               1,052,000$               1,008,349$               (43,651)$                  
Intergovernmental 3,200,000                3,200,000                3,375,777                175,777                   
Investment income -                              -                              77,615                     77,615                     

Total revenues 4,252,000                4,252,000                4,461,741                209,741                   

EXPENDITURES
Economic development 682,623                   682,623                   708,315                   (25,692)                   

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 3,569,377                3,569,377                3,753,426                184,049                   

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out (3,092,532)              (3,092,532)              (3,092,532)              -                              

Net change in fund balances 476,845                   476,845                   660,894                   184,049                   
Fund balances - beginning 1,265,261                1,265,261                1,265,261                -                              
Fund balances - ending 1,742,106$               1,742,106$               1,926,155$               184,049$                  

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment Special Revenue Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

REVENUES
Taxes and special assessments 1,257,053$               2,053$                      1,442$                      (611)$                       
Intergovernmental 19,266                     19,266                     4,828                       (14,438)                   
Investment income -                              -                              38,328                     38,328                     

Total revenues 1,276,319                21,319                     44,598                     23,279                     

EXPENDITURES
Economic development 455,000                   455,000                   236,993                   218,007                   

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 821,319                   (433,681)                 (192,395)                 241,286                   

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out (400,000)                 (400,000)                 (400,000)                 -                              

Net change in fund balances 421,319                   (833,681)                 (592,395)                 241,286                   
Fund balances - beginning 1,463,851                1,463,851                1,463,851                -                              
Fund balances - ending 1,885,170$               630,170$                  871,456$                  241,286$                  

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Main Street Redevelopment Special Revenue Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

REVENUES
Investment income -$                             -$                             119,632$                  119,632$                  

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay:

Land and building acquisition -                              25,886                     375                          25,511                     
Street and storm drain improvements -                              31,275                     31,341                     (66)                          
Building renovation and construction -                              1,232,773                342                          1,232,431                
Improvements other than building 195,000                   688,651                   117,063                   571,588                   
City parks and cemetery improvements 100,000                   836,490                   9,131                       827,359                   

Total expenditures 295,000                   2,815,075                158,252                   2,656,823                
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (295,000)                 (2,815,075)              (38,620)                   2,776,455                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 3,092,532                3,092,532                3,092,532                -                              
Transfers out (2,791,715)              (2,791,715)              (2,791,715)              -                              

Total other financing sources (uses) 300,817                   300,817                   300,817                   -                              

Net change in fund balances 5,817                       (2,514,258)              262,197                   2,776,455                
Fund balances - beginning 3,289,850                3,289,850                3,289,850                -                              
Fund balances - ending 3,295,667$               775,592$                  3,552,047$               2,776,455$               

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Lower Park Avenue Redevelopment Capital Projects Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

REVENUES
Investment income -$                             -$                             68,766$                    68,766$                    

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay:

Street and storm drain improvements -                              112,000                   -                              112,000                   
Improvements other than building -                              301,253                   19,940                     281,313                   
Equipment -                              11,718                     -                              11,718                     

Total expenditures -                              424,971                   19,940                     405,031                   
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures -                              (424,971)                 48,826                     473,797                   

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 700,000                   400,000                   400,000                   -                              

Net change in fund balances 700,000                   (24,971)                   448,826                   473,797                   
Fund balances - beginning 1,598,523                1,598,523                1,598,523                -                              
Fund balances - ending 2,298,523$               1,573,552$               2,047,349$               473,797$                  

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Main Street Redevelopment Capital Projects Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

REVENUES
Investment income -$                             -$                             16,074$                    16,074$                    

Net change in fund balances -                              -                              16,074                     16,074                     
Fund balances - beginning 454,839                   454,839                   454,839                   -                              
Fund balances - ending 454,839$                  454,839$                  470,913$                  16,074$                    

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Municipal Building Authority Capital Projects Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Original Final Actual
Variance with Final 

Budget

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay:

Equipment 1,851,062$               3,917,223$               1,702,513$               2,214,710$               
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures 1,851,062                3,917,223                1,702,513                2,214,710                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of capital assets -                              -                              67,640                     67,640                     
Transfers in 1,585,600                1,585,600                1,585,600                -                              

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,585,600                1,585,600                1,653,240                67,640                     

Net change in fund balances (265,462)                 (2,331,623)              (49,273)                   (2,147,070)              
Fund balances - beginning 2,419,955                2,419,955                2,419,955                -                              
Fund balances - ending 2,154,493$               88,332$                    2,370,682$               (2,147,070)$             

Budgeted Amounts

Park City Municipal Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Equipment Replacement Capital Improvements Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 
 

The Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing and operations of services provided 
to various City departments and other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis. Included are: 
 
Fleet Services Fund: Fleet Services Fund accounts for the cost of storage, repair and maintenance 
of City-owned vehicles. 
 
Self-Insurance Fund: Self-Insurance Fund accounts for the establishment of a self-insurance 
program. 
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Fleet Services Fund Self- Insurance Fund

Total Nonmajor 
Internal service 

funds

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments 1,101,087$               2,397,165$               3,498,252$               
Accounts receivable 58,854                     -                               58,854                     
Inventories 498,708                   -                               498,708                   

Total current assets 1,658,649                2,397,165                4,055,814                
Noncurrent assets:

Vehicles and equipment 47,450                     -                               47,450                     
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (47,450)                    -                               (47,450)                    

Total noncurrent assets -                               -                               -                               
Total assets 1,658,649                2,397,165                4,055,814                

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 165,764                   -                               165,764                   

Total deferred outflows of resources 165,764                   -                               165,764                   
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 1,824,413                2,397,165                4,221,578                

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 89,545                     71,195                     160,740                   
Accrued liabilities 28,852                     -                               28,852                     
Compensated absences 41,496                     -                               41,496                     

Total current liabilities 159,893                   71,195                     231,088                   
Noncurrent liabilities:

Accrued liabilities -                               1,000,000                1,000,000                
Net pension liability 105,922                   -                               105,922                   
Compensated absences 24,902                     -                               24,902                     

Total noncurrent liabilities 130,824                   1,000,000                1,130,824                
Total liabilities 290,717                   1,071,195                1,361,912                

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 3,301                       -                               3,301                       

Total deferred inflows of resources 3,301                       -                               3,301                       
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 294,018                   1,071,195                1,365,213                

NET POSITION
Unrestricted 1,530,395                1,325,970                2,856,365                

Total net position 1,530,395$               1,325,970$               2,856,365$               

Park City Municipal Corporation
Combining Statement of Net Position

Internal Service Funds
June 30, 2023
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Fleet Services Fund Self- Insurance Fund
Total Internal 
Service Funds

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 3,353,998$               2,145,052$               5,499,050$               

Total operating revenues 3,353,998                2,145,052                5,499,050                

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and benefits 1,235,025                -                               1,235,025                
Supplies, maintenance and services 1,049,657                2,116,256                3,165,913                
Energy and utilities 1,110,353                -                               1,110,353                

Total operating expenses 3,395,035                2,116,256                5,511,291                
Operating income (loss) (41,037)                    28,796                     (12,241)                    

Change in net position (41,037)                    28,796                     (12,241)                    
Total net position - beginning 1,571,432$               1,297,174$               2,868,606$               
Total net position - ending 1,530,395$               1,325,970$               2,856,365$               

Park City Municipal Corporation
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Fleet Services Fund Self- Insurance Fund Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers 3,912,803$     2,159,709$     6,072,512$     
Payments to employees (1,229,289)  - (1,229,289)  
Payments to suppliers (2,621,544)  (2,237,089)  (4,858,633) 

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 61,970    (77,380)  (15,410)  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 61,970    (77,380)  (15,410)  
Balances - beginning of year 1,039,117  2,474,545  3,513,662  
Balances - end of the year 1,101,087$     2,397,165$     3,498,252$     

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by 
operating activities:

Operating Income (41,037)$   28,796$     (12,241)$   
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by 
operating activities:

Pension related (15,931)  - (15,931)  
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (3,322)    14,657    11,335    
Inventory 86,867    - 86,867 
Accounts and other payables 13,727    (120,833)   (107,106) 
Accrued liabilities 8,651   - 8,651 
Compensated absences 13,016    - 13,016 

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 61,971$     (77,380)$   (15,409)$   

Park City Municipal Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows
Internal Service Funds

June 30, 2023

95

DRAFT

Page 168 of 377



This part of the City's annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information as a context for understanding
what the information in the financial statements and note disclosures says about the City's overall financial health.

Contents Page

Financial Trends - These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City's
financial performance and well-being have changed over time.

Net Position by Component 97
Changes in Net Position 98
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 100
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 101

Revenue Capacity - These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City's most
significant local revenue source, property tax, in addition to other types of tax revenues.

General Government Tax Revenues by Source 102
Assessed Value of Taxable Property Excluding Fee-In-Lieu 103
Assessed Value of Taxable Property Including Fee-In-Lieu 104
Taxable Retail Sales by Category 105
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates 106
Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates 107
Principal Property Taxpayers 108
City Tax Revenue Collected by County 109
Property Tax Levies and Collections 110

Debt Capacity - These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the 
City's current levels of outstanding debt and the City's ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 111
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 112
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt 113
Legal Debt Margin Information 114
Pledged-Revenue Coverage 115
Water Fund Refunding and Revenue Bonds 116

Demographic and Economic Information - These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators
to help the reader understand the environment within which the City's financial activities take place.

Demographic and Economic Statistics 117
Principal Employers 118

Operating Information - These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the City's financial report relates to the services the City provides and
the activities it performs.

Full-time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function 119
Population Statistics 120
Transient Room Capacity as a Percentage of Population 121
Historical Pledged Taxes 122
Operating Indicators by Function 123
Capital Asset Statistics by Function 124
Five-Year Financial Summaries 125

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive 
annual financial reports for the relevant year.

STATISTICAL SECTION
(Unaudited)
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Schedule 1
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Net Position by Component
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2014 (1) 2015 2016 (1) 2017 (1) 2018 2019 (1) 2020 2021 2022 2023
Governmental activities

Net investment in capital assets $ 150,053,024 $ 159,315,342 $ 169,437,708 $ 182,684,418 $ 190,028,413 $ 198,327,763 $ 213,716,372 $ 228,182,259 $ 237,974,910 $ 247,109,195
Restricted 46,402 (2) 47,201 (2) 48,640 (2) 56,674 (2) 195,157 (2) 58,940 (2) 58,940 (2) 58,940 (2) 58,940 (2) 58,940
Unrestricted 38,295,005 (2) 38,183,384 (2) 42,502,471 (2) 39,242,238 (2) 51,507,390 (2) 59,369,908 (2) 65,383,963 (2) 74,810,843 (2) 96,208,965 (2) 113,966,307

Total governmental activities net position $ 188,394,431 $ 197,545,927 $ 211,988,819 $ 221,983,330 $ 241,730,960 $ 257,756,611 $ 279,159,275 $ 303,052,042 $ 334,242,815 $ 361,134,442

Net investment in capital assets $ 58,889,312 $ 61,064,884 $ 64,172,905 $ 91,043,049 $ 104,256,756 $ 113,503,024 $ 117,863,860 $ 15,263,564 $ 88,280,161 $ 92,621,212
Restricted -                         (2) -                         (2) -                         (2) -                         (2) -                         (2) -                         -                         -                         -                         1,096,717         
Unrestricted 25,691,399 (2) 29,215,116 (2) 27,577,761 (2) 26,506,386 (2) 18,602,068 (2) 14,994,253 12,098,879 123,136,277 62,281,137 69,368,108

$ 84,580,711 $ 90,280,000 $ 91,750,666 $ 117,549,435 $ 122,858,824 $ 128,497,277 $ 129,962,739 $ 138,399,841 $ 150,561,298 $ 163,086,037

Primary government
Net investment in capital assets $ 208,942,336 $ 220,380,226 $ 233,610,613 $ 273,727,467 $ 294,285,169 $ 311,830,787 $ 331,580,232 $ 243,445,823 $ 326,255,071 $ 339,730,407
Restricted 46,402 47,201 48,640 56,674 195,157 58,940 58,940 58,940 58,940 1,155,657
Unrestricted 63,986,404 67,398,500 70,080,232 65,748,624 70,109,458 74,364,161 77,482,842 197,947,120 158,490,102 183,334,415

Total primary government net position $ 272,975,142 $ 287,825,927 $ 303,739,485 $ 339,532,765 $ 364,589,784 $ 386,253,888 $ 409,122,014 $ 441,451,883 $ 484,804,113 $ 524,220,479

Notes: 
(1) Restated.
(2) Reclassified long-term debt related to net assets restricted for debt service and capital projects out of unrestricted net assets.

Business-type activities

Total business-type activities net position

Fiscal Year
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Schedule 2
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2014 (1) 2015 2016 (1) 2017 (1) 2018 2019 (1) 2020 2021 2022 2023
Expenses
Governmental activities:

   General government $ 17,971,342 $ 19,233,343 $ 19,676,565 $ 21,909,746 $ 21,793,758 $ 23,755,044 $ 22,198,830 $ 25,563,919 $ 26,040,817 $ 32,034,906
   Public safety 5,023,548 5,270,197 5,705,960 6,254,164 6,736,639 6,747,797 7,438,463 7,114,475 7,919,533 9,325,631
   Public works 7,053,923 6,967,243 7,088,647 7,263,125 7,209,164 6,929,871 6,794,406 6,615,287 7,208,853 8,838,131
   Library and recreation 4,408,912 4,618,338 5,671,823 5,843,178 5,726,489 5,729,844 5,556,544 5,527,008 6,195,430 8,213,984
   Interest on long-term debt 1,552,101 1,285,952 1,456,433 1,366,939 2,537,159 3,558,591 9,041,292 4,685,097 3,965,283 3,658,625

Total governmental activities expenses 36,009,826 37,375,073 39,599,428 42,637,152 44,003,209 46,721,147 51,029,535 49,505,786 51,329,916 62,071,277
Business-type activities:

   Water 11,678,822 11,870,125 12,934,161 13,086,302 13,314,440 14,305,035 17,145,476 24,406,117 (15)  21,214,590 23,626,444
   Stormwater -                      -                      -                      1,162,202 (7) 921,138 1,470,837 1,276,945 1,054,170 1,198,846 1,048,489
   Golf course 1,441,498 1,512,330 1,541,601 1,546,036 1,711,826 1,488,121 1,578,559 1,641,690 1,645,691 1,764,238
   Transportation and parking 10,378,982 10,804,211 11,801,545 13,848,109 19,435,515 22,521,490 23,485,955 18,208,111 (16)  17,636,896 28,877,355

Total business-type activities expenses 23,499,302 24,186,666 26,277,307 29,642,649 35,382,919 39,785,483 43,486,935 45,310,088 41,696,023 55,316,526
Total primary government expenses $ 59,509,128 $ 61,561,739 $ 65,876,735 $ 72,279,801 $ 79,386,128 $ 86,506,630 $ 94,516,470 $ 94,815,874 $ 93,025,939 $ 117,387,803

Program Revenues
Governmental activities:

Charges for services
   General government $ 3,907,142 $ 4,718,626 $ 3,734,852 $ 3,668,799 $ 4,724,514 $ 5,647,186 $ 7,004,032 $ 4,442,102 $ 5,886,012 $ 7,383,081
   Public safety 100 -                      3,996 9,685 2,880 10 -                      6,062 4,698 5,105
   Public works 190,022 224,820 200,761 174,917 189,117 129,171 113,087 -                      151,778 505,568
   Library and recreation 1,309,934 1,210,362 1,295,132 1,253,491 1,356,186 1,203,836 1,831,546 2,345,843 2,746,782 2,732,259
Operating grants and contributions 165,147 121,866 145,704 187,166 161,075 195,542 344,543 3,315,938 711,048 648,943
Capital grants and contributions 1,879,881 2,479,239 324,650 2,652,254 9,028,885 1,608,966 4,636,167 2,547,350 2,265,605 555,424

Total governmental activities program revenues 7,452,226 8,754,913 5,705,095 7,946,312 15,462,657 8,784,711 13,929,375 12,657,295 11,765,923 11,830,380
Business-type activities:

Charges for services
   Water 13,171,473 14,176,728 15,205,729 17,237,175 17,924,616 18,606,759 18,538,414 21,117,232 20,169,220 20,737,127
   Stormwater -                      -                      -                      979,419 (7) 1,277,767 1,572,044 1,437,517 1,480,432 1,755,631 1,801,575
   Golf course 1,056,248 1,105,882 1,139,839 1,153,794 1,203,560 1,131,283 1,232,521 1,922,248 1,922,752 1,966,555
   Transportation and parking 3,895,008 4,255,752 4,497,989 5,227,316 9,789,087 11,113,961 8,210,423 4,441,511 (16)  7,148,954 5,298,210
Operating grants and contributions 1,649,174 1,602,990 -                      2,813,864 2,307,083 -                      5,586,097 10,654,184 5,661,227 9,620,080
Capital grants and contributions 3,353,572 4,186,198 1,956,426 14,612,633 2,439,682 6,524,981 2,286,289 5,835,341 2,431,291 10,397,791

Total business-type activities program revenues 23,125,475 25,327,550 22,799,983 42,024,201 34,941,795 38,949,028 37,291,261 45,450,948 39,089,075 49,821,338
Total primary government program revenues $ 30,577,701 $ 34,082,463 $ 28,505,078 $ 49,970,513 $ 50,404,452 $ 47,733,739 $ 51,220,636 $ 58,108,243 $ 50,854,998 $ 61,651,718

Net (expense)/revenue
Governmental activities $ (28,557,600) $ (28,620,160) $ (33,894,333) $ (34,690,840) $ (28,540,552) $ (37,936,436) $ (37,100,160) $ (36,848,491) $ (39,563,993) $ (50,240,897)
Business-type activities (373,827) 1,140,884 (3,477,324) 12,381,552 (441,124) (836,455) (6,195,674) 140,860 (2,606,948) (5,495,188)
Total primary government net expense $ (28,931,427) $ (27,479,276) $ (37,371,657) $ (22,309,288) $ (28,981,676) $ (38,772,891) $ (43,295,834) $ (36,707,631) $ (42,170,941) $ (55,736,085)

Fiscal Year
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Schedule 2, Continued
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(accrual basis of accounting)

2014 (1) 2015 2016 (1) 2017 (1) 2018 2019 (1) 2020 2021 2022 2022
General Revenues and Other Changes in Net Position
Governmental activities:

Taxes
   Property tax, levied for general purposes $ 12,772,297 $ 12,809,892 $ 14,755,299 $ 14,350,265 $ 14,686,693 $ 15,499,965 $ 17,445,636 $ 17,977,155 $ 18,496,739 $ 16,783,697
   Property tax, levied for debt service 5,082,714 5,321,592 3,723,453 4,220,158 6,432,184 6,036,374 9,281,384 9,506,281 9,509,688 9,509,688
   General sales and use tax 4,347,534 4,731,904 5,180,094 5,620,687 5,915,331 6,403,710 6,389,540 7,161,106 9,234,210 9,598,138
   Franchise tax 3,158,716 3,061,207 3,185,820 3,194,392 3,147,847 3,230,881 3,161,759 3,253,431 3,526,042 4,368,710
   Resort tax 9,151,788 10,066,040 11,154,870 12,253,267 14,491,767 16,741,000 16,460,084 18,004,460 24,934,554 26,043,857
Investment earnings 348,090 261,735 434,588 582,208 1,122,856 2,297,088 2,041,844 739,741 651,862 5,381,810
Miscellaneous 1,594,150 804,286 492,730 4,856,960 1,776,504 2,963,178 2,938,083 4,170,268 3,622,380 4,638,111
Gain/Loss on sale of capital assets -                      -                      1,328,784       -                      -                      74,891            69,494            (786,184)         64,291            93,513            
Transfers -                      715,000          715,000          (7,534,613)      715,000          715,000          715,000          715,000          715,000          715,000          

Total governmental activities 36,455,289 37,771,656 40,970,638 37,543,324 48,288,182 53,962,087 58,502,824 60,741,258 70,754,766 77,132,524
Business-type activities:

General sales and use tax 4,019,133       4,398,879       4,877,098       5,233,194       5,617,865       6,128,331       7,560,305       8,448,444       14,888,043     15,887,737     
Investments earnings 358,535 367,709 327,289 402,924 372,627 581,900 243,778 358,905 374,145 2,705,144
Miscellaneous 497,745          506,817          458,603          456,419          475,021          468,998          562,355          171,514          120,470          137,151          
Gain/Loss on sale of capital assets -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      10,679            9,698              32,379            100,747          4,895              
Transfers -                      (715,000)         (715,000)         7,534,613       (715,000)         (715,000)         (715,000)         (715,000)         (715,000)         (715,000)         

Total business-type activities 4,875,413 4,558,405 4,947,990 13,627,150 5,750,513 6,474,908 7,661,136 8,296,242 14,768,405 18,019,927
Total primary government $ 41,330,702 $ 42,330,061 $ 45,918,628 $ 51,170,474 $ 54,038,695 $ 60,436,995 $ 66,163,960 $ 69,037,500 $ 85,523,171 $ 95,152,451

Governmental activities $ 7,897,689 $ 9,151,496 $ 7,076,305 (4) $ 2,852,484 (8) $ 19,747,630 (11) $ 16,025,651 $ 21,402,664 (13) $ 23,892,767 $ 31,190,773 (18)  $ 26,891,627
Adjustment to governmental activities net position (5,271,783) (2) -                      7,366,587       (6) 7,142,027       (10) -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Business-type activities 4,501,586 5,699,289 1,470,666 (7) 26,008,702 (9) 5,309,389 (12) 5,638,453 1,465,462 (14) 8,437,102 (17)  12,161,457 12,524,739
Adjustment to business-type activities net position (1,697,021)      (2) -                      -                      (209,933)         (10) -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Total primary government $ 5,430,471 $ 14,850,785 (3) $ 15,913,558 $ 35,793,280 $ 25,057,019 $ 21,664,104 $ 22,868,126 $ 32,329,869 $ 43,352,230 $ 39,416,366

Notes: 
(1) Restated.
(2) Fiscal year 2015 - Implemented GASB 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, required restatement of fiscal year 2014.
(3) Increase in total primary government net position is due to restatement of fiscal year 2014 for the implementation of GASB 68.
(4) Decrease in governmental activities net position is due to increased expenses in general government and decreases in capital grants and contributions.
(5) Decrease in business-type activities net position is due to increased expenses in water and transportation and decreases in operating and capital grants and contributions.
(6) Fiscal year 2017 - Capital asset adjustment, required restatement of fiscal year 2016.
(7) Stormwater fund was added in fiscal year 2017.
(8) Decrease in governmental activities net position is due to increased capital outlay.
(9) Increase in business-type activities net position is due to increases in capitalizable grants and contributions.
(10) Fiscal year 2018 - Capital asset adjustment, required restatement of fiscal year 2017.
(11) Increase in governmental activities net position is due to increases in capitalizable grants and contributions and increases in tax revenues.
(12) Decrease in business-type activities net position is due to decreases in capitalizable grants and contributions. 
(13) Increase in governmental activities net position due to increases in capitalizable grants and contributions. 
(14) Decrease in business-type activities net position is due to decreases in charges for services and increases in expenses.
(15) Increase in Water expenses due to non-capitalizable expenses related to current construction projects.
(16) Decrease in Transportation and parking revenue and expenses due to a reduction in major events due to COVID-19 and a moratorium on parking fees.
(17) Increase in business-type activities net position due to increases in capitalizable grants and contributions. 
(18) Increase in governmental activities net position due to an increase in general sales and use and resort taxes which was in line with the City's rebound in tourism from COVID-19.

Change in Net Position

Fiscal Year
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Schedule 3
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 (1) 2015 2016 (1) 2017 (1) 2018 2019 (1) 2020 (1) 2021 (2) 2022 2023
General fund

Nonspendable
Prepaids $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ -                   $ 494,360       $ 24,011         $ 27,801          $ 281,485        $ 97,144          
Interfund loan -                   -                   -                   -                   86,867         55,761         24,107         -                    -                    -                    
Inventory -                   -                   -                   -                   50,719         30,226         40,468         27,686          31,400          87,092          
Leases -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    212,961        293,566        

Unassigned 6,670,716    6,836,193    6,779,674    7,497,277    7,730,233    8,705,419    7,811,877    13,640,848   14,145,271   15,936,018   
Restricted - Drug and tobacco enforcement 46,402 47,201 48,640 59,674 57,571 58,940 58,940 58,940 58,940 58,940

Total general fund $ 6,717,118 $ 6,883,394 $ 6,828,314 $ 7,556,951 $ 7,925,390 $ 9,344,706 $ 7,959,403 $ 13,755,275 $ 14,730,057 $ 16,472,760

  Restricted for:
    Capital projects $ 6,866,835    $ 12,779,745  $ 7,872,086    $ 7,545,300    $ 12,804,288  $ 31,699,288  $ 33,778,218  $ 32,526,314   $ 32,602,991   $ 33,015,194   
    Debt service 952              88,037         2,496           3,816           11,900         652,977       490,581       702,267        599,256        621,324        
  Assigned:
    Capital projects funds -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                    -                    
    Debt service funds -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    -                    -                    
Committed:
    Capital projects funds 32,340,968  29,882,740  34,849,188  28,665,290  38,875,896  47,456,335  58,162,066  68,180,079   84,757,785   96,919,910   
    Debt service funds 1,557,901    2,236,514    1,816,767    1,778,077    1,856,470    2,129,030    2,429,496    2,222,710     2,347,208     2,471,813     
    Economic development -                   -                   516,758       785,600       1,591,335    2,517,207    2,322,093    2,198,209     2,729,112     2,797,608     

Total all other governmental funds $ 40,766,656 $ 44,987,036 $ 45,057,295 $ 38,778,083 $ 55,139,889 $ 84,454,837 $ 97,182,454 $ 105,829,579 $ 123,036,352 $ 135,825,849

Notes:  
(1) Restated
(2) Utah Code 10-6-116 increased maximum general fund balance allowed.

(modified accrual basis of accounting)

Fiscal Year
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Schedule 4
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Revenues
Taxes and special assessments $ 34,486,284 $ 33,269,379 $ 35,194,462 $ 36,830,205 $ 41,592,343 $ 44,639,055 $ 49,004,820 $ 52,100,408 $ 61,520,667 $ 62,988,245
Licenses and permits 2,611,576 3,025,886 2,462,374 2,464,561 3,390,668 3,899,003 5,776,248 3,350,157 4,670,531 5,719,878
Intergovernmental 1,818,822 5,346,423 3,288,064 4,044,959 6,214,905 4,345,873 8,693,506 8,754,272 7,015,004 4,584,972
Charges for services 2,194,197 2,071,230 2,119,339 2,115,794 2,225,204 2,837,729 2,687,766 3,031,107 3,652,733 3,752,249
Fines and forfeitures 21,648 14,206 26,902 42,834 35,327 23,108 22,313 25,900 28,843 44,171
Investment income 348,090 261,735 434,588 582,208 1,122,856 2,297,089 2,041,844 739,741 651,866 5,381,810
Impact fees 397,737 817,666 425,365 308,786 432,381 620,441 456,053 386,843 285,385 604,147
Rental and other miscellaneous 1,912,540 2,873,179 1,546,004 5,041,320 2,496,363 1,500,515 1,305,612 2,194,018 1,506,745 2,020,280
Total revenues 43,790,894 47,679,704 45,497,098 51,430,667 57,510,047 60,162,813 69,988,162 70,582,446 79,331,774 85,095,752

Expenditures
General government 12,086,576 13,653,938 14,604,316 15,005,872 16,235,727 16,175,897 18,616,889 19,264,758 20,762,811 23,851,112
Public safety 4,684,672 4,953,544 5,349,433 5,970,451 6,392,525 6,360,284 6,998,527 6,698,058 7,527,330 8,811,048
Public works 4,643,828 4,718,959 4,878,647 5,194,880 5,648,653 5,935,423 5,782,998 5,694,072 6,342,372 7,752,671
Library and recreation 3,361,464 3,495,302 3,824,435 4,080,211 4,237,835 4,367,960 4,273,728 4,327,567 5,028,537 5,457,652
Economic development -               405,435       951,268       864,697       870,588       878,578         861,560         916,602         936,374         945,308         
Debt Service
     Principal retirement 5,220,496 18,086,533 5,118,024 4,850,000 8,625,000 6,905,000 9,275,000 10,885,000 10,820,000 11,325,000
     Interest 1,616,778 1,528,829 1,788,808 1,615,725 2,827,016 3,745,578 6,169,326 6,070,488 5,644,104 5,134,453
     Bond issuance costs 123,931       503,979       -                    155,239       223,553       529,457         118,027         -                     -                     -                     
Capital outlay 13,923,767  26,614,261 11,953,996 51,844,299 39,052,752 70,133,504 17,207,904 6,901,426 7,023,060 11,451,224
Total expenditures 45,661,512 73,960,780 48,468,927 89,581,374 84,113,649 115,031,681 69,303,959 60,757,971 64,084,588 74,728,468
 
Revenues (under) expenditures (1,870,618) (26,281,076) (2,971,829) (38,150,707) (26,603,602) (54,868,868) 684,203 9,824,475 15,247,186 10,367,284
 
Other financing sources (uses)
Debt issuance 7,170,000    16,975,000  -                    25,000,000  31,940,000  70,775,000    4,000,000      -                     -                     -                     
Refunding bonds issued 1,930,000    10,110,000  -                    -                    -                    4,290,000      5,470,000      -                     -                     -                     
Payment to refunded bondholders (1,930,000)   -                    -                    -                    -                    (4,675,000)     (7,245,000)     -                     -                     -                     
Premium on debt issuance 92,774          773,546       -                    2,863,698    3,287,871    9,840,127      1,206,669      -                     -                     -                     
Premium on refunding bonds 50,769          673,841       -                    -                    -                    482,659         91,796           -                     -                     -                     
Payment received on note 1,375,000    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Sale of capital assets 146,554 23,811 755,648 2,363,887 5,553,794 241,682 4,434,799 1,918,675 9,078 758,933
Transfers in 10,978,139 19,728,745 11,965,394 36,237,414 44,274,635 75,835,185 20,581,027 15,916,383 18,740,940 18,431,893
Transfers out (9,682,298) (17,617,211) (9,734,034) (33,864,867) (41,722,453) (73,186,521) (17,881,180) (13,216,536) (15,815,649) (15,025,910)
Total other financing sources 10,130,938 30,667,732 2,987,008 32,600,132 43,333,847 83,603,132 10,658,111 4,618,522 2,934,369 4,164,916
 
Net change in fund balances $ 8,260,320 $ 4,386,656 $ 15,179 $ (5,550,575) $ 16,730,245 $ 28,734,264 $ 11,342,314 $ 14,442,997 $ 18,181,555 $ 14,532,200
 
Debt Service as a
    percentage of noncapital expenditures (1) 19.0% (1) 38.3% (1) 16.9% (1) 15.9% (1) 24.4% (1) 22.5% 27.9% 29.5% 27.8% 24.1%

Notes:  
(1) Restated.

Fiscal Year
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Schedule 5
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
General Government Tax Revenues by Source (1)
Last Ten Fiscal Years
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

  
Fiscal Property Sales and Franchise Resort Transient Room  
Year Tax Use Tax Tax Tax (2) Tax (3) Total

2014 $ 14,361,738 $ 4,347,534 $ 3,158,716 $ 9,151,787 $ -              $ 31,019,775
2015 14,590,197 4,731,904 3,061,207 10,066,041 -              32,449,349
2016 14,832,024 5,180,094 3,185,820 11,154,870 -              34,352,808
2017 14,953,711 5,620,687 3,194,392 12,253,266 -              36,022,056
2018 17,107,856 5,915,331 3,147,847 12,899,048 1,592,720 40,662,802
2019 17,336,112 6,403,710 3,230,881 14,007,916 2,733,084 43,711,703
2020 21,869,486 6,389,540 3,161,759 13,767,415 2,692,669 47,880,869
2021 22,515,259 7,161,106 3,253,431 15,262,710 2,741,751 50,934,257
2022 22,619,601 9,234,210 3,526,042 20,444,391 4,490,163 60,314,407
2023 21,902,989 9,598,138 4,368,710 21,530,232 4,513,625 61,913,694

Change:
2014-2023 52.5% 120.8% 38.3% 135.3% 65.1% 99.6%

Note: 
(1)  Includes general fund, capital improvement fund and debt service funds.
(2)  Restated in 2022 to include the 0.50 percent Additional Resort Communities Sales and Use Tax.
(3)  The 1.0 percent Municipal Transient Room Tax was implemented on January 1, 2018.
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Schedule 6
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Assessed Value of Taxable Property Excluding Fee-In-Lieu
Summit and Wasatch Counties Combined (1)
Last Ten Calendar Years
(in thousands of dollars)

Total Total
Calendar Residential Commercial Miscellaneous Assessed Market Value of Direct

Year Property Property Property Value Taxable Property Tax Rate

2013 5,937,313 678,855 401,319 7,017,487 7,835,845 0.002131
2014 6,274,164 679,149 389,160 7,342,473 8,215,313 0.002067
2015 6,740,782 689,374 390,248 7,820,404 8,748,413 0.001972
2016 7,112,582 739,074 376,177 8,227,833 9,195,067 0.001884
2017 7,491,154 780,964 375,229 8,647,347 9,658,862 0.002059
2018 8,380,192 857,857 89,161 9,327,210 10,436,645 0.001934
2019 9,197,865 814,250 91,437 10,103,552 11,331,385 0.002125
2020 9,584,752 857,017 98,257 10,540,026 11,942,032 0.002076
2021 10,603,628 987,945 109,659 11,701,232 13,291,359 0.001898
2022 14,124,930 1,344,268 112,723 15,581,921 17,825,627 0.001392

Source:  Utah State Tax Commission, Property Tax Division

Note:
(1) Starting in 2013 the City uses the Utah State Tax Commission as the source to obtain more accurate information,
data was updated for all years shown for comparison.
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Schedule 7
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Assessed Value of Taxable Property Including Fee-In-Lieu
Summit and Wasatch Counties Combined (1)
Last Ten Calendar Years
(in thousands of dollars)

Total
Calendar Residential Commercial Miscellaneous Fee-In-Lieu Assessed

Year Property Property Property Value Value

2013 5,937,313 678,855 401,319 13,820 7,031,307
2014 6,274,164 679,149 389,160 14,560    7,357,033
2015 6,740,782 689,374 390,248 14,252    7,834,656
2016 7,112,582 739,074 376,177 14,809    8,242,642
2017 7,491,154 780,964 375,229 14,814    8,662,161
2018 8,380,192 857,857 89,161 17,484    9,344,694
2019 9,197,865 814,250 91,437 15,657    10,119,209
2020 9,584,752 857,017 98,257 16,308    10,556,334
2021 10,603,628 987,945 109,659 18,505    11,719,737
2022 14,124,930 1,344,268 112,723 15,908    15,597,829

Source:  Utah State Tax Commission, Property Tax Division

Notes:
(1) Starting in 2013 the City uses the Utah State Tax Commission as the source to obtain more accurate
information, data was updated for all years shown for comparison.
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Schedule 8
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Taxable Retail Sales by Category
Last Ten Calendar Years
(in thousands of dollars)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Apparel stores $ 22,927 $ 25,777 $ 35,245 $ 34,510 $ 65,299 $ 67,912 $ 72,213 $ 60,445 $ 63,815
Food stores 56,238 57,809 60,862 64,630 67,490 65,618 70,454 79,901 83,232
Sporting goods, hobby, book and music 40,609 40,524 43,363 45,380 47,282 48,461 51,007 44,294 58,639
Home furnishings and appliances 12,394 12,730 12,735 14,806 12,250 17,707 14,500 11,750 15,250
Building materials and farm tools 3,654 3,652 5,695 6,199 4,750 5,000 6,000 5,000 5,750
Miscellaneous retail stores 25,884 29,162 30,691 31,403 13,044 16,331 29,821 28,848 33,738
All other outlets 4,452 4,329 4,283 5,240 1,989 3,314 3,875 4,250 5,750

Total $ 166,158 $ 173,983 $ 192,874 $ 202,168 $ 212,104 $ 224,343 $ 247,870 $ 234,488 $ 266,174

City direct sales tax rate % 2.90 % 2.90 % 2.90 % 2.90 % 3.15 % 3.15 % 3.15 % 3.15 % 3.15 %

Source:  Utah State Tax Commission website: Taxable Sales by Major City

Calendar Year
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Schedule 9
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates
Last Ten Calendar Years

General Total
Obligation  Summit State Weber Park Park Summit Co. Levy for

Calendar Basic Debt Total County Assessment/ Basin City City Mosquito Park City
Year Rate Service Direct Levy Collecting Water Fire School Abatement Residents

Tax Rate (per $1 of taxable value)

2013 0.001385 0.000746 0.002131 0.000909 0.000226 0.000210 0.000950 0.004630 0.000040 0.009096
2014 0.001248 0.000819 0.002067 0.000826 0.000222 0.000199 0.000907 0.004770 0.000038 0.009029
2015 0.001362 0.000610 0.001972 0.000767 0.000205 0.000199 0.000841 0.004461 0.000035 0.008480
2016 0.001304 0.000580 0.001884 0.000726 0.000191 0.000187 0.000793 0.004220 0.000033 0.008034
2017 0.001237 0.000822 0.002059 0.000680 0.000183 0.000174 0.000742 0.003951 0.000031 0.007820
2018 0.001202 0.000732 0.001934 0.000831 0.000169 0.000164 0.000726 0.004408 0.000030 0.008262
2019 0.001107 0.001018 0.002125 0.000756 0.000155 0.000153 0.000667 0.004411 0.000027 0.008294
2020 0.001079 0.000997 0.002076 0.000730 0.000150 0.000146 0.000641 0.004308 0.000026 0.008077
2021 0.001000 0.000898 0.001898 0.000619 0.000104 0.000167 0.000443 0.003829 0.000018 0.007078
2022 0.000737 0.000655 0.001392 0.000482 0.000082 0.000200 0.000343 0.003484 0.000014 0.005997

Source: Summit County property tax notices.

Note: The City's basic property tax rate may be increased only by a majority vote of the City's residents.  Rates for debt service are set based on each year's
requirements.

City Direct Rates Overlapping Rates
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Schedule 10
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates
Last Ten Calendar Years

City 
Calendar Direct Summit State

Year Rate County of Utah Total

2014 2.90 0.35 4.70 7.95
2015 2.90 0.35 4.70 7.95
2016 2.90 0.35 4.70 7.95
2017 3.15 (2) 0.60 (3) 4.70 8.45
2018 3.15 0.85 (4) 4.70 8.70
2019 3.15 1.05 (5) 4.85 9.05
2020 3.15 1.05 4.85 9.05
2021 3.15 1.05 4.85 9.05
2022 3.15 1.05 4.85 9.05
2023 3.15 1.05 4.85 9.05

Source:  Utah State Tax Commission

Notes:
(1) Includes 0.50 percent Additional Resort Communities Sales and Use Tax implemented in calendar
year 2013.
(2) Includes 0.25 percent Additional Mass Transit Tax implemented in calendar year 2017.
(3) Includes 0.25 percent County Option Transportation Tax implemented in calendar year 2017.
(4) Includes 0.25 percent County Transportation Infrastructure Tax implemented in calendar year 2018.
(5) Includes 0.20 percent County Option for Public Transit Tax implemented in calendar year 2019.
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Schedule 11
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Principal Property Taxpayers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Percentage Percentage
of Total City  of Total City

Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed

Taxpayer Value Rank Value Value Rank Value

Talisker Empire Pass Hotel LLC (Montage) $ 222,425,997             1 1.86 % $ 309,419,000             1      3.95                %
Marriott Ownership Resorts 118,824,300             2 0.99 114,504,078             2 1.46                
Deer Valley Development Company 54,331,384               3 0.45
DVP LLC 46,245,344               4 0.38 -                                -       -                      
5000 Royal Street Estates LLC 27,900,000               5 0.23 -                                -       -                      
VR CPC Holdings Inc 25,083,307               6 0.21
HA Daisy Yoonhee Trustee 24,656,055               7 0.20
1895 Sidewinder Park City Owner LLC 24,488,285               8 0.20 -                                -       -                      
Silver Lake Development Corp. 23,174,181               9        0.19 19,540,360               6      0.25                
Chateaux at Silver Lake 21,485,887               10      0.17 21,521,376               -   5      0.27                
United Park City Mines -                                -        -                    28,098,000               4      0.36
Residences at the Chateaux -                                -        -                    16,000,000               7      0.20
Powder Development Company -                                -        -                    15,050,268               8      0.19
REOF XI LLC -                                -        -                    14,700,000               9      0.19
Wintzer Wolfe Properties -                                -        0.00 14,120,394               10    0.18
   Totals $ 588,614,740             4.88 % $ 552,953,476 7.05 %

Source:  Summit County Treasurer and Park City Finance Department.

Note:

2023 2014
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Schedule 12
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
City Tax Revenue Collected by County
Last Ten Calendar Years

Tax Year Percent Collections
End Original Adjusted of Adjusted in Subsequent Percent
12/31 Levy (1) Levy Amount (2) Levy Years Amount (2) of Net Levy

Summit County
2013 14,236,860  14,370,289  13,637,854  94.90 720,856    14,358,710  99.92
2014 14,451,389  14,602,592  13,714,698  93.92 879,744    14,594,442  99.94
2015 14,747,175  14,862,169  14,731,910  99.12 111,730    14,843,640  99.88
2016 14,856,934  14,971,746  14,908,200  99.58 49,384      14,957,584  99.91
2017 17,140,149  17,267,351  17,264,089  99.98 -                17,264,089  99.98
2018 17,403,473  17,509,024  17,498,803  99.94 (8,314)       17,490,489  99.89
2019 20,759,599  20,866,783  20,852,489  99.93 (10,842)     20,841,647  99.88
2020 21,213,526  21,315,802  21,287,166  99.87 -                21,287,166  99.87
2021 21,555,702  21,621,983  21,534,569  99.60 -                21,534,569  94.55
2022 21,204,980  21,080,873  20,099,040  95.34 -                20,099,040  95.34

Wasatch County
2013 608,641      605,996      605,996      100.00 -                (4) 605,996      100.00
2014 611,098      611,098      611,098      100.00 -                (4) 611,098      100.00
2015 588,597      580,842      580,842      100.00 -                (4) 580,842      100.00
2016 582,082      581,989      570,597      98.04 -                (4) 570,597      98.04
2017 639,263      640,331      633,356      98.91 -                (4) 633,356      98.91
2018 626,749      624,919      608,868      97.43 -                (4) 608,868      97.43
2019 729,099      739,991      737,765      99.70 -                (4) 737,765      99.70
2020 711,496      711,748      697,471      97.99 -                (4) 697,471      97.99
2021 343,124      343,124      334,750      97.56 -                (4) 334,750      97.56
2022 299,652      299,652      286,261      95.53 -                (4) 286,261      95.53

Source:  Summit and Wasatch County Annual Financial Reports.

Notes:  
(1)  Excludes redevelopment agencies valuation.
(2)  Total collection amounts do not include any fee-in-lieu payments.
(3)  Increase was due to miscoding, by Summit County, of a large portion of Flagstaff Annexation, which was corrected in calendar 
       year 2013, and property taxes paid.
(4)  Prior year collection data not available for Wasatch County.

Collected Within the
Year of the Levy Total Collections to Date
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Schedule 13
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Property Tax Levies and Collections (1)
Last Ten Calendar Years

Calendar 
Year Taxes Levied Collections

Ended for the  Percentage in Subsequent  Percentage
December  31, Calendar Year Amount of Levy Years Amount of Levy

2013 14,976,285 14,243,850 95.11 720,856 14,964,706 99.92
2014 15,213,690 14,325,796 94.16 879,744          15,205,540 99.95
2015 15,443,011 15,312,752 99.16 111,730          15,424,482 99.88
2016 15,553,735 15,478,797 99.52 49,384            15,528,181 99.84
2017 17,907,682 17,897,445 99.94 -                      17,897,445 99.94
2018 18,133,943 18,107,671 99.86 (8,314)             18,099,357 99.81
2019 21,606,774 21,590,254 99.92 (10,842)           21,579,412 99.87
2020 22,027,550 21,984,637 99.81 -                      21,984,637 99.81
2021 21,965,107 21,869,319 99.56 -                      21,869,319 99.56
2021 21,380,525 20,385,301 95.35 -                      20,385,301 95.35

Source:  Summit and Wasatch County Annual Financial Reports, and Park City Finance Department.

Notes:
(1)  Includes general fund and debt service funds.
(2)  Increase was due to miscoding, by Summit County, of a large portion of Flagstaff Annexation, which was corrected in 
       calendar year 2013, and property taxes paid.

Calendar Year of the Levy
Collected within the

Total Collections to Date
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Schedule 14
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type
Last Ten Fiscal Years

General Sales Tax  Total Percentage
Fiscal Obligation Increment Contracts Water Contracts Primary of Personal Per
Year Bonds (1) Bonds (1) Payable Bonds (1) Payable Government Income (2) Capita (2)

 
2014 $ 33,018,370 (3) $ 7,785,764 $ 2,679,557 $ 48,237,837 (4) $ -                   $ 91,721,528 3.20 % $ 11,650
2015 29,298,159 (5) 24,334,866 (6) 93,024 45,184,477 -                   98,910,526 3.21 12,275
2016 26,009,111 22,393,581 -                  42,041,117 -                   90,443,809 4.19 11,127
2017 50,485,922 (7) 20,715,393 -                  38,797,758 -                   109,999,073 3.74 13,254
2018 45,273,366 52,003,833 (8) -                  35,419,397 -                   132,696,597 3.30 15,839
2019 91,632,655 (9) 78,605,090 (10) -                  31,906,489 -                   202,144,235 2.73 24,414
2020 89,738,177 (11) 73,389,583 -                  100,237,316 (12) 3,180,985     ### 266,546,063 2.39 31,403
2021 82,962,508 67,946,810 -                  97,009,196 3,039,674 250,958,188 2.65 29,469
2022 75,916,839 62,913,028 -                  158,336,346 (14) 2,895,756 300,061,969 2.22 34,553
2023 68,581,170 57,664,246 -                  152,717,462 2,749,183 281,712,061 2.81 32,170

Notes:  Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.
(1) Presented net of original issuance discounts and premiums.
(2) See Schedule 20 for personal income and population data. 
(3) The City issued GO Bonds Series 2013 for $9.1 million in fiscal year 2014.
(4) The City issued Water Revenue Bonds Series 2014 for $4.1 million in fiscal year 2014.
(5) The City issued GO Bonds Series 2014 for $3.4 million in fiscal year 2015.
(6) The City issued Sales Tax Bonds Series 2014A for $6.7 million, Series 2014B for $5.4 million, and Series 2015 for $11.6 million in fiscal year 2015.
(7) The City issued GO Bonds Series 2017 for $27.8 million in fiscal year 2017.
(8) The City issued Sales Tax Bonds Series 2017 for $31.9 million, in fiscal year 2018.
(9) The City issued GO Bonds Series 2019 for $48.3 million in fiscal year 2019.
(10) The City issued Sales Tax Bonds Series 2019 for $26.8 million, in fiscal year 2019.
(11) The City issued GO Bonds Series 2020 for $9.5 million in fiscal year 2020.
(12) The City issued Water Revenue Bonds Series 2020 for $75.5 million in fiscal year 2020.
(13) The City entered into an agreement with Weber Basin Water Conservancy District for $3.2 million in fiscal year 2020.
(14) The City issued Water Revenue Bonds Series 2021 for $66.1 million in fiscal year 2022.

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
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Schedule 15
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Percentage
General of Actual

Fiscal Obligation Property Per
Year Bonds (1) Value (2) Capita (3)

2014 $ 33,018,370 0.42 % $ 4,194
2015 29,298,159 0.36 3,636
2016 26,009,111 0.30 3,200
2017 50,485,922 0.55 6,083
2018 45,273,366 0.47 5,404
2019 91,632,655 0.88 11,067
2020 89,738,177 0.79 10,572
2021 82,962,508 0.69 9,742
2022 75,916,839 0.57 8,742
2022 68,581,170 0.38 7,832

Notes: Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statement
(1)   Presented net of original issuance discounts and premiums.
(2)   See Schedule 6 for property value data.
(3)   See Schedule 20 for population and personal income data.
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Schedule 16
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt (2)
As of June 30, 2023

Estimated Estimated
Percentage Amount

Net Debt Applicable to Applicable to
Governmental Unit Outstanding Park City (1) Park City

Debt repaid with property taxes

Snyderville Basin Recreation District Tax District $ 20,350,000 17.20 % $ 3,500,200
Wasatch County 4,245,000 1.96 83,202

 Wasatch County School District 70,872,451 1.96 1,389,100
Weber Basin Water Conservancy District 8,560,000 14.63 1,252,328

Other debt

Summit County 44,687,000 56.13 25,082,813
Wasatch County 4,260,000 1.96 83,496

Subtotal, overlapping debt 31,391,139

City direct debt 138,829,867

Total direct and overlapping $ 170,221,006

outstanding data provided by each governmental unit. 

Notes:
(1) The percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using taxable assessed property values.  Applicable 
percentages were estimated by determining the portion of another government unit's taxable assessed value that is within
the City's boundaries and dividing it by each unit's total taxable assessed value.
(2) Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the City.  This 
schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents and
businesses of Park City.  This process recognizes that, when considering the City's ability to issue and repay long- term
debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not
imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and therefore responsible for repaying the debt, of each overlapping government.

Sources: Assessed value data used to estimate applicable percentages provided by the Utah State Tax Commission. Debt outstanding 
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Schedule 17
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Legal Debt Margin Information
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2022

Debt limit $ 280,699,514 $ 293,698,934 $ 312,816,159 $ 329,113,324 $ 345,893,884 $ 373,088,393 $ 404,142,080 $ 421,601,040 $ 468,049,280 $ 623,276,859

Total net debt applicable to limit 33,018,370 29,298,159 26,009,111 50,485,922 45,273,366 91,632,655 89,738,177 82,962,508 75,916,839 68,581,170

Legal debt margin $ 247,681,144 $ 264,400,775 $ 286,807,048 $ 278,627,402 $ 300,620,518 $ 281,455,738 $ 314,403,903 $ 338,638,532 $ 392,132,441 $ 554,695,689

Total net debt applicable to the limit
   as a percentage of debt limit 11.76% 9.98% 8.31% 15.34% 13.09% 24.56% 22.20% 19.68% 16.22% 11.00%

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2023

Total assessed value $ 15,581,921,470

Debt limit - 4.0% of total assessed value $ 623,276,859
Amount of debt applicable to debt limits:
   General Obligation Bonds 2013A, 2017, 2019 and 2020 68,581,170
   Less: Amount available for repayment of general obligation bonds -                        
   Total net debt applicable to limit 68,581,170
Legal debt margin $ 554,695,689

Notes:  Under Utah State Law, Park City 's outstanding general obligation debt should not exceed 4.0 percent of total assessed property value. The general obligation debt subject to the limitation may be
offset by resources set aside for the repayment of the principal that are externally restricted.

Fiscal Year
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Schedule 18

Pledged-Revenue Coverage
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Sales
Tax

Fiscal Year Increment Principal Interest Coverage

2014 $ 13,499,321   $ 1,200,000   $ 359,863      8.7
2015 14,797,945   8,350,000   383,012      1.7
2016 16,334,964   1,810,000   782,290      6.3
2017 17,873,953   1,550,000   705,380      7.9
2018 18,814,379   3,680,000   1,351,082   3.7
2019 20,411,626   3,240,000   2,110,324   3.8
2020 20,156,955   4,625,000   2,792,440   2.7
2021 22,423,816   4,855,000   2,576,365   3.0
2022 29,678,601   4,520,000   2,432,215   4.3
2023 31,128,370   4,735,000   2,223,790   4.5

Notes: Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to
the financial statements. See Schedule 19 for information on water revenue bond
coverage.

Debt Service

Sales Tax Increment Bonds

Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
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Schedule 19
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Water Fund Refunding and Revenue Bonds
Schedule of Net Revenues to Aggregate Debt Service
As of June 30, 2023

Actual Minimum

Net revenues (change in net position) (1,364,750)$   
Add
  Excluded transfer to general fund 1,832,713
  Noncapital improvements 2,448,095
  Depreciation and amortization 4,281,215       
  Bond interest expense 4,598,188 (1)
      Revenues pledged to debt 11,795,461 1.26 1.20

Principal Interest Total
2009A Water Bonds-DEQ 125,000$         -$                 125,000$         
2013A Water Revenue 245,000           17,850 262,850           
2014 Water Revenue Bonds -                       133,738 133,738           
2020 Water Revenue Bonds 2,250,000        2,316,094 4,566,094        
2021 Water Revenue Bonds 2,175,000        2,130,506 4,305,506        

4,795,000$      4,598,188$   9,393,188$      

  Less water development fees and capital contributions collected in fiscal year 2023 (885,049)        

  Net revenues less development fees and capital contributions 10,910,412$   1.16 1.00

Gross Gross
Revenues Revenue

Net (Less Development Total Available
Revenue Fees) Available Debt for Debt

Year (Loss) for Debt Service Service (1) Coverage Service Debt Coverage

2014 3,644,383 6,603,287 4,124,483 1.60 8,314,345 4,124,483 2.02
2015 5,862,508 7,781,536 4,254,867 1.83 11,530,762 4,254,867 2.71
2016 3,074,564 7,474,148 4,247,871 1.76 8,657,335 4,247,871 2.04
2017 4,972,598 9,821,604 4,245,164 2.31 10,912,626 4,245,164 2.57
2018 5,484,037 10,299,731 4,245,644 2.43 11,555,071 4,245,644 2.72
2019 6,190,191 10,256,385 4,399,869 2.33 12,345,168 4,399,869 2.81
2020 2,599,792 6,990,691 4,453,990 1.57 8,767,845 4,453,990 1.97
2021 45,434 3,414,339 2,910,430 1.17 7,128,699 2,910,430 2.45
2022 (309,495) 7,552,733 5,805,691 1.30 8,813,246 5,805,691 1.52
2023 (1,364,750) 10,910,412 9,393,188 1.16 11,795,461 9,393,188 1.26

Notes: Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.
(1) Amount is less current year bond premium amortization

 Coverage Ratio
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Schedule 20
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Personal Per
Income Capita

Fiscal (thousands Personal Median School Unemployment
Year Population of dollars) (1) Income (1) Age Enrollment Rate (1)

2014 7,873 2,944,020 77,468 34.9 4,630        3.1
2015 8,058 3,177,339 82,558 38.8 4,739        3.2
2016 8,128 3,784,040 96,766 38.5 4,763        3.4
2017 8,299 4,110,805 102,053 40.4 4,891        3.1
2018 8,378 4,380,364 108,675 40.6 4,780        2.9
2019 8,280 5,518,624 131,606 40.3 4,816        2.7
2020 8,488 6,377,651 152,310 39.3 4,757        9.8
2021 8,516 6,652,663 156,537 40.0 4,696        2.4
2022 8,684 6,652,663 156,537 41.2 4,592        1.7
2023 8,757 7,927,922 (3) 183,972 (3) 41.1 4,350        2.4

Sources:

     Park City School District
     Park City Chamber & Visitors Bureau
     Summit County Annual Financial Reports

Notes:
(1)   Applies to Summit County.
(3)   Most recent data for Personal Income and Per Capita Personal Income is 2022.

     Utah Department of Workforce Services
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Schedule 21
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Principal Employers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

Percentage Percentage
Yearly Maximum Yearly Minimum of Total City Yearly Maximum Yearly Minimum of Total City

Employer Employees Employees Rank Employment (2) Employees Employees Rank Employment (2)

Park City Municipal Corporation 1620 1,041 1 6.18                     % 507 342 5 4.21                     %
Royal Street of Utah ET AL (Deer Valley Resort) 999 500 2 3.81                     2800 750 1 23.26                   
Park City School District 663 698 3 2.53                     692 647 3 5.75                     
Montage Hotels & Resorts, LLC 499 250 4 1.90                     499 250 7 4.14                     
IHC/Park City Surgical Center 499 250 5 1.90                     499 250 6 4.14                     
Park City Mountain Resort 499 250 6 1.90                     1250 200 2 10.38                   
Promontory Development 499 250 7 1.90                     - - -                      
Stein Eriksen Lodge 499 250 8 1.90                     530 514 4 4.40                     
Glenwilde Golf Course 249 100 9 0.95                     - - -
Hotel Park City 249 100 10 0.95                     249 100 8 2.07                     
United States Ski & Snowboard Association - - - -                      103 103 12 0.86                     
Resort Express - - - -                      249 100 9 2.07                     
Talisker Club, LLC - - - -                      249 100 11 2.07                     
Dakota Mountain Lodge - - - -                      249 (3) 100 10 2.07                     

Total 6,275 3,589  23.95                   % 7,876 (3) 3,456 (3) 65.42                   %

Notes: 
(1)  Numbers are from respective employers and Utah Department of Workforce Services.
(2)  Percentage is based on the maximum number of employees in the range divided by the total labor force of Summit County.

2023 2014    (1)
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Schedule 22
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Full-time Equivalent City Government Employees by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2016

Function

General government
Executive 5.1 4.0 4.0 4.1 4.6 6.0 (5) 6.0 6.0 7.5
Finance 6.7 6.7 6.7 6.7 6.6 6.2 6.7 6.3 7.0
Human resources 5.1 5.1 5.1 5.1 5.1 6.3 6.3 4.7 4.7
Budget, debt and grants 3.0 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.5 3.1 3.1 4.0
Planning 8.0 9.0 9.2 9.7 10.0 10.2 10.2 9.0 10.0
Building 13.0 15.0 16.0 17.3 17.6 19.2 20.2 19.0 19.0
Engineering 2.8 2.8 4.0 4.3 4.8 5.5 5.5 4.3 4.8
Legal 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.1 7.1 7.9 8.9
Sustainability 10.9 11.3 11.3 12.3 13.8 12.8 13.8 13.8 16.8 (8)
I.T. 9.5 9.5 9.5 9.5 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.4 9.4
Other 5.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 7.5 9.9 (6) 13.4 (7) 11.8

Public safety
Police 34.6 34.0 34.0 36.5 41.1 41.3 43.6 43.6 46.5
Communication center 10.4 10.4 10.4 10.4 2.5 -     -     -     -     
Other 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5

Public works
Transit 80.8 77.2 75.6 75.7 107.8 (4) 123.8 (4) 124.6 118.6 86.3 (9)
Fleet services 8.0 9.4 9.8 9.8 9.9 10.1 9.9 10.0 10.0
Parking 7.8 (1) 8.0 8.2 8.2 10.5 12.5 10.7 10.2 11.7
Street maintenance 17.4 17.3 17.0 14.8 15.3 15.3 17.2 16.8 17.8
Parks and cemetery 18.2 18.6 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.0 19.3 18.7 18.7
Other 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 8.5 8.5 8.5

Library and recreation
Library 11.4 11.4 11.9 12.3 13.0 13.5 13.5 13.5 13.5
Golf 5.2 6.0 6.0 7.8 7.8 8.1 8.1 8.1 8.1
Recreation 29.7 28.2 28.2 29.3 27.8 27.0 27.0 25.0 25.3
Tennis 4.0 4.7 4.7 4.7 5.2 2.9 2.9 2.4 3.6
Ice 8.4 11.4 11.3 12.3 11.3 11.3 11.6 10.9 10.9

Water
Water billing 1.0 -     (2) -     -     -     -     -     -     -     
Water operations 21.9 23.0 24.4 26.5 27.5 29.5 29.2 29.2 32.2

Stormwater
Stormwater operations - - - 6.1 (3) 6.6 6.6 5.9 5.9 5.9

Total 353.1 403.1 430.8 418.8 404.4

Source: Park City Budget Department.

Notes: A full-time employee is scheduled to work 2,080 hours per year (including vacation). Full-time equivalent employment is
calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2,080.

(1)  In 2014 the Parking Department was added, until that time it had been outsourced.
(2)  In 2015 Water Billing was combined with Water Operations.
(3)  In 2017 the Stormwater Operations Department was created.
(4) Significant increase in transit operators and total route miles. 
(5) McPolin Barn FTE transferred from Recreation to Executive.
(6) In 2020 the Social Equity position was created.
(7) In 2021 the Affordable Housing positions were created.
(8) In 2022 the several Trails positions were created.
(9) Significant decrease in transit operators and total route miles due to separation with Summit County

Full-time Equivalent Employees

2022

345.4 349.8 369.2 424.2

2018 2019 20202014
Fiscal Year

20212015 2017
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Schedule 23
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Population Statistics

Percent Percent
Census: Calendar Park City Change from Summit County Change from

Year Population Prior Period Population Prior Period

1970 1,193 (12.66) 5,879 3.63
1980 2,823 136.63 10,198 73.46
1990 4,430 56.93 15,518 52.17
2000 6,500 46.73 29,736 91.62
2010 7,596 (4.81) 40,451 36.03                
2020 8,516 0.33 42,400 0.61                  
2021 8,684 1.97 42,655 0.60                  
2022 8,757 0.84 43,563 2.13                  

Age distribution of 2021 population:

Age  Number Percent

        Under 5 Years 388 4.43 %
5-14 952 10.87
15-24 1,159 13.24
25-34 1,222 13.95
35-44 1,197 13.67
45-54 954 10.89
55-64 1,490 17.01
65-74 982 11.21
75 and over 413 4.71

8,757 100.00 %

Median age: 41.1

Sources:
U.S. Census Bureau, ACS Demographic and Housing Estimates
Utah Department of Workforce Services
Park City Chamber & Visitors Bureau
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Schedule 24
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Transient Room Capacity as a Percentage of Population
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Transient Park
Fiscal Room City
Year Capacity Population

2014 28,275 7,873 359
2015 28,275 8,058 351
2016 28,275 8,128 348
2017 23,119 8,299 279
2018 27,422 8,378 327
2019 27,422 (1) 8,280 331
2020 28,670 8,488 338
2021 28,670 (2) 8,516 337
2022 32,669 8,684 376
2023 32,669 (3) 8,757 373

Park City Chamber/Visitor Bureau

Note:
(1) Beginning in 2019, the City used Park City Chamber/Visitor Bureau data
for room capacity and restated all previous year's data for consistency. 
(2) Park City Chamber/Visitor Bureau did not report any data for 2020.

Sources:  

Percentage
Resort
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Schedule 25
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Historical Pledged Taxes
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Pledged % Change Pledged % Change Municipal % Change Total % Change
Fiscal Sales & Use From Prior Resort From Prior Transient From Prior Pledged From Prior
Year Taxes Year Tax Year Room Tax Year Taxes Year

2014 $ 4,347,534 3.8 % $ 11,070,470 (1) 41.2 % $ -           n/a % $ 15,418,004 28.2 %
2015 4,731,904 8.8 12,158,993 9.8 -           n/a 16,890,897 9.6
2016 5,180,094 9.5 13,472,260 10.8 -           n/a 18,652,354 10.4
2017 5,620,687 8.5 14,695,621 9.1 -           n/a 20,316,308 8.9
2018 5,915,331 5.2 15,576,576 6.0 1,592,720 (2) n/a 23,084,627 13.6
2019 6,403,710 8.3 16,915,887 8.6 2,733,084 71.6 26,052,681 12.9
2020 6,389,540 (0.2) 16,624,398 (1.7) 2,692,669 (1.5) 25,706,607 (1.3)
2021 7,161,106 12.1 18,431,079 10.9 2,741,751 1.8 28,333,936 10.2
2022 9,234,210 28.9 24,687,643 33.9 4,490,163 63.8 38,412,016 35.6
2023 9,598,138 3.9 25,998,773 5.3 4,513,625 0.5 40,110,536 4.4

Notes:
(1) The 0.50 percent Additional Resort Communities Sales and Use Tax implemented in fiscal year 2013, went into effect in fiscal year 2014.
(2) The 1.0 percent Municipal Transient Room Tax was implemented on January 1, 2018.
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Schedule 26
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Operating Indicators by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Function 2017 2022 2023
Police 4                  
  Physical arrests 623           516           506           449           426           318           255              256              300              275              
  Parking citations 219           282           236           291           129           132           214              219              348              358              
  Traffic citations 904           454           966           712           697           608           761              1,410           578              599              
Public works
  Street resurfacing (tons of asphalt) 5,133         5,526         6,034 5,486 6,500 6,000 8,200 5,523 5,819 8,500
  Potholes repaired 240           210           380 400 200 800 1,100 850 780 1,750
Water
  Number of customers 5,203         5,226         5,230         5,276         5,331         5,450         5,502           5,563           5,570           5,617           
  New connections 37             42             56             56             75             82             100              35                44                45                
  Average daily consumption (Tgal) 4,660         4,430         4,647         4,890         3,475         3,475         4,326           4,726           4,445           (9) 4,955           
  Peak daily consumption (Tgal) 8,820         7,786         7,767         8,660         5,839         5,839         8,669           7,599           8,104           (9) 7,923           
  Average monthly billings (3/4" meter) 86.22         88             83.32         105.87       90.63         111.32       100.44         118.29         105.54         103.80         
Residential billing rates
  Base rate (per 3/4" meter) 39.35 44             44.07      44.95      47.65      49.08      50.55        52.07        53.63        55.24        
  Base rate (per 1" meter) 53.12 59             59.49         60.68         64.32         66.25         68.24           70.29           72.40           74.57           
  Base rate (per 1-1/2" meter) 62.99 71             70.55         71.96         76.28         78.57         80.93           83.36           85.86           88.44           
  Rate per Tgal (winter months only) 6.89 8               7.72          5.60          5.94          6.12          6.30             6.49             6.68             6.88             
Commercial billing rates
  Base rate (per 3/4" meter) 51.15 57             57.29         58.44         61.95         63.61         65.52           67.49           69.51           71.60           
  Base rate (per 1" meter) 86.55 97             96.94         98.88         104.81       107.95       111.19         114.53         117.97         121.51         
  Base rate (per 1-1/2" meter) 184.89 207           207.08       211.22       223.89       230.61       237.53         244.66         252.00         259.56         
  Base rate (per 2" meter) 385.57 432           431.84       440.48       466.91       480.92       495.35         510.21         525.52         541.29         
  Base rate (per 3" meter) 1,003.35 1,124         1,123.75    1,146.23    1,215.15    1,251.60    1,289.15      1,327.82      1,367.65      1,408.68      
  Base rate (per 4" meter) 1,821.71 2,040         2,040.32    2,081.13    2,206.00    2,272.18    2,340.35      2,410.56      2,482.88      2,557.37      
  Base rate (per 6" meter) 3,434.02 3,846         3,846.10    3,923.02    4,158.40    4,283.15    4,411.64      4,543.99      4,680.31      4,820.72      
  Base rate (per 8" meter) 5,913.67 6,623         6,623.31    6,755.78    7,161.13    7,375.96    7,597.24      7,825.16      8,059.91      -               (10)
  Rate per 1,000 gallons 6.89 8               7.72          7.87          8.34          8.59          8.85             9.12             9.39             9.67             
Building activity
  Building permits issued 1,432         1,289         1,102         999           1,422         1,252         1,575           1,331           1,438           1,389           
  Number of residential units 51             119           57             54             66             132           39                56                56                42                
  Residential value (in thousands) 40,646       64,102       30,826       36,092       48,420       97,683       68,878         105,888       95,755         74,177         
  Commercial value (in thousands) 14,420       17,951       3,663         8,912         40,266       46,236       125,390       11,915         14,614         88,928         
Parks and recreation
  Racquet club passes 7,038         7,893         7,922         7,067         7,415         7,859         8,476           12,218         17,582         18,060         
  Golf rounds 30,887       29,269       29,537       30,731       29,484       27,382       30,085         38,036         34,806         34,702         
Library
  Total volumes borrowed 79,709       (1) 54,262       (1) 98,930       (2) 111,388     155,683     (3) 193,795     (3) 115,463       392,488       (6) 388,329       494,801       
  Circulation per capita 10             7               12             13             13             14             14                14                14                17                
Transit
  Total route miles 1,116,067  986,500     1,065,755  1,141,405  1,924,148  (4) 2,159,537  1,942,609    (5) 1,311,564    (5) 910,646       (7) 1,122,097    (8)
  Passengers 1,823,459  1,701,758  1,798,482  2,100,455  2,288,730  (4) 2,659,826  2,394,311    (5) 1,185,629    (5) 1,541,419    1,118,663    (8)

Sources:  Various City departments.

Notes:  Indicators are not available for the general government function.
(1) Significant decrease in Library total volumes borrowed and circulation per capita in 2014 and 2015, was due to the relocation of the Library to temporary facilities, during the renovation of existing facility. 
(2) Significant increase in Library total volumes borrowed and circulation per capita in 2015 and 2016, was due to the completion of the Library renovation. 
(3) Significant increase in Library total volumes borrowed in 2018 due to a change in how electronic material was tracked (count now includes number of units instead of number of titles).
(4) Significant increase in total route miles in 2018 was due to the addition of several new routes including the Kamas circulator. 
(5) Significant decrease is due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The City cut back on Transit routes and limited passenger numbers.
(6) Significant increase is due the library joining a consortium that gives full access to statewide materials collections in digital format.
(7) Significant decrease is due to the City no longer running routes in the County.  High Valley Transit District now services those areas. 

    (8) Significan increase is due to adding Micro Transit routes.
    (9) Numbers for Average daily and Peak daily consumption were transposed. 
    (10) Park City does not have 8" meteres. So we do not have a base rate to charge.

Fiscal Year
202120202014 2015 2016 2018 2019
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Schedule 27
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Capital Asset Statistics by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Function 2014 2015 2016

City Area (sq. miles) 18 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 22 22
Police station 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Transit buses 36 37 37 38 39 47 41 41 38 (7) 46
Public works
  Streets (lane miles) 126 126 126 126 126 128 128 130 130 130
  Street lights 712 712 712 964 985 985 985 970 970 970
Water
  Fire hydrants 1,105 1,081 1,090 1,091 1,104 1,131 1,137 1,141 1,140 1,147
  Water mains (miles) 135 137 140 142 142 142 142 144 144 144
  Storage capacity (Tgal) 13,650   13,650   13,650    13,650    18,250    18,250    18,250    18,250    14,946    14,946    
Recreation and culture
  Acreage 223        223        223         1,536      (1) 1,580      1,675      (3) 1,625      (4) 1,625      1,626      1,626      
  Parks 40          40          40           42           42           42           42           42           43           43           
  Covered picnic areas 4            4            4             6             6             6             6             6             7             7             
  Tennis courts 14          14          14           14           14           14           14           14           14           14           
  Soccer fields 6            6            6             6             6             6             6             6             6             6             
  Baseball diamonds 10          10          10           10           10           10           10           10           10           10           
  Library 1            1            1             1             1             1             1             1             1             1             

  Volumes in library 85,138   97,160   126,999  117,482  155,683  (2) 193,795  (2) 115,463  (5) 392,488  (6) 388,329  494,801  
  Golf course 1            1            1             1             1             1             1             1             1             1             
  Ice Rink 1            1            1             1             1             1             1             1             1             1             
 
Sources:  Various City departments.

Notes:  Fire protection is provided by the Park City Fire District.
(1) Bonanza Flat (1,350 acres) open space was purchased in fiscal year 2017.
(2) The Library changed the way they track electronic material, resulting in a more accurate number in fiscal year 2018 and 2019.
(3) Treasure Hill (105 acres) open space was purchased in fiscal year 2019.
(4) Bonanza Flat (55 acres) sold to Salt Lake City Corporation in fiscal year 2020. Armstrong Property (5 acres) purchased in fiscal year 2020.
(5) Significant decrease is due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  Additionally, the library switched to curbside delivery for several months.
(6) Significant increase is due to joining a library consortium that gives full access to statewide materials collections in digital format.
(7) Decrease in buses is due to the City no longer servicing all of the County.  

Fiscal Year
202220212017 2018 2019 2020 2023
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Schedule 28
Park City Municipal Corporation, Utah
Five-Year Financial Summaries

 Last  Five Fiscal Years

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019(1)
ASSETS
Cash, cash equivalents and investments held by city $ 173,456,023   $ 149,676,414   $ 110,483,787   $ 91,143,933     $ 68,768,707     
Cash, cash equivalents and investments held by fiscal agent 39,056,082     62,902,204     37,681,751     71,929,505     30,394,766     
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments, other 11,035,765     9,438,370       9,470,859       10,856,824     9,194,635       
Receivables:
    Taxes 30,666,328     31,510,573     30,870,614     28,481,976     28,179,289     
    Accounts 16,128,542     7,559,093       10,915,585     15,297,972     11,479,937     
    Notes receivable 249,477          252,387          258,161          263,386          768,356          
Inventories 1,648,843       1,462,526       1,064,127       935,683          864,724          
Prepaids 1,443,591       1,932,728       1,788,013       2,066,110       2,582,703       
Lease receivable 10,731,865     10,800,780     -                  -                  -                  
Capital assets not being depreciated:
    Land and water rights 266,062,802   266,062,802   266,062,802   266,062,802   264,361,177   
    Construction in progress 123,666,341   105,532,708   65,717,025     51,527,332     28,017,548     
    Art 946,567          946,567          926,239          917,603          889,333          
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):
    Right to use asset 3,085,148       3,169,673       3,254,198       3,338,722       
    Buildings 58,008,995     59,912,541     62,002,012     50,598,244     49,424,165     
    Improvements other than buildings 80,581,001     83,228,324     86,770,848     77,590,523     79,765,683     
    Vehicles and equipment 26,365,706     20,774,073     23,553,590     23,505,583     25,690,978     
    Infrastructure 17,516,970     19,287,123     21,176,661     21,566,939     22,956,314     
    Intangibles 8,728,906       8,540,614       8,554,756       8,571,769       8,486,048       
Net pension assets -                  8,676,595       581,540          -                  -                  
          Total assets 869,378,952   851,666,095   741,132,568   724,654,906   631,824,363   
Deferred outflows of resources

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 6,664,309       4,314,061       3,200,339       3,315,414       7,434,656       

LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable 14,437,708     8,991,484       8,760,571       6,992,699       5,966,218       
  Accrued liabilities 13,543,834     11,117,507     7,251,284       7,210,548       4,221,062       
Long-term debt due within one year:
  Compensated absences 1,381,561       1,033,464       945,902          992,375          913,654          
  Contracts payable 149,278          146,573          143,918          141,311          -                  
  General obligation bonds 6,890,000       6,590,000       6,300,000       6,030,000       5,910,000       
  Revenue bonds 10,000,000     9,530,000       7,315,000       7,530,000       8,035,000       
Long-term debt due in more than one year:
  Compensated absences 228,994          254,059          282,541          368,788          313,404          
  Contracts payable 2,599,904       2,749,183       2,895,756       3,039,674       
  General obligation bonds 61,691,170     69,326,839     76,662,508     83,708,177     85,722,655     
  Revenue bonds 200,381,706   211,719,374   157,641,006   166,096,899   102,476,579   
  Net pension liability 5,020,590       -                  1,787,303       7,174,185       14,568,026     
          Total liabilities 316,324,745   321,458,483   269,985,789   289,284,656   228,126,598   
Deferred inflows of resources

Property taxes 24,641,351     25,384,115     25,035,612     24,703,651     23,863,826     
Deferred gain on refunding 294,874          480,573          488,747          704,659          500,262          
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 123,513          13,265,041     7,370,876       4,155,340       514,445          
Deferred inflows of resources - leases 10,438,299     10,587,831     

            Total deferred inflows of resources 35,498,037     49,717,560     32,895,235     29,563,650     24,878,533     

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 339,730,407   326,255,071   243,445,823   331,580,232   311,830,787   
  Restricted for:
    Capital projects 1,096,717       -                  (1) -                  (1) -                  (1) -                  
    Other 58,940            58,940            58,940            58,940            58,940            
  Unrestricted 183,334,415   158,490,102   197,947,120   77,482,842     74,364,161     
          Total net position $ 524,220,479   $ 484,804,113   $ 441,451,883   $ 409,122,014   $ 386,253,888   

     
Source: Information extracted from the City's fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 through 2023 general purpose financial statements.

Notes:
(1) Restated.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30
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City Council Staff Report 

 
 
 
 
Subject:  SR-248 Amendment 2 for Granite Construction, Inc. 
Author:  Gabriel Shields, PE 
Department:  Engineering 
Date:  December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Consent 
 
Recommendation  
Review and consider a construction amendment with Granite Construction Company 
(Contractor) in a form approved by the City Attorney, not to exceed $181,351.04, to fund 
project closeout activities on SR-248 transit express lane improvement project. 
 
Executive Summary 
The City executed a construction agreement with the Contractor after Council approval 
on June 1, 2023, for the SR-248 Corridor Improvements Project (Project).  Importantly, 
and working with the Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT), the Project provides 
the following community benefits: 
 

• Public transit drivable paved shoulders from Bonanza Drive to Richardson Flat 
Road to provide transit-only express lanes; 

• Reduced lane widths on SR-248 for traffic calming and slowing average speeds 
to respond to neighborhood feedback; 

• Pavement preservation and winter road damage repairs; and 

• Additional forestry, landscaping, and erosion mitigation for surrounding 
neighborhoods. 
  

Upon reaching substantial completion, the Engineering Department coordinated with 
Public Works, Public Utilities, and Transit to evaluate outstanding construction items 
and assess the new road expansion by physically testing the shoulders.  At that time, 
two locations were identified where the shoulder width failed to provide enough and 
adequate space for Transit operations to comfortably and confidentially operate large 
transit busses.  Having completed the scoped Project tasks under budget, the 
Engineering Department directed the Contractor to add paving in these areas to meet 
the project goals and provide our drivers with more confident, particularly during 
inclement weather.  
 
This amendment provides for the additional scope, previously anticipated field repairs, 
and allowable contractor material quality incentives for exceeding the project 
performance criteria.  

 
Analysis 
At the time of approval, the Project anticipated 5% for change order contingencies or 
$104,660.  This amount was set to account for field changes, contractor incentives, and 
any items missed during the design phase that occur in the field as a result of actual 
conditions. 
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Planned Costs 

Construction $1,743,177.00 

Public Involvement & Construction Management $350,000.00 

Contingency (5%) $104,660.00 

  

Total $2,197,839 
Table 1 Planned Costs at the June 1, 2023 Council Approval 

 
To Date, the Project has incurred Amendment 1, which provides additional scope and 
budget for the Contractor to use rapid set concrete at 36 locations on the corridor where 
existing concrete utility collars were reconstructed as part of the Project.  This change 
allowed for near-instantaneous concrete curing and limited disruptions to drivers during 
the busy summer season.  This option was invoked to eliminate the need for steel cover 
plates at each reconstructed concrete collar on one of Park City’s two major travel 
corridors.  
 
This Amendment is included in Table 1 below as Amendment 1 – Rapid Set Concrete 
for $59,685 and was executed on August 1, 2023. The aggregate change orders totaled 
$59,685 of the planned $104,660. 
 
During construction, the Contractor incurred incidental expenses due to unforeseen field 
conditions.  These items include repairs to fiber optics, irrigation, water valves, and 
storm drain lids.  Additionally, the Project provided material incentives if the Contractor 
met certain thresholds for quality given the importance of the major travel corridor.  The 
total of these items is listed in Table 2 as Amendment 2 – Field Repairs and Incentives 
for $42,131.10.  The aggregate sum of change orders reached $101,816.10 of the 
planned amount of $104,660. 
 
Upon reaching substantial completion, a recommendation from the Transit Department 
after considerable field testing contemplated adding additional pavement where some of 
our most experienced operators experienced concern or apprehensive about using the 
shoulders, particularly during inclement and winter weather.  The project provided a 
minimum of 10’ where new shoulders were installed. However, there were existing 
shoulder locations where the width fell slightly below the 10’ minimum requested by the 
Transit department, as seen in Figure 1.  
 

 
Figure 1 - Shoulder Width Before Supplemental Paving 
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The Engineering Department worked with the Contractor to develop a plan and estimate 
to add paving to these areas.  The paving was planned to be 4’ in width and installed 
200’ in length in the vicinity of Richardson Flat Road and 750’ in length in the vicinity of 
Buffalo Bill Drive.  The estimated cost for this additional work was $168,889.50; note 
this is not included in Table 2 as this was not a planned expenditure at the time of the 
June 1, 2023, Council approval.  This estimate is included as Exhibit A. 
 
The Engineering Department reviewed task budgets within the Project to understand 
the implications of this additional paving better.  As seen in Table 2, the Public 
Involvement and Construction Management contract held by HDR, Inc. for $350,000 
was completed for $139,849.11, crediting $210,150.89 back to the overall Project 
budget.   
 
At the time of the estimated cost, the primary consideration was the availability of 
sufficient temperatures for paving with the onset of winter weather conditions and the 
availability of construction crews.  Concerning the overall project goal of Transit drivable 
shoulders and the condition of the Project financials, the Engineering Department 
directed the Contractor to perform the work as weather allowed.  The Additional Paving 
work was completed under budget for $139,219.94.  This is shown in Table 2 as 
Amendment 2 - Additional Paving. 
 

 
Table 2 Expenses at Completion, negative values are shown in parentheses and represent overages, positive values 
indicate project credits, highlighted values indicate costs included in the proposed Amendment 2 

The final Project cost amounted to $2,128,063.73 of a planned cost of $2,197,837.00, 
representing a final credit of $69,773.27.  This Project was completed on schedule and 
under budget when considered holistically. Most importantly, the project was completed 
before winter and after extensive field testing. 
 
This staff report summarizes the need to issue Amendment 2, which funds expected 
change orders ($42,131.10) and additional paving ($139,219.94).  This is accomplished 

Planned Cost Actual  Cost Variance

Construction 1,743,177.00$ 1,747,178.58$ (4,001.58)$     

Public Involvement & Construction Management 350,000.00$    139,849.11$    210,150.89$  

Change Order Contingency (5%)

Amendment 1 - Rapid Set Concrete 59,685.00$      

Amendment 2 - Field Repairs and Incentives 42,131.10$      

Subtotal of Change Orders 104,660.00$    101,816.10$    2,843.90$      

Base Scope Subtotal 2,197,837.00$ 1,988,843.79$ 208,993.21$  

-$                

Amendment 2 - Additional Paving -$                  139,219.94$    (139,219.94)$ 

-$                

Project Total 2,197,837.00$ 2,128,063.73$ 69,773.27$    
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by terminating the Public Involvement & Construction Management Contract and using 
those unused funds to credit the Contractor.   
 
Funding  
This project is fully funded under the 057483 Transit Fund, Third Quarter County Tax. 
 
Exhibits 
Exhibit A: Estimate for Additional Paving 
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Park City Municipal 

Attn: Ray Carter and Gabrial Shields 

RE: Wideinig at Richardson Flat Option 2 

 

Below is a breakdown of the proposed change order on SR-248 with respect to the Shoulder widening at Richardson Flat 

approxamatly 4’ x 200’ and from Waytt Earp Way to Buffalo Bill Drive approximatly 4’ x 750’ 

Quantaties are an estimate to be field measured and billed at the unit rate. 

 

Mobilization and Traffic Control  -  $15,000 LS   

Roadway Excavation   -  $212.00/CY $212.00 x 280 CY = $59,360.00  

Granular Borrow/UTBC   - $167.00/CY $167.00 x 211 CY = $35,237.00 

HMA     -   $223.00/Ton $223.00 x 171 Tons = $30,780.00 

Total Cost - $147,730.00 

15% Margin  - $22,159.50 

 

Total Contract Increase  $169,889.50   

 

Thank you, 

Derek Porter 

Granite Construction Inc. 
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City Council 
Staff Report 

 
 
 
 
Subject: Request for Approval of Special Event Temporary Alcoholic 

Beverage Licenses during the 2024 Sundance Film Festival 
Author:  Sydney Anderson, Business Licenses Specialist 
Department:  Finance 
Date:  December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Consent 
  
Recommendation 
We are requesting Council approval of the Special Event Temporary Alcoholic 
Beverage License (License) applications listed in Exhibit A for operation during the 2024 
Sundance Film Festival (Festival). 
 
Executive Summary 
Exhibit A lists all License applicants to date pending approval. All requirements for 
application, including insurance requirements and applicable license fees, have been 
submitted and paid. All locations in Exhibit A have been considered vibrant or meet one 
of the one-year vibrancy exceptions listed in the code and are eligible to be approved 
for a Single Event Temporary Liquor permit. We are requesting approval of the attached 
applicants to serve alcoholic beverages during the 2024 Festival. 
 
Analysis 
As stated in Municipal Code 4-6-2-(B)1, all Single Event Temporary Liquor permit 
applications for the dates during the Sundance Film Festival are required to obtain 
Council approval no later than the last regularly scheduled meeting in the month of 
December. 
 
After the Finance Department accepts completed applications, the applications are 
reviewed by multiple departments. After departmental review, the applications must 
receive City Council approval. Municipal Code 4-6-2(B)2, allows City Council to hear no 
more than twelve (12) applications for late approval after the December deadline noted 
above.   
 
In accordance with 4-2-15: Vibrant Commercial Storefronts, locations that have been 
deemed “dark” for two or more consecutive quarters and which do not meet any of the 
one-year allowed exceptions will not be eligible for a Single Event Temporary Liquor 
permit at that location. All the locations listed in Exhibit A are either vibrant or have met 
one of the exceptions to vibrancy and are eligible to be approved for the Single Event 
Temporary Liquor permit. 
 
Exhibits 
Exhibit A- List of locations 
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City Council 
Staff Report 

 
 
 
 
Subject: Request for Approval of Type 2 Convention Sales Licenses for 

Operation during the 2024 Sundance Film Festival 
Author:  Sydney Anderson, Business License Specialist 
Department:  Finance 
Date:   December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Consent 
  
Recommendation 
Review and consider approving the Type 2 Convention Sales License (CSL) 
applications listed in Exhibit A for operation during the 2024 Sundance Film Festival 
(Festival) contingent on passing the Final Inspection Post Application (FIPA). 
 
Executive Summary 
Exhibit A lists all the Type 2 Convention Sales License applicants to date pending 
approval. The applicants have obtained a pre-inspection prior to application (PIPA), 
provided a site/floor plan stamped by a design professional with occupant load, and 
paid the applicable license and trash fees. We are requesting approval of the 
applications for Convention Sales Licenses during the 2024 Sundance Film Festival. 
 
Analysis 
The Festival attracts an increasing number of businesses/entities which conduct 
business within the Park City (City) limits on a short-term basis. These entities are not 
affiliated with the Festival, nor are they official sponsors.  The increase in the number of 
these entities has created health, safety, and wellness concerns for the City and its 
residents, including the City’s ability to provide basic Police, safety, and emergency 
services. The Finance Department, as well as other departments, are inundated with 
Type 2 Convention Sales License applications in the months and weeks before the 
Festival starts. 
 
The Municipal Code for Type 2 CSLs allows the City to address issues related to 
adverse impacts or carrying capacity issues related to the licensed activity and volume. 
It also allows service departments, event staff, and public safety to obtain a more 
adequate picture of the total public service demands for the Festival in a timeframe that 
provides for service level and cost adjustments. 
 
Municipal Code 4-7-3 (B)(2) states that Council retains authority to approve Type 2 CSL 
license applications. Prior to Council’s consideration of the Type 2 CSL license 
applications, the applicant must have a pre-inspection prior to application (PIPA). This 
inspection will highlight any issues related to the space prior to their final inspection. 
The inspection must accompany the license application along with accurate floor plans 
stamped by a design professional, including the occupant load. 
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The process for a Type 2 CSL is as follows: 
1. Obtain floor plans stamped by a design professional 
2. Obtain a PIPA 
3. Obtain receipt showing payment to Republic Services to cover trash impacts 

(one receipt per applicant). 
4. Submit application with site plan, PIPA, and pay the appropriate fee 
5. Finance requests approval from City Council 
6. Obtain Council approval 
7. Obtain a FIPA 
8. Issue license 

 
All of the attached applications have met the Municipal Code standards and have 
completed department review. No adverse impacts or carrying capacity issues have 
been identified with the applications.  
 
Exhibits 
Exhibit A - List of Locations 
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City Council Staff Report 

 
 
 
Subject: Park Silly Sunday Market Date Change 2024   
Author: Jenny Diersen  
Department: Special Events    
Date: December 14, 2023   
Type of Item: Administrative - Consent 
 
Recommendation  
Review and consider a request received from the Park Silly Sunday Market (PSSM) to 
change the dates for the 2024 event. On November 18, the Special Events Team 
received a formal request from the PSSM to obtain Council consideration.  
 
Due to the importance and time-sensitive nature of forecasting their calendar months 
ahead of time, the PSSM asked for consideration at the December 14, 2023, Council 
Meeting.   
 
Executive Summary 
After months of deliberation, the City Council approved a new City Service Agreement 
with the PSSM on October 26, 2023 (report p. 140 /minutes p. 9). The new Agreement 
included the following terms:  

• Contract Length: 4-year contract, with a 3-year auto-renewal 

• Number of Days: 11 Sundays each year 

• Location: Lower Main Street (between Heber and 9th Street 

• Noise: No amplified sound from 10 a.m. to 12 p.m. From noon to 5 p.m., the 
maximum decibel limit is 75 (noon start band and load in/ sound check. The 
music will begin at 1 p.m.).  

• Vendor Mix: No importers or resellers are allowed at PSSM. The PSSM will 
maintain no more than 12 jewelers and 12 food vendors at each market.  

• Transportation Plan: The PSSM will mitigate adverse impacts of traffic by hiring 
additional shuttles on the two busiest days of the market to assist Park City 
Transit. The PSSM will guarantee a bike valet at each market and continue to 
promote alternative modes of transportation. Additionally, the PSSM will continue 
to provide pedestrian management at the intersection of Heber and Main and 
offer bollard installation.  

• City Service Fees: Cover City fees for 11 market dates estimated up to $85,000.  
 

In addition to approving the Agreement, the City Council approved the PSSM’s 
proposed 2024 dates. On November 18, PSSM submitted a letter requesting to amend 
the approved 2024 dates.  
 
Analysis 
Approving the 2024 dates for the PSSM is an important component of advanced 
planning and the successful operations of the event. The PSSM typically releases its 
vendor applications for the coming year in December. There are currently no known 
conflicts with the new dates requested.  
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In summary, the request moves the PSSM start one week earlier, to June 2, and ends 
one week earlier, to September 22. Given the modest adjustment and determination of 
no conflicts, the Special Events Team supports the current request. 
 
Current Approval:  

• 11 Sundays;  

• June 9, 16, 23, 30; July 14 and 21; September 1, 8, 15, 22, 29; and 

• PSSM would not be held on June 2, July 7 (Fourth of July Weekend), July 28 
(Extreme Soccer Weekend), or all of August. 

 
New Request:   

• 11 Sundays;  

• *June 2, 9, 16, 23, 30; July 14 and 21; September 1, 8, 15, *22; and  

• PSSM would not be held on July 7 (Fourth of July Weekend), July 28 (Extreme 
Soccer Weekend), all of August, or September 29 
 

*The bolded dates noted above are the changes requested by the PSSM. 
 
Funding  
There are no impacts to funding with PSSM with this adjustment, as the total number of 
event days has not changed 
 
The PSSM City Service fees are funded from the General Fund and approved for up to 
$85,000 in fee waivers, while actual City Service Fees were $64,226 for the 2023 event. 
PSSM provides bollard installation and pedestrian management at Heber and Main at 
their expense (estimated $26,000). Parking revenues from the 2023 PSSM event 
totaled $339,850. 
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City Council Staff Report 
 
 
Subject: Dining Deck Update   
Author: Jenny Diersen  
Department:  Special Events  
Date: December 14, 2023   
Type of Item: Administrative – Work Session 
 
Recommendation  
Review and discuss a program update regarding the existing Main Street Dining Deck 
program, and consider providing policy direction on the future of the program, including:  

1. Operating Requirements; 
2. Dining Deck Lease Costs; and 
3. Potential disruptions due to public utility improvements on Main Street in 2024. 

 
Executive Summary 
The Main Street Dining Deck program began in 2010 with three participating 
restaurants. Since then, Council determined that up to 12 restaurants could participate 
in the program, creating a balance between adding vibrancy and private activation of 
public property with other competing needs such as public parking and maintenance.  
 
While the number of decks has fluctuated annually, the most we have had at one time is 
9. If we received a request to exceed the number of decks beyond 12, we would return 
to the City Council to review the program requirements. To date, that has not occurred.  
 
City Council recently requested a programmatic debrief. This report specifically focuses 
on the following items:   

1. Operating Requirements Per the Lease Agreement  
a. Coordination with Special Events and Drop Load and Staging (DLS) 

Zones 
b. Enforcement and fairness policies  
c. Two meal service requirements 

2. Dining Deck Lease Costs 
a. Parking fee analysis and fee for use of Public Property 
b. Kimball Arts Festival fees and policy 

3. Potential impacts of public utility improvements on Main Street during 2024 
 
Background 
Today, there are 48 restaurants and cafes on Main Street. Without the Dining Deck 
program, only 19 outdoor dining areas would exist on Main Street. The Dining Deck 
program increases outdoor dining options to 28 through late spring and early fall. After 
13 years, the Dining Deck program is a successful partnership between local 
businesses and the City, creates community benefit, and provides additional vibrancy 
and culture to Main Street.  
 
Like most programs involving Main Street, the Main Street Dining Deck Program 
requires considerable work and coordination among nine different city departments. 
Special Events leads the coordination to streamline the process for each participant and 
provide quality customer service.  
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Each department reviews various aspects of the decks for safety, health, and licensing 
requirements. Dining Deck design standards and street topography require a 
considerable financial investment from restaurant owners. The program is specific to 
outdoor dining (not retail). 
 
The Planning Department issues Administrative Conditional Use Permits (ACUP) for 
outdoor dining specific to each restaurant. This runs with the land, which is a one-time 
requirement. The Council approves annual leases for the use of public property. A term 
of the ACUP notes, “an annual review by the City Council, with input from the Planning 
Department, will be conducted each year. City Council may terminate or change the 
terms of this lease at that time.” 
 
Analysis 
Operating Requirements 
The Operational Restrictions (Exhibit A) ensure compatibility with the Historic District 
Guidelines and are essential to the overall look and feel of Main Street and its vibrancy. 
Over the years, we have added conditions to the Operational Requirements in 
coordination with Special Events and the Drop Load and Staging program to reduce 
potential conflicts.   
 
We received little to no concerns about these requirements in most years. Due to 
relaxed enforcement during the pandemic years, new restaurant owners and City staff 
have required additional education about the importance of programmatic requirements. 
Recently, we received concerns regarding compliance with the Operational Restrictions, 
and the Building Department has reinforced requirements with individual restaurants 
through proactive education.  
 
All participants desire a predictable program and a level playing field. To date, no fines 
or closures have resulted due to violations of Operational Restrictions. If we continue to 
receive complaints, we may need heightened enforcement in the future.  
 
In anticipation of this item, we discussed the program with the participants and the 
HPCA. Restaurants were supportive of continuing the program and agreed with its 
overall success. They agreed that the Operational Restrictions are a way to keep a level 
playing field between restaurants. The HPCA supported continuing the program with the 
current Operational Requirements and stressed the importance of having a two-meal 
minimum, except for Fletchers, since they utilize an easement on a City walkway, not a 
physical parking space on Main Street. 
 
Dining Deck Lease Costs 
Dining Deck lease fees have varied based on market conditions and are based on 
parking rates (Table 1). The cost is based on the number of parking spaces a deck 
displaces (linear feet of deck/20') and the foregone parking revenue. The fees shown 
below (Table 2) assume Dining Decks are operational based on the dates provided by 
each restaurant. Lease amounts are prorated based on the date when restaurants 
secure a permit. In addition, restaurants pay for Building Permits and Business 
Licensing fees. For reference, a Business License extension fee is generally $12 to $30, 
and a Building Permit fee is generally $150.  
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• At the program’s inception, the HPCA and the City desired a balance between 
private activation of public space that benefits individual businesses and broader 
economic and community benefits. Participating merchants were initially concerned 
about high start-up costs and a lack of financial return. In return, the City kept fees 
low initially and gradually increased them as the program became more financially 
profitable.  

• In 2019, the City Council created a standard fee for participating restaurants. The 
fee was 30% of the parking rate ($2,160/ 20 ft). Five years have passed since the 
standard fee was created, and parking fees have changed significantly. An analysis 
of fees is included in Exhibit C. With today’s parking rates, the standard fee is 13% 
of potential parking fees, and the City Council is subsidizing the dining deck program 
by roughly $135,000 annually (parking revenue).  

• When the program began in 2010, the Kimball Art Center (KAC) voiced concerns 
regarding lost booth rental revenue and fire lane requirements (estimated $36,000 
total annual revenue loss). Restaurants were also concerned with relocating Dining 
Decks for the 3-day event (estimated $3,000 per restaurant). To balance these 
concerns, the Council allowed the KAC to charge a fee if the restaurants wanted to 
remain on the street. The City Council did not feel it was the City’s role to manage 
this relationship, so the KAC works with program participants. If Dining Decks 
remained on the street, the KAC would actively promote and market these 
participants in their “Taste of Art” programming.  

o As of 2023, 8 of 9 Dining Decks remain on the street during the event, each 
charged $1,500. Bangkok Thai was not allowed to remain as the new owner 
informed the KAC too late after the event footprint had already been set. As 
the KAC wrapped up its 2023 season, they were able to work with Bangkok 
Thai to allow the deck to remain for future KAFs. The KAC estimates about 
$4,000 of annual revenue is lost to make the dining deck accommodations.  

• On May 2, 2019 (minutes, p.10), the Council approved charging $2,160 per parking 
space to provide a consistent year-over-year fee instead of changing each year. 
Fees were calculated based on 30% of the maximum lost revenue per parking space 
(Parking Fee Schedule).  

• During the pandemic, on April 30, 2020 (minutes p 6-7), Dining Decks were allowed 
to start up early, and fees were waived for one year to help promote physical 
distancing and support of Main Street small business owners.  

 
Table 1 

Year Number of 
Participants: 

Fee per 
Parking 
Space 

Note 

2010 3 $0 Free 

2011 9 $300 Approx. 10% of estimated lost revenue. 

  2012 - 
2014 

9 $550 Approx. 20% of estimated lost revenue. 

2015 7 $915 60% of $1,525 ($915): based on 2015 estimated 
lost revenue. 

2016 8 $1,067.5
0 

70% of $1,525 ($1,068): based on 2016 
estimated lost revenue. 
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2017 7 $1,220 80% of $1,525 ($1,225): based on 2017 
estimated lost revenue. 

2018 6 $1,678 90% of $1,809 ($1,628): based on 2018 
estimated lost revenue. 

2019 7 $2,160 30% of $7,200 ($2,160): based on 2019 
estimated parking revenue – standard fee. 

2020 8 $0 Fees and operational restrictions were waived for 
one year only due to COVID-19. 

2021 9 $2,160 Standard Fee 

2022 9 $2,160 Standard Fee 
 
Table 2 

 

2023 Restaurants / 20’ Parking Space  Cost Standard Fee - $2,160/space 
  

Eating Establishment / 1.35 spaces $2,916 

Don Goyo / 1.2 space $2,592 

Flanagan’s on Main / 1.24 spaces $2,678.40 

Shabu / 1.18 spaces $840.42 *prorated 

501 on Main / 1.0 spaces $2,160 

Kaneo / 1.25 spaces $2,700 

Main St. Pizza & Noodle / 1.56 spaces $3,369.60 

Bangkok Thai / 2 spaces $4,320 

Fletchers / 1.35 spaces (based on sq ft 
of space – this does not take parking 
spaces)  

$2,916 

Totals: 10.78 parking spaces $23,392.42 

 
Lease Timeline for 2024 – Main Street Improvements 
Annually, Dining Decks can be installed beginning May 1. However, this year, our 
Streets and Water Departments have requested additional time (April to July) to 
complete critical spring infrastructure upgrades, including replacement of the water main 
line and laterals in Main Street from Heber Avenue to approximately Fifth Street and a 
Main Street micro seal coating. As a result, we propose:  

• Restaurants south (uphill) of Fifth Street will be installed one month later, on 
June 1.  

• Restaurants north (downhill) of Fifth Street will be installed from mid-June to mid-
July.  

 
We will work closely with departments and restaurants to get dining decks back installed 
soon as possible. Lease fees will be prorated accordingly. Finally, the Dining Deck 
program ends by October 30 each year to ensure they do not conflict with winter snow 
removal and hauling.  
 
Policy Questions 
City Council should consider the following policy questions:  

1. Does the City Council desire to change the Standard Fee for the Dining Deck 
Lease? If yes, there are three options to consider. 
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1) Increase rates to reflect 30% of parking revenue based on the 2023 fee 
schedule (the new fee would be $5,078 per parking space). This would be 
re-evaluated every five years to maintain consistency for participants.  
This results in a subsidy of roughly $73,004 annually.  

2) Increase rates to maintain a 30% cost recovery of parking revenue 
annually (the new fee this year would be $5,078 per parking space). If 
parking rates increase, dining deck fees should be adjusted accordingly. 
This would create less predictability compared to Alternative 1.  

3) Consider a different cost recovery percentage, depending on the City 
Council’s policy goal for private use of the public property and overall 
economic benefits.  

2. Does the City Council want to continue allowing the KAC to charge Dining Deck 
participants during the Arts Festival (not to exceed $1,500 per restaurant)  

a. A change would require amending the KAC Service Agreement (p. 8, 
section 6.1.m.).   
 

Funding  
In 2023, the Dining Deck program brought in $24,290 in City Fees and remains a 
successful partnership between the HPCA, private property owners, local restaurants, 
and PCMC. Our fees include a Lease Fee (Parking Revenues), Business License 
Extension Fee, and Building Permits. The current subsidy of the dining deck program is 
estimated at $135,000 annually (parking revenue). 
 
Exhibits 
A Draft Operational Requirements  
B Draft Dining Deck Lease 
C Dining Deck Fee Analysis 
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Exhibit A – Street Dining Operational Restrictions 
 
Street dining may be allowed by the Planning Department upon issuance of an Outdoor 
Dining Administrative Conditional Use Permit.  Street dining is permitted beginning as 
early as April 28, and shall terminate on October 30th of each year.  A total of twelve 
(12) street dining decks may be accommodated on Main Street based on the layout of 
the proposed decks. The Applicant must submit an application, pay an application fee, 
and provide all required materials and plans. Ongoing monitoring will be provided to 
ensure compliance with these parameters. The Administrative Conditional Use Permit 
or the Lease may be revoked for failure to comply with these restrictions. 

 
Required Submittals: 

 

• Dining Site Plan – This plan shall be to scale and indicate: the Applicant’s 
building as it relates to the exact proximity of the street dining deck. The plan 
shall include accurate locations of proposed chairs, tables, umbrellas, planters, 
and any other existing public improvements (light fixtures, fire department 
connections, parking meters, etc.). 

 

• Details/specifications sheets – Shall be submitted for each piece of equipment 
proposed with the street dining is application. This will include all tables, chairs, 
umbrellas, etc. 

 
Design Standards: 

 
1. Size.  Street dining area shall be limited to the linear frontage a building has on 

Main Street and shall not exceed nine feet (9’) in width. The encroachment of 
the proposed decks into street will not exceed seven feet, nine inches (7’-9”) in 
width from the curb, as the encroachment of the proposed decks into the 
sidewalk will not exceed one foot three inches (1’-3”), unless approved by City 
Council. With the written permission of the adjacent property owner submitted to 
the City, they may extend into the neighbor’s street frontage. Forty-four inches 
(44”) of clear sidewalk width shall be available at all times where the street dining 
deck is being constructed. Each outdoor dining deck shall not exceed forty (40’) 
feet in length. 

 
2. Location/Proximity/Spacing.  The City reserves the right to reject an application 

for an outdoor dining deck: 
 

• If the proposed deck is too close to a previously existing deck and would 
eliminate needed parallel parking along Main Street thus creating a 
concentrated parking issue. 

• If the proposed deck is for a restaurant that does not have direct access at 
street level. 

• If the proposed deck is for a business with existing outdoor dining space 
and the expansion of such is deemed excessive. 
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• If the proposed deck creates too much private use of the public right-of- 
way that may be deemed detrimental to the health, safety, and welfare 
of the area. 

• The Building, Planning, and Engineering Departments will review the 
location, proximity, and spacing of each street dining deck as well as 
impacts of traffic and public safety concerns. A recommendation will be 
given to the City Council for final review and approval. 

 
3. Hours of Operation. The street dining decks shall be utilized for street dining 

and shall serve lunch and dinner seven (7) days a week for the duration that the 
decks are in the Right of Way. Lunch service shall start no later than 12:00 p.m. 
(noon).  

 

4. Material.  Street dining decks may be built of wood or metal platforms and shall 
have a solid base. The design of the base shall complement the style of the 
building. The railing shall be painted solid to also complement the building. 
While outdoor dining deck is not subject to a complete Historic District Design 
Review (HDDR), the guidelines are applicable to the project. 

 
5. Height. The maximum height of the deck shall not exceed thirty-six inches (36”) 

measured from existing grade to the base/floor of the deck at any given point. 
The layout of the deck may include a step to meet the maximum height allowed. 

 
6. Advertising.  Additional signing or advertising beyond what is allowed by the Park 

City Sign Code is prohibited. 
 
7. Furniture. All tables and chairs shall be metal, wood, or other comparable 

material. Plastic furniture shall not be allowed. All furniture must be approved by 
the Planning Department per the historic district design review. 

 
8. Umbrellas. Umbrellas must be free standing and are prohibited from extending 

beyond the dining area. Any umbrellas shall be affixed permanently to the deck 
as required by the International Building Code requirements (including fire 
standards) and shall not create any public hazard. 

 
9. Lighting.  No additional electric lighting is permitted, including exterior building 

lighting. 
 
10. Planters. Any proposed landscaping or atmosphere pieces shall be reviewed at 

the time of initial application and shall not create any public hazard or 
unnecessary clutter. All plant material must be maintained in a manner that 
ensures their viability throughout the summer outdoor dining season. 

 
11. Use. The use of the Premises shall not conflict with any previously existing 

Special Events on Main Street, specifically the Arts Fest (“Kimball Art Center”). 
The Kimball Art Center has been leased exclusive use of Main Street August 4-6, 
2023. The Premises must be vacated (i.e., removal of decks) no later than 10:00 
a.m. MT on Thursday, August 3, 2023, for the duration of Arts Fest (including set-
up and breakdown) unless the Kimball Art Center consents in writing to allow 
Tenant’s use of the Premises. If the outdoor dining structure is not removed as 
required, the Landlord will remove the structure at the Tenant’s cost. The dates of 
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the 2023 Kimball Arts Festival are subject to change and as such the vacating of 
the Premises shall occur at 10:00 a.m. the day prior to the Arts Festival.  

 
12. Licensing. The additional square footage of the dining area must be added to the 

existing licensed area for the restaurant. The Tenant shall also adhere to other 
applicable City and State licensing ordinances, including the Department of 
Alcoholic Beverage Services.  It is the responsibility of the Tenant to ensure that 
all licenses are properly obtained and adhered to. 

 
13. Duration. Street dining is permitted beginning April 28 and shall terminate 

on October 30th. 
 
14. Health & Safety. The Use shall not violate the Summit County Health Code, 

Summit County Health Orders, State of Utah Health Orders, the Fire Code, or 
International Building Code. 

 
15. Music.  The use of outdoor speakers and music is prohibited. 

 

16. Maintenance. The dining area shall be clean and maintained in a neat and 
orderly fashion. 

 
17. Storage. All equipment and other associated materials must be removed and 

stored on private property during prohibited times (off season).  No material 
associated with the outdoor dining decks may be stored outdoors on-site during 
the off-season. 

 
18. Removal.  Decks must be completely removed from the Right-of-Way prior to the 

end of business day October 30. If the outdoor dining structure is not removed 
as required, the City will remove the structure at cost to compensate for the 
employees and equipment needed to complete the task. 

 
19. Drainage.  Design of the deck and its skirting shall not interfere with the existing 

street drainage. Deck plans shall be reviewed by the City for drainage and may 
be modified so as to not interfere with the existing drainage patterns of the street. 
Decks that have drains directly under them or downhill will be required to install 
screening to ensure waste does not enter the system.  

 
20. Utilities.  Access to utilities shall not be hindered by the structures. No outdoor 

dining decks will be approved if located in an area that blocks access to fire 
hydrants, etc.  No new utility lines shall be installed as a result of the proposed 
outdoor dining. 

 
21. Insurance Requirement.  The tenant shall carry a policy of liability insurance in an 

amount of at least $2 million per combined single limit per occurrence and $3 
million per aggregate for personal injury, bodily injury and property damage. 
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Park City Municipal Corporation shall be named as additional insured by 
endorsement of each policy. 

 
22. Main Street Improvements.  Due to the possible conflicts with scheduled Main 

Street improvements, the City may postpone approving leases until the 
construction schedule is finalized to be able to determine appropriate dates. 

 
If at any time the street dining deck needs to be removed, the City will give each 
affected street dining business owner a minimum of 72 hours to have their decks 
removed. The City will not be responsible for any associated costs involving 
deck removal/placement or potential lost revenue. 

 
23. Aesthetics. Due to the Park City environment and storage of the decks over the 

years, the decks shall be maintained in a safe and high-quality manner. Prior to 
final installation and occupancy of each deck, the Tenant shall make sure that the 
structural members can adequately meet their original design and each deck shall 
look aesthetically pleasing. 

 
24. Violations.  The decks shall be in compliance with all County and State Health 

Orders in addition to Municipal Code § 11-19-3(H) regarding Prohibition Against 
Issuance of Municipal Permits. From the time that any Notice of Violation is 
given, the City may withhold permits for any alteration, repair or construction, 
which pertains to any existing or new structures or signs on the property or any 
permits pertaining to the use and development of the real property or the 
structure where a violation is located. The City may withhold permits until a 
Notice of Compliance has been issued by the enforcement official. The City may 
not withhold permits that are necessary to obtain a Notice of Compliance or that 
are necessary to correct serious health and safety violations. 
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Exhibit B – Draft Dining Deck Lease 

STREET DINING ON MAIN 
OUTDOOR DINING LEASE 2023 

This Street Dining on Main Outdoor Dining Lease 2023 (the “Lease” or 
“Agreement”) is made and executed this ____day of ______________, 2023, by and 
between PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, a Utah municipal corporation,  (the 
“City”, “Park City”, or “Landlord”) and ____________________, a Utah corporation, (the 
“Tenant”) located at ___________________, Park City, Utah. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the City wishes to enable opportunities for restaurants on Main 
Street to be able to provide additional outdoor dining opportunities; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s goals include the establishment of new and creative 
opportunities to facilitate the Main Street experience for residents and visitors alike 
during the shoulder and summer seasons; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s goals include the preservation and enhancement of 
Park City’s character regarding Old Town and the desire to strengthen the pedestrian 
experience along Main Street; and 

WHEREAS, the City recognizes the desire of many visitors and residents to dine 
outdoors along historic Main Street; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s General Plan recommends utilizing street design 
techniques to encourage slower traffic speeds and a more intimate pedestrian-oriented 
scale; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s goals include maintaining and furthering the resort 
community’s economic opportunities, as well as enhancing the economic viability of 
Park City’s Main Street Business District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Park City, Utah as 
follows: 

TERMS & CONDITIONS OF LEASE 

Based upon good and valuable mutual consideration, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. PROPERTY.  The property affected by this Lease is generally described as the
street area and sidewalk directly fronting Tenant’s building located at
______________, which has a length of ____feet (X# of parking spaces), and
more specifically described in site plan Exhibit A, attached hereto and
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incorporated herein by this reference, (the “Premises”).  The length of the 
outdoor dining deck per restaurant may not exceed forty feet (40’). 

 
2. RENT.  Annual rent is for the use of the street for the deck is _____ Dollars 

($XXXX.00) per parking space of a linear length.  Tenant shall be solely 
responsible for payment of any and all costs associated with Tenant’s 
performance under this Lease, including but not limited to additional business 
licensing fees, insurance, sales taxes and other expenses. 

 
3. TERM.  Unless otherwise delayed, suspended or terminated by Summit County 

health order(s), the term of this Agreement shall commence on 
_________________________, 2023, and shall terminate on October 30, 2023 
(“Term”) unless terminated earlier as provided herein.  The Premises may only 
be utilized for a six (6) month period commencing on __________________ 
2023, and terminating on October 30, 2023, except the Premises may not be 
used during the 2023 Kimball Arts Festival (August 4, 2023 through August 6, 
2023) unless Kimball Art Center consents in writing to allow Tenant to use the 
Premises.  Additional term restrictions are attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by this reference in Exhibit B (Street Dining Operational Restrictions).  
This Agreement may be terminated by Park City upon a finding of non-
compliance of this Agreement or the attached operational restrictions. 

 
The use of the Premises shall not conflict with any previously existing Special 
Event recipients on Main Street, specifically the Arts Fest (“Kimball Art Center”). 
The Kimball Art Center has been leased exclusive use of Main Street in August. 
The Premises must be vacated (i.e., removal of decks) no later than 10:00 a.m. 
MT on Thursday, August 3rd, 2023 for the duration of Arts Fest (including set-up 
and breakdown) unless the Kimball Art Center consents in writing to allow 
Tenant’s use of the Premises.  If the outdoor dining structure is not removed as 
required, the Landlord will remove the structure at Tenant’s cost. The dates of 
the 2023 Kimball Arts Festival are subject to change, and as such the 
vacating of the Premises shall occur at 10:00 a.m. the day prior to the Arts 
Fest.  

 
4. MAIN STREET IMPROVEMENTS.  If at any time the street dining deck needs to 

be removed due to construction related to Main Street improvements, the City 
will give each affected street dining business owner a minimum of seventy two 
(72) hours to have their decks removed.  The City will not be responsible for any 
associated costs involving deck removal/placement or potential lost revenue. 
 

5. USE OF PREMISES.  Tenant may use the Premises only for outdoor dining 
services in a manner consistent with applicable Summit County health orders, 
Section 15-2.6-12(B)(1) of the Park City Land Management Code and the terms 
of this Agreement.  Additional operational restrictions which must be complied 
with as part of the conditions of this Lease are attached hereto and incorporated 
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herein in Exhibit B.  Park City makes no representations regarding the Premises 
and Tenant accepts the Premises “AS IS.” 

 
6. IMPROVEMENTS TO THE PREMISES.  Tenant shall not make any 

improvements to the Premises without first obtaining Park City’s written consent.  
Any improvements approved by Park City shall be completed at Tenant’s sole 
expense and removed at Tenant’s sole expense upon expiration of this 
Agreement.  No permanent alterations to the City’s property are permitted. 

 
7. SIGNS.  No signs shall be permitted on the Premises except as specifically 

approved by the Park City Municipal Corporation Planning Department pursuant 
to the Park City Sign Code and/or Tenant’s Master Sign Plan. 

 
8. INSURANCE. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole expense, carry a policy of general 

liability insurance in an amount of at least Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per 
combined single limit per occurrence and Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) per 
aggregate for personal injury, bodily injury and property damage.  Park City shall 
be named as an additional insured by endorsement on each policy.  Tenant’s 
insurance is to be primary to Park City’s and Park City’s insurance shall be non-
contributory.  A certificate of insurance naming Park City as an additional insured 
shall be provided to Park City on or before the Lease commencement.  Insurance 
shall be maintained continuously during the term of the Lease and should any of 
the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date thereof, 
Tenant shall deliver notice to Park City within thirty (30) days of cancellation.  
Tenant may carry whatever other insurance Tenant deems appropriate.  The 
parties agree that Tenant’s sole remedy in the event of business interruptions, 
fire, windstorm, or other loss from hazard shall be its own insurance and Tenant 
will have no action against Park City.  Park City is protected by the Utah 
Governmental Immunity Act, and nothing herein is intended to waive or limit the 
protection of the Act on behalf of either entity, but to the extent it is consistent 
with this intent, it is the purpose of this provision to protect Park City for liability or 
allegations arising out of the Tenant’s use of the Premises. 

 
9. HOLD HARMLESS. Tenant covenants and agrees to defend, indemnify, and 

hold Park City harmless from all claims, loss, damage, injury or liability (hereafter 
“Liability”) resulting from Tenant’ use and occupancy of the Premises to the full 
extent permitted by law and/or the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees, but excluding any liability resulting from acts or 
omissions of Park City, its officers, employees or agents. Nothing herein shall be 
construed as a waiver of any of the rights or defenses under the Utah 
Governmental Immunity Act (Utah Code Ann. Sections 63-30-1, et seq.), as 
amended.  The obligations hereunder shall be determined under principles of tort 
law including, but not limited to, the Governmental Immunity Act. In case of an 
emergency including but not limited to a flood, storm drain, or utility, the structure 
may be removed or damaged by response teams at the cost of the Tenant. 
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Tenant shall indemnify, protect and hold the Landlord harmless from and defend 
(by counsel reasonably acceptable to Landlord) the Landlord against any and all 
claims, causes of action, liability, damage, loss or expense (including reasonable 
attorneys' fees and costs and court costs), statutory or otherwise arising out of or 
incurred in connection with (i) the use, operation, occupancy or existence of the 
Premises or the presence of visitors, or any other person, at the Premises during 
the Term, (ii) any activity, work or thing done or permitted or suffered by Tenant 
in or about the Premises, (iii) any acts, omissions or negligence of Tenant, any 
person claiming through Tenant, or the contractors, agents, employees, 
members of the public, invitees, or visitors of Tenant or any other such person 
("Tenant Party" or "Tenant Parties"), (iv) any breach, violation or nonperformance 
by any Tenant Party of any provision of this Lease or of any law of any kind, or 
(v) except to the extent resulting from any negligence or intentional torts of 
Landlord. 

 
10. ASSIGNABILITY.  Tenant shall not assign or transfer any interest in this 

Agreement without the prior written consent of Park City.  Any assignment or 
transfer without written approval is void. 

 
11. PROFESSIONAL PERFORMANCE.  Tenant agrees to perform services under 

this Agreement at the highest professional standards, and to the satisfaction of 
Park City. 
 

12. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will 
be deemed an original and all of which together will constitute one and the same 
instrument. 
 

13. ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES. Each party agrees that the signatures of the parties 
included in this Agreement, whether affixed on an original document manually and later 
electronically transmitted or whether affixed by an electronic signature through an 
electronic signature system such as DocuSign, are intended to authenticate this writing 
and to create a legal and enforceable agreement between the parties hereto. 

 
14. APPLICABLE LAW.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state 

of Utah. 
 
15. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire and only 

agreement between the parties and it cannot be altered or amended except by 
written instrument, signed by both parties. 

 
Executed the day and year first above written. 
 
Tenant:   
______________________________________  
a Utah corporation,   
dba  
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By: ___________________________________ 
Name Printed: 
______________________________________ 
Title: __________________________________  
 
THE CITY REQUIRES THE TENANT TO COMPLETE EITHER THE NOTARY BLOCK 
OR THE UNSWORN DECLARATION, WHICH ARE BELOW. 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 

STATE OF UTAH   ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF SUMMIT  ) 
 
On this_________ day of ________________, 2023, personally appeared before me 
_______________, who being duly sworn, did say that he/she is the _______________  
of __________________________, a Utah corporation,  dba ___________________, 
and acknowledged to me that the preceding Agreement was signed on behalf of the 
company, and he/she acknowledged that the company did execute the same for its 
stated purpose. 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Notary Public 

 
 
 
PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION,  
a Utah municipal corporation 
 
 
By: __________________________ 
Nann Worel, Mayor 
 
 
Attest:       Approved as to form: 
 
 
_____________________________  ________________________________ 
Michelle Kellogg, City Recorder   City Attorney’s Office 
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I declare under criminal penalty under the law of Utah that the foregoing is true and correct. 
Signed on the ___ day of ______, 2023, at _____________________________________ 
(insert State and County here). 

 
 
 
Printed name _________________________________________ 

 
Signature: ____________________________________________ 
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Exhibit C: Dining Deck Fee Analysis  
 

 

Item One Parking Space Number of Decks (9) / 10.78 spaces Notes

Total Possible Parking Collection Per Day $93 $1,003

Number of Days/lease (May 1 to October 30) 182

These days will be 

reduced in future years 

for infrastructure work.

Total Possible Parking Revenue (2023) $16,926 $0

Standard Fee (2019) - 30% of Main Street 

parking cost based on 2019 fee schedule $2,160 $23,285

current rate is 13% of 

current parking cost

30% of Revenue (2023) - based on current fee 

schedule $5,078 $54,739

Status Quo

Difference between Total Possible Revenue 

(2023) and Standard Fee $14,766 $159,177

If Council keeps the 

standard fee of $2,160 

in place as is (status 

quo), dining decks will 

be subsidized $135,000 

annually. 

New Lease 

Rate

Difference between standard fee (2019) and 

30% of Revenue (2023) $2,918 $31,454

If Council wanted to 

update Dining Deck fee to 

align with 30% of possible 

revenue of current parking 

rates, the new standard 

lease rate would be 

$5,078 per parking space 

(based on the dates of 

their deck and length 

spaced used).

Updated 

Subsidy

Difference between Total Possible Revenue 

(2023) and 30% of Revenue (2023) $11,848 $127,724

If Council chooses to 

increase the dining deck 

fee to reflect 30% of 

2023 parking rates, 

Dining Decks will be 

subsidized $73,004 

annually. 

Kimball Art Center Annual Costs (2023)

In 2023, the total 

city fees and hard 

cost for the Art 

Festival were 

$113,000. Of this 

total, the KAC 

pays the City $10K 

annually. 

In 2023, KAC's Economic Impact was 

estimated at $100,000, specific to the 

City. 

Based on KAC's 

economic impact that 

directly benefit the City, 

these fees are near a 

net zero subsidy. 

Kimball Art Center Dining Deck Revenues $1,500

KAC has worked with 

Bangkok Thai to 

accomidate their deck 

in 2024. The KAC will 

receive $13,500 from 

Restaurants 

participating in the 

dining deck program to 

keep decks on Main 

Street in the future. 

Dining Deck Fee Analysis

This analysis is based on the current fee schedule and the 2023 Dining Deck Program. Additional changes to the fee schedule and 

dates of the dining deck program will affect the total cost and subsidy. At the time of publish we did not have an economic impact 

analysis of the Dining Deck program, while there is likely some return in tax revenues to the City.  
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Planning Department  

 

Park City Municipal Corporation | 445 Marsac Avenue | P.O. Box 1480 | Park City, Utah 84060-1480 

Planning Department| (435) 615-5060 Main Office Line | (435) 615-4906 Fax Line 

 

 
Application:  Ordinance 2023-56, 1325 Empire Avenue and Parcel SA-200 
Authors:  Alexandra Ananth, Senior Planner 
Date:   December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Plat Amendment 
 

Summary 

On November 16, 2023, the City Council opened a public hearing and voted to approve 

Ordinance 2023-56, an Ordinance Approving the North Norfolk Plat Amendment 

Amending the Knudson Subdivision Parcel C and Parcel SA-200, and Re-Subdividing 

the Vacant Lots into Four Lots to Allow Four Single-Family Dwellings.  

Public Comment were taken from those in attendance at the hearing, but online 

comments were not taken.  

On November 30, 2023, the City Council voted to re-open the public hearing on 

December 14, 2023, limited to new speakers who were not able to provide online 

comment via zoom at the original hearing on November 16, 2023.  

The original Staff Report, Ordinance, and Exhibits are attached. Only Exhibit M: Public 

Input has been updated.  

Another vote is required. 
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City Council 
Staff Report 
 
Subject: 1325 Empire Avenue and Parcel SA-200 
Application:  PL-22-05357 
Authors:  Jaron Ehlers, Planning Technician 
   Alexandra Ananth, Senior Planner 
Date:   November 16, 2023 
Type of Item: Plat Amendment 
 
Recommendation 
(I) Review the proposed Plat Amendment to re-subdivide 1325 Empire Avenue and 
Parcel SA-200 into four Lots, (II) hold a public hearing, and (III) consider approving the 
Plat Amendment based on the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Conditions of 
Approval as outlined in the Draft Ordinance 2023-54 (Exhibit A). 
 
Description 
Applicant: 1325 Empire Avenue Holdings, LLC 
Location: 1325 Empire Avenue and Parcel SA-200 
Zoning District: Recreation Commercial (RC)  
Adjacent Land Uses: Single Family Dwellings, Park City Library and Field, 

Condominiums, Nightly Rentals, Resort 
Reason for Review: At the time the Planning Commission reviewed this plat 

amendment, plat amendments required Planning 
Commission recommendation and City Council final action 

 
COA  Condition of Approval 
LMC  Land Management Code 
PCMC  Park City Municipal Corporation 
RC  Recreation Commercial 
ROW   Right-of-Way 
 
Terms that are capitalized as proper nouns throughout this staff report are defined in LMC § 15-15-1. 

 
Summary 
The Applicant proposes a plat amendment to create four Single-Family Lots from one 
vacant 0.16-acre Lot (Lot C Knudson Subdivision, 7,125 square feet) and one vacant 
0.086-acre Parcel (SA-200, 3,735 square feet) at the end of the Norfolk Avenue Right-
of-Way north of 13th Street (See Exhibit B, Existing Conditions) on a total of 10,860 
square feet. 
  

Page 238 of 377

https://parkcity.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=15-15-1_Definitions


 
Figure 1: This image shows the two Lots proposed for re-subdivision into four smaller 

Lots to eventually accommodate four Single-Family Dwellings. 

 
 
All new Lots will have Access via a private Shared Driveway Easement connecting to 
Norfolk Avenue, a privately maintained public Right-of-Way.. 
 
The Planning Commission held four public hearings on this project including: 

• February 22, 2023 (Staff Report, Minutes) 

• May 10, 2023 (Staff Report, Minutes) 

• July 12, 2023 (Staff Report, Minutes) 

• September 27, 2023 (Staff Report, Recording) 
 
At the September 27, 2023, Planning Commission public hearing, the Commission 
voted 4-1 to forward the project for the City Council’s consideration. Commissioner 
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Suesser was not in support of the motion to approve but she was participating 
electronically, and her connection was terminated prior to registering her vote.  
Commissioners who did not vote for the project had concerns with the non-conforming 
nature and safety of Norfolk Avenue north of 13th Street which is narrow and not 
maintained by the City, the size and alignment of the proposed Lots, and the resulting 
maximum Building Footprints allowed under the formula in LMC § 15-2.16-5(D). 
 
At the September 27, 2023, Planning Commission meeting the Applicant agreed to a 
reduced maximum Building Pad for Lots A, B, and C, with Front Setbacks measured 
from the private shared driveway. The Applicant also agreed to take on sole 
maintenance of Norfolk Avenue north of 13th Street, including snow removal, relieving 
the abutters on Norfolk Avenue from this obligation. 
 
 

Figure 2: Proposed North Norfolk Plat Amendment. 
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Background 
On October 16, 1980, the City Council passed a resolution closing a portion of the 
Norfolk Avenue Right-of-Way north of 13th Street.  
 
That portion was described as “Norfolk Avenue from the front of Block 19, Lot 6 
northwest through 14th Street and continuing from the north side of 14th from Block 21 
through Lot 14” (Exhibit D). Block 19, Lot 6 is part of the property subject to this 
application, and the closure of Norfolk Avenue began where Norfolk Avenue now ends 
today (Exhibit E). On April 22, 1982, that closed portion of Norfolk Avenue was sold by 
the City (Exhibit F).  
 

 
Figure 3: This image illustrates the original Lots and Norfolk Avenue north of 13th Street. 

The yellow overlay shows the portion of Norfolk Avenue that was closed in 1980. The 
proposed amended properties are outlined in blue. 
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In 2014, a Plat Amendment was submitted for three lots, located at 1314 & 1350 Empire 
Avenue. It was part of a plan by the Park City Redevelopment Agency in cooperation 
with Gary Knudson who owned two of the parcels. On January 29, 2014, the Planning 
Commission forwarded a positive recommendation to City Council, and on February 13, 
2014, the City Council approved the proposed Plat Amendment (Exhibit G). The 
Knudson Plat was recorded with Summit County on February 27, 2014 (Exhibit H). The 
land was not developed and the third Lot, Knudson C, was eventually sold to the current 
Applicant. 
 

 
Figure 4: 2014 Knudson Subdivision with Lot C highlighted in Red. 

 
The above image is the plat depicting the 2014 Knudson Subdivision. Lot C is the only 
part of the Subdivision that would be amended by this Plat Amendment as it would be 
re-subdivided with Parcel SA-200, which is south and east of Lot C, as the new North 
Norfolk Subdivision.  
 
Analysis 
 
(I) The Proposed Lots would be accessed from a private shared driveway across 
Norfolk Avenue.  
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The proposed four Lots would be accessed across Norfolk Avenue, through a private 
shared driveway. LMC § 15-15-1 defines a shared driveway as follows: a single access 
vehicular way that is privately owned and maintained and provides access to two (2) or 
more Structures or off-Street Parking Areas, which are located on individual Lots. 
 

 

Figure 5: North Norfolk Avenue public Right-of-Way outlined in orange, proposed private 

Shared Driveway outlined in green. 

Additional properties with Access off this portion of North Norfolk Avenue include the 
Shaft Condominiums (four units), and 1307-1319 Norfolk Avenue (three Single-Family 
Dwellings). PCMC owns the property on the opposite side of the Street, including 1302 
Norfolk Avenue, a historic Single-Family Dwelling.  
 
This portion of North Norfolk is considered substandard because it was not constructed 
to City standards and is a dead end street with no turnaround area. A 2003 agreement 
was recorded with Summit County between the City and Peter Papineau Builders 
(Exhibit I), which supports this portion of North Norfolk Avenue remaining City Right-of-
Way but required the builder and his successors to maintain the Street, including being 
responsible for snow removal, due to its narrow width. The Applicant is proposing to 
take over responsibility for the privately maintained public Right-of-Way north of 13th 
Street as a Condition of Approval (COA 15). A new Encroachment Agreement will 
replace the existing (Exhibit I) and will relieve the existing abutters from their current 
obligation to maintain this portion of the public ROW. 
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The Applicant proposes to manage and maintain the new private shared driveway 
through a new Homeowners Association (HOA). The proposed private shared driveway 
is 19 feet in width and will include a pedestrian access easement to any public staircase 
that is constructed adjacent to the north property boundary of the proposed 
development.  

(II) The proposal to create four Lots complies with the Recreation Commercial 
(RC) Zoning District requirements outlined in LMC Chapter 15-2.16. 
 
At the September 27 meeting, the Applicant agreed that the Front Setback for three of 
the Lots, Lot A, Lot B, and Lot C, shall be measured from the shared driveway, and not 
from the front property line. Lot D’s Setbacks are measured from the property lines. 
 
 

Lot Size, Setbacks, Maximum Building Footprint 

 Lot A Lot B Lot C Lot D 

Lot Size 
 

2,479 sq. ft. 2,482 sq. ft. 2,618 sq. ft. 3,281 sq. ft. 

Front Setback 
 

12-13 ft. from 
the shared 
driveway 

12-13 ft. from 
the shared 
driveway 

12-13 ft. from 
the shared 
driveway 

12 -13 ft. from 
the property 
lines 

Side Setbacks 
 

3 ft. 3 ft. 3 ft. 3 ft. 

Rear Setback 12-13 ft. 
 

12-13 ft. 12-13 ft. 12-13 ft. 

Max Building 
Footprint 
 

1,078 sq. ft. 1,079 sq. ft. 1,129 sq. ft. 1,364 sq. ft. 

 
All Lots remain compliant with the Minimum Lot Area requirement of 1,875 square feet 
for a Single-Family Dwelling in the RC Zoning District, and none of the lots are large 
enough for a Duplex Dwelling. The measurement of the Front Setback from the private 
shared driveway for Lots A, B, and C, decreases the maximum allowed Building Pad for 
these Lots, but not the Building Footprint, which is based on the Lot size. Lot D was not 
required to measure Setbacks from the shared driveway because it has been 
determined to have two Front Setbacks (Exhibit J) and would significantly limit its 
buildability. 
 
In addition to Setbacks, future dwellings must also comply with the Zone Height of 27 
feet (LMC § 15-2.16-5(L)), and parking requirement of two parking spaces per Dwelling 
Unit (LMC § 15-4-6(A)).  
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(III) Applicant’s response to questions regarding Lot compatibility with the RC 
Zoning District. 
 
During the July 12 meeting, the Commission had questions regarding the compatibility 
of the proposed Lots with the Old Town neighborhood and the RC Zoning District 
considering the purpose includes “[promoting] the Development of Buildings with 
designs that reflect traditional Park City architectural patterns, character, and Site 
designs” (LMC § 15-2.16-1). Specific concerns were that the proposed Lots are larger 
than the traditional Old Town Lot size of 25’ X 75’ and the North to South orientation of 
proposed Lot D.  
 
In the Applicant’s Response, attached as Exhibit K, the Applicant states that of the 176 
Lots in the RC Zoning District, 

- “Only 27% (47 Lots) are traditionally sized single or 1.5 width lots with an East 
West orientation. 

- 73% (129 Lots) are “nontraditional” sized lots, i.e., wider than 1.5 or different than 
East West Orientation. 

- 15% (26 Lots) of Lots are North - South Orientation.” 
 
The Applicant also notes that the abutting Lot, 1302 Norfolk Avenue, is a North - South 
oriented Lot.  
 
(IV) Applicant’s response to slope, topography, and drainage questions from the 
Planning Commission. 
 
During the July 12 meeting, the Commission raised concerns regarding slope, 
topography, and storm water drainage. The Applicant has indicated that the Driveways 
within the Subdivision will be less than a 5% slope at the steepest, which complies with 
LMC § 15-3-3(A)(4), which prohibits Driveways from being steeper than 14%. This 
analysis has been reviewed by the Engineering Department and the Engineering 
Department has not raised any concerns.  
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Figure 6: Slope Analysis Provided by Applicant (does not show up to date Building Pads) 

 
The proposed development is not located in the Sensitive Lands Overlay or the Historic 
District, and as such is not subject to a Steep Slope Conditional Use Permit. The slopes 
on the property range from 0% to greater than 31% (Exhibit K). 
 
(V) Options regarding the creation of a public staircase on adjoining City 
property. 
 
The Park City Fire District (PCFD) requires that an emergency services access stair be 
installed from Empire Avenue to the site, to provide access in case of an emergency 
due to the lack of sufficient turnaround area for a Fire Truck on Norfolk Avenue. The 
Applicant has secured an easement across Knudson C for the fire access stair, but the 
easement is for Emergency Services access only, and does not allow for public access 
on this staircase that must be privately maintained by the Applicant and kept clear of 
snow at all times. (Exhibit C). 
 
The Applicant and Staff are exploring the option of the Applicant building a public 
staircase on neighboring City property to the north, 1330 Empire Avenue. This site is 
the proposed location of Woodside Phase 2 (City housing project under design but not 
yet approved), which will contain a public staircase/access from Empire Avenue to 
Woodside Avenue.  
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The City’s preferred approach would be for the Applicant to contract and build a public 
staircase from Empire Avenue to the beginning of the Applicant’s private shared 
driveway, ending where the private fire access stair would but on the City’s property just 
north of the Applicant’s parcel so there are not two adjacent sets of stairs. After 
construction, the City would reimburse the Applicant for the costs, minus the amount 
that building the required fire access stair would have cost the Applicant, which is 
estimated to cost approximately $72,500 (Exhibit L). The staircase would be six feet 
wide and maintained by the City. Discussions between the City and the Applicant are 
ongoing. The City would be responsible for including the public stairs to Woodside 
Avenue as part of the Woodside Phase 2 project. 
 

 
Figure 6: Image of the Plat with the potential location of a Public Stair on City property, 
outlined in red. 

 
Condition of Approval 4 establishes that if an agreement can be reached for the building 
of a Public Staircase on City property at 1330 Empire Avenue, this would satisfy the fire 
access stair requirement.  
 
(VI) The proposal to create four Lots complies with the Subdivision Procedures 
outlined in LMC Chapter 15-7.1. 
 
Plat Amendments shall be reviewed according to LMC § 15-7.1-6 Final Subdivision Plat 
and approval requires (a) a finding of Good Cause, and (b) a finding that no Public 
Street, Right-of-Way, or easement has been vacated or amended. 
 

(a) There is Good Cause for this Plat Amendment because it will allow for 
development consistent with the Old Town Neighborhood and purposes of 
the Recreation Commercial Zoning District. 
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LMC § 15-15-1 defines Good Cause as “[p]roviding positive benefits and mitigating 
negative impacts, determined on a case by case basis to include such things as: 
providing public amenities and benefits, resolving existing issues and non-conformities, 
addressing issues related to density, promoting excellent and sustainable design, 
utilizing best planning and design practices, preserving the character of the 
neighborhood and of Park City and furthering the health, safety, and welfare of the Park 
City community.” 
 
The Lots affected by this Plat Amendment are close to Park City Mountain Resort, 
increasing potential housing opportunities near the resort. 
 
While the Recreation Commercial (RC) Zoning District is not part of the Historic District, 
the Lots affected by this Plat Amendment are in the Old Town neighborhood of the 
General Plan: 
 

 
 
The purpose of the Recreation Commercial (RC) Zoning District in LMC § 15-2.16-1 
also states “promote Park City’s mountain and Historic character by designing projects 
that relate to the mining and Historic architectural heritage of the City.” 
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The proposed private shared driveway for this Plat Amendment is in keeping with the 
historic character of Old Town. LMC § 15-3-3(H)(2), encourages shared driveways. 
 
Goal 6.1 of the General Plan for Old Town says that “[i]nfill and new additions should be 
compatible with the neighborhood context and subordinate to existing historic 
structures.”  
 

 
Figure 7: Proposed Four Lot Subdivision with shared access shown is red. 

 
Highlighted in green above are nearby lots of similar size, most of which have Single-
Family Dwellings on them. The approximate locations of the proposed Lots for this 
amendment are identified in solid colors. The approximate location of the 19-foot 
proposed private shared driveway access easement is identified in red.  
 
The four lots are proposed to be created to build Single Family Dwellings explained in 
Analysis II. Single Family Dwellings are common in the RC Zoning District and the 
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proposed Lots are in keeping with those requirements. Lot D would create a North-
South Lot. Although not common in this area, there are North-South Lots in the vicinity 
such as adjacent 1302 Norfolk Avenue.  
 
No Public Street or Right-of-Way is vacated and no Public Easements will be vacated. 
 
(VII) The Development Review Committee requires Conditions of Approval. 
 
The Development Review Committee1 reviewed this project on September 20, 2022, 
and again on May 2, 2023. Feedback has been incorporated into the final Plat and 
Conditions of Approval. 
   
Department Review 
The Planning Department, Engineering Department, and City Attorney’s Office reviewed 
this staff report.  
 
Notice 
Staff published notice on the City’s website and the Utah Public Notice website and 
posted notice to the property on February 8, 2023, June 23, 2023, and November 1, 
2023. Staff mailed courtesy notice to property owners within 300 feet on February 8, 
2023, June 23, 2023, and November 1, 2023. The Park Record published notice on 
February 8, 2023, June 23, 2023, and November 1, 2023.2  
 
Public Input 
The Planning Commission received extensive written and oral public input on this 
project (Exhibit M). The majority of concerns were from the immediate abutters to the 
south of the Applicant’s property (1307, 1315, and 1319 Norfolk Avenue) who are 
subject to the existing Encroachment Agreement (Exhibit I) and have maintained 
Norfolk Avenue north of 13th street since 2003, including private snow removal for this 
publicly owned street, as required by the Agreement. Their concerns include:  

• the safety and non-conforming status of this portion of Norfolk Avenue regarding 
its narrowness and lack of turn around area 

• concern for emergency service vehicles 

• the impacts of additional development and vehicular traffic on this non-
conforming road that is publicly owned but privately maintained 

• the Applicant’s plan for snow removal (COA 3) 

• that Applicant’s plan for trash management (COA 14)  

• the Applicant has not developed a plan to maintain this portion of the road (COA 
15).  

 

 
1 The Development Review Committee meets the first and third Tuesday of each month to review and 
provide comments on Planning Applications, including review by the Building Department, Engineering 
Department, Sustainability Department, Transportation Planning Department, Code Enforcement, the City 
Attorney’s Office, Local Utilities including Rocky Mountain Power and Dominion Energy, the Park City Fire 
District, Public Works, Public Utilities, and the Snyderville Basin Water Reclamation District (SBWRD). 
2 LMC § 15-1-21 

Page 250 of 377

https://parkcity.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=15-1-21_Notice_Matrix


These abutters request the Council consider actions for the City to improve, maintain 
and plow this portion of the road in light of additional development, and due to the fact 
that the City owns the eastern side of the road and could, potentially widen this road in 
the future.  
 
The widening of this portion of the road is complicated by the location of a City-owned 
Historic Structure at 1302 Norfolk Avenue, which would have to be moved, and the 
future development of Woodside Phase 2, which is still in design.  
 
Staff recommends the Council consider this issue in coordination with the Woodside 
Phase 2 project and consider creating a turnaround area on City property if the road 
cannot be widened. 
 
Alternatives  

• The City Council may approve Ordinance No. 2023-54, with Conditions;  

• The City Council may deny Ordinance No. 2023-54; or 

• The City Council may request additional information and continue the discussion 
to a date certain.  

 
Exhibits 
Exhibit A: Draft Ordinance No. 2023-54 

Attachment 1: North Norfolk Plat Amendment  
Exhibit B: Survey of Existing Conditions 
Exhibit C: Fire Access Easement 
Exhibit D:  Resolution from 1980 re. the Closure of Norfolk Avenue   
Exhibit E: Park City Survey 
Exhibit F:  Resolution 11-82 authorizing the sale of closed portion of Norfolk Avenue 
Exhibit G:  Ordinance 14-03 Approving Knudson Plat 
Exhibit H: 2014 Knudson Plat 
Exhibit I:  Encroachment Agreement Norfolk Avenue 
Exhibit J:  Planning Director Determination for Setbacks on Lot D 
Exhibit K:  Applicant Response for Planning Commission Questions  
Exhibit L:  Applicant Stair Cost Estimate 
Exhibit M:  Public Input 
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Ordinance No. 2023-54 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE NORTH NORFOLK PLAT AMENDMENT, 
LOCATED AT 1325 EMPIRE AVENUE AND PARCEL SA-200, PARK CITY, UTAH 

 
WHEREAS, the owners of the property known as 1325 Empire Avenue and 

Parcel SA-200 have petitioned the City Council to amend the Knudson Subdivision and 
Parcel SA-200, located in the Recreation Commercial Zoning District, and re-subdivide 
it into four Single-Family Lots known as the North Norfolk Subdivision; and 

 
WHEREAS, on February 8, 2023, staff posted notice to the property and 

according to the requirements of the Land Management Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, staff mailed courtesy notice to all affected property owners on 

February 8, 2023, and legal notice was published in the Park Record and on the Park 
City and Utah Public Notice websites; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, on February 22, 2023, held a public 

hearing and continued the discussion to April 12, 2023; 
 
WHEREAS, on April 12, 2023, the Planning Commission reviewed the 

application, held a public hearing, and continued the discussion to May 10, 2023; and 
 
WHEREAS, on May 10, 2023, the Planning Commission reviewed the 

application, held a public hearing, and continued the application to a date uncertain; and 
 
WHEREAS, on June 23, 2023, staff re-posted notice to the property and 

according to the requirements of the Land Management Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, on June 23, 2023, staff re-mailed courtesy notice to all affected 

property owners, and legal notice was published in the Park Record and on the Park 
City and Utah Public Notice websites; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 12, 2023, the Planning Commission reviewed the 

application, held a public hearing, and continued the application to September 27, 2023; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, on September 27, 2023, the Planning Commission forwarded a 

positive recommendation to the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, on November 1, 2023, staff re-mailed courtesy notice to all affected 

property owners, and legal notice was published in the Park Record and on the Park 
City and Utah Public Notice websites; and 

 
 
WHEREAS, on November 16, 2023, the City Council reviewed the applicant and 
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held a public hearing; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of Park City, Utah, to approve the North 

Norfolk Plat Amendment; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Park City, Utah as 

follows: 
 
SECTION 1. APPROVAL. The North Norfolk Plat Amendment, as shown in 

Attachment 1, is approved subject to the following Findings of Facts, Conclusions of 
Law, and Conditions of Approval: 

 
Findings of Fact: 
1. On October 16, 1980, the City Council passed a resolution closing a portion of the 

Norfolk Avenue right-of-way.  
2. On April 22, 1982, that closed portion of Norfolk Avenue was sold by the City. 
3. In 2014, a Plat Amendment was submitted for three lots, located at 1314 & 1350 

Empire Avenue known as the Knudson Plat.  
4. On January 29, 2014, the Planning Commission forwarded a positive 

recommendation to City Council, and on February 13, 2014, City Council approved 
the Knudson Plat.  

5. The Knudson Plat was recorded with Summit County on February 27, 2014. 
6. The property within the Knudson Plat was not developed. 
7. In May of 2022, the Applicant submitted a Plat Amendment, proposing to subdivide 

vacant Lot C of the Knudson Plat and adjacent Parcel SA-200 into four Lots to 
eventually be developed with four Single Family Dwellings. 

8. The proposed four Lots comply with the minimum lot size requirements for the 
Recreation Commercial (RC) Zoning District requirements outlined in LMC Chapter 
15-2.16. 

9. The Proposed Lots will be accessed via a private shared driveway across Norfolk 
Avenue. 

10. The minimum width of a 19-foot-wide private Shared Driveway is in keeping with the 
historical context of Old Town. 

11. There is Good Cause for this Plat Amendment because it will allow for development 
that promotes density that is consistent with the Resort Neighborhood and purposes 
of the Recreation Commercial (RC) Zoning District. 
 

Conclusions of Law: 
1. Neither the public nor any person will be materially injured by the proposed plat 

amendment. 
2. Approval of the plat amendment, subject to the conditions of approval, will not 

adversely affect the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Park City. 
3. The proposal complies with the Recreation Commercial (RC) Zoning District 

requirements outlined in LMC Chapter 15-2.16, and the Subdivision Procedures 
outlined in LMC Chapter 15-7.1. 
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Conditions of Approval: 
1. The City Planner, City Attorney, and City Engineer will review and approve the final 

form and content of the plat for compliance with State law, the Land Management 
Code, and the Conditions of Approval, prior to recordation of the plat.  

2. The Applicant shall record the plat at the County within one (1) year from the date of 
City Council approval. If recordation has not occurred within one year, this approval 
for the plat will be void, unless a request for an extension is made in writing prior to 
the expiration date and an extension is granted by the City Council.  

3. Prior to submitting for building permits, the Applicants must provide a geotechnical 
report and storm drainage storage plan for the site including for snow storage. 
Construction of basements may be limited on the recommendation of a Licensed 
Geotechnical engineer and the City Engineering Department. All drainage must be 
retained on site, and the storm drainage storage plan shall be reviewed and 
approved by the City Engineering and Building Departments. 

4. A Plat Note shall indicate that before any combustible material is delivered to the 
site, emergency access stairs required by the Park City Fire District must be 
completed and approved by the Fire District. The Fire Access Easement shown on 
the proposed Plat must be recorded with the County before or concurrent with the 
recordation of the Plat. The Applicant and their successors and assigns shall be 
responsible for maintaining the private stairs and keeping them clear of snow so that 
they are available for emergency access at all times. 

5. If an agreement is made for the construction of a public staircase on 1330 Empire 
Avenue that accesses the North Norfolk Subdivision, and satisfies the Building, 
Housing, Engineering, and Planning Departments as well as the Park City Fire 
District requirements, then that may satisfy COA 4 above, and shall not require a 
Plat Amendment, as long as those stairs are complete and access the North Norfolk 
Subdivision. Public Stairs shall be maintained and cleared of snow by the City. 

6. Prior to the recordation of this Plat, a 30-Foot Non-Exclusive Utility Easement, as 
shown on the proposed Plat, must be recorded with Summit County.  

7. A Plat Note shall indicate that no Buildings can be built within the 30-foot Non-
Exclusive Utility Easement. Landscaping and driveways may be constructed but 
owners should be aware that these items can be removed at any time and the Lot 
owners will be responsible for any replacements within the easement area. 

8. Parking is not allowed on the private shared driveway, and the owners shall place 
signs that indicate it is private and parking on the shared driveway is prohibited.  

9. A Plat Note shall indicate that Lot D shall have two Front Setbacks, with the Western 
Setback being 12 feet and the Southern Setback being 13 feet, the North Setback 
being a rear setback of 12 feet, and the East Setback a side setback of 3 feet.  All 
setbacks for Lot D shall be measured from the property lines. Primary access will be 
from the South Side. 

10. A Plat note shall indicate that the Setbacks for Lots A, B, and C shall be measured 
from the private shared driveway and shall be indicated on the final recorded plat. 

11. A Plat Note shall indicate that in the event of construction of a public stair with 
access to the North Norfolk property, four feet of the 19-foot-wide private shared 
driveway shall be used to allow public pedestrian access to the public stairs. That 
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access will be designated by signage posted in a location to be approved by the 
Planning, Engineering, and Trails and Open Space Departments and must be 
constructed with a material visually distinct from the rest of the private shared 
driveway.  

12. Prior to recordation of this plat, the Applicant shall record documents obliging the 
owners of each Lot to be financially responsible for maintaining the private shared 
driveway serving the Lots including snow removal and storage. This condition may 
be satisfied by either: (i) Applicant’s formation of a homeowners’ association whose 
recorded governing documents shall establish responsibility for such maintenance; 
or (ii) if Applicant does not form a homeowners’ association, another recorded form 
of covenants to be recorded prior to or contemporaneous with the recordation of the 
plat which binds each Lot owner to contribute twenty-five percent (25%) of the cost 
of such maintenance. 

13. The Applicant shall submit a trash receptacle management plan in a form approved 
by the City Engineer. 

14. Prior to plat recordation, the Applicant shall enter into a new encroachment 
agreement outlining the Applicant’s responsibilities for maintenance and snow 
removal of Norfolk Avenue north of 13th Street with the Engineering Department in a 
form approved by the City Attorney's Office. 

15. Prior to the issuance of the Certificate of occupancy for the 4th Lot or last house to 
be constructed, the Applicant shall be responsible for seal coating Norfolk Avenue 
between 13th Street and the subject property to repair any damage to the roadway 
due to construction activity. The Building and Engineering Department shall review 
and approve any permits necessary for seal coating the public Right-of Way.  

16. A Plat Note shall indicate that this Plat is subject to Ordinance 2023-54. 
 

 
SECTION 2. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall take effect upon publication. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this November 16, 2023. 
 

PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
 
 

_________________________________ 
Nann Worel, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 

 
____________________________________ 
City Recorder 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
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________________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachment 1: Plat 
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RESOLUTION 

Resolution No .  1 1 - 8 2  

A Resolution Authori zing a Property 

Trade on Norfolk Avenue i n  Park City 

WHEREAS ,  the City Council of Park Ci ty , Utah , 
did autho r i z e  tne transfer o f  city-owned l and on 
Norfolk Avenue , t o  Richard and Kit Davies ,  and , 
property belonging t o  the Davies to be accepted by 
the c i ty , and , 

WHERE A S ,  the transfer will benef i t  the 
c i ti zens of Park City , and the future planning 
of s tr e e ts within the c i ty . 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City 
Council of Park Ci t y , Utah , t h a t  the City Attorney 
is authori zed to h ave e xecuted the deeds to accomp l i s h  
t h i s  transfer of l and , which descripti ons a r e  at tached 
hereto . 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 2 2 nd day of Apr i l , 1 9 8 2 . 

P ARK C ITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

t'J,� (J. �v t%� C .  Gre en , Jr . 
Mayor 
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QUIT-CLAIM DEED 
[CORPORATE FORM) 

PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 

organized and existing under the laws of the 
, of County of 

grantor, hereby QUIT CLAIMS to 

Stare of Utah, with its 
, a corporation 

principal office at 
, State of Utah, 

RICHARD B .  DAVIES AND KIT S .  DAVIES 
of 

the following described tract of land in 
State of Utah: 

grantee 
for the sum of 

DOLLARS,_ 

County, 

Beginning at the Northerly most corner of Lot 5 ,  Block 7 8 ,  Park City Survey, 
and running thence North 66° 22 ' East , 10 feet , thence South 23° 3 8 1  East along 

a line 10 feet off set and parallel to the westerly line of Norfolk Avenue as 
plotted , 3 7 . 23 feet to a point which is 10 feet , more or less, Northwesterly 
from an existing retaining wall along the Northwesterly line of existing Norfolk 

Avenue ,  thence South 15° 4 2 1  30" Wes t ,  more or les s ,  parallel with said retaining 
wall 15 . 7 7 feet to the Northeasterly line of Lot 4 ,  said Block 7 8 ,  thence North 
2 3 °  3 8 ' West along the easterly line of Lots 4 and 5 ,  said Block 7 8 ,  4 9 . 43 feet 
to · the point of beginning . 

Containing 433 . 3 0  square feet . 

The officers who sign this deed hereby certify that this deed and the transfer represented 
thereby was duly authorized under a resolution duly adopted by the board of directors of the 
grantor at a lawful meeting duly held and attended by a quorum. 

In witness whereof, the grantor has caused its corporate name and seal to be hereunto affixed 
by its duly authorized officers this day of , A. D: ·19 

Attest: -----------------------------------------------------------Company 

:�ji!:_�: ___ (p_�--� �------:l�-------Secretary. 

[CORPORATE SEAL) /7'<--<7.c--l/ Premleae. 

STATE OF UTAH, 

County of 

On the day of , A. D. 
personally appeared before me and 
who being by me duly sworn did say, each for himself, that he, the said 
is the president, and he, the said is the secretary 
of Company, and that the within and foregoing 
instrument was signed in behalf of said corporation by authority of a resolution of its board of 
directors and said and 
each duly acknowledged to me that said corporation executed the same and that the seal affixed 
is the seal of said corporation. 

Notary Public. 

My commission exp ires _________________________________________ My residence is . ____________________ ---------------_______ -------------
.. , __ -· .. -- - ·-·--·-·--·----- ·--··· -----·----"·---.. --,·--·� -·····--------· .. -· .. - "·--· "" --� .. --- --··- .. ., . .  --·- ·- ______ ,,_ ' --- , . --- -- . 

-····---�-'-=��!5.-�9.-.:.1-9.3C · ·  ©_G.::�j>i.£:C,:0l.:::::.:;;1.i1Uii..z��Q::_i,e:si_£i;Ai.ii.�.clT�-· _· --
· 
-----· -- -

· 
---· - · ·

·- · - ·- - ·
- -
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Mail tax notice to __ ? a2'..:�� it
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( EXEMPT ) 

QUIT-CLAIM DEED 

RICHARD B .  DAVIES AND KIT S .  DAVIES 

of , County of 
QUIT-CLAIM to 

PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
of 

the following described tract of land in 
State of Utah: 

grantor 
, State of Utah, hereby 

grantee 
for the sum of 

DOLLARS, 

County, 

Beginning at the Southeasterly most corner of Lot 3 ,  Block 7 8 ,  Park City 
Survey, and running thence South 66° 22 ' West along the southerly line of Lot 3 ,  
2 0 . 9 6 feet to a point which is 10 feet , more or les s ,  northwesterly from an 
existing retaining wall along the northwesterly line of existing Norfolk Avenue ,  
thence North 1 5 °  42 ' 30" East , more o r  les s ,  parallel with said retaimi.ng wall , 
3 3 . 07 feet , more or les s ,  to the northeasterly line of said Lot 4 ,  said Block 78, 
thence along said northeasterly line of L o t s  4 and 3 ,  South 2 3 °  3 8 1  Eas t ,  25 . 57 
feet to the point of beginning . 

Containing 267 . 96 square feet. 

WITNESS the hand of said grantor , this 
, A. D. one thousand nine hundred and 

Signed in the presence of 

--------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------

STATE OF UTAH, 
County of 

On the 
thousand nine hundred and 

} SS, 

-----------
~ ��-

day of 
personally appeared before me 

the signer of the foregoing instrument, who duly acknowledge to me that he 
same. 

day of 

A. D. one 

executed the 

Notary Public. 
My commission expires Address: 

BLANK NO. 103- © GEM PTG, CO. - 3 2 1 5  SO. 2600 EAST - SA!..T LAKE CITY 
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September 7, 2023 

 
VIA EMAIL 
 
Park City Municipal Corporation 
Park City Planning Department 
Attn: Jaron Ehlers 
PO Box 1480 
Park City, Utah 84060 
 
  Re: 1325 Empire Plat Amendment Application 
 
Dear Jaron, 

This firm represents 1325 Empire Avenue Holdings, LLC, the owner and developer of that certain 
real property commonly known as 1325 Empire Avenue and Parcel No SA-200 (collectively “1325 
Empire”). Please accept this letter as a response to the most recent comments from the July 12, 
2023 Planning Commission Meeting.    

This application is the most recent step in seeking to develop the vacant ground located at 1325 
Empire. We’re proposing to amend the plat for 1325 Empire to form four lots. This application 
has been fully vetted by staff and—because the application complies with Park City’s Land 
Management Code—a proposed positive recommendation was provided by Staff. The application 
has now been heard by the Planning Commission on four separate occasions, with public input 
being taken at each hearing.  

At the most recent July 12, 2023 hearing, the Planning Commissioners raised the following 
additional concerns: (1) Are the proposed lot sizes and orientations consistent with the immediate 
surrounding area and the zone? (2) Is the access right of way off Upper Norfolk a dead-end road 
under the LMC? (3) Will the plat amendment lead to drainage, dirt runoff, or flooding issues? (4) 
Will the grade transition from the City’s right of way into the private shared driveway cause a 
substantial slope? (5) Are there other areas in Old Town where multiple individual driveways are 
accessed off a shared driveway?  

We will address each of these questions individually below.  

Justin	Keys	
Justin@hlhparkcity.com	
Direct:	435.731.9195	
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1. The proposed lot sizes and orientations are consistent with the immediate surrounding area 
and the zone.  

We have performed an extensive zoning study of the RC zone. As demonstrated below there is a 
wide range of lot sizes and orientations in the RC zone. Based on our findings, our proposed 
development is not unusual for the zone and will blend in and harmonize with the surrounding 
neighborhood.  

There are 176 Lots in the RC zone. A single lot is a lot that measures 25’ x 75’. Another common 
lot size is a 1.5 lot, measuring 37.5’ x 75’. After reviewing the entire RC zone, we found that the 
lot sizes within the zone breakout are as follows: 

• Only 27% (47 Lots) are single lots or 1.5 lots with an East West orientation. 

• 73% (129 Lots) are “nontraditional” lots, i.e., wider than 1.5 or different than East West 
orientation. 

• 15% (26 Lots) are North to South Orientation. 

It bears noting, that the home abutting lot D, 1302 13th Street, which is a historic structure owned 
by the city, has a North to South Orientation. 
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2. The shared driveway is not a dead-end road under the plain language of Park City’s Land 
Management Code.  

As Staff correctly noted in its Staff Report, 1325 Empire has frontage on a platted City Right of 
Way (the “ROW”) in the form of Norfolk Avenue. Norfolk Avenue was constructed privately 
(with the City’s blessing) and does not meet the City’s Street standards. The ROW is subject to a 
non-exclusive encroachment agreement to which 1325 as an abutter is a third-party beneficiary.   
 
Norfolk Avenue is a City ROW and is technically a “dead-end road.” The proposed shared 
driveway however is not a dead-end street under LMC § 15-7.3-4(A)(6) because it is not a road. 
According to the definitions found in LMC § 15-15-1, the “Road Classifications” include “[t]he 
Streets, highways, Roads, and Rights-of-Way designated on the Streets master plan.” As Staff 
noted in its Staff Report, neither the proposed shared driveway or any other extension of the ROW 
is contemplated in the Streets master plan.  
 
Similarly, the Definitions section of the LMC includes a separate definition for a “Shared 
Driveway.” A Shared Driveway is “[a] single access vehicular way that is privately owned and 
maintained and provides access to two (2) or more Structure or off-street Parking Areas, which are 
located on individual lots.” LMC § 15-15-1.  
 
Finally, it bears noting that the definitions section of Park City’s Parking Code found in Chapter 9 
of Park City Code supports this interpretation. There, the Code defines “Street” as including 
“[e]very street, alley, roadway, right of way, or on-street parking space under the control and/or 
maintenance of Park City, whether on public or private property, including all streets shown as 
public streets on the Street Master Plan.” But it goes on to expressly state that “[t]he term streets 
shall not include private driveways, parking lots, or private roadways.” Park City Code § 9-1-3(G) 
(emphasis added). 
 
Put simply, the proposed shared driveway is not a dead-end road, because it is not a road. It is not 
a road or drive “designated on the Streets Master Plan;” rather, it is a private shared driveway.   
 
3.  The plat amendment will not lead to drainage, dirt runoff, or flooding issues. 
 
We have retained an engineer who has developed a Storm Water Calculation Plan. The Engineer 
has determined that the development must be able to detain 511 cubic feet of water runoff, per 
Park City requirements. The engineer has also developed a plan that will detain 750 cubic feet of 
water runoff. The Engineer has determined that there is not any abnormal risk of drainage issues, 
dirt runoff, or flooding. See the enclosed Storm Water Management Plan prepared by Alliance 
Engineering. 
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4.  The grade transition from the City’s right of way into the private shared driveway will not 
cause a substantial slope.  

 
We have examined the slope and grade transition from the City platted ROW to the development 
site. The transition between the properties is less than 2%. The existing road will continue on 
without any material increase or decrease in slope. See the enclosed Site Sections and Slope 
Analysis.   
 
5.  There are multiple other areas in Old Town where multiple individual driveways are accessed 

from a shared driveway. 
 
It is the narrow roads, historic structures, and dramatic grades that make Old Town Park City 
iconic. But what makes for convenient pedestrian access for silver miners does not necessarily 
transition well to an automobile-based society. Henry Ford may have put a vehicle in every 
American garage, but he did not provide public street access to the homes of Old Town. It is for 
this reason that, over the years, Park City has had to be creative in providing its residents vehicular 
access to their homes.     
 
An example is Upper Norfolk Drive. Upper Norfolk Drive is a tight, winding drive that accesses 
historic structures and new homes on the edge of Old Town and the ski slopes. Most of the 
residences are accessed over City rights of way that don’t come close to meeting City Street 
standards. When new development has occurred, it has been enabled through shared driveways 
that front the rights of way.  
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This section of Norfolk Avenue is another area where a shared driveway solution is appropriate. 
As the City Engineer noted, there is a historic structure (1302 Norfolk Avenue) that is encroaching 
on the Norfolk ROW. For Norfolk Avenue to be continued past 13th Street as a City Street, the 
City would be required to demolish 1302 or somehow jog around it.  
 
Of course, the simpler solution under the Code is to simply allow the limited remaining 
development to occur from a shared driveway. A tool that is available under the Code and that has 
similarly been used in the past. This, of course, is the route the Applicant has elected in this 
circumstance.  
 
We appreciate your review of our Plat Amendment Application. Please let me know if there is any 
additional information required to process our application. 
 
     Very Truly Yours, 
     HOGGAN LEE HUTCHINSON 
 
     
      

Justin J. Keys  
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WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO:

SKYLER LLC

C/O: GARY KNUDSON 01184065 B: 2725 P: 1173

POBOX511 Page 1of7

PARK CITY, UT 84060-0511 Rhonda Francis Summit County Recorder

02/24/2022 03:35:42 PM Fee $40.00

Knudson-B By COALITION TITLE AGENCY, INC.

Knudson-C ElectronicallyRecorded

SA-200

EASEMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EASEMENT AGREEMENT (the"Agreement") isenteredintoon this Ú day of

J).kA 2022 ("EffectiveDate")by and between MARYA, LLC ("Grantor"),and

SKYLER, LLC, formerly known as Skyler LTD ("Grantee").

RECITALS

A. On thedatehereof,Grantorowns realpropertyinSummit County generallylocated

at1314 EMPIRE AVE, Summit County,Utah,which ismore particularlydescribed
as:

LOT B KNUDSON SUBDIVISION; ACCORDING TO

THE OFFICIAL PLAT ON FILE IN THE SUMMIT

COUNTY RECORDERS OFFICE CONT 4,133 SQ FT OR

O 0.09AC. 2229-1106.
90

Tax ParcelNo.: KNUDSON-B (GRANTOR PROPERTY)

B. On the datehereof,the Grantee owns realpropertyin Summit County generally
locatedat 1325 EMPIRE AVE, Summit County, Utah,which ismore particularly
describedas:

LOT C KNUDSON SUBDIVISION; ACCORDING TO THE

OFFICIAL PLAT ON FILE IN THE SUMMIT COUNTY

RECORDERS OFFICE CONT 7,125 SQ FT OR 0.16AC.

Tax ParcelNo.: KNUDSON-C (GRANTEE PROPERTY 1)

C. On thedatehereof,theGranteeowns realpropertyinSummit County, Utah,which
ismore particularlydescribedas:

ALL OF LOTS 6 AND 7 IN BLOCK 19,SNYDERS ADDITION

4868-0621-2112,v.1
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TO PARK CITY, UTAH ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL

PLAT ON FILE IN THE SUMMIT COUNTY RECORDERS

OFFICE

Tax ParcelNo.: SA-200 (GRANTEE PROPERTY 2)

D. The only purpose of thisAccess Easement is to allow firedepartment and

emergency services("Emergency Services")access to Grantee Property 1 and

Grantee Property2 by and through an accesseasement,describedherein,forthe

benefitoftheGranteeProperty1 and GranteeProperty2.

E. There existsa certainfivefoot (5')wide unimproved dirtpath acrossa certain

portionoftheGrantorProperty,as depictedon ExhibitA ("AccessEasement").

F. The GrantorPropertyand GranteePropertyareadjoiningparcels.GranteeProperty
1 (KNUDSON -

C) is adjacentto the Access Easement. However, Grantee

Property 2 (SA-200) is not adjacentto the Access Easement and Emergency
Servicesmay onlyaccessGranteeProperty2 by way of GranteeProperty1 and not

by way of any otherportionof GRANTOR'S PROPERTY.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, forgood and valuableconsideration,thesufficiencyand receiptof

which arehereby acknowledged, GRANTOR hereby grantsa non-exclusiveand restrictedaccess

easement overtheACCESS EASEMENT for ingressand egressby Emergency Servicestoaccess

and forthe benefitof GRANTEE'S PROPERTY 1 and GRANTEE PROPERTY 2 on theterms

and provisionssetforthherein.

1. The Recitalsabove and allExhibitshereto are hereby incorporatedinto this

Agreement by thisreference.

2. The Access Easement isas depictedinExhibitA which isincorporatedherein.

3. Granteeand any successorsininteresthave a righttoconstructa concrete/asphalt
sidewalkwithinthefulllengthand widthoftheEasement Access area.Granteeand any successors

are responsibleforallcostsof constructionand maintenance of any such improvements inthe

Access Easement. Granteehasno rightstootherwiseimprove upon ormake improvements,inany
form, to the Access Easement, includingbut not limitedto,grading,retaining,expanding the

width,or any otherimprovement on theGrantorProperty,includingtheACCESS EASEMENT,
withoutpriorwrittenpermissionfrom Grantor,exceptas may be requiredfrom time totime by a

governmental authorityhaving jurisdictionover the Emergency Servicesand then only for

purposesofprovidingaccessforEmergency Services,(providedsuch governmentalauthorityshall

nothave therightto increasethewidth oftheAccess Easement).

4868-0621-2112,v.1
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4. Grantorshallhave no righttoimpede orrestrictaccesstoortheuseoftheACCESS
EASEMENT by the Emergency Servicesprovidersas contemplatedherein,provided,however
thatGrantorshallhave therighttorestrictaccesstotheAccess Easement ina manner acceptable
toPark CityEmergency Servicesprovidersso thatonly Emergency Servicesprovidersmay have
accesstotheAccess Easement.

5. The partiesacknowledge thatPark Citycurrentlyhas planstobuilda publicaccess
easement on propertyadjacentto Grantor'sProperty(the"CityEasement"). Ifand when theCity
Easement isconstructed,and providedthattheCityEasement isacceptedinwritingby Park City
Municipality(includingEmergency Services)as providingequivalentand acceptableEmergency
Servicesaccess to Grantee Property 1 and Grantee Property 2, thisAccess Easement shall

automaticallyterminate.Provided,however, thatifGranteeProperty1 isableto connectdirectly
to the City Easement, the Access Easement shallbe redescribedas the smallestpossiblearea

necessarytoallowEmergency ServicesAccess toGranteeProperty1 from theCityEasement.

6. GRANTEE HAS INSPECTED THE EASEMENT PROPERTY AND ACCEPTS
THE EASEMENT PROPERTY IN "AS-IS","WHERE-IS" CONDITION, WITH ALL FAULTS,
AND GRANTEE AGREES THAT GRANTOR HAS NOT MADE, AND DOES NOT MAKE,
ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS
TO THE PHYSICAL CONDITION OF THE EASEMENT PROPERTY; AND GRANTOR
EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL SUCH WARRANTIES; AND THE PARTIES AGREE THAT
ALL RISK ASSOCIATED THEREWITH SHALL BE BORNE BY GRANTEE.

NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, GRANTOR HEREBY REPRESENTS AND

WARRANTS TO GRANTEE THAT GRANTOR IS THE OWNER OF FEE SIMPLE TITLE TO
THE EASEMENT PROPERTY AND HAS FULL AUTHORITY TO GRANT THE EASEMENT

CREATED HEREIN.

7. ThisAgreement and theeasement createdhereunderconstituteequitableservitude
and covenantsrunning with theland,bindingon GRANTOR's PROPERTY and benefittingand

appurtenantto GRANTEE PROPERTY l AND GRANTEE PROPERTY 2,and shallbe binding

upon and inuretothebenefitofthepartiesheretoand theirrespectivesuccessors-in-interest.

8. ThisAgreement isforthesoleand exclusivebenefitGranteeand itssuccessors-in-

interest,for the sole purpose of Emergency Servicesprovidersrequiringemergency access

pursuanthereto,and thereshallbe no individualrightsforuse oftheAccess Easement, including
any otherthird-partybeneficiaries,and nothinginthisAgreement shallbe construedto grantto

any otherpersonany right,remedy orclaimunder orinrespectofthisAgreement orany provision
hereof.

9. This Agreement may only be amended by a writingexecuted and recordedby
Grantorand Grantee,ortheirrespectivesuccessors-in-interest.

10. ThisAgreement shallbe governedby and interpretedpursuanttothelawsoftheState
ofUtah.

4868-0621-2112,v.1
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11. Any waiver by a partyheretoof any breachof any kind or characterwhatsoeverby
anotherparty,whethersuchwaiverbe directorimplied,shallnotbe construedasa continuingwaiver
oforconsenttoany subsequentbreachofthisAgreement on thepartoftheotherparty.

12. Intheeventany actionorproceedingisbroughtby any partyagainstany otherparty
hereto,theprevailingpartyshallbe entitledto recoverattorney'sfeesinsuch amount as thecourt

may adjudgereasonable.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, theundersignedhas executedthisinstrumentasoftheEffectiveDate.

GRANTOR

MARYA, LLC

7

ItsManager

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF bTA A )

:ss.

County of d )

STATEOF bT*4 )
COUNTY OF % - ~T )

On this7A day of Ge6 . ,20 % , ½gte. LM b P u 4 (name of

document signer)personallyappearedbeforeme ,whose identityispersonallyknown tome or

proven on thebasisof satisfactoryevidence,and who by me duly sworn/affirmed,didsaythat

he/sh_eistheManager of Marya, LLC, a Utah limitedliabilitycompany, and thatsaiddocument

was signedby him/heron behalfof saidlimitedliabilitycompany by authorityof itsOperating

Agreement or Resolutionof itsMembers, and he/sheacknowledged tome thathe/sheexecuted
thesame.

NotaryPublic-StateofUtah
CRAIG R.RODMAN I
Commission#701194 |
MyCommissionExpires

No e a,...,_ _ August12,2022
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GRANTEE

SKYLER, LLC

y: ya m (3E1L CS fLl 54

I anager

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF QM )

County of - 4
)

On this© day of EM ,20% , o(à2AM & Pu d (name of

document signer)personallyappearedbeforeme ,whose identityispersonallyknown tome or

proven on thebasisof satisfactoryevidence,and who by me duly sworn/affirmed,did saythat

he/sh_eistheManager of Skyler,LLC, a Utah limitedliabilitycompany, and thatsaiddocument

was signedby him/heron behalfof saidlimitedliabilitycompany by authorityof itsOperating

Agreement or Resolutionof itsMembers, and he/sheacknowledged tome thathe/sheexecuted

thesame

NotaryPublic-StateofUtah
CRAIG R.RODMAN
Commission#701194

Nota

MyCommissionExpires2iss
August12,2022

5
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EXHIBIT "A"

(Survey of Access Easement on Grantor's Property)
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DocuSignEnvelopelD:0B69FCB2-47CE-4E3A-95EF-137D783542E5

KNUDSON SUBDIVISION

LOT B EASEMENT

EXHIBIT "A"

L O T A S 35 59'00"E 5.00'
BOUNDARYLINE

L T CLOTA/LOTB

POINT
OF o

BEGINNING o

v' SA-200

N 18°41'00"W 5.24'
LOT B

PROPERTYLINE(TYP) /

,' SA-201

EASEMENT LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A five(5)footwideAccessEasementlocatedintheNorthwestQuarterofSection16,

Township2 South,Range4 East,SaltLakeBaseandMeridian,saideasementalso

beinglocatedwithinLotB oftheKnudsonSubdivisionrecordedFebruary27,2014as

EntryNo.990328intheofficeoftheSummitCountyRecorderandbeingmore

particularlydescribedasfollows: SCALE: 1" = 20'

BeginningatthewesternmostCornerofLotB KnudsonSubdivision,saidcorner

beingcommon tothesouthernmostCornerofLotA KnudsonSubdivision;and PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYING

runningthencecoincidentwiththeboundarylinecommon toLotA andLotB North AND CONSULTING

54°01'00"East57.43feettothenorthernmostCornerofLotB,saidcornerbeing
common tothewesternmostCornerofLotC KnudsonSubdivision;thencecoincident
withtheboundarylinecommon toLotB andLotC South35°59'00"East5.00feet;
thenceSouth54°01'00"West58.99feettotheeasterlyright-ofway ofEmpire
Avenue;thencecoincidentwithsaidright-of-wayofEmpireAvenueNorth18°41'001184065 3 7 it3Coun
West5.24feettothePointofBeginning. Date:12.06.2021 435-640-4200

C:\Users\Charlie\Desktop\ALLTERRA\AUJOBS\21039-KnudsonEaseent\21039.
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From: Michelle Downard
To: Mark Brian; Nann Worel; Max Doilney; Tana Toly; Stormie Dawn; Jeremy Rubell; Becca Gerber; Ryan Dickey;

Mark Harrington
Cc: Deborah Rentfrow; Oak O"Connell; Andy Haaland; Matt Dias; Jennifer McGrath; Alexandra Ananth; Jaron Ehlers;

Rebecca Ward
Subject: RE: [External] Norfolk Development and Approval
Date: Wednesday, December 6, 2023 9:48:36 AM
Attachments: image001.png

Hi Mark-
 
Thank you for your email. I am confirming receipt. Your comments will also be included within the
meeting packet and public record for the December 14 meeting. I hope that you can join us. Let me
know if you  have any questions.
 
Michelle Downard
Park City Municipal Corporation
parkcity.org
445 Marsac Avenue, PO Box 1480
Park City, UT 84060
o: 435.615.5109
 

 

From: Mark Brian <msb84060@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, December 5, 2023 3:25 PM
To: Michelle Downard <mdownard@parkcity.org>; Nann Worel <nann.worel@parkcity.org>; Max
Doilney <max.doilney@parkcity.org>; Tana Toly <tana.toly@parkcity.org>; Stormie Dawn
<Stormie.Dawn@parkcity.org>; Jeremy Rubell <jeremy.rubell@parkcity.org>; Becca Gerber
<becca.gerber@parkcity.org>; Ryan Dickey <ryan.dickey@parkcity.org>; Mark Harrington
<mark@parkcity.org>
Cc: Deborah Rentfrow <der0813@aol.com>; Oak O'Connell <usnaoak@aol.com>; Andy Haaland
<andrew.haaland@ngc.com>
Subject: [External] Norfolk Development and Approval
 

[CAUTION] This is an external email.

 
 
Concerning the North Norfolk Development approval:
 
My name and address is Mark Brian, 1319 Norfolk Avenue, Park City, Utah 84060.
 
First and foremost, the development that is proposed will dramatically increase the amount of traffic, as well as traffic related risks and
problems on the driveway that I was a part of building for the use of two homes back in 2003. The “driveway” extends north of 13th
street and adjacent to where the Woodside 2 development is planned to be built
 
The current residents of this driveway have expressed our concern for safety in many ways throughout this development application
approval process. For some unexplained reason, the city council has chosen to ignore this subject.
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I have personally asked for the city to have a Traffic Safety Study performed to identify the issues associated with all the additional
traffic, lack of parking, one lane throat of the drive, snow removal and storage challenges, pedestrian risk, road slope issues, lack of foot
access to 13th street, plowing, and access for emergency vehicles. If you go back to listen to previous discussion among the council, the
mayor exclaims in disbelief the approval of allowing for the fire department to drag a hose down a stairway was being allowed as
opposed to having proper access.
 
Regardless of all these concerns, the city has chosen to not respond to my request for a Traffic Safety Study, which would address these
issues in a professional way. This s very frustrating to me and my neighbors. Let me remind you all that it is the mayors and city councils
responsibility to address the safety concerns of the residents of Park City. I again request that a Traffic Safety Study be performed. If the
city again chooses to ignore this request, I think the city is accepting liability for future safety issues that likely will occur, which
otherwise could be avoided.
 
Therefore, I again request that a Traffic Safety Study be performed prior the allowing this development to begin. There is already a
history of accidents occurring on this road due to congestion. Which is only going to become more of a problem!
 
At the last city council meeting I requested that this issue be reopened in January as opposed to being on at the agenda for December 14.
This would allow for our residents to attend the meeting in person, as opposed to attending over the phone, as that has proved problematic
as phone inputs were not allowed, due to unforeseen and suspicious events prior to the last time this item was up for discussion. I’ve been
informed that this topic was taken off the December 14th agenda as I requested then suddenly and unexpectedly put back on. This is
concerning for the citizens living on the street in that we would like to have a chance to speck in person directly with the city council.
 
This makes the process suspicious. Therefore, I again request that the item be delayed until January for discussion.
 
Thank you for considering my concerns and requests,
 
Mark Brian
801-694-0465
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CDR W.M. O’Connell, USN (Ret) 
1307 Norfolk Ave 
Park City, Ut 84060 
 
06 Dec 2023 
Dear Mayor / City Council 
 
      Provided for on-record review / standing.  I am unable to attend the Dec 14 meeting, 
recently changed from Jan 2024, due to working the late / night shift.  
 
 As a former deputy Inspector General for the Chairman of the Joint Chief of Staff at the 
Pentagon during 9/11, I am respectfully requesting an Inspector General review of the “unsafe” 
conditions / driveway, which is lower Norfolk Ave, e.g., 1307 Norfolk Ave.   
 
  
Very respectfully 
 
W.M. O’Connell 
26-year Veteran USMC / USN 
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From: Michelle Downard
To: Oak O"Connell; Nann Worel; Stormie Dawn; Becca Gerber; Ryan Dickey; Max Doilney; Tana Toly; Jeremy Rubell;

Mark Harrington
Cc: Deborah Rentfrow; Andy Haaland; Mark Brian; Matt Dias; Jennifer McGrath; Alexandra Ananth; Rebecca Ward;

Jaron Ehlers
Subject: RE: [External] Re: Norfolk Development and Approval
Date: Wednesday, December 6, 2023 9:46:47 AM
Attachments: image001.png

Good morning, Oak-
 
Thank you for your email. I am confirming receipt. These comments will be included within the
meeting packet and public record for the December 14 meeting. I hope that you can join us virtually
or in-person.
 
Michelle Downard
Park City Municipal Corporation
parkcity.org
445 Marsac Avenue, PO Box 1480
Park City, UT 84060
o: 435.615.5109
 

 
 

From: Oak O'Connell <usnaoak@aol.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, December 6, 2023 7:06 AM
To: Michelle Downard <mdownard@parkcity.org>; Nann Worel <nann.worel@parkcity.org>;
Stormie Dawn <Stormie.Dawn@parkcity.org>; Becca Gerber <becca.gerber@parkcity.org>; Ryan
Dickey <ryan.dickey@parkcity.org>; Max Doilney <max.doilney@parkcity.org>; Tana Toly
<tana.toly@parkcity.org>; Jeremy Rubell <jeremy.rubell@parkcity.org>; Mark Harrington
<mark@parkcity.org>
Cc: Deborah Rentfrow <der0813@aol.com>; Andy Haaland <andrew.haaland@ngc.com>; Mark
Brian <msb84060@gmail.com>
Subject: [External] Re: Norfolk Development and Approval
 

[CAUTION] This is an external email.

Mayor / City Council
See attached letter for review / insight.
 
Very respectfully Oak
 
Oak O'Connell
26 year Veteran USMC/USN
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On Dec 5, 2023, at 4:24 PM, Mark Brian <msb84060@gmail.com> wrote:
 
 
 
Concerning the North Norfolk Development approval:
 
My name and address is Mark Brian, 1319 Norfolk Avenue, Park City, Utah 84060.
 
First and foremost, the development that is proposed will dramatically increase the amount of traffic, as well as traffic
related risks and problems on the driveway that I was a part of building for the use of two homes back in 2003. The
“driveway” extends north of 13th street and adjacent to where the Woodside 2 development is planned to be built
 
The current residents of this driveway have expressed our concern for safety in many ways throughout this
development application approval process. For some unexplained reason, the city council has chosen to ignore this
subject.
 
I have personally asked for the city to have a Traffic Safety Study performed to identify the issues associated with all
the additional traffic, lack of parking, one lane throat of the drive, snow removal and storage challenges, pedestrian
risk, road slope issues, lack of foot access to 13th street, plowing, and access for emergency vehicles. If you go back to
listen to previous discussion among the council, the mayor exclaims in disbelief the approval of allowing for the fire
department to drag a hose down a stairway was being allowed as opposed to having proper access.
 
Regardless of all these concerns, the city has chosen to not respond to my request for a Traffic Safety Study, which
would address these issues in a professional way. This s very frustrating to me and my neighbors. Let me remind you
all that it is the mayors and city councils responsibility to address the safety concerns of the residents of Park City. I
again request that a Traffic Safety Study be performed. If the city again chooses to ignore this request, I think the city is
accepting liability for future safety issues that likely will occur, which otherwise could be avoided.
 
Therefore, I again request that a Traffic Safety Study be performed prior the allowing this development to begin. There
is already a history of accidents occurring on this road due to congestion. Which is only going to become more of a
problem!
 
At the last city council meeting I requested that this issue be reopened in January as opposed to being on at the agenda
for December 14. This would allow for our residents to attend the meeting in person, as opposed to attending over the
phone, as that has proved problematic as phone inputs were not allowed, due to unforeseen and suspicious events prior
to the last time this item was up for discussion. I’ve been informed that this topic was taken off the December 14th
agenda as I requested then suddenly and unexpectedly put back on. This is concerning for the citizens living on the
street in that we would like to have a chance to speck in person directly with the city council.
 
This makes the process suspicious. Therefore, I again request that the item be delayed until January for discussion.
 
Thank you for considering my concerns and requests,
 
Mark Brian
801-694-0465
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Alexandra Ananth

From: Oak O'Connell <usnaoak@aol.com>
Sent: Thursday, November 16, 2023 9:29 AM
To: Michelle Downard
Cc: Max Doilney; Tana Toly; carolynn@sorensenvance.com; Stormie Dawn; Matt Dias; planning; Jeremy 

Rubell; Nann Worel; Becca Gerber; Ryan Dickey; Andrew Haaland; Rebecca Ward; Jennifer McGrath; 
Alexandra Ananth; Jaron Ehlers; Mark Harrington; markjdiantonio@aol.com; 1319 Norfolk Ave Park 
City; Deborah Rentfrow

Subject: Re: [External] Lower Norfolk Development/Building Permit

Michelle 
Just reviewed the City Council Link for todays meeting for the City council IAW PLAT AMENDMENT PL-22-05357 
Would be grateful if the “widening of the road”a safety issue be part of the discussion as written and requested in my 2 
letters to the city … See exhibit M. 
Also attached is one solution for the widening of the road for review / discussion for the City 
 
Very respectfully Oak 
‘One Team … One Solution” 
 
 
Oak O'Connell 
26 year Veteran USMC/USN 
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On Sep 27, 2023, at 10:13 AM, Oak O'Connell <usnaoak@aol.com> wrote: 
 
Michelle 
Grateful and thank you for your help / insight … Great team work! 
Very respectfully Oak 
 
Oak O'Connell 
26 year Veteran USMC/USN 
 

 
 
 

On Sep 27, 2023, at 10:08 AM, Michelle Downard <mdownard@parkcity.org> wrote: 
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CDR W.M. “Oak” O’Connell, USN (Ret) 
1307 Norfolk Ave 
Park City, Ut 84060 
 
20 Feb 2023 
 
Dear Jaron 
      

We, the lower Norfolk Ave residents (1307/1315/1319) have communicated with Corey 
Legge our concerns with the road access to our houses on lower Norfolk Ave. in the past.  I 
think Mark Brian (1319 Norfolk Ave) captures the limited road access / concerns perfect in his 
emails to Corey.   

 
Lower Norfolk Ave is essentially a one-way street dynamic.   
 
There can be challenges with getting in and out of my driveway on Lower Norfolk Ave 

especially during the winter season.   This can be dependent on cars being parked next to the 
retaining wall on Lower Norfolk Ave., and the side of the road.   

 
Note:  Currently the Lower Norfolk Ave residents (1307/1315/1319) and the city pay for 

the commercial plow service for lower Norfolk Ave.   
 
The solution is widening of the road to allow for snowplow and “safe” navigation to and 

from Lower Norfolk Ave, which would be a benefit to the Lower Norfolk Ave. residents and Park 
City.  Respectfully request this is given top priority / consideration with Project PL-22-05357. 
 
Very respectfully 
 
 Oak O’Connell 
26 yr. Veteran USMC / USN 
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CDR W.M. O’Connell, USN (Ret)  
1307 Norfolk Ave 
Park City, Ut 84060  
 
10 May 2023  
Dear Park City Planning 

     Provided for “On-record” review / standing.  I am unable to attend meeting due to working 
the night shift.  I along with the lower Norfolk Ave residents (1307/1315/1319) have 
communicated with Park City planning e.g., Corey Legge, our concerns with the road access to 
our houses on lower Norfolk Ave. in the past.   I think Mark Brian (1319 Norfolk Ave) captures 
the limited road access / concerns perfect in his emails to Corey.  

Lower Norfolk Ave is currently a one-way street. 

     This winter season we had many challenges with getting in and out of the driveways on 
Lower Norfolk Ave.  Currently the Lower Norfolk Ave residents (1307/1315/1319), Gavin 
Steinburg and “Park City” pay for the commercial plow service for lower Norfolk Ave.  Lower 
Norfolk Ave residents were overwhelmed this winter even with the commercial plow service.  
Respectfully request that Park City take over the snowplow service for Lower Norfolk Ave. 

     I view with genuine concern any solution for lower Norfolk Ave that would not make access 
to lower Norfolk Ave ... “Safe and reliable”.    Widening lower Norfolk Ave and a two-way access 
via Lower Norfolk Ave and lower Woodside Ave would be the simple, easy, and smart solution.   
This would allow Park City to snowplow lower Norfolk Ave and provide “safe” navigation for the 
residents.  Request this is given top priority / consideration with Project PL-22-05357.  

Very respectfully  

W.M. O’Connell 
26 yr. Veteran USMC / USN  
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Jaron Ehlers

From: planning <planning@parkcity.org>
Sent: Friday, September 22, 2023 8:56 AM
To: Alexandra Ananth; Jaron Ehlers
Subject: FW: [External] Lower Norfolk Development/Building Permit

 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Mark Brian <mark.s.brian@comcast.net>  
Sent: Thursday, September 21, 2023 8:42 PM 
To: planning <planning@parkcity.org> 
Cc: Nann Worel <nann.worel@parkcity.org>; Max Doilney <max.doilney@parkcity.org>; Jeremy Rubell 
<jeremy.rubell@parkcity.org>; Ryan Dickey <ryan.dickey@parkcity.org>; Tana Toly <tana.toly@parkcity.org>; 
carolynn@sorensenvance.com; Becca Gerber <becca.gerber@parkcity.org>; Stormie Dawn 
<Stormie.Dawn@parkcity.org>; MaƩ Dias <maƩ.dias@parkcity.org>; Michelle Downard <mdownard@parkcity.org>; Oak 
O'Connell <usnaoak@aol.com>; Andrew Haaland <andrew.haaland@ngc.com> 
Subject: [External] Lower Norfolk Development/Building Permit 
 
[CAUTION] This is an external email. 
 
I see the agenda for the next planning commission meeƟng includes the plan for the development at the end of lower 
Norfolk which is next to my house (1319 Norfolk Avenue). 
 
I strongly request not approving the plan as is currently exists. 
 
There are many reasons that I have presented to both the Planning Commission and the City Council. Please consider the 
following: 
 
1. There is no fair way to appropriate road maintenance costs in place. I have personally managed the snow removal 
from the street for the past 20 years. When the non encroachment agreement was signed 20 years ago by the builder, 
Peter Papineau, it applied to only two homes on the street. Since then the resident of the blue house (1302 Norfolk) on 
the corner of 13th and Norfolk started parking up to 3 cars on the street and the inhabitant refused to parƟcipate in cost 
sharing for snow removal. The “agreement” states that ALL property owners abuƫng the road are required to share in 
the cost of maintaining the street. But Park City Municipality (apparently) is not encumbered to pay anything. I’ve been 
able to coordinate with the city and they have parƟcipate for the past couple years. 
 
This issue needs to be resolved before the building permit is approved. Where I could easily coordinate between two 
willing homeowners, with the building of 5 addiƟonal proposed residences, I (or preferably the city) would have to 
coordinate contracƟng for maintenance services then collect from 9 home owners. Some of which who will be most 
likely unwilling to parƟcipate, based on my 20 years of experience. I think that places an undo and unfair burden on to 
me, or whomever takes the responsibility for coordinaƟng the roads maintenance going into the future. As a 
municipality, Park City has the authority to require taxes and then provide for the public good. It is unreasonable to place 
that sort of responsibility on a single individual. I’m exhausted with trying to convince the property owners to pay their 
fair share. With the addiƟonal residences, I am overwhelmed with the prospect of having to chase them all down to 
parƟcipate. I hereby as the city to take responsibly to maintain their property! The road and the right of way belongs to 
the City. Please do the right thing and take over maintaining the street. 
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Furthermore, The original “encroachment agreement” is arcane and overcome by events. It was never properly 
implemented due to “all properƟes abuƫng the roadway” were not properly encumbered with the requirement to 
maintain the street.. What worked 20 years ago for two homes when it was signed, no longer works. The city now is the 
largest land owner on the street with over 50% of the property abuƫng the street. Where the agreement states that ALL 
property owners are obligated to maintain the road, only 2 or 3 properƟes on the road are “encumbered” to maintain 
the street. This needs to be looked into by the city to see exactly whose Ɵtles are obligated with this requirement. That is 
an egregious and unfairly implemented requirement. The ShaŌ condominiums driveway flows onto the street, the city’s 
renter now parks his vehicles on the side of the street, and now a developer wants to build 5 residences at the end of the 
street. Since there is no agreement in place to obligate the city and the developer to share in costs, as well as no cost 
sharing agreement between all property owners abuƫng the street, it would be premature to approve the building 
permit unƟl that cost sharing agreement can be agreed upon. 
 
The “fair” way to manage the cost of maintaining the street, is for the city to collect taxes from the property owners and 
maintain the street. Per Andy Haaland, owner of 1315 Norfolk Avenue, the street meets city code requirements, the 
width, guƩers, etc, and the same at the rest of Norfolk Avenue. Thus, we strongly disagree with the city that the street 
can not be plowed by the city. The city owns a front end loader that clears the Senior CiƟzens Center and well as behind 
the city library. 
 
2. The road is about 10’ wide at the entrance to where 13th and Norfolk intersect with the way parking is currently. That 
makes the road a one way street, and again, where this worked for two homes using the road, it makes the street very 
dangerous and unsafe for 9 home owners. The traffic will now be increase probably 5 fold, with the homes proposed as 
probable vacaƟon properƟes with lots of renters and home cleaners, delivery trucks, etc, which makes it very dangerous 
for probable accidents and plugging of the roadway. This is a tremendous danger to myself and the other residents of 
lower Norfolk. It is the City Councils responsibility to ensure the ciƟzens of Park City are safe. The overcrowding of the 
street causes serious safety concerns should we need fire trucks ambulances and other emergency responders to our 
dead end street.  
 
3. At the last planning commission meeƟng there was a debate as to whether the road is a road or a driveway. The 
current homeowners on the street strongly believe that the road is in fact, a road. It is not a driveway! The road is 
defined as such in the original “permit” signed by Peter Papineau in 2003. The developer is trying to redefine the road as 
a driveway to avoid upgrading the road to proper safety standards. Our safety should not be outweighed by his moƟve to 
build and sell homes and then have no long term interest in the safety of the residents of the street. 
 
4. The original “encroachment agreement” is arcane and overcome by events.Furthermore it was never properly 
implemented. What worked 20 years ago when it was signed no longer works. The city now is the largest land owner on 
the street with over 50% of the property abuƫng the street. When the agreement states that ALL property owners are 
obligated to maintain the road, only 2 or 3 properƟes on the road are “encumbered” to maintain the street, per what I’ve 
been told. That is an egregious and unfair requirement. AddiƟonally, the ShaŌ condominiums driveway flow onto the 
street, and for many years the city’s renter of 1302 Norfolk now parks his vehicles on the side of the street, and now the 
developer wants to build 5 residences at the end of the street. Since there is no agreement in place to obligate the city 
and the developer to share in costs, as well as no cost sharing agreement between all property owners abuƫng the 
street, it would be premature to approve the building permit unƟl that cost sharing agreement can be agreed upon. 
 
5. A Traffic Safety study needs to be performed before any building permit is approved. I hereby formally request the city 
perform a Traffic Safety study on Lower Norfolk below 13th street. That study, is done fairly will reveal the issues I’m 
presenƟng in this leƩer. It has been an item of concern that the requirement for a firetruck turn around suddenly went 
away when, it previously existed. 
 
6. Furthermore, the plan as being presented, moves the road in front of my house (1319 Norfolk) significantly closer to 
my home. I dislike that as it will pinch me in a crowd my ability to park in front of my home. I do not want the road to be 
moved any closer to my home. 
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7. The sidewalk, as proposed would be on my side of the street. That is unreasonable as it should be placed on the other 
side of the street where it could then be joined to the sidewalk on 13th, which I helped pay for back in 2003. That’s 
makes for a much beƩer, safer and more coherent design way and will be safer for pedestrian traffic which will be 
significantly great due to the new construcƟon proposed. The Traffic Safety study should confirm this. 
 
8. I have discussed these issues with legal counsel and will pursue legal acƟon should you decide to not take acƟons to 
respond to my requests. I have presented at the last several planning commission meeƟngs and the last city council 
meeƟng, as well as aƩempted coordinaƟon with the city advocate, but feel highly frustrated due to non response. I have 
no idea what the city is thinking. I have put forth significant effort to voice my concerns. UnƟl the issues enumerated 
above are addressed, the building permit for the end of Norfolk Avenue should not be approved. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Mark Brian 
1319 Norfolk Avenue 
Park City, Utah 84060 
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City Council Staff Report 
 
 
Subject: 2024 Sundance Film Festival Supplemental Plan Approval   
Author:  Jenny Diersen 
Department:  Special Events 
Date:  December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Administrative 
 
Recommendation  
Review, hold a public hearing, and consider approving a Level Five Special Event 
Permit (Exhibit A) to hold the 2024 Sundance Film Festival (SFF/Festival), in a form 
approved by the City Attorney.  
 
Executive Summary  
The SFF will be in-person from Thursday, January 18, to Wednesday, January 24. A 
hybrid option (in-person and virtual attendance) will be available from Thursday, 
January 25, to Sunday, January 28.  
 
However, Festival preparations and supplemental support operations will occur from 
Monday, January 2, to Saturday, February 3.  
 
Material Changes to this year’s Festival include:  

• Sundance operational changes include venues, official sponsors, venue changes for 
City and private property, and inclusion and accessibility.  

• Updated transportation plans include returning Main and Swede to two-way traffic, 
returning parking to Main Street starting Wednesday, January 24, modifications to 
increase transit operations, and adjusting parking rates based on data. The City will 
coordinate taxi management, as Lyft or Uber is not a sponsor of the Festival this 
year. Finally, we have planned extensive community engagement and outreach.  

 
This year we are excited to celebrate 40 years of the Sundance Institute and the SFF in 
Park City. In the coming month, in collaboration with Sundance and with community 
partners, we will announce several local activities to celebrate the Sundance Institute 
and the Festival’s legacy.  
 
Background 
Founded in Utah in 1981, the Sundance Institute (Sundance) is a long-standing partner 
and local nonprofit organization in Park City. The SFF is one of the world's top five 
international film festivals, including Cannes, Berlin, Venice, and Toronto. The SFF is 
the premier North American film festival and has been central to Park City’s identity for 
decades. Sundance and the Festival reinforce unique cultural experiences and 
connections to the environment, increase exposure to new visitors, and create 
significant economic vitality for Park City and the state of Utah. 
 
Throughout the Festival’s 40-year history, our community has been provided with a 
firsthand look at some of our time's most exciting, influential, and impactful independent 
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films. Per Sundance, during its 11-day run, the 2023 Festival generated $118 million in 
additional economic impact for the State (increase in State GDP) and $12.8 million in 
state and local tax revenue through increases in visitors’ lodging, food and beverage, 
employee wages, and rents to property owners. This economic impact does not include 
Sundance sponsors’ spending and physical activations in Park City and is not funding 
received by Sundance Institute, a non-profit organization. SFF23 was attended by over 
1,300 accredited journalists, whose coverage–much of which originated from “Park City, 
Utah” – generated a publicity value of $1.2 billion.  
 
The City holds a City Service Agreement (Agreement) with Sundance to host the 
Festival for eleven days each January in Park City through 2026. Annually, as part of 
the Agreement, the Council retains the authority to review and either approve or deny 
proposed material changes in a Supplemental Plan. Supplemental Plans follow plans 
for the previous Festival unless changes are mutually acceptable and promote the 
efficient and successful operation of the Festival. Failure to agree on changes to 
Supplemental Plans will result in the use of the prior year’s Supplemental Plan.  The 
background of the Festival can be found here (background).  
 
Analysis 
The Special Events Team has collaborated with City departments and multijurisdictional 
partners to review changes proposed by Sundance for the 2024 Festival and found 
them to comply with the requirements of a Level Five Special Event Permit (Exhibit A) 
according to section 4A of the PCMC code and the Agreement. All event operations and 
a complete analysis, including items that are status quo from 2023, are included in 
Exhibit B. 
 
Sundance Recommended Changes (Exhibit C) 
Sundance Venues:  
The Festival will no longer use Park Avenue (Double Tree Hotel) as a venue. The 
Festival will use: The Eccles, Egyptian, four Holiday Cinemas, Park City Library, 
Prospector, and The Ray along with the three Redstone theaters located in Kimball 
Junction. 

● Screenings will begin earlier this year on Thursday, January 18, and begin at 
noon.  

● The Eccles and Prospector Theatres will not be used after Tuesday, January 23. 
 
Official Festival Sponsors.  

• New Official Sponsors of the Festival include Ketel One Vodka, Hulu, Cotopaxi, 
Elemental Wines, Deadline Hollywood, United Airlines and the New York Times.  

• The following are no longer Official Sponsors: Netflix, Stacy’s Pita Chips, Canada 
Goose, Lyft, Stanley, and Wall Street Journal.  

• All Sundance Official Sponsors that fall under the Special Event Permit are outlined 
in Exhibit C.  

 
Venue/Sponsor Changes - City/Public Property include: 
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• Bob Wells Plaza will return as the Acura House of Energy at Festival Village.  This 
year, the activation will focus specifically on their electric fleet, further aligning with 
the City’s sustainability goals. As part of their activation, they request a move-in date 
of January 6 (six days earlier than 2023). Last year they were under extreme 
pressure and working in hazardous conditions due to significant snow loads. Acura 
Leases the property from the City and is invoiced ($31,000).   

• Hulu will activate the Galleria Parking Lot with a Food Truck, providing free tater tots 
to the public to celebrate the anniversary of Napoleon Dynamite.   

• DoorDash will provide winter Festival-goer items. We are working to finalize a 
location and will follow up at the Council meeting with more information.  

• The Bonanza District area will be used for storage for Festival operations. No 
activations will take place in the Bonanza Area.   

• A final list of activations will be mutually agreed upon and approved administratively 
by the Special Event Manager and City Manager. Anything significant may require 
an additional public hearing and action by the City Council.  
 

Venue Changes - Private Property:  
New Official Sponsor Venues include: 

• 558 Main Street / PC Fine Arts Gallery / Adobe on Main 

• 751 Main Street / Rich Haines Gallery / United Airlines 

• 333 Main Street, Space H / Cotopaxi Store / Cotopaxi 

• 440 Main Street / Lazy Sun / World of Hyatt 

• 501 Main Street / 501 Main / Dropbox Studio (one day only) 

• 136 Heber Avenue / Gateway Mall, Suite103 / MACRO Lounge presented by 
Chase Sapphire 

• 201 Main Street / Courchevel / White Claw Hard Seltzer 

• 608 Main Street / Montgomery Lee Gallery / Deadline Hollywood 
 

Programs: Inclusion and Accessibility: 
Sundance is committed to improving experiences for audiences and artists of all 
abilities. Sundance considers inclusion and accessibility the drivers of institutional 
excellence and aims for our programs and platforms to reflect these core values at 
every level. It is Sundance’s practice to:  
o Provide one open caption screening per film during the festival. Closed captioning 

for all non-open caption screenings and audio description whenever possible;  
o Offer sign language interpretation for any event upon reasonable request and 
o Conduct ongoing accessibility audits of all Sundance-hosted in-person and online 

venues, as the Institute will only use ADA-compliant venues.  
 
City Recommended Operational Changes (Exhibit B)  
Street Directionality 
In 2023, we tried a one-way loop on Swede Alley (south) and Main Street (north) but 
were unable to significantly improve the traffic congestion. Therefore, we recommend 
keeping two-way traffic on Main Street and Swede Alley during this year’s Festival. Park 
Avenue will also remain one way north (southbound traffic will only be allowed for 
residents with Special Event Access Passes. Hillside will remain resident only (for those 
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with Special Event Access Passes). Public Safety, Transit, Republic Services, and 
Public Works will continue to be allowed to access streets without Special Event Access 
Passes.  
 
Drop and Loading  
There is no parking or drop and loading on Main Street. Any active loading on Main 
Street for specific venues and crowd management requires a Special Use of Public 
Parking Permit (SUPP) from the Parking Department. Drop and load areas are available 
for anyone dropping and loading (no staging or parking allowed) and do not require a 
DLS permit or specific brand of plaque (such as Lyft, Uber, etc.).  
 
Kane Security will continue to manage drop and Load areas at the following locations: 
1. Behind Park City Museum (Swede Surface Lots) 
2. South Marsac Lot;  
3. Ninth Street Trolley Turn Around; 
4. Brew Pub North section of the Lot. 
 
Lyft is not returning as a Festival sponsor and will not have any dedicated drop and load 
areas around Main Street. In coordination with Sundance, we have contacted Lyft, 
Uber, and our list of For-Hire Transportation Companies to ensure they know this year’s 
plans.  
 
Public Transit 
Park City and High Valley Transit (HVT) are imperative to mitigate Festival impacts and 
improve safety, access, and circulation during the Festival. Sundance has collaborated 
closely with the City and HVT to develop coordinated transit and transportation plans for 
the 2024 Festival.  
 
With the reduction of two theatre venues (PC MARC and Temple) and the addition of 
Richardson Flat winter service, PC Transit plans to provide service from Richardson 
Flat to Old Town, from 5:30 a.m. to 2:05 a.m. (from Old Town Transit Center to 
Richardson Flat) with 20-minute frequencies, from January 18 to January 27. Sundance 
will provide two additional transit routes with 10 to 15-minute frequencies through the 
Theatre District (Headquarters at Sheraton Hotel, Prospector Theatre, Eccles Theatre, 
Bonanza, Walgreens, and Fresh Market). This includes the orange, pink and blue lines.  
  
Parking 
We recommend returning parking to Main Street starting on Wednesday, January 24. 
As parking is returned to Main Street during the Festival, venues still in operation will 
require SUPP permits for dropping and loading and crowd management.  
 
The Parking and Special Events Departments recommend minor changes to the City’s 
paid parking structure. This includes reducing the rate to a $30 flat fee ($40 in 2023) 
from Sunday, January 21 to 23, and returning parking to normal rates beginning 
Wednesday, January 24. The updated rates align with Winter Peak parking rates and 
are based on data trends from 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023.  
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Parking Rates during the Sundance Film Festival 

Day of the Week Date Proposed Rates 

Thursday January 18 $40 

Friday & Saturday January 19 & 20 $50 

Sunday to Tuesday January 21, 22, 23 $30 

Wednesday to Sunday January 24 to 28 Normal Peak Parking 
Rates: 
8 a.m. to 6 p.m.: $1 per 
hour/ 5th hour $30 
6 p.m. to 12:00 a.m. $4 per 
hour  

 
The Homestake Parking Lot is no longer available for Employee Parking as the Engine 
House development is under construction. When the Galleria parking lot is not used for 
Sundance programming, the lot will be utilized for additional ADA parking spaces when 
not used for Hulu programming. 
 
Full details regarding parking closures, costs, employee parking options, and more can 
be found in Exhibit B.  
 
Police  
Public Safety is vital to the success of the Festival. Sundance has coordinated with the 
Police Department, focusing on safety, transportation, and neighborhood impact 
mitigation. No significant changes are planned for the Festival.  
 
Community Outreach 
A significant and comprehensive outreach program is planned to inform the community 
of Festival operations focused on transportation, traffic, and parking. We updated our 
website and performed door-to-door outreach with old-town residents, merchants, and 
the business community during the first week of December. In January, additional public 
information and a community guide will be published in English and Spanish on the 
City’s website and shared with community partners and local media. An informational 
postcard will also be mailed to all 84060 residents.  
 
After plans are approved, we will attend the Lodging and HPCA board meetings to help 
prepare those associations with information for this year’s Festival. In addition, we will 
join Sundance in their door-to-door outreach within the Theatre District area (Ray, 
Holiday Village, and Park Ave Theatres) to ensure that property owners’ questions are 
adequately addressed.  
 
Funding  
The approved FY24 budget includes City services and costs, which are waived 
pursuant to the Agreement with Sundance, estimated at $1,151,673 (details in Exhibit 
B). City services are budgeted and tracked within individual department budgets. 
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Exhibits 
A SFF 2023 Special Event Permit (Draft) 
B SFF Analysis of Operations  
C SFF Special Event Application and Supplemental Documents  
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Exhibit A: DRAFT 2024 Sundance Film Festival Special Event Permit   
 

 

 
 

DRAFT SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT & 2024 SUPPLEMENTAL PLAN 
 

Type of Permit: Level 5 Special Event  
Event Name:  2024 Sundance Film Festival 
Event Date(s): Thursday, January 18 through Sunday, January 28, 2024 
Event Location: Various locations throughout Park City 
Permittee:  Sundance Institute 
Contact Person: Laurice Marier, Managing Director 
Approved By:  City Council of Park City 
Approval Date: December 14, 2023 

 
The Park City Council has approved the annual Supplemental Plan and Level Five Special Event 
Permit for the 2024 Sundance Film Festival as part of the current City Services Agreement executed 
on October 30, 2013. This annual Supplemental Plan and Level Five Special Event Permit have been 
issued under the authority described within the Park City Municipal Code Section 4A based on the 
following Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Conditions of Approval: 
 

Findings of Fact: 
1. Sundance Film Festival is a unique cultural and entertainment activity held for non-profit and 

for-profit purposes occurring for a limited duration that impacts the City by having 
use of and impact on City property. The activity requires licensing beyond the 
scope of normal business, liquor regulations and is a temporary event that does 
not normally occur within the permitted Venue use as defined by the municipal 
code and creates public impacts through the following:  

a. Interruption of the safe and efficient flow of transportation in Park City, 
including streets or public rights-of-way. Due to the nature of the event, the City 
proposes changing traffic flow Park Avenue, and Hillside Avenue to provide a 
safe and efficient flow of transportation and pedestrian movement in Park City.  

b. The event uses City Property, including parking and facilities and parks as outlined in 
the Use Area Matrix (Attachment A).  

c. The activity requires public safety staffing beyond their normal scope of operations.   
2. The event involves the use of an impact on City Property. Based on the degree of City Impacts 

of anticipated attendance of 70,000, venue use, and transportation and public safety impacts, 
the event has been determined to be a Level Five, Community Identifying Event based on the 
following factors:  

a. Overall attendance is estimated at 70,000 people, with anticipation of 9,000 people in 
Park City at any one time. The event anticipates 1,700 volunteers throughout the 
Festival. 

b. The event is held over eleven consecutive days.  
c. The event has major or severe impacts on surrounding areas and cannot be held within 

existing Venues or use areas.  
d. The event has major or severe transportation needs including the requirement for 

parking removal, requires a transportation mitigation plan, offsite parking, and major 
residential mitigation. The event also requires increased Park City Transit and requires 
Sundance to bring in a transportation provider from outside of Park City to provide the 
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services required.  
e. Public Safety staffing is required beyond normal operations including major to severe 

support in venues and for transportation mitigation. This includes the requirement for 
public safety personnel from outside of the City’s jurisdiction.  

3. The Sundance Film Festival is a Community Identifying Event as it honors Park City’s unique 
community goals and enhances the collective goodwill that features distinct traditions, and 
authentic local culture including ties to the people, places, and history of Park City. It 
fundamentally aligns with the City’s Critical Priorities including Sustainability, Transportation, 
and Social Equity. While attendance is targeted from outside of Park City and Summit County, 
Sundance offers robust opportunities to the community, and youth for participation both during 
the Festival and year-round, including free and affordable options for local Park City and 
Summit County attendance. Sundance Film Festival also offers affordable options for 
underserved populations.  

4. The City holds a City Services Agreement outlining the dates of the Festival. Special Events 
Department received a Pre-Application on April 7, 2023 and provided Sundance with a notice 
to proceed with a Special Event Application which was received on August 4, 2023.  

5. The 2024 Sundance Film Festival will be held Thursday, January 18 through 28, 2024. Set up 
and breakdown of the event will occur between January 2 and February 3, 2024, or as outlined 
in the Use Area Matrix, Operations Plan, Transportation, and Parking Plans.  

6. The Special Event Manager has required the Applicant to provide Insurance Coverage, waiver 
and release of damages, indemnification and Hold Harmless Agreement and Certificate of 
Insurance naming the City as additionally insured.  

7. The event is held during a Peak Time, and is allowed to proceed, as it is not a new event and 
the City holds an Agreement to enable the event on the dates as outlined.  

8. Sundance Film Festival provides positive economic, cultural, and community value and aligns 
with the goals as outlined in the Park City General Plan. The cultural event creates a complete 
community through its core values and partnerships in Park City with both businesses and the 
community as a whole and provides diversity, and uniqueness and is one of the defining 
events Park City Event Calendar. The event does not unreasonably restrict existing public 
access or adversely impact shared space or the public due to the number of events, the nature 
of the event, or locations. The event is not primarily retail in nature and provides economic 
benefit to the City through sales tax, overnight visitation, marketing and branding as compared 
to community impacts and costs of services. 

9. The conduct of the Special Event will not substantially interrupt or prevent the safe and orderly 
movement of public transportation or other vehicular and pedestrian traffic in the area of its 
Venues as attached to this permit.  

10. The conduct of the Special Event will not require the diversion of so great a number of police, 
fire, or other essential public employees from their normal duties as to prevent reasonable 
police, fire, or other public services protection to the remainder of the City. 

11. The concentration of persons, vehicles, or animals will not unduly interfere with the movement 
of police, fire, ambulance, and other emergency vehicles on the streets or with the provision of 
other public health or safety services. 

12. The Special Event will not substantially interfere with any other Special Event during the 
timeframe, or with the provision of City services in support of other events or governmental 
functions. There are no other Special Events during the Sundance Film Festival timeframe. 

13. The event provides sufficient traffic controllers, signs and other City required barriers and 
traffic devices, monitors for crowd and safety, safety, health, sanitation and facilities to 
reasonably ensure that the event will be conducted without creating unreasonable negative 
impacts to the area with due regard for safety and the environment. Additionally, the event 
provides adequate transportation, off-site parking, and traffic circulation. The event has 
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provided the required insurance and cash deposit to the City, as well as any other services or 
facilities necessary to ensure compliance with City ordinances. 

14. The Permittee has received approval from Deer Valley Resort to allow parking in Lots 5 and 6 
after 4 p.m. until 1 a.m. throughout the event (January 18 to 28, 2024). This is in an effort to 
encourage anyone skiing to take transit to Sundance-related events afterward and to provide 
off-site parking. Per the Deer Valley MPD, and Sundance’s ability to secure the off-site 
parking, any overflow parking at Deer Valley during the dates as outlined will not count towards 
the allotted 10% of overflow days. Deer Valley and City operations will follow the approved 
2024 Peak Day Overflow Plans if any overflow occurs.  

15. The event does not create the imminent possibility of violent disorderly conduct likely to 
endanger public safety or cause significant property damage.  

16. The Permittee has obtained approval of other public agencies as required, within whose 
jurisdiction the event or a portion thereof will occur, and the applicant has obtained approval of 
private properties of which the event or a portion thereof will occur.  

17. The Permittee has been working with City Staff and applicable departments to address the 
operations of the event. The Permittee demonstrates an ability and willingness to conduct the 
event pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Chapter and has not failed to conduct a 
previously authorized event in accordance with the law or the terms of a license, or both.  

18. Staff finds the annual Supplemental Plan for the 2024 Sundance Film Festival is consistent 
with the measures as outlined in the City Services Agreement as entered into on October 30, 
2013 and promotes the City Council’s Goals of creating a sense of place. The international 
event furthers Park City’s role as a world-class, multi-seasonal destination resort while 
maintaining a balance with our sense of community. Sundance helps to support the continued 
success of the multi-seasonal tourism economy while preserving the community character that 
adds to the visitor experience. Furthermore, Sundance allows Park City to grow as an arts and 
culture hub encouraging creative expression.  

19. Park City Historical Society (PCHS) and Sundance Institute have been collaborating in good 
faith to uphold the terms of the PCHS Agreement including that a Sundance Film Festival 
Sponsor, Canon is renting 528 Main Street.  

20. The Chief Building Official, City Engineer, Chief of Police, Transportation Director, and 
Transportation Operations Manager have made findings that the temporary activations do not 
impact health, safety, and welfare including specific consideration for residential impacts, 
pedestrian, and traffic circulation. 

 
Conclusions of Law: 

1. The application is consistent with the requirements of the Park City Municipal Code, Title 4A. 
2. As conditioned the Supplemental Plan is consistent with section 1.2 of the City Services 

Agreement with Sundance Institute and the Park City Historical Society Lease.  
 

Conditions of Approval: 
 

1. The permittee, unless otherwise affirmatively agreed in writing, at its' cost, shall incorporate 
such measures as directed by Staff to ensure that any safety, health, or sanitation equipment, 
and services or facilities reasonably necessary to ensure that the event will be conducted with 
due regard for safety are provided and paid for by the Permittee. 

2. The Permittee, is required to provide supplemental documents including a Transportation and 
traffic control plan, Contingency plans, Site Identification and Private Property Use Permission, 
detailed map showing specifics of event operations as described in section 4A-2-11. Such 
documents shall be reviewed and approved with conditions administratively by the Special 
Events Manager in coordination with from the Chief of Police, Transportation Manager, Public 
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Works Director, Chief Building Official and Special Event Manager or their designees. 
3. The Permittee is required to provide a sufficient number of traffic controllers, signs and other 

equipment as required by City, not limited to barriers, fencing, traffic devices, monitors for 
crowd control and safety, and such measures as directed by City, County or State Staff in 
order to ensure that any safety, health, or sanitation equipment, services or facilities 
reasonably necessary to ensure that the event will be conducted with due regard for safety and 
the environment, adequate offsite parking and traffic circulation in the vicinity of the event and 
other services or facilities as necessary to ensure compliance with City ordinances in a plan 
approved by the Transportation Director, Chief of Police and Chief Building Official in 
accordance with the Transportation Demand Management Plan, Park City Risk Assessment 
and International Building and Fire Code.  

4. The Permittee is required to submit a waste and recycling plan which will be reviewed and 
approved in accordance with the PCMC Event Sustainability Standards. Sundance shall report 
sustainability statistics in the debrief of the event. 

5. In accordance with the Transportation Demand Management Plan, the permittee is required to   
distinguish a transportation and parking plan, including obtaining private property permission or 
executing lease agreements for such public property use, that utilizes available public parking 
and can accommodate the anticipated attendance numbers. Parking for shall be identified, 
managed and secured for ADA, VIP, Staff and Volunteers, and Drop and Load/Taxi/For-Hire 
Lot, as well as Transit Services provided and managed by the Permittee. Offsite parking areas 
for spectators and the general public are required with Transit Service secured by the 
permittee at the Park City School District and/or Resort properties and the permittee must 
provide such proof of permission to the City. Such plans shall be reviewed and approved by 
the Chief of Police and Transportation Planning Manager. Access to area businesses, public 
facilities residential homes must be maintained at all times.  

6. The permittee has requested an exemption to the noise ordinance 6-3-11, Noise will be 
allowed up to 90 decibels on Friday and Saturday, January 20 and 21 from noon to 11:00 p.m., 
and up to 90 decibels on Sunday, January 22 through Saturday, January 28 until 10 p.m. The 
permittee shall work to orient noise activities to minimize sound impacts to the neighboring 
residents, businesses, and public facilities. If a complaint is received by Park City Police 
Department, the police department will investigate the complaint. If asked by the Park City 
Special Event staff or Police Department, the permittee shall turn the noise down to mitigate 
concerns of noise from surrounding residents, businesses, or public facilities. The permittee 
shall provide on-site management for each aspect of the event and shall be responsible to 
ensure that the sound system maintains level adjustments not to exceed provisions of the Park 
City Noise levels. 

7. The Permittee is responsible for assisting the City in an outreach and communication plan, 
including event impact information in a form to be approved by the Special Events Manager to 
surrounding businesses and residents no later than January 2, 2024. 

8. The Permittee shall provide with a final plan for the 2024 Sundance Film Festival, which 
includes final site plans, transportation, security/public safety and parking management plans 
including details of the operations for venues as required by the Special Event Manager, Chief 
of Police and Transportation Planning Manager no later than January 2, 2024. 

9. The Permittee shall indemnify and hold the City and its agents, employees, and officers, 
harmless from and shall process and defend at its own expense any and all claims, demands, 
suits, at law or equity, actions, penalties, losses, damages, or costs, of whatsoever kind or 
nature, brought against the City arising out of, in connection with, or incident to the execution 
of this Agreement and/or the Permittee’s use of the facility/area or failure to perform any 
aspect of this Agreement; provided, however, that if such claims are caused by or result from 
the concurrent negligence of the City, its agents, employees, and officers, this indemnity 
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provision shall be valid and enforceable only to the extent of the negligence of the Permittee; 
and provided further, that nothing herein shall require the Permittee to hold harmless or defend 
the City, its agents, employees and/or officers from any claims arising from the sole negligence 
of the City, its agents, employees, and/or officers.  The Permittee expressly agrees that the 
indemnification provided herein constitutes the Permittee’s limited waiver of immunity as an 
employer under Utah Code Section 34A-2-105; provided, however, this waiver shall apply only 
to the extent an employee of Permittee claims or recovers compensation from the City for a 
loss or injury that Permittee would be obligated to indemnify the City for under this 
Agreement. This limited waiver has been mutually negotiated by the parties and is expressly 
made effective only for the purposes of this Agreement.                                                                                                
 
At its own cost and expense, the Permittee shall maintain the following mandatory insurance 
coverage to protect against claims for injuries to persons or property damage that may arise 
from or relate to the performance of this Agreement by the Permittee, its agents, 
representatives, employees, or subcontractors for the entire duration of this Agreement or for 
such longer period of time as set forth below. Prior to commencing any work, the Permittee 
shall furnish a certificate of insurance as evidence of the requisite coverage. The certificate of 
insurance must include endorsements for additional insured, waiver of subrogation, primary 
and non-contributory status, and completed operations.  

 
Commercial General Liability Insurance. The Permittee shall maintain commercial general 
liability insurance on a primary and non-contributory basis in comparison to all other insurance, 
including City’s own policies of insurance, for all claims against City. The policy must be written 
on an occurrence basis with limits not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence and $4,000,000 
aggregate for personal injury and property damage. Upon request of City, the Permittee must 
increase the policy limits to at least the amount of the limitation of judgments described in Utah 
Code § 63G-7-604, the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah (or successor provision), as 
calculated by the state risk manager every two years and stated in Utah Admin. Code R37-4-3 
(or successor provision). 

 
Automobile Liability Coverage. The Permittee shall maintain automobile liability insurance with 
a combined single limit of not less than $2,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property 
damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, and use of owned, hired, and non-owned 
motor vehicles. This policy must not contain any exclusion or limitation with respect to loading 
or unloading of a covered vehicle. 
 
Liquor Liability Coverage.  
The Permittee shall maintain liquor liability insurance as applicable with limits of One Million 
Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate.  
 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance and Employer’s Liability. The Permittee shall maintain 
workers’ compensation insurance with limits not less than the amount required by statute, and 
employer’s liability insurance limits of at least $1,000,000 each accident, $1,000,000 for bodily 
injury by accident, and $1,000,000 each employee for injury by disease. The workers’ 
compensation policy must be endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in favor of “Park City 
Municipal Corporation” for all work performed by the Permittee, its employees, agents, and 
Subcontractors. 

 
Umbrella/Excess Coverage. The insurance limits required by this section may be met by either 
providing a primary policy or in combination with umbrella / excess liability policy(ies). To the 
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extent that umbrella/excess coverage is used to satisfy the limits of coverage required 
hereunder, the terms of such coverage must be following form to, or otherwise at least as 
broad as, the primary underlying coverage, including amending the "other insurance" 
provisions as required so as to provide additional insured coverage on a primary and non-
contributory basis, and subject to vertical exhaustion before any other primary, 
umbrella/excess, or any other insurance obtained by the additional insureds will be triggered. 

 
Insured Parties. Each policy and all renewals or replacements, except those policies for 
Professional Liability, and Workers Compensation and Employer’s Liability, must name City 
(and its officers, agents, and employees) as additional insureds on a primary and non-
contributory basis with respect to liability arising out of work, operations, and completed 
operations performed by or on behalf of the Permittee. 

 
Waiver of Subrogation. The Permittee waives all rights against City and any other additional 
insureds for recovery of any loss or damages to the extent these damages are covered by any 
of the insurance policies required under this Agreement. The Permittee shall cause each policy 
to be endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in favor of City for all work performed by the 
Permittee, its employees, agents, and Subcontractors.  

 
Quality of Insurance Companies. All required insurance policies must be issued by insurance 
companies qualified to do business in the state of Utah and listed on the United States 
Treasury Department's current Department of Treasury Fiscal Services List 570 or having a 
general policyholders rating of not less than "A-" in the most current available A.M. Best Co., 
Inc.'s, Best Insurance Report, or equivalent. 

 
Cancellation. Should any of the Permittee’s required insurance policies under this Agreement 
be cancelled before the termination or completion of this Agreement, The Permittee must 
deliver notice to City within 30 days of cancellation. City may request and the Permittee must 
provide within 10 days certified copies of any required policies during the term of this 
Agreement. 

 
Additional Coverage. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if the Permittee has procured 
any insurance coverage or limits (either primary or on an excess basis) that exceed the 
minimum acceptable coverage or limits set forth in this Agreement, the broadest coverage and 
highest limits actually afforded under the applicable policy(ies) of insurance are the coverage 
and limits required by this Agreement and such coverage and limits must be provided in full to 
the additional insureds and indemnified parties under this Agreement. The parties expressly 
intend that the provisions in this Agreement will be construed as broadly as permitted to be 
construed by applicable law to afford the maximum insurance coverage available under the 
Permittee’s insurance policies. 

 
No representation. In specifying minimum Permittee insurance requirements, City does not 
represent that such insurance is adequate to protect the Permittee from loss, damage or 
liability arising from its work. The Permittee is solely responsible to inform itself of types or 
amounts of insurance it may need beyond these requirements to protect itself. Required 
Insurance and Hold Harmless Waiver as required above shall be attached to this permit as an 
exhibit to this permit.  
 

10. All plans for tents, stages, and other temporary structures as well as flammable materials shall 
be submitted and approved by the Building Department no later than January 11, or no less 
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than one week prior to the first day of set up for each Sundance Theatre, Official Sundance 
Venue or Official Sponsor Venue. 

11. The Permittee is responsible for maintaining a staff and volunteers plan for their venues. 
Venue Managers contact list shall be provided to the Special Events Manager. 

12. The Permittee’s use of barricade and signage will be in accordance with the Manual of Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) for the duration of the event. 

13. All third party approvals including the Park City School District, Summit County and State of 
Utah, permit approvals required for this event shall be secured by January 2, 2024 and 
submitted to Park City Municipal Corporation. 

14. The Permittee’s sponsor, United Airlines, is required to obtain a sidewalk permit through the 
City Engineer’s office for any use of sidewalk in front of their venue.  

15. The Permittee will provide an official Sundance Venue and Sponsor list and sign plan for the 
event. If Sundance adds a Sponsor after City Council's approval in the Supplemental Plan the 
Special Events Manager and City Manager may approve additional Sponsors at venues with 
minimal impacts. Any sponsors that are added after Council approval that cause substantial 
impacts shall be approved by City Council at a subsequent meeting. Sundance venues and 
Sponsors using City Property (Use Areas) are outlined in the City Property Use Matrix. 

16. All event sign plans shall comply with the Park City Municipal sign code and be reviewed by 
the Special Events, Parks and Planning Departments. 

17. The Permittee will address any requirements from the Chief Building Official and Public Safety 
Personnel regarding the placement of emergency staff and equipment. The Permittee will 
submit an Emergency Operations Plan to be coordinated with Park City Police, Emergency 
Management, and Park City Fire District. 

18. The Permittee supports AT&T placing a cell tower in the North Marsac Parking lot to help with 
coverage during the Festival. No branding or other marketing shall accompany the equipment. 
AT&T is required to obtain and pay for all necessary permitting.  

19. The Park City Special Events, Police, Fire, Building Official/Fire Marshal, and Emergency 
Management Departments have the right to cancel the event upon any condition, violation or 
weather that jeopardizes the life, safety, or property of the residents or visitors of Park City. 

20. The Permittee is responsible for providing a schedule of events, and access to any site for 
purposes of Code Enforcement or Public Safety as outlined by Park City Municipal Code 4A-2-
4. 

21. The approval identification provided with the approval of this permit must be in possession of 
the permittee at all times and must be made available for inspection when requested by City 
authorities or the public.  

 
PASSED AND APPROVED this Thursday, the 14th Day of December, 2023. 
 

PARK CITY MUNICIPAL CORPORATION 
 
 
 

______________________________________ 
City Manager, Matt Dias 

 
Attest: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Michelle Kellogg, City Recorder 
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Approved as to form: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Mark D.  Harrington, City Attorney 
 

Attachments: 
A City Property Use Area Matrix & Leases 
B Sundance Official Venues, Sponsors and Events 
C Transportation & Parking Plans 
D Certificate of Insurance  
E Hold Harmless Agreement 
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Each year, the supplemental plan for the annual Sundance Film Festival is amended to recognize 
changes from the previous year per the long-term City Services Agreement. Unless affirmatively 
modified by both parties, supplemental plans for future Festivals will follow the plan for the previous 
Festival. Due to the size and scope of the event, a large coordinated effort occurs between every City 
Department, Sundance Institute, and many community stakeholders in order to both support 
opportunities and mitigate challenges during the event. We have been coordinating with Sundance to 
gain perspective from many stakeholders through outreach efforts, as well as create mitigation for the 
supplemental plans. 
 
Event Timeline and Operations 
The Sundance Film Festival will be held from January 18 to 28, 2024. Set up and breakdown will 
occur between January 2 and February 3, unless otherwise noted in the Use Matrix. Festival and 
Official Sponsor Activities will occur daily during the dates indicated above between 7:00 a.m. and 
2:30 a.m. Set up and breakdown for the festival will occur as described specifically for each venue as 
described in the Use Matrix included Exhibit C. 

• There are no other events currently scheduled during the 2024 SFF. The FIS World Cup at 
Deer Valley will be held February 1 to 3, which is the weekend following the Festival.  

• All Official Sundance Venues and Sponsors are listed in Exhibit C, and will be attached to the 
Special Event Permit. 

 
Park City Theater Venues 

● DoubleTree will not be utilized as a screening venue for this year’s Festival. 
● Two venues will be utilized for A Week only:  Prospector and Eccles. 
● The first films on opening day (January 18) will begin around 12pm 
● The Festival will use:  The Eccles, Egyptian, four Holiday Cinemas, Park City Library, 

Prospector, and The Ray along with the three Redstone theaters located in Kimball junction in 
the County. 

 
Official Festival Sponsors.  

• New Official Sponsors of the Festival include Ketel One Vodka, Hulu, Cotopaxi, Elemental Wines, 
Deadline Hollywood, and the New York Times.  

• The following are no longer Official Sponsors: Netflix, Stacy’s Pita Chips, Canada Goose, Lyft, 
Stanley, and Wall Street Journal.  

• All Sundance Official Sponsors that fall under the Special Event Permit are outlined in Exhibit C.  
 
Venue/Sponsor Changes - City/Public Property include: 
• Bob Wells Plaza will return as the Acura House of Energy at Festival Village.  This year, the 

activation will focus specifically on their electric fleet, further aligning with the City’s sustainability 
goals. As part of their activation, they request a move-in date of January 6 (six days earlier than 
2023). This time is needed, as they were under pressure and working in hazardous conditions due 
to significant snow loads last year. Acura will Lease the property from the City and is invoiced for 
their use of the space ($31,000).   

• Hulu will activate the Galleria Parking Lot with a Food Truck, providing free refreshments to the 
public to celebrate the anniversary of Napoleon Dynamite.  

• DoorDash will provide winter Festival-goer items. We are working to finalize a location and will 
follow up at the Council meeting with more information.  

• The Bonanza District area will be used for storage for Festival operations. No activations will take 
place in the Bonanza Area.   
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• A final list of activations will be mutually agreed upon and approved administratively by the Special 
Event Manager and City Manager. Anything significant may require an additional public hearing 
and action by the City Council.  
 

Venue Changes - Private Property:  
New Official Sponsor Venues include: 

• 558 Main Street / PC Fine Arts Gallery / Adobe on Main 

• 751 Main Street / Rich Haines Gallery / United Airlines 

• 333 Main Street, Space H / Cotopaxi Store / Cotopaxi 

• 440 Main Street / Lazy Sun / World of Hyatt 

• 501 Main Street / 501 Main / Dropbox Studio (one day only) 

• 136 Heber Avenue / Gateway Mall, Suite103 / MACRO Lounge presented by Chase Sapphire 

• 201 Main Street / Courchevel / White Claw Hard Seltzer 

• 608 Main Street / Montgomery Lee Gallery / Deadline Hollywood 
 

Programs: Inclusion and Accessibility: 
Sundance is committed to improving experiences for audiences and artists of all abilities. Sundance 
considers inclusion and accessibility the drivers of institutional excellence and aims for our programs 
and platforms to reflect these core values at every level. It is Sundance’s practice to:  
o Provide one open caption screening per film during the festival. Closed captioning for all non-open 

caption screenings and audio description whenever possible;  
o Offer sign language interpretation for any event upon reasonable request and 
o Conduct ongoing accessibility audits of all Sundance-hosted in-person and online venues, as the 

Institute will only use ADA-compliant venues.  
 
Changes to City Operations – Recommended by Staff, not specifically requested, but 
supported by Sundance 
 
Parking:  
The Municipal code states the following in section 9-1-5 Regulation Not Exclusive 
The parking regulations established by this Title (Parking Code) are not all encompassing, and 
additional regulations may be established by posting permanent or seasonal signs stating the 
additional regulation imposed, or by police officers directing traffic during periods of heavy traffic 
volume or during periods of emergencies, or during special events as designated by the City 
Manager. 
 
After the debrief of the 2019 Sundance Film Festival, with many transportation changes, it was clear 
that with specific input and feedback from the Historic Park City Alliance (HPCA), we needed to focus 
on parking rates during the Festival. The staff has continued to work with HPCA and individual merchant 
outreach through summer events and leading to the Festival. In combination with that engagement, as 
well as with the data and analysis past Festivals and summer events, staff recommends the following 
parking rates during the Film Festival. We believe we will strike a better balance between bringing 
business back to merchants on Main Street the second half of the Festival, while maintaining 
transportation management.  
 
The Parking and Special Events Departments recommend minor changes to the City’s paid parking 
structure. This includes reducing the rate to a $30 flat fee ($40 in 2023) from Sunday, January 21 to 
23, and returning parking to normal rates beginning Wednesday, January 24. The updated rates align 
with Winter Peak parking rates and are based on data trends from 2020, 2021, 2022, and 2023.  
 

Page 339 of 377

https://parkcity.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=9-1-5_Regulation_Not_Exclusive


Exhibit B: SFF Analysis of Operations 

Parking Rates during the Sundance Film Festival 

Day of the Week Date Proposed Rates 

Thursday January 18 $40 

Friday & Saturday January 19 & 20 $50 

Sunday to Tuesday January 21, 22, 23 $30 

Wednesday to Sunday January 24 to 28 Normal Peak Parking 
Rates: 
8 a.m. to 6 p.m.: $1 per 
hour/ 5th hour $30 
6 p.m. to 12:00 a.m. $4 per 
hour  

 
The Homestake Parking Lot is no longer available for Employee Parking as the Engine House 
development is under construction.  
 
When the Galleria parking lot is not used for Sundance programming, the lot will be utilized for 
additional ADA parking spaces when not used for Hulu programming. 
 
Drop and Loading 
There is no parking or drop and loading on Main Street. Drop and load areas are available for anyone 
dropping and loading (no staging or parking allowed) and do not require a permit or specific brand of 
plaque. The City has taken on operations of all drop and load areas at the following locations. Drop 
and Load areas will be managed by Kane Security.  
 
1. Behind Park City Museum (Swede Surface Lots) 
2. South Marsac Lot;  
3. Ninth Street Trolley Turn Around; 
4. Brew Pub North section of the Lot; and 
 
Lyft is not returning as a Festival sponsor and will not have any dedicated drop and load area around 
Main Street. In coordination with Sundance, we have contacted Lyft, Uber, and our list of For-Hire 
Transportation Companies to ensure they know this year’s plans. The City will hire Kane Security to 
help manage and enforce drop and loading areas.  
 
Transit 
Public Transit 
Park City and High Valley Transit (HVT) are imperative to mitigate Festival impacts and improve 
safety, access, and circulation during the Festival. Sundance has collaborated closely with the City 
and HVT to develop coordinated transit and transportation plans for the 2024 Festival.  
 
With the reduction of two theatre venues (PC MARC and Temple) and the addition of Richardson Flat 
winter service, PC Transit plans to provide service from Richardson Flat to Old Town, from 5:30 a.m. 
to 2:05 a.m. (from Old Town Transit Center to Richardson Flat) with 20-minute frequencies, from 
January 18 to January 27. Sundance will provide two additional transit routes with 10 to 15-minute 
frequencies through the Theatre District (Headquarters at Sheraton Hotel, Prospector Theatre, Eccles 
Theatre, Bonanza, Walgreens, and Fresh Market). This includes the orange, pink and blue lines.  
 
Traffic Circulation Changes: 
These changes are recommended by City Staff (Transportation Planning, Parking, Transit, Police, 
Engineer, Building, Special Events) whose goals have focused specifically on changes to reduce 
residential impacts, and increase transit priority, and ensure emergency access  
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Based on direction from Council in 2019, Staff has evaluated numerous changes to the Festival 
transportation plan aimed at increasing public safety, reducing impacts on residential neighborhoods 
and increasing capacity through a transit first priority.  While staff has looked at the “Olympic model”, 
without the major budgets adjustments and satellite parking lots, significant increase in transit fleet 
and commensurate levels of programming on Main Street, this plan can’t be replicated at the current 
scale of the Festival.  Staff instead, focused on operational changes within the existing system that 
create one ways traffic flows, and reduce access to residential oriented streets and enhance transit 
access and throughput. 
 
Based on the success of the one-way Park Avenue circulation plan from 2020, and  input from 
Council on November 18, 2021, and the 2023 Circulation patterns, we recommend going back to two 
way traffic on Main Street during the 2024 Festival. We will take time as a team to evaluate the ability 
and operational needs to close the street to traffic in future years.  
 
Increased Police presence at key intersections 

o Increased police at key intersections around the resort base, at 9th and Park Avenue and at 
the Park Ave/Empire/Deer Valley Drive and Main and Swede to further deter traffic and in 
some cases direct traffic. We will also have additional police presence at Grappa intersection 
(coupled with Kane Security), Hillside and Lower Main to reinforce traffic patterns.  

 
Additional signage at key intersections 

o This includes implementing additional no left or no right turns, and having more clearly marked 
signs regarding where parking is available. 

 
Continued Outreach with Access Passes to Old Town Residents 

o While staff has done extensive outreach distributing access passes, the changes added would 
require additional outreach and boots on the ground. This has been a ‘team work makes the 
dreamwork” effort, and additional all hands in approach is needed to pull this additional 
outreach off.  
 

Traffic Management 
 
In addition to coordinating the the Peak Traffic Team, the Traffic Operations Center (TOC) 
establishes the proper network and communications systems to integrate with UDOT, Park City 
Transit, Police, and the EOC.   

 

The TCC will oversee and monitor critical ITS and transportation network solutions that will 
include: 

• UDOT Closed Circuit Television Camera Surveillance: provides a real-time picture of 
highway conditions and incidents on routes throughout the highway system and is 
available on the UDOT traffic mobile application and website. 

• Road Weather Information System: provides forecasting, and real-time information on 
weather and pavement conditions that can then be relayed to the traveling public, 
incident management personnel, and UDOT to best prepare for traffic conditions.  It 
should be noted that UDOT recently installed a new station at the intersection of SR 224 
and Meadows Drive. 

• Variable Message Signs: Update and provide the traveling public with advanced warning 
and real-time information about road conditions, special event impacts, and travel time so 
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the driver can take appropriate action and adjust travel routes and times.  Information 
collected through existing Bluetooth readers will be used to calculate travel times 

• Transportation Information Website and Apps: provide real-time information on 
construction and maintenance projects, road closures, major delays, special events, 
weather and road conditions, and transit operations.  

• Traffic, Transit and Emergency Vehicle Signal Interconnect Coordination: With the recent 
implementation of Transit and Emergency Signal Priority, the TCC will monitor the traffic 
signals to allow better access and throughput for traffic, transit and emergency vehicles. 

 
Chain Businesses 
Park City has reached a cap of Chain Businesses South of Heber (17). There is still room for chains 
south of Heber (3).  
  
Environmental Sustainability Plan 
Sundance has provided a detailed statement and list of their sustainable commitment which can be 
found in Exhibit C. 
 
Community Engagement 
A significant and comprehensive outreach program is planned to inform the community of Festival 
operations focused on transportation, traffic, and parking. We updated our website and performed 
door-to-door outreach with old-town residents, merchants, and the business community during the 
first week of December. In January, additional public information and a community guide will be 
published in English and Spanish on the City’s website and shared with community partners and local 
media. An informational postcard will also be mailed to all 84060 residents.  
 
After plans are approved, we will attend the Lodging and HPCA board meetings to help prepare those 
associations with information for this year’s Festival. In addition, we will join Sundance in their door-
to-door outreach within the Theatre District area (Ray, Holiday Village, and Park Ave Theatres) to 
ensure that property owners’ questions are adequately addressed.  
 
After the Supplemental Plan is approved, staff’s focus will shift to Festival operations/implementation 
and will include the following: 

• Continued use of the PCEVENTS text alert system leading up to and during the Festival. 
During this year’s festival we will continue specifc Festival Specific Text alert system 
(FILMFEST), in which Sundance will also help to promote. This text alert system will continue 
to be used only for emergency and transportation information.  

• Local Community Guide posted on website after the Holiday Break (English and Spanish) 

• Transportation Impact Map on the City’s website by the second week of January (having this 
up too soon creates confusion).  

• Coordination with the Community Engagement Team for Merchant-to-Merchant and Old Town 
Door to Door residential outreach reminders, HPCA and Chamber Newsletter Reminder, social 
media outreach and local media interviews. We will continue to push information out to all 
stakeholders and community partners.  

 
Costs for City Operations 
City services and hard costs are budgeted and tracked within individual department budgets, waived 
according to the Agreement. Direct contributions and City service funding necessary to support the 
SFF come from the City’s General and Transit Funds, both of which are funded through sales tax. 
Estimated costs and fees are within department budgets. Actuals will be reported in the debrief in 
spring of 2024. In addition to the costs outlined below,   
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Item 2024 Estimated Fees 
and Costs 

Special Event Application 
Fee (CIE) 

$518.80 

Transit Services $93,294 

Police Services $336,000 

Kane Security (Residential, 
Pedestrian, For-Hire/Drop & 
Load, Parking 
Management) 

$250,000 

City Facility Use $32,925 

Parks and Streets 
Equipment & Signs 

$18,655 

Parks – Increased Trash 
and Recycling 

$11,760 

Building Maintenance – 
Increased Cleanings and 
Products 

$11,520 

Parking Removal from Main 
Street (Special Use of 
Parking) 

$30,000 

Parking Passes for the 
China Bridge 

$18,000 

Building Permits $17,000 

Park City Fire Dept Stand 
By  

$12,000 

Annual Festival Payment 
(Estimate) 

$320,000 

Total Costs $1,151,672.80 

 

 
The City receives revenues from the Sundance Film Festival and its economic impact (total estimate 
for 2024 is $4,350,000 to $5,350,000).  

• Festival Sponsors Acura and Hulu will pay the City for parking (property) used at Bob Wells 
Plaza and Galleria Lot (estimated $33,000).  

• Sundance also pays for additional parking passes totaling ($13,500).  

• The City receives an estimated $306,996 in licensing, building permits, and parking revenues. 

• Additionally, the overall estimated Economic Impact to Park City specifically is estimated at $4 
to 5 million dollars annually.  

o A conservative estimate of 14.5 million dollars is estimated over the term of the 
Agreement ($1.1M annually) for Sundance moving off of MLK holiday weekend. 
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Special Event Pre-Application Form 

The Special Events Department no longer accepts rolling applications. All applicants must submit the following Special Event 
Pre- Application Form and receive administrative permission from the Park City Special Events Department prior to submitting a 
Special Event Application. Any new or significantly changed event should also review the Peak Time Period Calendar which 
restricts new events during peak times. Special Event Applications are accepted up to 18 months in advance and are due as 
follows: 
1. First Friday in December for events through June, reviewed and approved/denied by end of February. 
2. First Friday in April for events through October, reviewed and approved/denied by end of June. 
3. First Friday in August for events through February, reviewed and approved/denied by end of October. 
Events that are determined a Level 1 or Level 2 are exempt from these deadlines but must submit a completed application no less than 30 
days prior to the scheduled start of the event, unless otherwise approved by the Economic Development Manager. 

Special Event Date(s) or Application is not approved until the Special Event Application is reviewed and approved in a Special Event 
Permit according to Section 4A of the Municipal Code. All Special Event Pre-Application Forms should be sent to Stephanie Valdez in 
the Special Events Department at stephanie.valdez@parkcity.org. For questions, please call 435.615.5194.  

Please provide the following information:

EVENT Contact Information EVENT Date & Time 

Event Name Requested Date(s) of Event 

Primary Contact First & 
Last Name 
 

Proposed Time of Event 

Email Address Total attendance from 
previous year 

Phone Number 
Estimated total 
attendance for upcoming 
year 

Website Is your event changing? 
What changes do you 
anticipate? Business/Organization 

Name 

 EVENT Location (*Please list all that apply. Event Location, Fields, Parks, Public Facilities, Trails, Private Facilities & Letter of Permission, Streets, Other)
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Sustainability Commitment and Activities

Sundance Institute is committed to reducing its environmental impact during the Sundance Film Festival and
throughout the year. The Institute’s sustainability plan is focused on lowering energy consumption, reducing waste
streams and conserving natural resources. Inviting guests into a small mountain town each January is not without
its environmental challenges; however it is our belief that every person can make a difference.

At the Festival, Sundance Institute’s environmental sustainability initiatives include: reducing bottled water waste;
increasing recycling stations at all venues and theaters; and encouraging patrons to take shared rides to/from the
airport to Park City, use the free shuttle system to travel around town, walk between venues where possible and not
rent cars. Supplementing free transportation with electric and biodiesel buses in the shuttle system, encouraging
attendees to reduce the environmental impact on their own. Festival experiences, and promoting the
environmentally-conscious activities of our sponsor community are some of the ways the Institute is working to reduce
its environmental impact.

Lowering Energy Consumption

Shuttle System: A free system of shuttles offers transportation between all Park City theaters and venues. At
least six electric buses (possibly more) will be in service during the 2024 Festival, with charging stations in Old
Town and Kimball Junction transit centers. A portion of the non-electric shuttles provided through a
relationship between Sundance and Park City Transit are fueled by biodiesel.

Ecker Hill Park and Ride: (I-80 & Hwy 224) offers free parking and shuttle service to Kimball Jct, Canyons
and PCMR. Ecker Hill is open 365 days a year, with a parking capacity for 100 vehicles, on a first come first
serve basis.

Richardson Flat Park and Ride: (Hwy 40 & Hwy 248) offers free parking and shuttle service every 20 minutes
to Eccles Theatre with connecting service to all Park City theaters and venues. Service to Eccles is 7am-2am
with connecting service to Main Street and all Park City Theaters 6pm-2am from Thursday January 18th
through Saturday, January 27th, 7am - 2:00am. Richardson Flat has a capacity for 400+ vehicles.

Walking Trails: A well-marked and maintained system of walking paths and sidewalks, shown on the
Festival website, allows attendees to walk safely between the Festival's theaters and venues in Park City.

Reducing Waste Streams

Reducing Bottled Water Waste:The Festival provides hydration stations at all official venues, events, and
theaters where patrons can refill their own reusable bottles. Reusable water bottles were distributed at the 2023
Sundance Film Festival. We encourage people to bring back bottles for the 2024 Sundance Film Festival.

Hydration Stations providing water for over 10,000 water bottles for Festival staff, filmmakers, volunteers,
and patrons.

Digital Online Film Guide which enables audience members to explore all the latest programming and talks,
which can be accessed by computers and other digital devices.

Digital Film Tickets/Balloting: 100% of our in-person Festival film tickets will be digital this year, eliminating
the need for paper tickets and 100% of our in-person Festival film balloting will be digital this year, eliminating
the need for paper ballots.

Mobile Festival Application will be available to all patrons to download for free onto their mobile devices. The
App will include an active map of Park City including bus stops, venue locations and other information about
the Festival, giving patrons immediate digital access to a broad amount of materials and communications.
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Digital Communication / Promotion: Digital communication has been more effective in reaching target
audiences and saves money and paper. Digital event invites and correspondence with our Artists and
Filmmakers is done through digital Evites and emails.

The transit map will be online only this year. No printed map for 2024

The film program guide will be online only this year. No printed Film Guide for 2024.

Recycling: The Festival continues to install and service temporary recycling stations at Festival theaters,
venues, events, and shuttle stops in Park City in conjunction with Park City Municipal Corporation’s recycling
stations on Historic Main Street. The Festival has developed enhanced instructional signage, drawing the
Festival attendees' attention to recycling facilities. As a result, the 2023 Sundance Film Festival recycled an
estimated 16,000 of material.

Reducing Consumption of Disposables: The disposable items at officially sanctioned Festival events are
contractually required to be made with 100% recycled paper or with materials made of natural fibers such as
corn, potato, and sugarcane.

Hire Locals: We hire many local concessionaires to save with food and beverage transportation. Serve
fresh and healthy foods. Buy bulk products when available to help reduce packaging waste. We work with
local companies.

Sponsor Donations: Working closely with our sponsors to recycle throughout the Festival. Post Festival
our sponsors donate items to local businesses; furniture, building materials, etc, that can be reused or
recycled.

Conserving Natural Resources

Recycled & Repurposed materials: Festival merchandise stores feature a range of products made from
repurposed materials, including bags made of repurposed street banners from prior Festivals. All in store
shopping bags used by customers are made from 100% recycled materials.

Most of the 2024 Festival merchandise is made or printed in the USA.

Specific merchandise that does not sell by the end of the Festival is donated to the Hopi and Navajo
people throughout Utah and the Four Corners reservations.

The Institute uses locally sourced supplies and vendors whenever possible. (painters, contractors,
plumbers, rental companies, concessionaires, transportation, etc)

Digital Signage is used at any of our venues to reduce material usage and replace signage with energy efficient
LED screens. These screens can be easily updated to provide our patrons with up to the minute changes in
information and changes to programming.

Environmental Films and Programs

2024: We have films that will be part of the program that focus on environmental responsibility and will be announced
shortly,

Community Screenings and Community Tickets Programs

During the Festival, the Institute offers complimentary tickets to environmentally-focused films to local groups as a way
to foster community dialogue on important issues.

Year-round Commitments to Sustainability

Office Recycling: In addition to our efforts at the Festival, Sundance Institute promotes sustainability year-round.
Our office works with Curb It Recycling Company to offer paper and plastic recycling. They come on a weekly
basis to collect our recyclable materials which allows our office to keep up a steady pace with our recycling needs.
We also collect and recycle batteries and light bulbs at Recycle Utah. The Institute recycles approximately 18,000
pounds each year. We strive to purchase office supplies that are either partially or fully made from recycled
material such as printer paper, tri-fold paper towels and toilet paper. This year we have made an effort to reduce
disposable and single use plastic products from staff events, using reusable materials where possible.
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SUNDANCE INSTITUTE SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT 

Sponsor Venues - Main Street and Surrounding Areas 
Sponsor/Group  Venue Name and Address 

Presenting  

Acura 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

 

Acura Festival Village 

(Acura House of Energy TBD) 

480 Swede Alley 

(Bob Wells Plaza) 

AMC+ 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

No Venue 

Chase Sapphire 

(with Los Angeles Times) 

 

Festival Lead - Lauren 

Chase Sapphire on Main 

573 Main Street 

(ClaimJumper) 

Adobe (NEW VENUE) 

 

Festival Lead - Lauren 

Adobe on Main 

558 Main Street 

(PC Fine Arts Gallery) 

 

Leadership  

Audible 

(with Variety) 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

The Listening Lodge 

The Variety Studio, presented 

by Audible 

675 Main Street 

(Kimball Terrace) 

DIRECTV 

 

Festival Lead - Sydney 

No Venue 

 

Hulu 

 

Festival Lead - Lauren 

No Venue 

Ketel One 

 

Festival Lead - Sydney 

No Venue 

Omnicom Group 

 

Festival Lead - Lauren 

No Venue 

Shutterstock 

 

TBD 
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Festival Lead - Sydney 

United Airlines (NEW 

VENUE) 

 

Festival Lead - Sydney 

Venue Name TBD 

751 Main Street 

(Rich Haines Gallery) 

Sustaining  

Canon 

 

Festival Lead - Lauren 

Canon Creative Studio 

528 Main Street 

(PC Museum) 

Cotopaxi (STOREFRONT 

EXISITING) 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

Own Store 

333 Main St Space H 

Elemental Wines 

 

Festival Lead - Sydney 

No Venue 

DoorDash 

 

Festival Lead - Lauren 

No Venue 

Dropbox 

(with IndieWire) 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

IndieWire Studio, Presented by 

Dropbox 

625 Main Street 

(Summit/Sotheby's) 

Dropbox 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

Dropbox Studio 

501 Main Street 

(501 Main) 

 

One Day Only - Saturday, January 

20 

Hyatt, World of (NEW 

VENUE) 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

Venue Name TBD 

440 Main Street 

(Lazy Sun) 

IMDb 

 

Festival Lead - Sydney 

No venue - dedicated space in 

Acura Festival Village (AFV) 

MACRO (NEW VENUE) 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

MACRO Lodge, presented by 

Chase Sapphire 

 

Gateway Mall (old Jack Wolfskin 

store) 

Rabbit Hole Bourbon and 

Rye 

 

No Venue 

Page 368 of 377



 

 

Festival Lead - Sydney 

University of Utah Health 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

Festival Headquarters 

Wellness Hub 

White Claw Hard Seltzer 

(NEW VENUE) 

 

Festival Lead - Sydney 

201 Heber Ave. 

(Courchevel) 

Media Sponsors  

Deadline Hollywood Montgomery Lee Fine Arts 

608 Main Street 

IndieWire (with Dropbox) IndieWire Studio, Presented by 

Dropbox 

625 Main Street 

(Summit/Sotheby's) 

Los Angeles Times (with 

Chase Sapphire) 

Los Angeles Times Studio 

presented by Chase Sapphire 

580 Main  

(Old Towne Gallery) 

New York Times, The Venue TBD 

NPR No Venue 

Variety (with Audible) The Variety Studio, presented 

by Audible 

675 Main Street 

(Kimball Terrace) 

Vulture The Vulture Spot 

591 Main Street 

(Lunds Fine Arts Gallery) 

Festival Host State  

State of Utah/Utah Film 

Commission 

 

Festival Lead - Robert 

No Venue 
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All Sponsors & Supporters 

 
Presenting Sponsors 
Acura 
AMC Networks 
Chase Sapphire® 
Adobe 
 
Leadership Sponsors 
Audible 
DIRECTV 
Hulu 
Ketel One Vodka 
Omnicom Group 
Shutterstock 
United Airlines 
 
Sustaining Sponsors 
Canon U.S.A., Inc. 
Cotopaxi 
DoorDash 
Dropbox 
World of Hyatt® 
IMDb 
MACRO 
Rabbit Hole Bourbon & Rye 
University of Utah Health 
White Claw Hard Seltzer 
 
Media Sponsors 
IndieWire 
Los Angeles Times, The 
New York Times, The 
NPR 
Variety 
Vulture 
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SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT  & CITY SERVICES AGREEMENT CITY PROPERTY USE MATRIX 
 

Sundance Film Festival 2024  

Use Area Address Use Period * Intended Use Type of Use Basic City Services Access 
Control 

Traffic Control 

Santy Auditorium of 
Park City Public Library 
and Education Center, 
all associated 
furnishings, fixtures, 
and equipment; 
including projection 
booth & projector, North 
Field, 16 parking 
spaces, courtyard and 
sponsor car display 

1255 
Park 
Avenue 

Monday, 
January 8th 
through 
Thursday, 
February 1st  

Screening venue, 
tents (Press and 
Wait list) and 
operational parking 
and propane 
storage, car 
display 

Parking – 
Nonexclusive 
(except 16 
reserved via 
permit;  
All others – 
Exclusive 

Park City shall maintain 
regular Cleaning, Waste 
Removal and snow and ice 
removal inside and outside 
the use area.  In addition, 
Park City shall clear snow, 
ice and debris from the field 
& courtyard for placement of 
Sundance’s Tent & other 
activities. 

Sundance 
and Park 
City 

Sundance and 
Park City 

Library Rooms 301, 
201, 101, North 
Conference Room & 
Community Room 
 

1255 
Park 
Avenue 

Thursday 
January 11th 
through 
Tuesday, 
January 30th 

Concessions/ 
Hospitality; 
Passholder Line; 
Green Room, 
Press Line, 
volunteer use, 
storage 

Parking – 
Nonexclusive 
(except 16 
reserved via 
permit;  
All others – 
Exclusive 

Same as above Sundance 
and Park 
City 

Sundance and 
Park City 

Mawhinney Parking Lot Park 
Avenue 

January 18 - 
January 28, 
2024 

Overflow parking 
Area 

Parking – 
exclusive via 
permit in the 
west half of lot 
(26 spaces); 
otherwise public 
 

Park City shall maintain 
regular, Cleaning, Waste 
Removal and snow and ice 
removal inside and outside 
the use area.   

Sundance 
and Park 
City 

Sundance and 
Park City 

Miners Hospital -Entire 
building   with option of 
pavilion and 
surrounding park areas. 
All Parking around 
facility during the 
festival.  

1354 
Park 
Avenue 

November 16, 
2023– 
February 29, 
2024 

Sundance Festival 
Office space  

Parking – 
Exclusive- 
adjacent to 
Recreation and 
Miners; Other - 
Nonexclusive 
 

Park City shall maintain 
regular, Cleaning, Waste 
Removal and snow and ice 
removal inside and outside 
the use area.   

Sundance Sundance and 
Park City 

PCMC Recreation 
Building – Entire 
building 

1354 
Park 
Avenue 

December 1, 
2023 – 
February 17, 
2024 

Sundance Storage 
or other Sundance 
use 

Currently, use 
as storage 

Park City shall maintain 
regular, Cleaning, Waste 
Removal and snow and ice 
removal inside and outside 
the use area.   

Sundance Sundance and 
Park City 

Miners Park on Main 
Street 

Main 
Street 

Tuesday before 
Festival 
through 

Sundance Film 
Festival or 
Sponsor Activation 

Sponsor 
Product 
Placement 

Park City shall maintain 
regular, Cleaning, Waste 
Removal and snow and ice 

Sundance Sundance 
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Festival Dates 
(Tuesday 
January 16th-
Sunday, 
January 28th) 

(Acura) and 
Daily 
Community 
Giveaways 

removal inside and outside 
the use area.  Sundance is 
responsible for snow removal 
from vehicle once vehicle is 
placed.  Sundance is 
responsible for ensuring 
crowd does not interfere with 
Main Street or Sidewalk 
traffic. 

Bear Bench Walk Way 
on Main Street 

Main 
Street 

Tuesday, 
January 16th  
through 
Monday, 
January 29th 

Sundance Film 
Festival or 
Sponsor Activation 

Sponsor 
Product 
Placement 
(Acura) and 
Daily 
Community 
Giveaways 

Park City shall maintain 
regular cleaning, waste 
removal, and snow and ice 
removal.  Sundance is 
responsible for snow removal 
from vehicle once vehicle is 
placed.  Sundance is 
responsible for ensuring 
crowd does not interfere with 
Main Street or Sidewalk 
traffic. 

Sundance Sundance 

Park City Museum  - 
First Right of Refusal 
for Sundance or 
Sundance Sponsors 

Main 
Street 

January 19-22 
(not including 
load-in and out) 

Sponsor Use Canon Refer to City Lease 
Agreement with Museum 

Sundance Sundance and 
Park City 

Park Avenue- Between 
Heber & 9th St.   
 

Park Ave January 17 Parking mitigation Removal of 
Parking for 
Permitted 
Parking 

Park City shall place 
barricades and enforce the 
operations plan  
 

Park City  Park City 
 

Park Avenue- Between 
9th and 14th St 

Park Ave January 17 Parking mitigation Removal of 
Parking for 
Permitted 
Parking 

Park City shall place 
barricades and enforce the 
operations plan which 
includes residential-only 
parking. 
 

Park City Park City 

Main Street - Entire 
east & west sides. 

Main 
Street 

January 18-28, 
2024 

Parking control to 
increase response 
time  and increase 
traffic mitigation 

Pedestrian Park City shall place the 
barricades, provide snow 
removal and place “no 
parking” and “drop zone” 
signs 

None None 
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North Marsac Parking 
Lot 

Marsac 
Avenue 

January 18 
through 
January 29, 
2024 

Public Safety and 
Emergency 
Management 

Command 
Center 

Park City shall post and 
maintain Public Safety 
parking spaces in North 
Marsac.   

Park City Park City 

Brew Pub Parking Lot 
South & North after 
January 23 

Swede 
Alley 

January 18 
through 
January 29, 
2024 

Snow Storage, 
Drop and Load 
Area, ADA Parking 
& UHP Parking 

Communication 
and Snow 
Storage 

Park City shall place the 
barricades, provide snow 
removal and place “no 
parking” signs. 

Park City Park City 

Bonanza Area Bonanza 
Area 

January 11 
through 
February 1 

Storage Storage and 
Operations 

Park City willl clear snow 
ahead of delivery, Sundance 
will maintain after 

Sundance  Sundance 

Richardson Flat Park n 
Ride 

Richards
on Flat 
Road 

January 8 - 
February 1, 
2024 

Park N Ride Lot,  & 
Bus staging area / 
Semi Tractor 
Trailer Storage 

Park N Ride 
Lot, Bus staging 
area, Tractor 
Trailer Storage 
Area 

LeBus to use Richardson 
Flat for all bus staging needs 
during the festival including 
washing and overnight 
storage. In addition, Semi 
Tractor Trailer Storage will 
utilize Richardson Flats pre 
and post Festival for storage.  
Park City shall provide waste 
management, cleaning and 
snow removal operations.  

Park City Park City 

526 Swede Alley Swede 
Alley 

Jan17-28, 2024 Spots for Gateway 
Ticketing and D&L 

Multi-use Parking for Ticketing 
customers and Execs along 
with Drop & Load spots 

Park City Park City 
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City Council Staff Report
Subject:  Water and Storm General Engineering Services
                Bowen Collins & Associates Design Professional Services Agreement  
Author: Griffin Lloyd, Public Utilities Engineer
Department:  Public Utilities
Date:  December 14, 2023
Type of Item:  Administrative

Recommendation 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a Professional Services Agreement, 
in a form approved by the City Attorney, with Bowen Collins and Associates Inc., to 
provide engineering services for the Water and Storm General Engineering Service 
Project, in an amount not to exceed $200,000.

Executive Summary
Park City Public Utilities maintains records of its underground water and storm drain 
piping networks including location, size, material type, performance history, and 
condition assessment data.  This data is used to determine the likelihood of failure of an 
asset. Each asset is also assigned a criticality factor which quantifies how important, or 
critical, the asset is to protecting public health and safety, protecting property, and 
interruption of service.  In other words, a high criticality factor means a high 
consequence of failure.  For example, while all are important, a water line to a hospital, 
or a major transmission line are much more critical than a water line within a residential 
subdivision.  Using asset information, the criticality of each asset, as well as budget, 
Capital Improvement Plans are developed and updated annually.  

Main Street has seen a number of water pipe failures due to old pipes with advanced 
exterior corrosion in the past two years causing property damage and short-term water 
service interruptions.  We determined that the pipeline in Main Street is of the highest 
priority for replacement based on age, break history, the likelihood of failure, and 
consequence of failure.  

Thaynes Canyon area has several critical storm drain culverts and conveyance 
channels that are beginning to fail due to pipe corrosion.  Due to the critical conveyance 
of spring runoff in this area, these pipes are due for replacement to eliminate potential 
flooding in the area as well as the ability to better control and convey water throughout 
the area. 

As part of an Environmental Assessment for the Judge Tunnel Pipeline conducted in 
2013, Park City is required to supplement flows to the Silver Maple Claim area due to 
the diversion of water draining from the Judge Tunnel.  Infrastructure is needed in order 
to divert, and meter required flows into the area. 

Bowen Collins and Associates will design the new infrastructure, aid with construction 
services and traffic control, and provide technical expertise.
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A publicly advertised Request for Statement of Qualifications was issued in November 
2023 for engineering services supporting the Park City Public Utilities Department 
through May 2024. Fourteen engineering firms submitted responses for a broad range 
of project types. Based on the submitted responses, which included prior experience 
and qualifications, Bowen Collins and Associates was selected to provide engineering 
services for these services. 

Analysis
In the past 5 years Public Utilities has responded to and repaired 19 water line breaks 
on Main Street, 9 in the last year alone. Breaks are due to 40-year-old ductile iron water 
lines that are showing substantial corrosion damage. Soil within Main Street has been 
tested and shown to be highly corrosive which has decreased the life expectancy of the 
iron pipe. Because of these conditions, water lines under Main Street have surpassed 
projected life expectancy and need to be replaced soon. 

Due to the length, complexity, and narrow construction windows available at our 
elevations for this work, replacing all the public water infrastructure in Main Street will 
take several years to complete.  The goal for the first phase is to replace as much of the 
infrastructure in Main Street between Heber Avenue and 5th Street as possible between 
April 1st and July 2024.  Prior to recommending a construction contract, a Work Session 
with City Council will be held to review the recommended construction schedule and 
mitigation plan for this first phase of work. Initially, we met with the Executive Director of 
HPCA and several City Departments to begin coordinating this work. We will attend the 
HPCA meeting on December 21 to discuss this project. Continued outreach will be 
essential throughout this project. 

Inspection of culverts in the Thaynes Canyon area have found to have substantial 
corrosion, in some cases so severe the bottom of the pipe has deteriorated completely. 
These pipes are critical in the conveyance of spring runoff from Thaynes Canyon, storm 
events during the summer, and irrigation ditch flows. During spring runoff, storm water 
crews must continually clean and sandbag these culverts due to the condition of the 
pipe inhibiting flow and causing flooding. 

Funding 
The funding for design services is from water service fees and is included in the 
adopted FY 2024 and FY 2025 Water CIP budget and Storm Water CIP budget.

Exhibits
A Bowen Collins and Associates Fee and Scope Proposal 
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Exhibit A:

Main Street total: $48,395
Storm Drain total: $129,882
Owners Contingency $21,723
Project total: $200,000.00
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1 
 

City Council 
Staff Report 
 
Subject: Request to Prohibit Nightly Rentals and 

Internal Accessory Dwelling Units in The 
Bald Eagle Club at Deer Valley Condominium 

Application:  PL-23-05770 
Author:  Lillian Zollinger, Planner II 
Date:   December 14, 2023 
Type of Item: Legislative – Land Management Code Amendment   
 
 
Recommendation 
(I) Open a public hearing; and (II) continue the public hearing and consideration of The 
Bald Eagle Club at Deer Valley Land Management Code Amendment request to 
February 1, 2024.  
 
Description 
Applicant: Dwayne A. Vance representing the Bald Eagle 

Homeowners Association 
  

Amended Section: § 15-2.13-2 Residential Development – Uses 
 

Zoning District: Residential Development  
 

Reason for Review: Land Management Code amendments require Planning 
Commission review and recommendation to the City 
Council for Final Action1 
 

Background 
 
Staff requests additional time for the Planning Commission to review and provide input 
on a Draft Ordinance and recommendation to City Council regarding the Land 
Management Code Amendment request.  

 
1 LMC § 15-1-7(B)(1) 
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